PROJECT MANUAL

AVINGTON CHASE

(Contract No. 2025-01)

Prepared For:



Bid Date: August 8, 2024 @ 2 pm

Prepared By:



1039 Sullivan Road Suite 200 Newnan, GA 30265 (p) 678.552.2106 | (f) 678.552.2107

Revision Date: N/A ISE No. 1013.2304

TABLE OF CONTENTS

00 11 13	Advertisement for Bids
00 21 13	Instructions to Bidders
00 22 13	Supplementary Instructions to Bidders
00 41 00	Bid Form
00 43 13	Bid Security Form
00 45 13	Bidder's Qualifications
00 45 19	Non-Collusion Affidavit
00 45 20	Security and Immigration Compliance
00 51 00	Notice of Award
00 52 00	Agreement
00 55 00	Notice to Proceed
00 61 13	Performance Bond
00 61 15	Payment Bond
00 65 16	Certificate of Substantial Completion
00 65 19	Affidavit of Payment of Debts and Claims
00 65 20	Affidavit of Release of Liens
00 65 21	Consent of Surety to Final Payment
00 72 00	General Conditions
00 73 00	Supplementary Conditions
00 73 19	Drug-Free Workplace Certification
00 94 39	Field Order
00 94 49	Work Change Directive
00 94 63	Change Order
01 10 00	Summary of Work
01 20 00	Price and Payment Procedures
01 30 00	Administrative Requirements
01 33 00	Submittal Procedures
01 40 00	Ouality Requirements

01 60 00	Product Requirements
01 70 00	Execution and Closeout Requirements
02 41 00	Demolition
31 10 00	Site Clearing
31 20 00	Earth Moving
31 23 16	Trench Excavation and Backfill
32 11 00	Base Courses
33 11 00	Water Distribution Piping
33 12 00	Water Distribution Equipment
33 40 00	Storm Drainage Piping

ADVERTISEMENT FOR BIDS

Project Name: Avington Chase Drainage

Swale Rehabilitation

Date of Issue: July 11, 2024

Project No.: 1013.2304 Bid Date: August 8, 2024 at 2 pm

Owner Contract No.: 2025-01

Owner Engineer

City of Perry Integrated Science & Engineering

 741 Main Street
 1039 Sullivan Road

 Perry, GA 31069
 Newnan, GA 30265

 (phone) (229) 567-1624
 (phone) (678) 552-2106

 Contact: Chad McMurrian
 Contact: Cary Dial

The City of Perry will be receiving separate sealed Bids for all material, labor and equipment for the "Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation". This includes the following, with all related accessories as shown on the Construction Drawings and called for in the Contract Documents and Technical Specifications:

This project includes the rehabilitation of a drainage swale with the use of stone filled gabion baskets. The purpose of this project is to redirect storm water to prevent flooding in the Avington Glenn neighborhood.

This contract is locally funded.

Contract Documents may be examined at the following locations:

- City of Perry, 741 Main Street, Perry, GA 31069 (http://www.perry-ga.gov)
- Integrated Science & Engineering, 1039 Sullivan Road, Newnan, GA 30265 (www.intse.com)
- Construct Connect (www.constructconnect.com)
- Georgia Procurement Registry (https://ssl.doas.state.ga.us/gpr)

To obtain a copy of bidding documents, please go to www.intse.com. Documents are available for download at no charge. However, bidders MUST submit payment for bidding documents to Integrated Science & Engineering in order to become qualified to submit a bid for the project. DO NOT call Integrated Science & Engineering or OWNER for a copy of the bidding documents unless wanting to be a qualified bidder.

It is **MANDATORY** that all prospective bidders purchase the Project Manual and Construction Drawings from the office of Integrated Science & Engineering. A hard copy may be obtained upon non-refundable payment of \$25. An electronic copy (downloaded from the website) may be

obtained upon non-refundable payment of \$25.

It is the Bidder's responsibility to ensure they have all bidding documents and addendums from the website, and verify that payment has been received by Integrated Science & Engineering. For any technical questions, contact Cary Dial or Chad McMurrian.

Each Bidder must deposit with his bid, security in the amount of 5%, and shall be subject to the conditions provided in Section 00 21 13 "Instruction to Bidders."

Each Bidder is required to submit a "Construction Contractors Qualification Statement", "Bid Security", "Bid Form", Non-Collusion Affidavit", and "Security and Immigration Compliance Affidavit" as outlined in Section 00 22 13 "Supplementary Instructions to Bidders."

The City of Perry will receive sealed bids until August 8, 2024 at 2 pm at 741 Main Street, Perry, GA 31069. Bids received after this time will not be accepted. Bids will be opened and publicly read aloud. The contract will be awarded to the low, responsive, and responsible bidder with reservation of right to reject all bids. Bids may not be withdrawn by Bidders for 60 days following opening of the bids.

The project shall be Substantially Complete within 90 calendar days from the date of Notice to Proceed of the contract. Liquidated Damages shall be assessed in the amount of \$300 per day for each calendar day required to achieve Substantial Completion.

The project shall be Final Complete within 30 calendar days beyond Substantial Completion. Liquidated Damages shall be assessed in the amount of \$300 per day for each calendar day required to achieve Final Completion.

There will be a Encouraged "Pre-Bid" meeting on July 25, 2024 at 2 pm located at the City of Perry office. All contractors submitting a Bid are Encouraged to attend.

The City of Perry will not issue or cause to be issued any addenda modifying the Project Manual or Construction Drawings within a period of 72 hours prior to the advertised time for opening bids, excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and State of Georgia Legal Holidays.

INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Article 1 – Defined Terms	2
Article 2 – Copies of Bidding Documents	2
Article 3 – Qualifications of Bidders	2
Article 4 – Examination of Bidding Documents, Other Related Data, and Site	2
Article 5 – Pre-Bid Conference	4
Article 6 – Site and Other Areas	4
Article 7 – Interpretations and Addenda	5
Article 8 – Bid Security	5
Article 9 – Contract Times	5
Article 10 – Liquidated Damages	5
Article 11 – Substitute and "Or-Equal" Items	5
Article 12 – Subcontractors, Suppliers and Others	6
Article 13 – Preparation of Bid	6
Article 14 – Basis of Bid; Comparison of Bids	7
Article 15 – Submittal of Bid	8
Article 16 – Modification and Withdrawal of Bid	8
Article 17 – Opening of Bids	8
Article 18 – Bids to Remain Subject to Acceptance	8
Article 19 – Evaluation of Bids and Award of Contract	8
Article 20 – Contract Security and Insurance	9
Article 21 – Signing of Agreement	9

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINED TERMS

- 1.01 Terms used in these Instructions to Bidders have the meanings indicated in the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions. Additional terms used in these Instructions to Bidders have the meanings indicated below:
 - A. City of Perry or Integrated Science & Engineering The office from which the Bidding Documents are to be issued and where the bidding procedures are to be administered, otherwise known as issuing office.
 - B. Business Day(s) 24 hours measured from midnight to next midnight excluding weekend and State of Georgia observed holidays.
 - C. Calendar Day(s) 24 hours measured from midnight to next midnight including weekend and State of Georgia observed holidays.

ARTICLE 2 – COPIES OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS

- 2.01 Complete sets of the Bidding Documents in the number and for the deposit sum, if any, stated in the advertisement or invitation to bid may be obtained from the Issuing Office.
- 2.02 Complete sets of Bidding Documents shall be used in preparing Bids; neither Owner nor Engineer assumes any responsibility for errors or misinterpretations resulting from the use of incomplete sets of Bidding Documents.
- 2.03 Owner and Engineer, in making copies of Bidding Documents available on the above terms, do so only for the purpose of obtaining Bids for the Work and do not authorize or confer a license for any other use.

ARTICLE 3 – QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS

- 3.01 To demonstrate Bidder's qualifications to perform the Work, within five (5) business days of Owner's request, Bidder shall submit written evidence of any data requested by Owner over and above what is to be provided in Section 00 45 13 "Bidder's Oualifications."
- 3.02 Bidder is advised to carefully review those portions of the Bid Form requiring Bidder's representations and certifications.

ARTICLE 4 – EXAMINATION OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS, OTHER RELATED DATA, AND SITE

- 4.01 *Underground Facilities*
 - A. Information and data shown or indicated in the Bidding Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the Site is based upon information and data furnished to Owner and Engineer by owners of such Underground Facilities, including Owner, or others.
- 4.02 Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data furnished to prospective Bidders with respect to subsurface conditions, other physical conditions, and

Underground Facilities, and possible changes in the Bidding Documents due to differing or unanticipated subsurface or physical conditions appear in Paragraphs 4.02, 4.03, and 4.04 of the General Conditions. Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data furnished to prospective Bidders with respect to a Hazardous Environmental Condition at the Site, if any, and possible changes in the Contract Documents due to any Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site which was not shown or indicated in the Drawings or Specifications or identified in the Contract Documents to be within the scope of the Work, appear in Paragraph 4.06 of the General Conditions.

- 4.03 On request and subsequent approval of Owner and Property Owner, Owner will provide Bidder access to the Site to conduct such examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, and studies as Bidder deems necessary for submission of a Bid. Bidder shall fill all holes and clean up and restore the Site to its former condition upon completion of such explorations, investigations, tests, and studies. Bidder shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations relative to excavation and utility locates. Bidder to provide a description of tests, etc. prior to approval.
 - A. If a reference is made to Article 7 of the Supplementary Conditions for the identification of the general nature of other work that is to be performed at the Site by Owner or others (such as utilities and other prime contractors) that relates to the Work contemplated by these Bidding Documents. On request, Owner will provide to each Bidder for examination access to or copies of contract documents (other than portions thereof related to price) for such other work.
 - B. Paragraph 6.13.C of the General Conditions indicates that if an Owner safety program exists, it will be noted in the Supplementary Conditions.
- 4.04 It is the responsibility of each Bidder before submitting a Bid to:
 - A. examine and carefully study the Bidding Documents, and the other related data identified in the Bidding Documents;
 - B. visit the Site and become familiar with and satisfy Bidder as to the general, local, and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work;
 - C. become familiar with and satisfy Bidder as to all federal, state, and local Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work;
 - D. if provided in Section 00 31 00, Available Project Information carefully study all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities) that have been identified in Paragraph 4.02 of the Supplementary Conditions as containing reliable "technical data," and (2) reports and drawings of Hazardous Environmental Conditions, if any, at the Site that have been identified in the Paragraph 4.06 of the Supplementary Conditions as containing reliable "technical data";
 - E. consider the information known to Bidder; information commonly known to contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations obtained from visits to the Site; the Bidding Documents; and the Site-related reports and drawings identified in the Bidding Documents, with respect to the effect of such

- information, observations, and documents on (1) the cost, progress, and performance of the Work; (2) the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Bidder, including applying any specific means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction expressly required by the Bidding Documents; and (3) Bidder's safety precautions and programs;
- F. agree at the time of submitting its Bid that no further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for the determination of its Bid for performance of the Work at the price(s) bid and within the times required, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Bidding Documents;
- G. become aware of the general nature of the work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents;
- H. promptly give Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that Bidder discovers in the Bidding Documents and confirm that the written resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Bidder; and
- I. determine that the Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for the performance of the Work.
- 4.05 The submission of a Bid will constitute an incontrovertible representation by Bidder that Bidder has complied with every requirement of this Article 4, that without exception the Bid is premised upon performing and furnishing the Work required by the Bidding Documents and applying any specific means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction that may be shown or indicated or expressly required by the Bidding Documents, that Bidder has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, and discrepancies that Bidder has discovered in the Bidding Documents and the written resolutions thereof by Engineer are acceptable to Bidder, and that the Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for performing and furnishing the Work.

ARTICLE 5 – PRE-BID CONFERENCE

5.01 There will be a Encouraged "Pre-Bid" meeting on July 25, 2024 at 2 pm located at the City of Perry office. All contractors submitting a Bid are Encouraged to attend. Representatives of Owner and Engineer will be present to discuss the Project. Engineer will transmit to all prospective Bidders of record such Addenda as Engineer considers necessary in response to questions arising at the conference. Oral statements may not be relied upon and will not be binding or legally effective.

ARTICLE 6 – SITE AND OTHER AREAS

6.01 The Site is identified in the Bidding Documents. Easements for permanent structures or permanent changes in existing facilities are to be obtained and paid for by Owner unless otherwise provided in the Bidding Documents. All additional lands and access thereto required for temporary construction facilities, construction equipment, or storage of materials and equipment to be incorporated in the Work are to be obtained and paid for by Contractor.

ARTICLE 7 – INTERPRETATIONS AND ADDENDA

- 7.01 All questions about the meaning or intent of the Bidding Documents are to be submitted to Engineer in writing via Email Communication to Chad McMurrian and Cary Dial. Interpretations or clarifications considered necessary by Engineer in response to such questions will be issued by Addenda emailed or delivered to all parties recorded by Engineer as having received the Bidding Documents. Questions received less than five business days prior to the date for opening of Bids may not be answered. Only questions answered by Addenda will be binding. Oral and other interpretations or clarifications will be without legal effect.
- 7.02 Addenda may be issued to clarify, correct, or change the Bidding Documents as deemed advisable by Owner or Engineer. No Addenda shall be issued later than three business days prior to the date fixed for opening the Bids. Failure of any Bidder to receive any such Addendum shall not relieve the Bidder from any obligation under his Bid submitted. All Addenda so issued shall become a part of the Contract.

ARTICLE 8 – BID SECURITY

- 8.01 A Bid must be accompanied by Bid security made payable to Owner in an amount of 5% of Bidder's maximum Bid price and in the form of a certified check, bank money order, or a Bid bond (on the form attached) issued by a surety meeting the requirements of Paragraphs 5.01 and 5.02 of the General Conditions.
- 8.02 The Bid security of the Successful Bidder will be retained until such Bidder has executed the Contract Documents, furnished the required contract security and met the other conditions of the Notice of Award, whereupon the Bid security will be returned. If the Successful Bidder fails to execute and deliver the Contract Documents and furnish the required contract security within 15 business days after the Notice of Award, Owner may consider Bidder to be in default, annul the Notice of Award, and the Bid security of that Bidder will be forfeited. Such forfeiture shall be Owner's exclusive remedy if Bidder defaults. The Bid security of other Bidders whom Owner believes to have a reasonable chance of receiving the award may be retained by Owner until the earlier of seven calendar days after the Effective Date of the Agreement or 61 calendar days after the Bid opening, whereupon Bid security furnished by such Bidders will be returned.
- 8.03 Bid security of other Bidders whom Owner believes do not have a reasonable chance of receiving the award will be returned within seven calendar days after the Bid opening.

ARTICLE 9 – CONTRACT TIMES

9.01 The number of calendar days within which, or the dates by which, [Milestones are to be achieved and] the Work is to be substantially completed and ready for final payment are set forth in the Agreement.

ARTICLE 10 – LIQUIDATED DAMAGES

10.01 Provisions for liquidated damages, if any, are set forth in the Agreement.

ARTICLE 11 – SUBSTITUTE AND "OR-EQUAL" ITEMS

11.01 The Contract, if awarded, will be on the basis of materials and equipment specified or described in the Bidding Documents, or those substitute or "or-equal" materials and equipment approved by Engineer and identified by Addendum. The materials and equipment described in the Bidding Documents establish a standard of required type, function and quality to be met by any proposed substitute or "or-equal" item. No item of material or equipment will be considered by Engineer as a substitute or "or-equal" unless written request for approval has been submitted by Bidder and has been received by Engineer at least 15 calendar days prior to the date for receipt of Bids. Each such request shall conform to the requirements of Paragraph 6.05 of the General Conditions. The burden of proof of the merit of the proposed item is upon Bidder. Engineer's decision of approval or disapproval of a proposed item will be final. If Engineer approves any proposed item, such approval will be set forth in an Addendum issued to all prospective Bidders. Bidders shall not rely upon approvals made in any other manner.

ARTICLE 12 – SUBCONTRACTORS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

- 12.01 If the Supplementary Conditions require the identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, individuals, or entities to be submitted to Owner in advance of a specified date prior to the Effective Date of the Agreement, the apparent Successful Bidder, and any other Bidder so requested, shall within five business days after Bid opening, submit to Owner a list of all such Subcontractors, Suppliers, individuals, or entities proposed for those portions of the Work for which such identification is required. Such list shall be accompanied by an experience statement with pertinent information regarding similar projects and other evidence of qualification for each such Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity if requested by Owner. If Owner or Engineer, after due investigation, has reasonable objection to any proposed Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity, Owner may, before the Notice of Award is given, request apparent Successful Bidder to submit a substitute, in which case apparent Successful Bidder shall submit an acceptable substitute, Bidder's Bid price will be increased (or decreased) by the difference in cost occasioned by such substitution, and Owner may consider such price adjustment in evaluating Bids and making the Contract award.
- 12.02 Contractor shall not be required to employ any Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity against whom Contractor has reasonable objection.

ARTICLE 13 – PREPARATION OF BID

- 13.01 The Bid Form is included with the Bidding Documents.
- 13.02 All blanks on the Bid Form shall be completed in ink and the Bid Form signed in ink. Erasures or alterations shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the Bid Form. A Bid price shall be indicated for each [section, Bid item, alternative, adjustment unit price item, and unit price item] listed therein. In the case of optional alternatives, the words "No Bid," "No Change," or "Not Applicable" may be entered.
- 13.03 A Bid by a corporation shall be executed in the corporate name by the president or a vice-president or other corporate officer accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The corporate seal shall be affixed and attested by the secretary or an assistant secretary. The corporate address and state of incorporation shall be shown.

- 13.04 A Bid by a partnership shall be executed in the partnership name and signed by a partner (whose title must appear under the signature), accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The official address of the partnership shall be shown.
- 13.05 A Bid by a limited liability company shall be executed in the name of the firm by a member and accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The state of formation of the firm and the official address of the firm shall be shown.
- 13.06 A Bid by an individual shall show the Bidder's name and official address.
- 13.07 A Bid by a joint venture shall be executed by each joint venturer in the manner indicated on the Bid Form. The official address of the joint venture shall be shown.
- 13.08 All names shall be printed in ink below the signatures.
- 13.09 The Bid shall contain an acknowledgment of receipt of all Addenda, the numbers of which shall be filled in on the Bid Form.
- 13.10 Postal and e-mail addresses and telephone number for communications regarding the Bid shall be shown.
- 13.11 The Bid shall contain evidence of Bidder's authority and qualification to do business in the state where the Project is located, or Bidder shall covenant in writing to obtain such authority and qualification prior to award of the Contract and attach such covenant to the Bid. Bidder's state contractor license number, if any, shall also be shown on the Bid Form.

ARTICLE 14 – BASIS OF BID; COMPARISON OF BIDS

14.01 *Lump Sum*

A. Bidders shall submit a Bid on a lump sum basis for the base Bid and include a separate price for each alternate described in the Bidding Documents as provided for in the Bid Form. The price for each alternate will be the amount added to or deleted from the base Bid if Owner selects the alternate. In the comparison of Bids, alternates will be applied in the same order as listed in the Bid form.

14.02 Unit Price

- A. Bidders shall submit a Bid on a unit price basis for each item of Work listed in the Bid schedule.
- B. The total of all estimated prices will be the sum of the products of the estimated quantity of each item and the corresponding unit price. The final quantities and Contract Price will be determined in accordance with Paragraph 11.03 of the General Conditions.
- C. Discrepancies between the multiplication of units of Work and unit prices will be resolved in favor of the unit prices. Discrepancies between the indicated sum of any column of figures and the correct sum thereof will be resolved in favor of the correct sum.

14.03 Allowances

A. For cash allowances the Bid price shall include such amounts as the Owner deems

proper for Contractor's overhead, costs, profit, and other expenses on account of cash allowances, if any, named in the Contract Documents, in accordance with Paragraph 11.02.B of the General Conditions.

ARTICLE 15 – SUBMITTAL OF BID

- 15.01 With each copy of the Bidding Documents, a Bidder is furnished one separate unbound copy of the Bid Form, and, if required, the Bid Bond Form. Or, if Bidding Documents are all electronic, it will be the Contractor's responsibility to print from online resource. The unbound copy of the Bid Form is to be completed and submitted with the Bid security and the following documents:
 - A. See Section 00 22 13 for a list of documents typically required to be submitted with the Bid.
- 15.02 A Bid shall be submitted no later than the date and time prescribed and at the place indicated in the advertisement or invitation to bid and shall be enclosed in a plainly marked package with the Project title (and, if applicable, the designated portion of the Project for which the Bid is submitted), the name and address of Bidder, and shall be accompanied by the Bid security and other required documents. If a Bid is sent by mail or other delivery system, the sealed envelope containing the Bid shall be enclosed in a separate package plainly marked on the outside with the notation "BID ENCLOSED." A mailed Bid shall be addressed to City of Perry, 741 Main Street, Perry, GA 31069.

ARTICLE 16 - MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF BID

- 16.01 A Bid may be modified or withdrawn by an appropriate document duly executed in the same manner that a Bid must be executed and delivered to the place where Bids are to be submitted prior to the date and time for the opening of Bids.
- 16.02 If within 24 hours after Bids are opened any Bidder files a duly signed written notice with Owner and promptly thereafter demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of Owner that there was a material and substantial mistake in the preparation of its Bid, that Bidder may withdraw its Bid, and the Bid security will be returned. Thereafter, if the Work is rebid, that Bidder will be disqualified from further bidding on the Work.

ARTICLE 17 – OPENING OF BIDS

17.01 Bids will be opened at the time and place indicated in the Advertisement or Invitation to Bid and, unless obviously non-responsive, read aloud publicly. An abstract of the amounts of the base Bids and major alternates, if any, will be made available to Bidders within five business days after the opening of Bids.

ARTICLE 18 – BIDS TO REMAIN SUBJECT TO ACCEPTANCE

18.01 All Bids will remain subject to acceptance for the period of time stated in the Bid Form, but Owner may, in its sole discretion, release any Bid and return the Bid security prior to the end of this period.

ARTICLE 19 - EVALUATION OF BIDS AND AWARD OF CONTRACT

19.01 Owner reserves the right to reject any or all Bids, including without limitation,

- nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional Bids. Owner further reserves the right to reject the Bid of any Bidder whom it finds, after reasonable inquiry and evaluation, to not be responsible. Owner may also reject the Bid of any Bidder if Owner believes that it would not be in the best interest of the Project to make an award to that Bidder. Owner also reserves the right to waive all informalities not involving price, time, or changes in the Work and to negotiate contract terms with the Successful Bidder.
- 19.02 More than one Bid for the same Work from an individual or entity under the same or different names will not be considered. Reasonable grounds for believing that any Bidder has an interest in more than one Bid for the Work may be cause for disqualification of that Bidder and the rejection of all Bids in which that Bidder has an interest.
- 19.03 In evaluating Bids, Owner will consider whether or not the Bids comply with the prescribed requirements, and such alternates, unit prices and other data, as may be requested in the Bid Form or prior to the Notice of Award.
- 19.04 In evaluating Bidders, Owner will consider the qualifications of Bidders and may consider the qualifications and experience of Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities proposed for those portions of the Work for which the identity of Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities must be submitted as provided in the Supplementary Conditions.
- 19.05 Owner may conduct such investigations as Owner deems necessary to establish the responsibility, qualifications, and financial ability of Bidders, proposed Subcontractors, Suppliers, individuals, or entities proposed for those portions of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- 19.06 If the Contract is to be awarded, Owner will award the Contract to the Bidder whose Bid is in the best interests of the Project.

ARTICLE 20 – CONTRACT SECURITY AND INSURANCE

20.01 Article 5 of the General Conditions, as may be modified by the Supplementary Conditions, sets forth Owner's requirements as to performance and payment bonds and insurance. When the Successful Bidder delivers the executed Agreement to Owner, it shall be accompanied by such bonds.

ARTICLE 21 – SIGNING OF AGREEMENT

21.01 When Owner issues a Notice of Award to the Successful Bidder, it shall be accompanied by the required number of unsigned counterparts of the Agreement along with the other Contract Documents which are identified in the Agreement as attached thereto. Within 15 business days thereafter, Successful Bidder shall sign and deliver the required number of counterparts of the Agreement and attached documents to Owner. Within ten business days thereafter, Owner shall deliver one fully signed counterpart to Successful Bidder with a complete set of the Drawings with appropriate identification.

SUPPLEMENTARY INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS

With each copy of the Project Manual, the Bidder shall print one separate unbound copy of the Bidding Documents. The unbound copy of the Bidding Documents is to be completed and submitted, which includes the following documents:

- 1. Bid Form Section 00 41 00
- 2. Bid Security Section 00 43 13
- 3. Bidder's Qualifications Section 00 45 13
- 4. Non-Collusion Affidavit Section 00 45 19
- 5. Security and Immigration Compliance Section 00 45 20

Place all of the above in a sealed envelope clearly marked as follows:

BID PROPOSAL FOR

City of Perry

Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation

NOTE: The envelope should bear on the outside the **NAME** and **ADDRESS** of the **QUALIFIED BIDDER**, and **Georgia Utilities Contractors License Number (if applicable)**.

If mailed, this envelope should be placed inside the mailing envelope.

Bids will be opened at August 8, 2024 at 2 pm at 741 Main Street, Perry, GA 31069.

BID FORM

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Article 1 – Bid Recipient	2
Article 2 – Bidder's Acknowledgements	2
Article 3 – Bidder's Representations	3
Article 4 – Bidder's Certification	4
Article 5 – Basis of Bid	4
Article 6 – Time of Completion	6
Article 7 – Attachments to This Bid	6
Article 8 – Defined Terms	6
Article 9 – Bid Submittal	6

ARTICLE 1 – BID RECIPIENT

1.01	This Bid is submitted to:	City of Perry
		741 Main Street

Perry, GA 31069

This Bid is submitted from:	

(Name and Address of Individual, Partnership, or Corporation)

Georgia Utility Contractor No. (if applicable)

This Bid is for: Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation

August 8, 2024 at 2 pm

1.02 The undersigned Bidder proposes and agrees, if this Bid is accepted, to enter into an Agreement with Owner in the form included in the Bidding Documents to perform all Work as specified or indicated in the Bidding Documents for the prices and within the times indicated in this Bid and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Bidding Documents.

ARTICLE 2 – BIDDER'S ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

2.01 Bidder accepts all of the terms and conditions of the Instructions to Bidders, including without limitation those dealing with the disposition of Bid security. This Bid will remain subject to acceptance for 60 calendar days after the Bid opening, or for such longer period of time that Bidder may agree to in writing upon request of Owner.

ARTICLE 3 – BIDDER'S REPRESENTATIONS

- 3.01 In submitting this Bid, Bidder represents that:
 - A. Bidder has examined and carefully studied the Bidding Documents, other related data identified in the Bidding Documents, and the following Addenda, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged:

Addendum No.	Addendum Date

- B. Bidder has visited the Site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.
- C. Bidder is familiar with and is satisfied as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.
- D. Bidder has carefully studied all (if applicable): (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities) that have been identified in SC-4.02 as containing reliable "technical data," and (2) reports and drawings of Hazardous Environmental Conditions, if any, at the Site that have been identified in SC-4.06 as containing reliable "technical data."
- E. Bidder has considered the information known to Bidder; information commonly known to contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations obtained from visits to the Site; the Bidding Documents; and the Site-related reports (if applicable) and drawings identified in the Bidding Documents, with respect to the effect of such information, observations, and documents on (1) the cost, progress, and performance of the Work; (2) the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Bidder, including applying the specific means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction expressly required by the Bidding Documents; and (3) Bidder's safety precautions and programs.
- F. Based on the information and observations referred to in Paragraph 3.01.E above, Bidder does not consider that further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for the determination of this Bid for performance of the Work at the price(s) bid and within the times required, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Bidding Documents.
- G. Bidder is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents.

- H. Bidder has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that Bidder has discovered in the Bidding Documents, and the written resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Bidder.
- 1. The Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for the performance of the Work for which this Bid is submitted.

ARTICLE 4 – BIDDER'S CERTIFICATION

4.01 Bidder certifies that:

- A. This Bid is genuine and not made in the interest of or on behalf of any undisclosed individual or entity and is not submitted in conformity with any collusive agreement or rules of any group, association, organization, or corporation;
- B. Bidder has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other Bidder to submit a false or sham Bid;
- C. Bidder has not solicited or induced any individual or entity to refrain from bidding; and
- D. Bidder has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive practices in competing for the Contract. For the purposes of this Paragraph 4.01.D:
 - 1. "corrupt practice" means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of any thing of value likely to influence the action of a public official in the bidding process;
 - 2. "fraudulent practice" means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to influence the bidding process to the detriment of Owner, (b) to establish bid prices at artificial non-competitive levels, or (c) to deprive Owner of the benefits of free and open competition;
 - 3. "collusive practice" means a scheme or arrangement between two or more Bidders, with or without the knowledge of Owner, a purpose of which is to establish bid prices at artificial, non-competitive levels; and
 - 4. "coercive practice" means harming or threatening to harm, directly or indirectly, persons or their property to influence their participation in the bidding process or affect the execution of the Contract.

ARTICLE 5 – BASIS OF BID

5.01 Bidder will complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents for the following price(s):

	BA	ASE BID			
ITEM NO.	DESCRIPTION	ESTIMATED QUANTITY	UNIT OF MEASURE	UNIT PRICE (FIGURES)	AMOUNT (FIGURES)
	CONSTRUCTION ITEMS				
1	GENERAL CONDITIONS	1	LS		
2	CLEARING AND GRUBBING	1	LS		
3	24-INCH CONCRETE HEADWALL, PRECAST OR CAST-IN-PLACE	1	EA		
4	GALVANIZED COATED 3' X 3' GABION BASKETS, W/ 4-INCH BEDDING, AND NON-WOVEN GEOTEXTILE	990	LF		
5	4-INCH TO 8-INCH STONE FILL FOR GABION BASKETS (6-INCH SURGE FROM MACON VULCAN QUARRY IS ACCEPTABLE)	330	CY		
6	GRADING COMPLETE	1	LS		
	WATER				
7	8" PVC WATER LINE RELOCATION/ADJUSTMENT	1	LS		
	EROSION CONTROL ITEMS				
8	CONSTRUCTION EXIT (Co)	1	EA		
9	SEDIMENT CONTROL GATE (Rt-Sg)	1	EA		
10	STONE CHECK DAM (Cd-S)	8	EA		
11	RECP-C LONG TERM ROLLED EROSION CONTROL BLANKET W/ HECP HYDROSEED (Ss)	2300	SY		
12	LONG TERM ROLLED EROSION CONTROL BLANKET W/ HECP HYDROSEED (Ch-1)	1725	SY		
13	DISTURBED AREA STABILIZATION (Ds1, Ds2, Ds3, Du)	1.25	AC		
	MISCELLANEOUS				
14	UTILITY RELOLCATION ALLOWANCE	1	LS	\$10,000.00	\$10,000.00
15	ENGINEER DIRECTED CHANGES	1	LS	\$10,000.00	\$10,000.00
	TOTAL (IN FIGURES)		<u> </u>		•
	TOTAL (IN WORDS)				

Unit Prices have been computed in accordance with Paragraph 11.03.B of the General Conditions.

Bidder acknowledges that estimated quantities are not guaranteed, and are solely for the purpose of comparison of Bids, and final payment for all unit price Bid items will be based on actual quantities, determined as provided in the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 6 - TIME OF COMPLETION

- 6.01 Bidder agrees that the Work will be substantially complete and will be completed and ready for final payment in accordance with Paragraph 14.07 of the General Conditions on or before the dates or within the number of calendar days indicated in the Agreement.
- 6.02 Bidder accepts the provisions of the Agreement as to liquidated damages.

ARTICLE 7 – ATTACHMENTS TO THIS BID

- 7.01 The following documents are submitted with and made a condition of this Bid:
 - A. All documents as outlined in Section 00 22 13 "Supplementary Instructions to Bidders."

ARTICLE 8 – DEFINED TERMS

8.01 The terms used in this Bid with initial capital letters have the meanings stated in the Instructions to Bidders, the General Conditions, and the Supplementary Conditions.

ARTICLE 9 – BID SUBMITTAL

9.01	This Bid is submitted by:
	If Bidder is:
	An Individual
	Name (typed or printed):
	By:
	(Individual's signature)
	Doing business as:
	A Partnership
	Partnership Name:
	By:(Signature of general partner attach evidence of authority to sign)
	Name (typed or printed):

A Corporation

Corporation Name:	(SEAL)
State of Incorporation:	
State of Incorporation: Type (General Business, Professional, Service, Limited L	Liability):
By:(Signature attach evidence of authority to sign)	
(Signature attach evidence of authority to sign)	
Name (typed or printed):	
Title:	
Title:(CORPORATE SEAL)	
Attest	
Date of Qualification to do business in Georgia is/_	/
A Joint Venture	
Name of Joint Venture:	
First Joint Venturer Name:	(SEAL)
By:	
(Signature of first joint venture partner attach evidence	of authority to sign
Name (typed or printed):	
Title:	
Second Joint Venturer Name:	(SEAL)
By:	
(Signature of second joint venture partner attach evider	nce of authority to s
Name (typed or printed):	
Title:	
(Each joint venturer must sign. The manner of signi	ing for each indiv

(Each joint venturer must sign. The manner of signing for each individual, partnership, and corporation that is a party to the joint venture should be in the manner indicated above.)

Bidder's Business Address		
Phone No	Fax No	
E-mail		
SUBMITTED on	, 20	
State Contractor License No.	[If applicable]	

				BID SECURITY F	ORM
BIDDER (Name an	d Address):				
SURETY (Name ar	nd Address of Principe	al Place (of Busin	ess):	
OWNER (Name an City of Perry 741 Main Stree Perry, GA 3100	t				
BID					
Bid Due Date:	stone filled gabion	es the rel baskets.	The pur	on of a drainage swale with the pose of this project is to redirect	
Description: BOND	water to prevent floo	oding in	the Avir	ngton Glenn neighborhood.	
Bond Number:					
	er than Bid due date):				
Penal sum		· · ·		\$	
	('	Words)		(Figures)	
_		•	-	subject to the terms set forth bel- rized officer, agent, or representa	
BIDDER			SURE	TY	
D'11. '. N 1 C.		(Seal)	G 2	Name and Community Conf	(Seal)
Bidder's Name and Con	porate Seai		Surety	S Name and Corporate Seal	
By:		<u>_</u>	By:		
Signature				Signature (Attach Power of Attorney))
Print Name		_		Print Name	<u> </u>
Title		_		Title	<u>—</u>

Attest:		Attest:		
	Signature	_	Signature	
	Title	_	Title	

Note: Surety companies executing bonds must appear on the Treasury Department's most current list (Circular 570 as amended) and be authorized to transact business in the state where the project is located.

- 1. Bidder and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns to pay to Owner upon default of Bidder the penal sum set forth on the face of this Bond. Payment of the penal sum is the extent of Bidder's and Surety's liability. Recovery of such penal sum under the terms of this Bond shall be Owner's sole and exclusive remedy upon default of Bidder.
- 2. Default of Bidder shall occur upon the failure of Bidder to deliver within the time required by the Bidding Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by Owner) the executed Agreement required by the Bidding Documents and any performance and payment bonds required by the Bidding Documents.
- 3. This obligation shall be null and void if:
 - Owner accepts Bidder's Bid and Bidder delivers within the time required by the Bidding Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by Owner) the executed Agreement required by the Bidding Documents and any performance and payment bonds required by the Bidding Documents, or
 - 3.2 All Bids are rejected by Owner, or
 - 3.3 Owner fails to issue a Notice of Award to Bidder within the time specified in the Bidding Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by Bidder and, if applicable, consented to by Surety when required by Paragraph 5 hereof).
- 4. Payment under this Bond will be due and payable upon default of Bidder and within 30 calendar days after receipt by Bidder and Surety of written notice of default from Owner, which notice will be given with reasonable promptness, identifying this Bond and the Project and including a statement of the amount due.
- 5. Surety waives notice of any and all defenses based on or arising out of any time extension to issue Notice of Award agreed to in writing by Owner and Bidder, provided that the total time for issuing Notice of Award including extensions shall not in the aggregate exceed 120 days from Bid due date without Surety's written consent.
- 6. No suit or action shall be commenced under this Bond prior to 30 calendar days after the notice of default required in Paragraph 4 above is received by Bidder and Surety and in no case later than one year after Bid due date.
- 7. Any suit or action under this Bond shall be commenced only in a court of competent jurisdiction located in the state in which the Project is located.
- 8. Notices required hereunder shall be in writing and sent to Bidder and Surety at their respective addresses shown on the face of this Bond. Such notices may be sent by personal delivery, commercial courier, or by United States Registered or Certified Mail, return receipt requested, postage pre-paid, and shall be deemed to be effective upon receipt by the party concerned.
- 9. Surety shall cause to be attached to this Bond a current and effective Power of Attorney evidencing the authority of the officer, agent, or representative who executed this Bond on behalf of Surety to execute, seal, and deliver such Bond and bind the Surety thereby.
- 10. This Bond is intended to conform to all applicable statutory requirements. Any applicable requirement of any applicable statute that has been omitted from this Bond shall be deemed to be included herein as if set forth at length. If any provision of this Bond conflicts with any applicable statute, then the provision of said statute shall govern and the remainder of this Bond that is not in

conflict therewith shall continue in full force and effect.

11. The term "Bid" as used herein includes a Bid, offer, or proposal as applicable.

BIDDER'S QUALIFICATIONS

Submitted by:	
Name of Organization:	
Name of Individual:	
Title:	
Address:	
Telephone:	()
Submitted to:	
Name:	City of Perry
Address:	741 Main Street
	Perry, GA 31069
Telephone:	(229) 567-1624

Project Name and Description (if applicable):

Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation

This project includes the rehabilitation of a drainage swale with the use of stone filled gabion baskets. The purpose of this project is to redirect storm water to prevent flooding in the Avington Glenn neighborhood.

CONTRACTOR's General Business Information Check if: [] Corporation [] Partnership [] Joint Venture [] Sole Proprietorship **If Corporation:** Date and State of Incorporation: List of Executive Officers: b. Title _____ Name If Partnership: a. Date and State of Incorporation: List of Current General Partners: b. Type of Partnership: c. []Publicly Traded [] General [] Limited Other (describe): If Joint Venture: Date and State of Organization: a. b. Name, Address and Form of Organization of Joint Venture Partners: (Indicate managing partner by an asterisk *)

If So	ole Proprietorship:
a.	Date and State of Incorporation:
b.	Name and Address of Owner or Owners:
1.	On Schedule A, attached, list major engineered construction projects completed by this organization in the past five (5) years. (If joint venture, list each participant's projects separately.)
2.	On Schedule B, attached, list current projects under construction by this organization. (If joint venture, list each participant's projects separately.)
3.	Name of surety company and name, address, and phone number of agent:
4.	Is your organization a member of a controlled group of corporations as defined in Internal Revenue Code Sec. 1563?
	[]Yes []No
	If yes, show names and addresses of affiliated companies.
_	
5.	Furnish on Schedule C, attached, details of the construction experience of the principal individuals of your organization directly involved in construction operations.
6.	Has your organization ever failed to complete any construction contract awarded to it?
	[] Yes [] No
	If yes, describe circumstances on attachment.
7.	Has any Corporate officer, partner, joint venture participant or proprietor ever failed to complete a construction contract awarded to him or her in their own name or when acting as a principal of another organization?
	[] Yes

If yes, describe circu	imstances on attachment.
In the last five years in a timely manner?	s, has your organization ever failed to substantially complete a projet
[] Yes [] N	o
If yes, describe circu	imstances on attachment.
Indicate general type	es of work performed with your own work force.
Describe the perma attachment if necess	nnent safety program you maintain within your organization. Use ary.
• •	ER during Bid evaluation, Bidder agrees to provide balance sheet for adited by a registered CPA.
Furnish the following familiar with your or	ing information with respect to an accredited banking institution rganization.
Name of Bank:	
Address:	
Account Manager:	
Telephone:	()
•	on, or any officer or partner thereof, ever been party to any criminal of construction methods, costs, etc.?
If yes, state case nur	mber, case name, and provide pertinent details, including judgment:
	(Attach extension sheet if necessary)
	ion, or any officer or partner thereof, ever been party to any civil construction methods, costs, etc?
_	nber, case name, and provide pertinent details, including judgment:

	(Attach extension sheet if necessary)
•	izational structure, including the number of permanent empley, purchasing, expediting, detailing, and engineering, field supervalue.
	(Use extension sheet if necessary)
Percentage of Work	to be Performed with Own Forces:
N CD 10	
	ubcontractors with Whom You Intend to Affiliate. (What phas vill each subcontractor perform?)
percentage of work v	
Give total contract v three (3) years:	vill each subcontractor perform?)
Give total contract v three (3) years: 20 \$	alue of work accomplished by your organization in each of the
Give total contract v three (3) years: 20 \$ What is the largest co	alue of work accomplished by your organization in each of the 20 \$ 20 \$
Give total contract v three (3) years: 20 \$ What is the largest co	alue of work accomplished by your organization in each of the 20 \$ 20 \$ ontract (dollar costs) ever performed by your organization?
Give total contract vehicle (3) years: 20 \$	alue of work accomplished by your organization in each of the 20 \$ 20 \$ ontract (dollar costs) ever performed by your organization?
Give total contract withree (3) years: 20 \$	alue of work accomplished by your organization in each of the 20 \$ 20 \$ ontract (dollar costs) ever performed by your organization?
Give total contract vehicle (3) years: 20 \$	alue of work accomplished by your organization in each of the 20 \$ 20 \$ ontract (dollar costs) ever performed by your organization?
Give total contract vehicle (3) years: 20 \$	alue of work accomplished by your organization in each of the 20 \$ 20 \$ ontract (dollar costs) ever performed by your organization? Int: of work now pending award to your organization:

20
20
20
Estimate your maximum bonding capacity: \$
How much is unencumbered as of this date? \$
Has any Surety Company refused to write you a bond on any construction work?
If yes, explain:
my knowledge and belief.
by certify that the information submitted herewith, including any attachment is true to the my knowledge and belief. By:
my knowledge and belief.

5 YEARS Reference/Contact Include Address and Phone						
ETED IN PAST	Collinacia					
CTS COMPL Date Completed	poolding					
SCHEDULE A UCTION PROJEC Design Engineer	Tourism History					
SCHEDULE A MAJOR ENGINEERING CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS COMPLETED IN PAST 5 YEARS and Description Design Engineer Completed Contract Price Include Act						
MAJOR ENGINE Name, Location and Description of Project						

	Reference/Contact Include Address and Phone							
N	Amount Date of Scheduled							
VSTRUCTI	Amount Completed							
ULE B NDER COI	Contract Price							
SCHEDULE B CURRENT PROJECTS UNDER CONSTRUCTION	Design Engineer							
CURRENT	Owner							
	Name, Location and Description of Project							

	Prior positions and experience in construction								
	Date started in construction								
SCHEDULE C PERSONNEI	Date started with this organization)							
	Position								
	Name								

NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT

State of <u>Georgia</u>	
County of	
, b	eing first duly sworn, deposes and says that:
(1) He is (<u>owner, partner, officer, representate</u> the Bidder that has submitted the attached Bid;	tive, or agent) of
(2) He is fully informed respecting the preparent circumstances respecting such Bid;	aration and contents of the attached Bid and of all
(3) Such Bid is genuine and is not a collusive	e or sham Bid;
employees, or parties in interest, including the connived or agreed, directly or indirectly, with collusive or sham Bid in connection with the submitted or to refrain from bidding in connective directly or indirectly, sought by agreement or any other Bidder, firm or person to fix the pribal Bidder, or to fix any overhead, profit or cost of other bidder, or to secure through any collusion any advantage against the proposed Contract; and (5) The price or prices quoted in the attached	officers, partners, owners, agents, representatives, his affiant, has in any way colluded, conspired, the any other Bidder, firm or person to submit a electron with such Contract, or has in any manner, collusion or communication or conference with fice or prices in the attached Bid or of any other element of the Bid price or the Bid price of any n, conspiracy, connivance or unlawful agreement or any person interested in the ed Bid are fair and proper and are not tainted by a ful agreement on the part of the Bidder or any of or parties in interest, including this affiant.
	(Signed)
	Title
Subscribed and sworn before me	
on this the, 20	
Notary Public	
My Commission Expires:	

SECURITY AND IMMIGRATION COMPLIANCE

Federal Work Authorization Program (§ O.C.G.A. 13-10-91)

The Owner may not enter into a contract for the physical performance of services unless the contractor registers and participates in the federal work authorization program. "Physical performance of services" is defined as the building, altering, repairing, improving, or demolishing of any public structure or building or other public improvements of any kind to public property within Georgia, including the construction, reconstruction, or maintenance of all or part of a public road; or any other performance of labor for a public employer within Georgia under a contract or other bidding process".

Although the Georgia law for private employers has a structured phase-in timeline in an attempt to ease private employers into compliance based upon their business size, only those companies registered with, authorized to use and currently using the federal work authorization program commonly known as E-Verify, or any subsequent replacement program, in accordance with the applicable provisions and deadlines established in § O.C.G.A. 13-10-91, shall be considered.

Before a bid for the physical performance of services is considered by the Owner, the bid must include a signed, notarized affidavit from the contractor attesting to the following:

- (1) The affiant has registered with, is authorized to use, and uses the federal work authorization program.
- (2) The user identification number and date of authorization for the affiant;
- (3) The affiant will continue to use the federal work authorization program throughout the contract period;

and

(4) The affiant will contract for the physical performance of services in satisfaction of such contract only with subcontractors who present an affidavit to the contractor with the same information as required in numbers 1-3 above.

If a contractor does not have any employees and does not intend to hire any employees, in lieu of the above affidavit the contractor may provide a copy of state-issued driver's license or identification card to the Owner for each independent contractor utilized in satisfaction of part or all of the contact with the Owner. However, a driver's license or identification card will be acceptable if it is issued by a state that verifies lawful immigration status. The Georgia Attorney General will provide a list of states that verify lawful immigration status and post this list on its website. The Owner must confirm that all of the copies of driver's licenses and identification cards presented to it come from states that verify lawful immigration status.

Systematic Alien Verification for Entitlements Program (SAVE)

Upon award, consistent with state law, Bidder shall complete the Affidavit Verifying Status for Owner Public Benefit Application.

Sample form is attached.

CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT UNDER O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91(b)(1)

By executing this affidavit, the undersigned contractor verifies its compliance with O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91, stating affirmatively that the individual, firm or corporation which is engaged in the physical performance of services on behalf of City of Perry has registered with, is authorized to use and uses the federal work authorization program commonly known as E-Verify, or any subsequent replacement program, in accordance with the applicable provisions and deadlines established in O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91.

Furthermore, the undersigned contractor will continue to use the federal work authorization program throughout the contract period and the undersigned contractor will contract for the physical performance of services in satisfaction of such contract only with subcontractors who present an affidavit to the contractor with the information required by O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91(b). Contractor hereby attests that its federal work authorization user identification number and date of authorization are as follows:

Federal Work Authorization User Identification Number	Date of Authorization
Company Name / Contractor Name	
Name of Project	
Name of Public Employer	
I hereby declare under penalty of perjury that the for	egoing is true and correct.
Executed on,, 20 in	(Owner),(state).
Signature of Authorized Officer or Agent	
Printed Name and Title of Authorized Officer or Agent	
Subscribed and sworn before me	
on this the day of, 20	
Notary Public	
My Commission Expires:	

SUBCONTRACTOR AFF.	IDAVIT UNDER O.G	J.G.A. § 13-10-9	PI(b) (3)
(name of Contauthorized to use and uses federal work any subsequent replacement program, it established in § O.C.G.A. 13-10-91.	vely that the individuous commance of service tractor) on behalf of C authorization program accordance with the	tal, firm, or conces under a City of Perry has an commonly known applicable provision.	rporation which is contract with registered with, is own as E-Verify, or sions and deadlines
Furthermore, the undersigned subcontr program throughout the contract period physical performance of services in sa who present an affidavit to the sub-con 10-91 (b).	d and the undersigned atisfaction of such con attractor with the infor-	subcontractor wateract only with mation required	vill contract for the sub-subcontractors by § O.C.G.A. 13-
Additionally, the undersigned subcont from a sub-subcontractor to the coundersigned subcontractor receives not that has contracted with a sub-subcont copy of such notice to the contract authorization user identification number	ntractor within five cice of receipt of an af- ractor to forward, with or. Subcontractor her	business days ffidavit from any hin five business reby attests that	of receipt. If the sub-subcontractor days of receipt, a tits federal work
Federal Work Authorization User Identification	Number De	ate of Authorization	
Company Name / Subcontractor Name Name of Project			
Name of Froject			
Name of Public Employer			
I hereby declare under penalty of perjur	ry that the foregoing is	true and correct.	
Executed on,, 20	_ in	_ (Owner),	_ (state).
			
Signature of Authorized Officer or Agent			
Printed Name and Title of Authorized Officer o	r Agent		
Subscribed and sworn before me			
on this the day of,	20		
Notary Public			
My Commission Expires:			

NOTICE OF AWARD

		NOTICE OF AWARD
Projec	t: Avington Chase Drainage	e Swale Rehabilitation
Owne	r: City of Perry	Owner's Contract No.: 2025-01
Bidde	r:	Engineer's Project No.: 1013.2304
Bidde	r's Address:	
consid		I dated for the above Contract has been sful Bidder and are awarded a Contract for Avington Chase
Th	ne Contract Price of your Con	ntract is Dollars (\$).
		Contract Documents (except Drawings) accompany this Notice
im	sets of the Drawings warmediately.	ill be delivered separately or otherwise made available to you
	must comply with the follo e this Notice of Award.	wing conditions precedent within [15] days of the date you
1.	Deliver to the Owner [] fully executed counterparts of the Contract Documents.
2.		Contract Documents the Contract security [Bonds] as specified ders (Article 20), General Conditions (Paragraph 5.01), and (Paragraph SC-5.01).
3.		Contract Documents the Contract insurance as specified in the cle 5) and Supplementary Conditions (Paragraph SC-5.02
4.	Deliver with the executed 0	Contract Documents the Drug Free Work Place Certification.
5.	Deliver with the executed 0	Contract Documents the Schedule of Values.
6.	Other conditions precedent	::
		litions within the time specified will entitle Owner to consider f Award, and declare your Bid security forfeited.
	n ten days after you comply ted counterpart of the Contra	with the above conditions, Owner will return to you one fully act Documents.
	-	Owner
	I	By:

	Authorized Signature
Copy to Engineer	Title
copy to Engineer	END OF SECTION

-	_	_	_	_		_		_	
Λ.	<i>r</i> יו	_			ΝЛ			_	
/\		_	_	_		_	1		
-	Gl	_			w		ıv		

THIS AGREEMENT is by and between	City of Perry	("Owner") and
		("Contractor").

Owner and Contractor hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 – Work

1.01 Contractor shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents. The Work is generally described as follows:

Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation

ARTICLE 2 – The Project

2.01 The Project for which the Work under the Contract Documents may be the whole or only a part is generally described as follows:

This project includes the rehabilitation of a drainage swale with the use of stone filled gabion baskets. The purpose of this project is to redirect storm water to prevent flooding in the Avington Glenn neighborhood.

ARTICLE 3 – Engineer

3.01 The Project has been designed by Integrated Science & Engineering (Engineer), which is to act as Owner's representative, assume all duties and responsibilities, and have the rights and authority assigned to Engineer in the Contract Documents in connection with the completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 4 – Contract Times

- 4.01 Time of the Essence
 - A. All time limits for Milestones, if any, Substantial Completion, and completion and readiness for final payment as stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract.
- 4.02 Days to Achieve Substantial Completion and Final Payment
 - A. The Work will be substantially completed within 90 days after the date when the Contract Times commence to run as provided in Paragraph 2.03 of the General Conditions, and completed and ready for final payment in accordance with Paragraph 14.07 of the General Conditions within 30 days after the date when the Contract Times commence to run.

4.03 *Liquidated Damages*

- A. Contractor and Owner recognize that time is of the essence as stated in Paragraph 4.01 above and that Owner will suffer financial loss if the Work is not completed within the times specified in Paragraph 4.02 above, plus any extensions thereof allowed in accordance with Article 12 of the General Conditions. The parties also recognize the delays, expense, and difficulties involved in proving in a legal or arbitration proceeding the actual loss suffered by Owner if the Work is not completed on time. Accordingly, instead of requiring any such proof, Owner and Contractor agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty), Contractor shall pay Owner \$300 in liquidated damages for each day that expires after the time specified in Paragraph 4.02 above for Substantial Completion until the Work is substantially complete. After Substantial Completion, if Contractor shall neglect, refuse, or fail to complete the remaining Work within the Contract Time or any proper extension thereof granted by Owner, Contractor shall pay Owner \$300 for each day that expires after the time specified in Paragraph 4.02 above for completion and readiness for final payment until the Work is completed and ready for final payment.
- B. Liquidated damages for each of the required dates and times are independent and additive; i.e. if Substantial Completion is not achieved by day 90 and Final Completion is not achieved, liquid damages will be in effect for both Substantial and Final Completion, in total amount of \$600 per day.

ARTICLE 5 – Contract Price

Item

No.

- 5.01 Owner shall pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents an amount in current funds equal to the sum of the amounts determined pursuant to Paragraphs 5.01.A and 5.01.B below:

 - B. For all Unit Price Work, an amount equal to the sum of the established unit price for each separately identified item of Unit Price Work times the actual quantity of that item:

<u>UNIT PRICE WORK</u> <u>Description</u> <u>Unit</u> <u>Ouantity</u> <u>Bid Price</u>

Total of all Bid Prices (Unit Price Work)

\$

The Bid prices for Unit Price Work set forth as of the Effective Date of the

Agreement are based on estimated quantities. As provided in Paragraph 11.03 of the General Conditions, estimated quantities are not guaranteed, and determinations of actual quantities and classifications are to be made by Engineer as provided in Paragraph 9.07 of the General Conditions.

ARTICLE 5 – Payment Procedures

- 5.01 Submittal and Processing of Payments
 - A. Contractor shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 14 of the General Conditions. Applications for Payment will be processed by Engineer as provided in the General Conditions.
- 5.02 Progress Payments; Retainage
 - A. Owner shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Price on the basis of Contractor's Applications for Payment on or about the _____ day of each month during performance of the Work as provided in Paragraph 6.02.A.1 below. All such payments will be measured by the schedule of values established as provided in Paragraph 2.07.A of the General Conditions (and in the case of Unit Price Work based on the number of units completed) or, in the event there is no schedule of values, as provided in the General Requirements.
 - 1. Prior to Substantial Completion, progress payments will be made in an amount equal to the percentage indicated below but, in each case, less the aggregate of payments previously made and less such amounts as Engineer may determine or Owner may withhold, including but not limited to liquidated damages, in accordance with Paragraph 14.02 of the General Conditions.
 - a. 100 percent of Work completed (with the balance being retainage). If the Work has been 50 percent completed as determined by Engineer, and if the character and progress of the Work have been satisfactory to Owner and Engineer, then as long as the character and progress of the Work remain satisfactory to Owner and Engineer, there will be no additional retainage; and
 - b. 100 percent of cost of materials (with the balance being retainage).
 - c. "Balance Being Retainage" as noted above shall be considered as 10 percent of the progress payment amount until the job is at 50 percent complete. As long as the character and progress of the work remain satisfactory to the Owner, there will be no additional retainage until substantial completion. Leaving 5 percent at substantial completion. Payment upon Substantial Completion shall be noted as below.
 - B. Upon Substantial Completion, Owner shall pay an amount sufficient to increase total payments to Contractor to 100 percent of the Work completed, less such amounts as Engineer shall determine in accordance with Paragraph 14.02.B.5 of the General Conditions and less percent of Engineer's estimate of the value of Work to be completed or corrected as shown on the tentative list of items to be completed or corrected attached to the certificate of Substantial Completion.

5.03 Final Payment

A. Upon final completion and acceptance of the Work in accordance with Paragraph 14.07 of the General Conditions, Owner shall pay the remainder of the Contract Price as recommended by Engineer as provided in said Paragraph 14.07.

ARTICLE 6 – Interest

6.01 All moneys not paid when due as provided in Article 14 of the General Conditions shall bear interest at the rate allowed per Georgia Code 13-11-7.

ARTICLE 7 – Contractor's Representations

- 7.01 In order to induce Owner to enter into this Agreement, Contractor makes the following representations:
 - A. Contractor has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents and the other related data identified in the Bidding Documents.
 - B. Contractor has visited the Site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.
 - C. Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state, and local Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.
 - D. Contractor has carefully studied all, if any: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities), if any, that have been identified in Paragraph SC-4.02 of the Supplementary Conditions as containing reliable "technical data," and (2) reports and drawings of Hazardous Environmental Conditions, if any, at the Site that have been identified in Paragraph SC-4.06 of the Supplementary Conditions as containing reliable "technical data."
 - E. Contractor has considered the information known to Contractor, if any; information commonly known to contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations obtained from visits to the Site; the Contract Documents; and the Site-related reports and drawings identified in the Contract Documents, with respect to the effect of such information, observations, and documents on (1) the cost, progress, and performance of the Work; (2) the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor, including any specific means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction expressly required by the Contract Documents; and (3) Contractor's safety precautions and programs.
 - F. Based on the information and observations referred to in Paragraph 8.01.E above, Contractor does not consider that further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for the performance of the Work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Times, and in accordance with the other terms and

conditions of the Contract Documents.

- G. Contractor is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Contract Documents.
- H. Contractor has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that Contractor has discovered in the Contract Documents, and the written resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Contractor.
- I. The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work.

ARTICLE 8 – Contract Documents

O	Λ 1	\boldsymbol{C}	
ð.	.01	Content	۲

A.	Th	e Contract Documents consist of the following:
	1.	This Agreement (pages 1 to, inclusive).
	2.	Performance bond (pages to, inclusive).
	3.	Payment bond (pages to, inclusive).
	4.	General Conditions (pages to, inclusive).
	5.	Supplementary Conditions (pages to, inclusive).
	6.	Specifications (as listed in the table of contents of the Project Manual).
	7.	Drawings (as listed in the table of contents of the Project Manual).
	8.	Addenda (numbers to, inclusive).
	9.	Exhibits to this Agreement (enumerated as follows):
		a. Contractor's Bid (pages to, inclusive).
		b. Documentation submitted by Contractor prior to Notice of Award (pages to, inclusive).
		c. [List other required attachments (if any), such as documents required by funding or lending agencies].
	10.	. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of the Agreement and are not attached hereto:
		a. Notice to Proceed (pages to, inclusive).
		b. Work Change Directives.
		c. Change Orders.
B.	Th	e documents listed in Paragraph 9.01.A are attached to this Agreement (except as

C. There are no Contract Documents other than those listed above in this Article 9.

expressly noted otherwise above).

D. The Contract Documents may only be amended, modified, or supplemented as provided in Paragraph 3.04 of the General Conditions.

ARTICLE 9 – Miscellaneous

9.01 *Terms*

A. Terms used in this Agreement will have the meanings stated in the General Conditions and the Supplementary Conditions.

9.02 Assignment of Contract

A. No assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the Contract will be binding on another party hereto without the written consent of the party sought to be bound; and, specifically but without limitation, moneys that may become due and moneys that are due may not be assigned without such consent (except to the extent that the effect of this restriction may be limited by law), and unless specifically stated to the contrary in any written consent to an assignment, no assignment will release or discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under the Contract Documents.

9.03 Successors and Assigns

A. Owner and Contractor each binds itself, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives to the other party hereto, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives in respect to all covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the Contract Documents.

9.04 Severability

A. Any provision or part of the Contract Documents held to be void or unenforceable under any Law or Regulation shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and binding upon Owner and Contractor, who agree that the Contract Documents shall be reformed to replace such stricken provision or part thereof with a valid and enforceable provision that comes as close as possible to expressing the intention of the stricken provision.

9.05 Contractor's Certifications

- A. Contractor certifies that it has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive practices in competing for or in executing the Contract. For the purposes of this Paragraph 10.05:
 - 1. "corrupt practice" means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of any thing of value likely to influence the action of a public official in the bidding process or in the Contract execution;
 - 2. "fraudulent practice" means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to influence the bidding process or the execution of the Contract to the detriment of Owner, (b) to establish Bid or Contract prices at artificial non-competitive levels, or (c) to deprive Owner of the benefits of free and open competition;
 - 3. "collusive practice" means a scheme or arrangement between two or more Bidders, with or without the knowledge of Owner, a purpose of which is to

- establish Bid prices at artificial, non-competitive levels; and
- 4. "coercive practice" means harming or threatening to harm, directly or indirectly, persons or their property to influence their participation in the bidding process or affect the execution of the Contract.

9.06 Other Provisions

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Owner and Contractor have signed this Agreement. Counterparts have been delivered to Owner and Contractor. All portions of the Contract Documents have been signed or have been identified by Owner and Contractor or on their behalf.

This Agreement will be effective on	(which is the Effective Date of the Agreement).
OWNER:	CONTRACTOR
By:	By:
Title:	
	(If Contractor is a corporation, a partnership, or a joint venture, attach evidence of authority to sign.)
Attest:	Attest:
Title:	Title:
Address for giving notices:	Address for giving notices:
	License No.:
	(Where applicable)
	Agent for service of process:

NOTICE TO PROCEED

Project: Avington Chase Drainage	Swale Rehabilitation
Owner: City of Perry	Owner's Contract No.: 2025-01
Contractor:	Engineer's Project No.: 1013.2304
Contractor's Address:	·
On or before that Contract Documents. No field work the Agreement, the date of Substan for final payment is, and the num]. Before you may start any Work at that you and Owner must each delivered that the contract of t	Times under the above Contract will commence to run on date, you are to start performing your obligations under the to proceed prior to this date. In accordance with Article 4 of tial Completion is, and the date of readiness[(or) the number of days to achieve Substantial Completion aber of days to achieve readiness for final payment is the Site, Paragraph 2.01.B of the General Conditions provides ver to the other (with copies to Engineer and other identified) certificates of insurance which each is required to purchase e Contract Documents.
	City of Perry
	Owner
	Given by:
	Authorized Signature
	Title
	Date

END OF SECTION

Copy to Engineer

PERFORMANCE BOND

CONTRAC	ΓOR (name and address):	SURETY (name and address of principal place of busines	is):
OWNER:	City of Perry 741 Main Street Perry, GA 31069		
Effect Amo Desc rehab of th	CTION CONTRACT ctive Date of the Agreement unt: ription: Avington Chase D bilitation of a drainage swale	: rainage Swale Rehabilitation - This project includes e with the use of stone filled gabion baskets. The purp orm water to prevent flooding in the Avington G	pose
Date Amo		ate of the Agreement of the Construction Contract): a: □ None □ See Paragraph 16	
•	se this Performance Bond	egally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth be to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent	
CONTRAC	TOR AS PRINCIPAL	SURETY	
Contractor's N	ame and Corporate Seal	Surety's Name and Corporate Seal	seal)
By:Signat	ture	By: Signature (attach power of attorney)	
Print Name		Print Name	
Title		Title	

Attest:	Attest:	
Signature	Signature	
1		
Title	Title	

Note: Surety companies executing bonds must appear on the Treasury Department's most current list (Circular 570 as amended) and be authorized to transact business in the state where the project is located.

- 1. The Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns to the Owner for the performance of the Construction Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference.
- 2. If the Contractor performs the Construction Contract, the Surety and the Contractor shall have no obligation under this Bond, except when applicable to participate in a conference as provided in Paragraph 3.
- 3. If there is no Owner Default under the Construction Contract, the Surety's obligation under this Bond shall arise after:
 - 3.1 The Owner first provides notice to the Contractor and the Surety that the Owner is considering declaring a Contractor Default. Such notice shall indicate whether the Owner is requesting a conference among the Owner, Contractor, and Surety to discuss the Contractor's performance. If the Owner does not request a conference, the Surety may, within five (5) business days after receipt of the Owner's notice, request such a conference. If the Surety timely requests a conference, the Owner shall attend. Unless the Owner agrees otherwise, any conference requested under this Paragraph 3.1 shall be held within ten (10) business days of the Surety's receipt of the Owner's notice. If the Owner, the Contractor, and the Surety agree, the Contractor shall be allowed a reasonable time to perform the Construction Contract, but such an agreement shall not waive the Owner's right, if any, subsequently to declare a Contractor Default;
 - 3.2 The Owner declares a Contractor Default, terminates the Construction Contract and notifies the Surety; and
 - 3.3 The Owner has agreed to pay the Balance of the Contract Price in accordance with the terms of the Construction Contract to the Surety or to a contractor selected to perform the Construction Contract.
- 4. Failure on the part of the Owner to comply with the notice requirement in Paragraph 3.1 shall not constitute a failure to comply with a condition precedent to the Surety's obligations, or release the Surety from its obligations, except to the extent the Surety demonstrates actual prejudice.
- 5. When the Owner has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 3, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety's expense take one of the following actions:
 - 5.1 Arrange for the Contractor, with the consent of the Owner, to perform and complete the Construction Contract;
 - 5.2 Undertake to perform and complete the Construction Contract itself, through its agents or independent contractors;
 - 5.3 Obtain bids or negotiated proposals from qualified contractors acceptable to the Owner for a contract for performance and completion of the Construction Contract, arrange for a contract to be prepared for execution by the Owner and a

- contractor selected with the Owners concurrence, to be secured with performance and payment bonds executed by a qualified surety equivalent to the bonds issued on the Construction Contract, and pay to the Owner the amount of damages as described in Paragraph 7 in excess of the Balance of the Contract Price incurred by the Owner as a result of the Contractor Default; or
- Waive its right to perform and complete, arrange for completion, or obtain a new contractor, and with reasonable promptness under the circumstances:
- 5.4.1 After investigation, determine the amount for which it may be liable to the Owner and, as soon as practicable after the amount is determined, make payment to the Owner; or
- 5.4.2 Deny liability in whole or in part and notify the Owner, citing the reasons for denial.
- 6. If the Surety does not proceed as provided in Paragraph 5 with reasonable promptness, the Surety shall be deemed to be in default on this Bond seven days after receipt of an additional written notice from the Owner to the Surety demanding that the Surety perform its obligations under this Bond, and the Owner shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to the Owner. If the Surety proceeds as provided in Paragraph 5.4, and the Owner refuses the payment or the Surety has denied liability, in whole or in part, without further notice the Owner shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to the Owner.
- 7. If the Surety elects to act under Paragraph 5.1, 5.2, or 5.3, then the responsibilities of the Surety to the Owner shall not be greater than those of the Contractor under the Construction Contract, and the responsibilities of the Owner to the Surety shall not be greater than those of the Owner under the Construction Contract. Subject to the commitment by the Owner to pay the Balance of the Contract Price, the Surety is obligated, without duplication for:
 - 7.1 the responsibilities of the Contractor for correction of defective work and completion of the Construction Contract;
 - 7.2 additional legal, design professional, and delay costs resulting from the Contractor's Default, and resulting from the actions or failure to act of the Surety under Paragraph 5; and
 - 7.3 liquidated damages, or if no liquidated damages are specified in the Construction Contract, actual damages caused by delayed performance or non-performance of the Contractor.
- 8. If the Surety elects to act under Paragraph 5.1, 5.3, or 5.4, the Surety's liability is limited to the amount of this Bond.
- 9. The Surety shall not be liable to the Owner or others for obligations of the Contractor that are unrelated to the Construction Contract, and the Balance of the Contract Price shall not be reduced or set off on account of any such unrelated obligations. No right of action shall accrue on this Bond to any person or entity other than the Owner or its heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns.
- 10. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including changes of time, to the

Construction Contract or to related subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations.

- 11. Any proceeding, legal or equitable, under this Bond may be instituted in any court of competent jurisdiction in the location in which the work or part of the work is located and shall be instituted within two years after a declaration of Contractor Default or within two years after the Contractor ceased working or within two years after the Surety refuses or fails to perform its obligations under this Bond, whichever occurs first. If the provisions of this paragraph are void or prohibited by law, the minimum periods of limitations available to sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable.
- 12. Notice to the Surety, the Owner, or the Contractor shall be mailed or delivered to the address shown on the page on which their signature appears.
- 13. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory or other legal requirement in the location where the construction was to be performed, any provision in this Bond conflicting with said statutory or legal requirement shall be deemed deleted herefrom and provisions conforming to such statutory or other legal requirement shall be deemed incorporated herein. When so furnished, the intent is that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory bond and not as a common law bond.

14. Definitions

- 14.1 Balance of the Contract Price: The total amount payable by the Owner to the Contractor under the Construction Contract after all proper adjustments have been made including allowance for the Contractor for any amounts received or to be received by the Owner in settlement of insurance or other claims for damages to which the Contractor is entitled, reduced by all valid and proper payments made to or on behalf of the Contractor under the Construction Contract.
- 14.2 Construction Contract: The agreement between the Owner and Contractor identified on the cover page, including all Contract Documents and changes made to the agreement and the Contract Documents.
- 14.3 Contractor Default: Failure of the Contractor, which has not been remedied or waived, to perform or otherwise to comply with a material term of the Construction Contract.
- 14.4 Owner Default: Failure of the Owner, which has not been remedied or waived, to pay the Contractor as required under the Construction Contract or to perform and complete or comply with the other material terms of the Construction Contract.
- 14.5 Contract Documents: All the documents that comprise the agreement between the Owner and Contractor.
- 15. If this Bond is issued for an agreement between a contractor and subcontractor, the term Contractor in this Bond shall be deemed to be Subcontractor and the term Owner shall be deemed to be Contractor.
- 16. Modifications to this Bond are as follows:
 - <Contractor/surety to list if any>

PAYMENT BOND

CONTRACT	TOR (name and address):	SURETY (name and address of principal place of busi	ness):
OWNER:	City of Perry 741 Main Street Perry, GA 31069		
Effect Amo Descrehab of th	CTION CONTRACT stive Date of the Agreemen unt: ription: Avington Chase I bilitation of a drainage swal	t: Orainage Swale Rehabilitation - This project include with the use of stone filled gabion baskets. The partner water to prevent flooding in the Avington	urpose
Date Amo		ate of the Agreement of the Construction Contract): a: \[\sum \text{None} \text{See Paragraph 18} \]	
	ise this Payment Bond to	egally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth be duly executed by an authorized officer, ago	
CONTRAC	TOR AS PRINCIPAL	SURETY	
Contractor's Na	ame and Corporate Seal	(seal) Surety's Name and Corporate Seal	_(seal)
By:Signat	ure	By: Signature (attach power of attorney)	
Print Name		Print Name	
Title		Title	

Attest:	Attest:	
Signature	Signature	
Title	Title	

Note: Surety companies executing bonds must appear on the Treasury Department's most current list (Circular 570 as amended) and be authorized to transact business in the state where the project is located.

- 1. The Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns to the Owner to pay for labor, materials, and equipment furnished for use in the performance of the Construction Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference, subject to the following terms.
- 2. If the Contractor promptly makes payment of all sums due to Claimants, and defends, indemnifies, and holds harmless the Owner from claims, demands, liens, or suits by any person or entity seeking payment for labor, materials, or equipment furnished for use in the performance of the Construction Contract, then the Surety and the Contractor shall have no obligation under this Bond.
- 3. If there is no Owner Default under the Construction Contract, the Surety's obligation to the Owner under this Bond shall arise after the Owner has promptly notified the Contractor and the Surety (at the address described in Paragraph 13) of claims, demands, liens, or suits against the Owner or the Owner's property by any person or entity seeking payment for labor, materials, or equipment furnished for use in the performance of the Construction Contract, and tendered defense of such claims, demands, liens, or suits to the Contractor and the Surety.
- 4. When the Owner has satisfied the conditions in Paragraph 3, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety's expense defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the Owner against a duly tendered claim, demand, lien, or suit.
- 5. The Surety's obligations to a Claimant under this Bond shall arise after the following:
 - 5.1 Claimants who do not have a direct contract with the Contractor,
 - 5.1.1 have furnished a written notice of non-payment to the Contractor, stating with substantial accuracy the amount claimed and the name of the party to whom the materials were, or equipment was, furnished or supplied or for whom the labor was done or performed, within ninety (90) days after having last performed labor or last furnished materials or equipment included in the Claim; and
 - 5.1.2 have sent a Claim to the Surety (at the address described in Paragraph 13).
 - 5.2 Claimants who are employed by or have a direct contract with the Contractor have sent a Claim to the Surety (at the address described in Paragraph 13).
- 6. If a notice of non-payment required by Paragraph 5.1.1 is given by the Owner to the Contractor, that is sufficient to satisfy a Claimant's obligation to furnish a written notice of non-payment under Paragraph 5.1.1.
- 7. When a Claimant has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 5.1 or 5.2, whichever is applicable, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety's expense take the following actions:
 - 7.1 Send an answer to the Claimant, with a copy to the Owner, within sixty (60) days after receipt of the Claim, stating the amounts that are undisputed and the basis

- for challenging any amounts that are disputed; and
- 7.2 Pay or arrange for payment of any undisputed amounts.
- 7.3 The Surety's failure to discharge its obligations under Paragraph 7.1 or 7.2 shall not be deemed to constitute a waiver of defenses the Surety or Contractor may have or acquire as to a Claim, except as to undisputed amounts for which the Surety and Claimant have reached agreement. If, however, the Surety fails to discharge its obligations under Paragraph 7.1 or 7.2, the Surety shall indemnify the Claimant for the reasonable attorney's fees the Claimant incurs thereafter to recover any sums found to be due and owing to the Claimant.
- 8. The Surety's total obligation shall not exceed the amount of this Bond, plus the amount of reasonable attorney's fees provided under Paragraph 7.3, and the amount of this Bond shall be credited for any payments made in good faith by the Surety.
- 9. Amounts owed by the Owner to the Contractor under the Construction Contract shall be used for the performance of the Construction Contract and to satisfy claims, if any, under any construction performance bond. By the Contractor furnishing and the Owner accepting this Bond, they agree that all funds earned by the Contractor in the performance of the Construction Contract are dedicated to satisfy obligations of the Contractor and Surety under this Bond, subject to the Owner's priority to use the funds for the completion of the work.
- 10. The Surety shall not be liable to the Owner, Claimants, or others for obligations of the Contractor that are unrelated to the Construction Contract. The Owner shall not be liable for the payment of any costs or expenses of any Claimant under this Bond, and shall have under this Bond no obligation to make payments to or give notice on behalf of Claimants, or otherwise have any obligations to Claimants under this Bond.
- 11. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including changes of time, to the Construction Contract or to related subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations.
- 12. No suit or action shall be commenced by a Claimant under this Bond other than in a court of competent jurisdiction in the state in which the project that is the subject of the Construction Contract is located or after the expiration of one year from the date (1) on which the Claimant sent a Claim to the Surety pursuant to Paragraph 5.1.2 or 5.2, or (2) on which the last labor or service was performed by anyone or the last materials or equipment were furnished by anyone under the Construction Contract, whichever of (1) or (2) first occurs. If the provisions of this paragraph are void or prohibited by law, the minimum period of limitation available to sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable.
- 13. Notice and Claims to the Surety, the Owner, or the Contractor shall be mailed or delivered to the address shown on the page on which their signature appears. Actual receipt of notice or Claims, however accomplished, shall be sufficient compliance as of the date received.
- 14. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory or other legal requirement in the location where the construction was to be performed, any provision in this Bond conflicting with said statutory or legal requirement shall be deemed deleted herefrom and provisions conforming to such statutory or other legal requirement shall be deemed

- incorporated herein. When so furnished, the intent is that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory bond and not as a common law bond.
- 15. Upon requests by any person or entity appearing to be a potential beneficiary of this Bond, the Contractor and Owner shall promptly furnish a copy of this Bond or shall permit a copy to be made.

16. **Definitions**

- 16.1 **Claim:** A written statement by the Claimant including at a minimum:
 - 1. The name of the Claimant;
 - 2. The name of the person for whom the labor was done, or materials or equipment furnished;
 - 3. A copy of the agreement or purchase order pursuant to which labor, materials, or equipment was furnished for use in the performance of the Construction Contract;
 - 4. A brief description of the labor, materials, or equipment furnished;
 - 5. The date on which the Claimant last performed labor or last furnished materials or equipment for use in the performance of the Construction Contract;
 - 6. The total amount earned by the Claimant for labor, materials, or equipment furnished as of the date of the Claim;
 - 7. The total amount of previous payments received by the Claimant; and
 - 8. The total amount due and unpaid to the Claimant for labor, materials, or equipment furnished as of the date of the Claim.
- 16.2 Claimant: An individual or entity having a direct contract with the Contractor or with a subcontractor of the Contractor to furnish labor, materials, or equipment for use in the performance of the Construction Contract. The term Claimant also includes any individual or entity that has rightfully asserted a claim under an applicable mechanic's lien or similar statute against the real property upon which the Project is located. The intent of this Bond shall be to include without limitation in the terms of "labor, materials, or equipment" that part of the water, gas, power, light, heat, oil, gasoline, telephone service, or rental equipment used in the Construction Contract, architectural and engineering services required for performance of the work of the Contractor and the Contractor's subcontractors, and all other items for which a mechanic's lien may be asserted in the jurisdiction where the labor, materials, or equipment were furnished.
- 16.3 **Construction Contract:** The agreement between the Owner and Contractor identified on the cover page, including all Contract Documents and all changes made to the agreement and the Contract Documents.
- 16.4 **Owner Default**: Failure of the Owner, which has not been remedied or waived, to pay the Contractor as required under the Construction Contract or to perform and complete or comply with the other material terms of the Construction Contract.

- 16.5 **Contract Documents:** All the documents that comprise the agreement between the Owner and Contractor.
- 17. If this Bond is issued for an agreement between a contractor and subcontractor, the term Contractor in this Bond shall be deemed to be Subcontractor and the term Owner shall be deemed to be Contractor.
- 18. Modifications to this Bond are as follows:

<Contractor/surety to list if any>

SECTION 00 65 16

CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION

itation
Owner's Contract No.: 2025-01
Engineer's Project No.: 1013.2304
lies to:
The following specified portions of the Work:
- mi-1 C- multi- m
antial Completion
been inspected by authorized representatives of to be substantially complete. The Date of thereof designated above is hereby declared and warranties required by the Contract Documents, bleted or corrected is attached hereto. This list lude any items on such list does not alter the all Work in accordance with the Contract Contractor for security, operation, safety, rranties shall be as provided in the Contract Not Amended

Contractor's Amended Responsibiliti	es:	
The following documents are attached	d to and made part of this Certific	cate:
This Certificate does not constitute Documents nor is it a release of Conthe Contract Documents.		
Executed by Engineer	Date	
Accepted by Contractor	Date	
Accepted by Owner	Date	<u> </u>

AFFIDAVIT OF PAYMENT OF DEBTS AND CLAIMS

TO OWNER: City of Perry PROJECT:	ENGINEER'S PROJECT NO.: 1013.2304 CONTRACT DATED:
Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation	
STATE OF: Georgia	
COUNTY OF:	
obligations have otherwise been satisfied for all m and services performed, and for all known indebted	sted below, payment has been made in full and all aterial and equipment furnished, for all work, labor liness and claims against the Contractor for damages nance of the Contract referenced above for which the ble or encumbered.
EXCEPTIONS:	
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ATTACHED HERETO: 1. Consent of Surety to Final Payment. 2. Contractor's Affidavit of Release of Liens. The above personally appeared before me, the undersigned notary public, and provided	•
satisfactory evidence of identification to be the person who signed this document in my presence and swore or affirmed to me that the contents of this document are truthful and accurate to the best of his/her knowledge and belief. Date: Notary Public: My Commission expires:	(Signature of authorized representative) (Printed name and title) The above personally appeared before me, the undersigned notary public, and provided satisfactory evidence of identification to be the person who signed this document in my presence and swore or affirmed to me that the contents of this document are truthful and accurate to the best of his/her knowledge and belief.
	Date:
	Notary Public:
	My Commission expires:

END OF SECTION

AFFIDAVIT OF PAYMENT RELEASE OF LIENS

TO OWNER: City of Perry	ENGINEER'S PROJECT NO.: 1013.2304
PROJECT: Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation	CONTRACT DATED:
STATE OF: Georgia	
COUNTY OF:	
except as listed below, the Releases or Waivers of Subcontractors, all suppliers of materials and equip	he undersigned's knowledge, information and belief, of Lien attached hereto include the Contractor, all ment, and all performers of Work, labor or services he right to assert liens or encumbrances against any he performance of the Contract referenced above.
EXCEPTIONS:	
HERETO:1. Contractor's Release or Waiver of Liens, conditional upon receipt of final payment.	CONTRACTOR: (name and address)
2. Separate Releases or Waivers of Liens form Subcontractors and equipment suppliers, to the extent required by the Owner, accompanied by a list thereof.	
	The above personally appeared before me, the undersigned notary public, and provided satisfactory evidence of identification to be the person who signed this document in my presence and swore or affirmed to me that the contents of this document are truthful and accurate to the best of his/her knowledge and belief.
	Date:
	Notary Public:
	My Commission expires:

END OF SECTION

CONSENT OF SURETY TO FINAL PAYMENT

TO OWNER:	ENGINEER'S PROJECT NO.:
City of Perry	1013.2304
PROJECT:	CONTRACT DATED:
Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation	n
In accordance with the provisions of the Contrac above, the	et between the Owner and the Contractor as indicated
(insert name and address of Surety)	
on bond of	, SURETY,
(insert name and address of Contractor)	
	, CONTRACTOR,
herby approves of the final payment to the Contr shall not relieve the Surety of any of its obligations	ractor, and agrees that final payment to the Contractor s to
(insert name and address of Owner)	
	, OWNER,
as set forth in said Surety's bond.	
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Surety has hereunted	
(insert in writing the moth followed by the numeric	c date and year)
	(Surety)
	(Signature of authorized representative)
Attest: (Seal):	(Printed name and title)

END OF SECTION

GENERAL CONDITIONS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Article 1 – Definitions and Terminology	6
1.01	6
1.02Terminology	10
Article 2 – Preliminary Matters	11
2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance	11
2.02Copies of Documents	11
2.03 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed	11
2.04Starting the Work	11
2.05 Before Starting Construction	12
2.06Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Autl Representatives	norized
2.07Initial Acceptance of Schedules	12
Article 3 – Contract Documents: Intent, Amending, Reuse	13
3.01Intent	13
3.02	13
3.03Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies	13
3.04Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents	14
3.05	14
3.06Electronic Data	15
Article 4 – Availability of Lands; Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Haz Environmental Conditions; Reference Points	
4.01	15
4.02Subsurface and Physical Conditions	16
4.03 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions	16
4.04	17
4.05	18
4.06Hazardous Environmental Condition at Site	19
Article 5 - Ronds and Insurance	20

5.01Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds	20
5.02Licensed Sureties and Insurers	21
5.03	21
5.04	22
5.05 Owner's Liability Insurance	23
5.06	23
5.07Waiver of Rights	24
5.08Receipt and Application of Insurance Proceeds	25
5.09Acceptance of Bonds and Insurance; Option to Replace	26
5.10 Partial Utilization, Acknowledgment of Property Insurer	26
Article 6 – Contractor's Responsibilities	26
6.01Supervision and Superintendence	26
6.02Labor; Working Hours	27
6.03Services, Materials, and Equipment	27
6.04Progress Schedule	27
6.05Substitutes and "Or-Equals"	28
6.06Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others	30
6.07	31
6.08Permits	32
6.09Laws and Regulations	32
6.10Taxes	33
6.11	33
6.12	33
6.13	34
6.14Safety Representative	35
6.15	35
6.16Emergencies	35
6.17 Shop Drawings and Samples	35
6.18Continuing the Work	37
6.19Contractor's General Warranty and Guarantee	37
6.20Indemnification	38
6.21Delegation of Professional Design Services	38
Article 7 – Other Work at the Site	39

	7.01	39
	7.02	40
	7.03Legal Relationships	40
Article 8 – Ov	vner's Responsibilities	40
	8.01Communications to Contractor	40
	8.02Replacement of Engineer	40
	8.03Furnish Data	41
	8.04	41
	8.05Lands and Easements; Reports and Tests	41
	8.06Insurance	41
	8.07	41
	8.08	41
	8.09Limitations on Owner's Responsibilities	41
	8.10Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition	41
	8.11Evidence of Financial Arrangements	41
	8.12Compliance with Safety Program	41
Article 9 – En	gineer's Status During Construction	42
	9.01Owner's Representative	42
	9.02Visits to Site	42
	9.03	42
	9.04Authorized Variations in Work	42
	9.05	43
	9.06 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments	43
	9.07Determinations for Unit Price Work	43
	9.08Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Accept of Work	ability
	9.09Limitations on Engineer's Authority and Responsibilities	44
	9.10	44
Article 10 – C	Changes in the Work; Claims	45
	10.01Authorized Changes in the Work	45
	10.02	45
	10.03Execution of Change Orders	45
	10.04Notification to Surety	45

10.05Claims	46
Article 11 - Cost of the Work; Allowances; Unit Price Work	47
11.01	47
11.02Allowances	49
11.03	50
Article 12 – Change of Contract Price; Change of Contract Times	50
12.01	50
12.02	52
12.03	52
Article 13 – Tests and Inspections; Correction, Removal or Acceptance of Def Work	
13.01	53
13.02	53
13.03 Tests and Inspections	53
13.04	54
13.05Owner May Stop the Work	54
13.06Correction or Removal of Defective Work	54
13.07	55
13.08Acceptance of Defective Work	56
13.09Owner May Correct Defective Work	56
Article 14 – Payments to Contractor and Completion	57
14.01Schedule of Values	57
14.02Progress Payments	57
14.03Contractor's Warranty of Title	59
14.04Substantial Completion	60
14.05Partial Utilization	60
14.06Final Inspection	61
14.07Final Payment	61
14.08Final Completion Delayed	62
14.09Waiver of Claims	63
Article 15 – Suspension of Work and Termination	63
15.01Owner May Suspend Work	63
15.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause	63

15.03 Owner May Terr	minate For Convenience	64
15.04Contractor May S	Stop Work or Terminate	65
Article 16 – Dispute Resolution		65
16.01	Methods and Procedures	65
Article 17 – Miscellaneous		66
17.01	Giving Notice	66
17.02	Computation of Times	66
17.03	Cumulative Remedies	66
17.04	Survival of Obligations	66
17.05	Controlling Law	66
17.06	Handings	66

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY

1.01 Defined Terms

- A. Wherever used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents and printed with initial capital letters, the terms listed below will have the meanings indicated which are applicable to both the singular and plural thereof. In addition to terms specifically defined, terms with initial capital letters in the Contract Documents include references to identified articles and paragraphs, and the titles of other documents or forms.
 - 1. Addenda—Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of Bids which clarify, correct, or change the Bidding Requirements or the proposed Contract Documents.
 - 2. *Agreement*—The written instrument which is evidence of the agreement between Owner and Contractor covering the Work.
 - 3. Application for Payment—The form acceptable to Engineer which is to be used by Contractor during the course of the Work in requesting progress or final payments and which is to be accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents.
 - 4. *Asbestos*—Any material that contains more than one percent asbestos and is friable or is releasing asbestos fibers into the air above current action levels established by the United States Occupational Safety and Health Administration.
 - 5. *Bid*—The offer or proposal of a Bidder submitted on the prescribed form setting forth the prices for the Work to be performed.
 - 6. *Bidder*—The individual or entity who submits a Bid directly to Owner.
 - 7. *Bidding Documents*—The Bidding Requirements and the proposed Contract Documents (including all Addenda).
 - 8. *Bidding Requirements*—The advertisement or invitation to bid, Instructions to Bidders, Bid security of acceptable form, if any, and the Bid Form with any supplements.
 - 9. *Change Order*—A document recommended by Engineer which is signed by Contractor and Owner and authorizes an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, issued on or after the Effective Date of the Agreement.
 - 10. *Claim*—A demand or assertion by Owner or Contractor seeking an adjustment of Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, or other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract. A demand for money or services by a third party is not a Claim.
 - 11. *Contract*—The entire and integrated written agreement between the Owner and Contractor concerning the Work. The Contract supersedes prior negotiations, representations, or agreements, whether written or oral.
 - 12. Contract Documents—Those items so designated in the Agreement. Only printed

- or hard copies of the items listed in the Agreement are Contract Documents. Approved Shop Drawings, other Contractor submittals, and the reports and drawings of subsurface and physical conditions are not Contract Documents.
- 13. *Contract Price*—The moneys payable by Owner to Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents as stated in the Agreement (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 11.03 in the case of Unit Price Work).
- 14. *Contract Times*—The number of days or the dates stated in the Agreement to: (i) achieve Milestones, if any; (ii) achieve Substantial Completion; and (iii) complete the Work so that it is ready for final payment as evidenced by Engineer's written recommendation of final payment.
- 15. *Contractor*—The individual or entity with whom Owner has entered into the Agreement.
- 16. Cost of the Work—See Paragraph 11.01 for definition.
- 17. *Drawings*—That part of the Contract Documents prepared or approved by Engineer which graphically shows the scope, extent, and character of the Work to be performed by Contractor. Shop Drawings and other Contractor submittals are not Drawings as so defined.
- 18. Effective Date of the Agreement—The date indicated in the Agreement on which it becomes effective, but if no such date is indicated, it means the date on which the Agreement is signed and delivered by the last of the two parties to sign and deliver.
- 19. *Engineer*—The individual or entity named as such in the Agreement.
- 20. *Field Order*—A written order issued by Engineer which requires minor changes in the Work but which does not involve a change in the Contract Price or the Contract Times.
- 21. General Requirements—Sections of Division 1 of the Specifications.
- 22. *Hazardous Environmental Condition*—The presence at the Site of Asbestos, PCBs, Petroleum, Hazardous Waste, or Radioactive Material in such quantities or circumstances that may present a substantial danger to persons or property exposed thereto.
- 23. *Hazardous Waste*—The term Hazardous Waste shall have the meaning provided in Section 1004 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act (42 USC Section 6903) as amended from time to time.
- 24. Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations—Any and all applicable laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, agencies, authorities, and courts having jurisdiction.
- 25. *Liens*—Charges, security interests, or encumbrances upon Project funds, real property, or personal property.
- 26. *Milestone*—A principal event specified in the Contract Documents relating to an intermediate completion date or time prior to Substantial Completion of all the

Work.

- 27. *Notice of Award*—The written notice by Owner to the Successful Bidder stating that upon timely compliance by the Successful Bidder with the conditions precedent listed therein, Owner will sign and deliver the Agreement.
- 28. *Notice to Proceed*—A written notice given by Owner to Contractor fixing the date on which the Contract Times will commence to run and on which Contractor shall start to perform the Work under the Contract Documents.
- 29. *Owner*—The individual or entity with whom Contractor has entered into the Agreement and for whom the Work is to be performed.
- 30. *PCBs*—Polychlorinated biphenyls.
- 31. *Petroleum*—Petroleum, including crude oil or any fraction thereof which is liquid at standard conditions of temperature and pressure (60 degrees Fahrenheit and 14.7 pounds per square inch absolute), such as oil, petroleum, fuel oil, oil sludge, oil refuse, gasoline, kerosene, and oil mixed with other non-Hazardous Waste and crude oils.
- 32. *Progress Schedule*—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, describing the sequence and duration of the activities comprising the Contractor's plan to accomplish the Work within the Contract Times.
- 33. *Project*—The total construction of which the Work to be performed under the Contract Documents may be the whole, or a part.
- 34. *Project Manual*—The bound documentary information prepared for bidding and constructing the Work. A listing of the contents of the Project Manual, which may be bound in one or more volumes, is contained in the table(s) of contents.
- 35. *Radioactive Material*—Source, special nuclear, or byproduct material as defined by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954 (42 USC Section 2011 et seq.) as amended from time to time.
- 36. *Resident Project Representative*—The authorized representative of Engineer who may be assigned to the Site or any part thereof.
- 37. *Samples*—Physical examples of materials, equipment, or workmanship that are representative of some portion of the Work and which establish the standards by which such portion of the Work will be judged.
- 38. *Schedule of Submittals*—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, of required submittals and the time requirements to support scheduled performance of related construction activities.
- 39. *Schedule of Values*—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, allocating portions of the Contract Price to various portions of the Work and used as the basis for reviewing Contractor's Applications for Payment.
- 40. *Shop Drawings*—All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, and other data or information which are specifically prepared or assembled by or for Contractor and submitted by Contractor to illustrate some portion of the Work.

- 41. *Site*—Lands or areas indicated in the Contract Documents as being furnished by Owner upon which the Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and easements for access thereto, and such other lands furnished by Owner which are designated for the use of Contractor.
- 42. *Specifications*—That part of the Contract Documents consisting of written requirements for materials, equipment, systems, standards and workmanship as applied to the Work, and certain administrative requirements and procedural matters applicable thereto.
- 43. *Subcontractor*—An individual or entity having a direct contract with Contractor or with any other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work at the Site.
- 44. Substantial Completion—The time at which the Work (or a specified part thereof) has progressed to the point where, in the opinion of Engineer, the Work (or a specified part thereof) is sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Contract Documents, so that the Work (or a specified part thereof) can be utilized for the purposes for which it is intended. The terms "substantially complete" and "substantially completed" as applied to all or part of the Work refer to Substantial Completion thereof.
- 45. Successful Bidder—The Bidder submitting a responsive Bid to whom Owner makes an award.
- 46. *Supplementary Conditions*—That part of the Contract Documents which amends or supplements these General Conditions.
- 47. Supplier—A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, materialman, or vendor having a direct contract with Contractor or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials or equipment to be incorporated in the Work by Contractor or Subcontractor.
- 48. *Underground Facilities*—All underground pipelines, conduits, ducts, cables, wires, manholes, vaults, tanks, tunnels, or other such facilities or attachments, and any encasements containing such facilities, including those that convey electricity, gases, steam, liquid petroleum products, telephone or other communications, cable television, water, wastewater, storm water, other liquids or chemicals, or traffic or other control systems.
- 49. *Unit Price Work*—Work to be paid for on the basis of unit prices.
- 50. Work—The entire construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof required to be provided under the Contract Documents. Work includes and is the result of performing or providing all labor, services, and documentation necessary to produce such construction, and furnishing, installing, and incorporating all materials and equipment into such construction, all as required by the Contract Documents.
- 51. Work Change Directive—A written statement to Contractor issued on or after the Effective Date of the Agreement and signed by Owner and recommended by Engineer ordering an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work, or responding to

differing or unforeseen subsurface or physical conditions under which the Work is to be performed or to emergencies. A Work Change Directive will not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times but is evidence that the parties expect that the change ordered or documented by a Work Change Directive will be incorporated in a subsequently issued Change Order following negotiations by the parties as to its effect, if any, on the Contract Price or Contract Times.

1.02 *Terminology*

A. The words and terms discussed in Paragraph 1.02.B through F are not defined but, when used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, have the indicated meaning.

B. Intent of Certain Terms or Adjectives:

1. The Contract Documents include the terms "as allowed," "as approved," "as ordered," "as directed" or terms of like effect or import to authorize an exercise of professional judgment by Engineer. In addition, the adjectives "reasonable," "suitable," "acceptable," "proper," "satisfactory," or adjectives of like effect or import are used to describe an action or determination of Engineer as to the Work. It is intended that such exercise of professional judgment, action, or determination will be solely to evaluate, in general, the Work for compliance with the information in the Contract Documents and with the design concept of the Project as a functioning whole as shown or indicated in the Contract Documents (unless there is a specific statement indicating otherwise). The use of any such term or adjective is not intended to and shall not be effective to assign to Engineer any duty or authority to supervise or direct the performance of the Work, or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility contrary to the provisions of Paragraph 9.09 or any other provision of the Contract Documents.

C. Day:

1. The word "day" means a calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next midnight.

D. Defective:

- 1. The word "defective," when modifying the word "Work," refers to Work that is unsatisfactory, faulty, or deficient in that it:
 - a. does not conform to the Contract Documents; or
 - b. does not meet the requirements of any applicable inspection, reference standard, test, or approval referred to in the Contract Documents; or
 - c. has been damaged prior to Engineer's recommendation of final payment (unless responsibility for the protection thereof has been assumed by Owner at Substantial Completion in accordance with Paragraph 14.04 or 14.05).

E. Furnish, Install, Perform, Provide:

1. The word "furnish," when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall mean to supply and deliver said services, materials, or equipment to the Site (or some other specified location) ready for use or installation and in

- usable or operable condition.
- 2. The word "install," when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall mean to put into use or place in final position said services, materials, or equipment complete and ready for intended use.
- 3. The words "perform" or "provide," when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall mean to furnish and install said services, materials, or equipment complete and ready for intended use.
- 4. When "furnish," "install," "perform," or "provide" is not used in connection with services, materials, or equipment in a context clearly requiring an obligation of Contractor, "provide" is implied.
- F. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract Documents, words or phrases that have a well-known technical or construction industry or trade meaning are used in the Contract Documents in accordance with such recognized meaning.

ARTICLE 2 – PRELIMINARY MATTERS

- 2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance
 - A. When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of the Agreement to Owner, Contractor shall also deliver to Owner such bonds as Contractor may be required to furnish.
 - B. *Evidence of Insurance:* Before any Work at the Site is started, Contractor and Owner shall each deliver to the other, with copies to each additional insured identified in the Supplementary Conditions, certificates of insurance (and other evidence of insurance which either of them or any additional insured may reasonably request) which Contractor and Owner respectively are required to purchase and maintain in accordance with Article 5.

2.02 Copies of Documents

- A. Owner shall furnish to Contractor up to ten printed or hard copies of the Drawings and Project Manual. Additional copies will be furnished upon request at the cost of reproduction.
- 2.03 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed
 - A. The Contract Times will commence to run on the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the Agreement or, if a Notice to Proceed is given, on the day indicated in the Notice to Proceed. A Notice to Proceed may be given at any time within 30 days after the Effective Date of the Agreement. In no event will the Contract Times commence to run later than the sixtieth day after the day of Bid opening or the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the Agreement, whichever date is earlier.

2.04 Starting the Work

A. Contractor shall start to perform the Work on the date when the Contract Times commence to run. No Work shall be done at the Site prior to the date on which the Contract Times commence to run.

2.05 Before Starting Construction

- A. *Preliminary Schedules:* Within 10 days after the Effective Date of the Agreement (unless otherwise specified in the General Requirements), Contractor shall submit to Engineer for timely review:
 - 1. a preliminary Progress Schedule indicating the times (numbers of days or dates) for starting and completing the various stages of the Work, including any Milestones specified in the Contract Documents;
 - 2. a preliminary Schedule of Submittals; and
 - 3. a preliminary Schedule of Values for all of the Work which includes quantities and prices of items which when added together equal the Contract Price and subdivides the Work into component parts in sufficient detail to serve as the basis for progress payments during performance of the Work. Such prices will include an appropriate amount of overhead and profit applicable to each item of Work.

2.06 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives

- A. Before any Work at the Site is started, a conference attended by Owner, Contractor, Engineer, and others as appropriate will be held to establish a working understanding among the parties as to the Work and to discuss the schedules referred to in Paragraph 2.05.A, procedures for handling Shop Drawings and other submittals, processing Applications for Payment, and maintaining required records.
- B. At this conference Owner and Contractor each shall designate, in writing, a specific individual to act as its authorized representative with respect to the services and responsibilities under the Contract. Such individuals shall have the authority to transmit instructions, receive information, render decisions relative to the Contract, and otherwise act on behalf of each respective party.

2.07 Initial Acceptance of Schedules

- A. At least 10 days before submission of the first Application for Payment a conference attended by Contractor, Engineer, and others as appropriate will be held to review for acceptability to Engineer as provided below the schedules submitted in accordance with Paragraph 2.05.A. Contractor shall have an additional 10 days to make corrections and adjustments and to complete and resubmit the schedules. No progress payment shall be made to Contractor until acceptable schedules are submitted to Engineer.
 - 1. The Progress Schedule will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides an orderly progression of the Work to completion within the Contract Times. Such acceptance will not impose on Engineer responsibility for the Progress Schedule, for sequencing, scheduling, or progress of the Work, nor interfere with or relieve Contractor from Contractor's full responsibility therefor.
 - 2. Contractor's Schedule of Submittals will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides a workable arrangement for reviewing and processing the required submittals.
 - 3. Contractor's Schedule of Values will be acceptable to Engineer as to form and substance if it provides a reasonable allocation of the Contract Price to component

ARTICLE 3 – CONTRACT DOCUMENTS: INTENT, AMENDING, REUSE

3.01 Intent

- A. The Contract Documents are complementary; what is required by one is as binding as if required by all.
- B. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to describe a functionally complete project (or part thereof) to be constructed in accordance with the Contract Documents. Any labor, documentation, services, materials, or equipment that reasonably may be inferred from the Contract Documents or from prevailing custom or trade usage as being required to produce the indicated result will be provided whether or not specifically called for, at no additional cost to Owner.
- C. Clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents shall be issued by Engineer as provided in Article 9.

3.02 Reference Standards

- A. Standards, Specifications, Codes, Laws, and Regulations
 - 1. Reference to standards, specifications, manuals, or codes of any technical society, organization, or association, or to Laws or Regulations, whether such reference be specific or by implication, shall mean the standard, specification, manual, code, or Laws or Regulations in effect at the time of opening of Bids (or on the Effective Date of the Agreement if there were no Bids), except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents.
 - 2. No provision of any such standard, specification, manual, or code, or any instruction of a Supplier, shall be effective to change the duties or responsibilities of Owner, Contractor, or Engineer, or any of their subcontractors, consultants, agents, or employees, from those set forth in the Contract Documents. No such provision or instruction shall be effective to assign to Owner, Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, any duty or authority to supervise or direct the performance of the Work or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility inconsistent with the provisions of the Contract Documents.

3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies

A. Reporting Discrepancies:

- 1. Contractor's Review of Contract Documents Before Starting Work: Before undertaking each part of the Work, Contractor shall carefully study and compare the Contract Documents and check and verify pertinent figures therein and all applicable field measurements. Contractor shall promptly report in writing to Engineer any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy which Contractor discovers, or has actual knowledge of, and shall obtain a written interpretation or clarification from Engineer before proceeding with any Work affected thereby.
- 2. Contractor's Review of Contract Documents During Performance of Work: If,

during the performance of the Work, Contractor discovers any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy within the Contract Documents, or between the Contract Documents and (a) any applicable Law or Regulation, (b) any standard, specification, manual, or code, or (c) any instruction of any Supplier, then Contractor shall promptly report it to Engineer in writing. Contractor shall not proceed with the Work affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 6.16.A) until an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents has been issued by one of the methods indicated in Paragraph 3.04.

3. Contractor shall not be liable to Owner or Engineer for failure to report any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy in the Contract Documents unless Contractor had actual knowledge thereof.

B. Resolving Discrepancies:

- 1. Except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents, the provisions of the Contract Documents shall take precedence in resolving any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy between the provisions of the Contract Documents and:
 - a. the provisions of any standard, specification, manual, or code, or the instruction of any Supplier (whether or not specifically incorporated by reference in the Contract Documents); or
 - b. the provisions of any Laws or Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work (unless such an interpretation of the provisions of the Contract Documents would result in violation of such Law or Regulation).

3.04 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents

- A. The Contract Documents may be amended to provide for additions, deletions, and revisions in the Work or to modify the terms and conditions thereof by either a Change Order or a Work Change Directive.
- B. The requirements of the Contract Documents may be supplemented, and minor variations and deviations in the Work may be authorized, by one or more of the following ways:
 - 1. A Field Order;
 - 2. Engineer's approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 6.17.D.3); or
 - 3. Engineer's written interpretation or clarification.

3.05 Reuse of Documents

A. Contractor and any Subcontractor or Supplier shall not:

- 1. have or acquire any title to or ownership rights in any of the Drawings, Specifications, or other documents (or copies of any thereof) prepared by or bearing the seal of Engineer or its consultants, including electronic media editions; or
- 2. reuse any such Drawings, Specifications, other documents, or copies thereof on

- extensions of the Project or any other project without written consent of Owner and Engineer and specific written verification or adaptation by Engineer.
- B. The prohibitions of this Paragraph 3.05 will survive final payment, or termination of the Contract. Nothing herein shall preclude Contractor from retaining copies of the Contract Documents for record purposes.

3.06 Electronic Data

- A. Unless otherwise stated in the Supplementary Conditions, the data furnished by Owner or Engineer to Contractor, or by Contractor to Owner or Engineer, that may be relied upon are limited to the printed copies (also known as hard copies). Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or other types are furnished only for the convenience of the receiving party. Any conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the user's sole risk. If there is a discrepancy between the electronic files and the hard copies, the hard copies govern.
- B. Because data stored in electronic media format can deteriorate or be modified inadvertently or otherwise without authorization of the data's creator, the party receiving electronic files agrees that it will perform acceptance tests or procedures within 60 days, after which the receiving party shall be deemed to have accepted the data thus transferred. Any errors detected within the 60-day acceptance period will be corrected by the transferring party.
- C. When transferring documents in electronic media format, the transferring party makes no representations as to long term compatibility, usability, or readability of documents resulting from the use of software application packages, operating systems, or computer hardware differing from those used by the data's creator.

ARTICLE 4 – AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; HAZARDOUS ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS; REFERENCE POINTS

4.01 Availability of Lands

- A. Owner shall furnish the Site. Owner shall notify Contractor of any encumbrances or restrictions not of general application but specifically related to use of the Site with which Contractor must comply in performing the Work. Owner will obtain in a timely manner and pay for easements for permanent structures or permanent changes in existing facilities. If Contractor and Owner are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, as a result of any delay in Owner's furnishing the Site or a part thereof, Contractor may make a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05.
- B. Upon reasonable written request, Owner shall furnish Contractor with a current statement of record legal title and legal description of the lands upon which the Work is to be performed and Owner's interest therein as necessary for giving notice of or filing a mechanic's or construction lien against such lands in accordance with applicable Laws and Regulations.
- C. Contractor shall provide for all additional lands and access thereto that may be

required for temporary construction facilities or storage of materials and equipment.

- 4.02 Subsurface and Physical Conditions
 - A. *Reports and Drawings:* The Supplementary Conditions identify:
 - 1. those reports known to Owner of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site; and
 - 2. those drawings known to Owner of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities).
 - B. Limited Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the accuracy of the "technical data" contained in such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract Documents. Such "technical data" is identified in the Supplementary Conditions. Except for such reliance on such "technical data," Contractor may not rely upon or make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors with respect to:
 - 1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor's purposes, including, but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto; or
 - 2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings; or
 - 3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any "technical data" or any such other data, interpretations, opinions, or information.
- 4.03 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions
 - A. *Notice:* If Contractor believes that any subsurface or physical condition that is uncovered or revealed either:
 - 1. is of such a nature as to establish that any "technical data" on which Contractor is entitled to rely as provided in Paragraph 4.02 is materially inaccurate; or
 - 2. is of such a nature as to require a change in the Contract Documents; or
 - 3. differs materially from that shown or indicated in the Contract Documents; or
 - 4. is of an unusual nature, and differs materially from conditions ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the Contract Documents;

then Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing the subsurface or physical conditions or performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 6.16.A), notify Owner and Engineer in writing about such condition. Contractor shall not further disturb such condition or perform any Work in connection therewith (except as aforesaid) until receipt of written order to do so.

B. *Engineer's Review*: After receipt of written notice as required by Paragraph 4.03.A, Engineer will promptly review the pertinent condition, determine the necessity of

Owner's obtaining additional exploration or tests with respect thereto, and advise Owner in writing (with a copy to Contractor) of Engineer's findings and conclusions.

C. Possible Price and Times Adjustments:

- 1. The Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both, will be equitably adjusted to the extent that the existence of such differing subsurface or physical condition causes an increase or decrease in Contractor's cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; subject, however, to the following:
 - a. such condition must meet any one or more of the categories described in Paragraph 4.03.A; and
 - b. with respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 9.07 and 11.03.
- 2. Contractor shall not be entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times if:
 - a. Contractor knew of the existence of such conditions at the time Contractor made a final commitment to Owner with respect to Contract Price and Contract Times by the submission of a Bid or becoming bound under a negotiated contract; or
 - b. the existence of such condition could reasonably have been discovered or revealed as a result of any examination, investigation, exploration, test, or study of the Site and contiguous areas required by the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents to be conducted by or for Contractor prior to Contractor's making such final commitment; or
 - c. Contractor failed to give the written notice as required by Paragraph 4.03.A.
- 3. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. However, neither Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors shall be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) sustained by Contractor on or in connection with any other project or anticipated project.

4.04 *Underground Facilities*

- A. Shown or Indicated: The information and data shown or indicated in the Contract Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the Site is based on information and data furnished to Owner or Engineer by the owners of such Underground Facilities, including Owner, or by others. Unless it is otherwise expressly provided in the Supplementary Conditions:
 - 1. Owner and Engineer shall not be responsible for the accuracy or completeness of any such information or data provided by others; and
 - 2. the cost of all of the following will be included in the Contract Price, and

Contractor shall have full responsibility for:

- a. reviewing and checking all such information and data;
- b. locating all Underground Facilities shown or indicated in the Contract Documents;
- c. coordination of the Work with the owners of such Underground Facilities, including Owner, during construction; and
- d. the safety and protection of all such Underground Facilities and repairing any damage thereto resulting from the Work.

B. Not Shown or Indicated:

- 1. If an Underground Facility is uncovered or revealed at or contiguous to the Site which was not shown or indicated, or not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing conditions affected thereby or performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 6.16.A), identify the owner of such Underground Facility and give written notice to that owner and to Owner and Engineer. Engineer will promptly review the Underground Facility and determine the extent, if any, to which a change is required in the Contract Documents to reflect and document the consequences of the existence or location of the Underground Facility. During such time, Contractor shall be responsible for the safety and protection of such Underground Facility.
- 2. If Engineer concludes that a change in the Contract Documents is required, a Work Change Directive or a Change Order will be issued to reflect and document such consequences. An equitable adjustment shall be made in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, to the extent that they are attributable to the existence or location of any Underground Facility that was not shown or indicated or not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy in the Contract Documents and that Contractor did not know of and could not reasonably have been expected to be aware of or to have anticipated. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any such adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, Owner or Contractor may make a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05.

4.05 Reference Points

A. Owner shall provide engineering surveys to establish reference points for construction which in Engineer's judgment are necessary to enable Contractor to proceed with the Work. Contractor shall be responsible for laying out the Work, shall protect and preserve the established reference points and property monuments, and shall make no changes or relocations without the prior written approval of Owner. Contractor shall report to Engineer whenever any reference point or property monument is lost or destroyed or requires relocation because of necessary changes in grades or locations, and shall be responsible for the accurate replacement or relocation of such reference points or property monuments by professionally qualified personnel.

4.06 Hazardous Environmental Condition at Site

- A. *Reports and Drawings:* The Supplementary Conditions identify those reports and drawings known to Owner relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions that have been identified at the Site.
- B. Limited Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the accuracy of the "technical data" contained in such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract Documents. Such "technical data" is identified in the Supplementary Conditions. Except for such reliance on such "technical data," Contractor may not rely upon or make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors with respect to:
 - 1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor's purposes, including, but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor and safety precautions and programs incident thereto; or
 - 2. other data, interpretations, opinions and information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings; or
 - 3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any "technical data" or any such other data, interpretations, opinions or information.
- C. Contractor shall not be responsible for any Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site which was not shown or indicated in Drawings or Specifications or identified in the Contract Documents to be within the scope of the Work. Contractor shall be responsible for a Hazardous Environmental Condition created with any materials brought to the Site by Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or anyone else for whom Contractor is responsible.
- D. If Contractor encounters a Hazardous Environmental Condition or if Contractor or anyone for whom Contractor is responsible creates a Hazardous Environmental Condition, Contractor shall immediately: (i) secure or otherwise isolate such condition; (ii) stop all Work in connection with such condition and in any area affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 6.16.A); and (iii) notify Owner and Engineer (and promptly thereafter confirm such notice in writing). Owner shall promptly consult with Engineer concerning the necessity for Owner to retain a qualified expert to evaluate such condition or take corrective action, if any. Promptly after consulting with Engineer, Owner shall take such actions as are necessary to permit Owner to timely obtain required permits and provide Contractor the written notice required by Paragraph 4.06.E.
- E. Contractor shall not be required to resume Work in connection with such condition or in any affected area until after Owner has obtained any required permits related thereto and delivered written notice to Contractor: (i) specifying that such condition and any affected area is or has been rendered safe for the resumption of Work; or (ii) specifying any special conditions under which such Work may be resumed safely. If Owner and Contractor cannot agree as to entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, as a result of

- such Work stoppage or such special conditions under which Work is agreed to be resumed by Contractor, either party may make a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05.
- F. If after receipt of such written notice Contractor does not agree to resume such Work based on a reasonable belief it is unsafe, or does not agree to resume such Work under such special conditions, then Owner may order the portion of the Work that is in the area affected by such condition to be deleted from the Work. If Owner and Contractor cannot agree as to entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times as a result of deleting such portion of the Work, then either party may make a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. Owner may have such deleted portion of the Work performed by Owner's own forces or others in accordance with Article 7.
- G. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to a Hazardous Environmental Condition, provided that such Hazardous Environmental Condition: (i) was not shown or indicated in the Drawings or Specifications or identified in the Contract Documents to be included within the scope of the Work, and (ii) was not created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in this Paragraph 4.06.G shall obligate Owner to indemnify any individual or entity from and against the consequences of that individual's or entity's own negligence.
- H. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to a Hazardous Environmental Condition created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in this Paragraph 4.06.H shall obligate Contractor to indemnify any individual or entity from and against the consequences of that individual's or entity's own negligence.
- I. The provisions of Paragraphs 4.02, 4.03, and 4.04 do not apply to a Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site.

ARTICLE 5 – BONDS AND INSURANCE

- 5.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds
 - A. Contractor shall furnish performance and payment bonds, each in an amount at least equal to the Contract Price as security for the faithful performance and payment of all of Contractor's obligations under the Contract Documents. These bonds shall remain in effect until one year after the date when final payment becomes due or until

- completion of the correction period specified in Paragraph 13.07, whichever is later, except as provided otherwise by Laws or Regulations or by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall also furnish such other bonds as are required by the Contract Documents.
- B. All bonds shall be in the form prescribed by the Contract Documents except as provided otherwise by Laws or Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in the list of "Companies Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Sureties on Federal Bonds and as Acceptable Reinsuring Companies" as published in Circular 570 (amended) by the Financial Management Service, Surety Bond Branch, U.S. Department of the Treasury. All bonds signed by an agent or attorney-in-fact must be accompanied by a certified copy of that individual's authority to bind the surety. The evidence of authority shall show that it is effective on the date the agent or attorney-in-fact signed each bond.
- C. If the surety on any bond furnished by Contractor is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent or its right to do business is terminated in any state where any part of the Project is located or it ceases to meet the requirements of Paragraph 5.01.B, Contractor shall promptly notify Owner and Engineer and shall, within 20 days after the event giving rise to such notification, provide another bond and surety, both of which shall comply with the requirements of Paragraphs 5.01.B and 5.02.

5.02 Licensed Sureties and Insurers

A. All bonds and insurance required by the Contract Documents to be purchased and maintained by Owner or Contractor shall be obtained from surety or insurance companies that are duly licensed or authorized in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located to issue bonds or insurance policies for the limits and coverages so required. Such surety and insurance companies shall also meet such additional requirements and qualifications as may be provided in the Supplementary Conditions.

5.03 Certificates of Insurance

- A. Contractor shall deliver to Owner, with copies to each additional insured and loss payee identified in the Supplementary Conditions, certificates of insurance (and other evidence of insurance requested by Owner or any other additional insured) which Contractor is required to purchase and maintain.
- B. Owner shall deliver to Contractor, with copies to each additional insured and loss payee identified in the Supplementary Conditions, certificates of insurance (and other evidence of insurance requested by Contractor or any other additional insured) which Owner is required to purchase and maintain.
- C. Failure of Owner to demand such certificates or other evidence of Contractor's full compliance with these insurance requirements or failure of Owner to identify a deficiency in compliance from the evidence provided shall not be construed as a waiver of Contractor's obligation to maintain such insurance.
- D. Owner does not represent that insurance coverage and limits established in this Contract necessarily will be adequate to protect Contractor.
- E. The insurance and insurance limits required herein shall not be deemed as a limitation

on Contractor's liability under the indemnities granted to Owner in the Contract Documents.

5.04 Contractor's Insurance

- A. Contractor shall purchase and maintain such insurance as is appropriate for the Work being performed and as will provide protection from claims set forth below which may arise out of or result from Contractor's performance of the Work and Contractor's other obligations under the Contract Documents, whether it is to be performed by Contractor, any Subcontractor or Supplier, or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or by anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable:
 - 1. claims under workers' compensation, disability benefits, and other similar employee benefit acts;
 - 2. claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death of Contractor's employees;
 - 3. claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, or death of any person other than Contractor's employees;
 - 4. claims for damages insured by reasonably available personal injury liability coverage which are sustained:
 - a. by any person as a result of an offense directly or indirectly related to the employment of such person by Contractor, or
 - b. by any other person for any other reason;
 - 5. claims for damages, other than to the Work itself, because of injury to or destruction of tangible property wherever located, including loss of use resulting therefrom; and
 - 6. claims for damages because of bodily injury or death of any person or property damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of any motor vehicle.
- B. The policies of insurance required by this Paragraph 5.04 shall:
 - 1. with respect to insurance required by Paragraphs 5.04.A.3 through 5.04.A.6 inclusive, be written on an occurrence basis, include as additional insureds (subject to any customary exclusion regarding professional liability) Owner and Engineer, and any other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, all of whom shall be listed as additional insureds, and include coverage for the respective officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of all such additional insureds, and the insurance afforded to these additional insureds shall provide primary coverage for all claims covered thereby;
 - 2. include at least the specific coverages and be written for not less than the limits of liability provided in the Supplementary Conditions or required by Laws or Regulations, whichever is greater;
 - 3. include contractual liability insurance covering Contractor's indemnity

- obligations under Paragraphs 6.11 and 6.20;
- 4. contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled, materially changed or renewal refused until at least 30 days prior written notice has been given to Owner and Contractor and to each other additional insured identified in the Supplementary Conditions to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued (and the certificates of insurance furnished by the Contractor pursuant to Paragraph 5.03 will so provide);
- 5. remain in effect at least until final payment and at all times thereafter when Contractor may be correcting, removing, or replacing defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 13.07; and
- 6. include completed operations coverage:
 - a. Such insurance shall remain in effect for two years after final payment.
 - b. Contractor shall furnish Owner and each other additional insured identified in the Supplementary Conditions, to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued, evidence satisfactory to Owner and any such additional insured of continuation of such insurance at final payment and one year thereafter.

5.05 Owner's Liability Insurance

A. In addition to the insurance required to be provided by Contractor under Paragraph 5.04, Owner, at Owner's option, may purchase and maintain at Owner's expense Owner's own liability insurance as will protect Owner against claims which may arise from operations under the Contract Documents.

5.06 Property Insurance

- A. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Owner shall purchase and maintain property insurance upon the Work at the Site in the amount of the full replacement cost thereof (subject to such deductible amounts as may be provided in the Supplementary Conditions or required by Laws and Regulations). This insurance shall:
 - 1. include the interests of Owner, Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and any other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them, each of whom is deemed to have an insurable interest and shall be listed as a loss payee;
 - 2. be written on a Builder's Risk "all-risk" policy form that shall at least include insurance for physical loss or damage to the Work, temporary buildings, falsework, and materials and equipment in transit, and shall insure against at least the following perils or causes of loss: fire, lightning, extended coverage, theft, vandalism and malicious mischief, earthquake, collapse, debris removal, demolition occasioned by enforcement of Laws and Regulations, water damage (other than that caused by flood), and such other perils or causes of loss as may be specifically required by the Supplementary Conditions.
 - 3. include expenses incurred in the repair or replacement of any insured property

(including but not limited to fees and charges of engineers and architects);

- 4. cover materials and equipment stored at the Site or at another location that was agreed to in writing by Owner prior to being incorporated in the Work, provided that such materials and equipment have been included in an Application for Payment recommended by Engineer;
- 5. allow for partial utilization of the Work by Owner;
- 6. include testing and startup; and
- 7. be maintained in effect until final payment is made unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Owner, Contractor, and Engineer with 30 days written notice to each other loss payee to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued.
- B. Owner shall purchase and maintain such equipment breakdown insurance or additional property insurance as may be required by the Supplementary Conditions or Laws and Regulations which will include the interests of Owner, Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and any other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them, each of whom is deemed to have an insurable interest and shall be listed as a loss payee.
- C. All the policies of insurance (and the certificates or other evidence thereof) required to be purchased and maintained in accordance with this Paragraph 5.06 will contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled or materially changed or renewal refused until at least 30 days prior written notice has been given to Owner and Contractor and to each other loss payee to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued and will contain waiver provisions in accordance with Paragraph 5.07.
- D. Owner shall not be responsible for purchasing and maintaining any property insurance specified in this Paragraph 5.06 to protect the interests of Contractor, Subcontractors, or others in the Work to the extent of any deductible amounts that are identified in the Supplementary Conditions. The risk of loss within such identified deductible amount will be borne by Contractor, Subcontractors, or others suffering any such loss, and if any of them wishes property insurance coverage within the limits of such amounts, each may purchase and maintain it at the purchaser's own expense.
- E. If Contractor requests in writing that other special insurance be included in the property insurance policies provided under this Paragraph 5.06, Owner shall, if possible, include such insurance, and the cost thereof will be charged to Contractor by appropriate Change Order. Prior to commencement of the Work at the Site, Owner shall in writing advise Contractor whether or not such other insurance has been procured by Owner.

5.07 Waiver of Rights

A. Owner and Contractor intend that all policies purchased in accordance with Paragraph 5.06 will protect Owner, Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and all other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions as loss payees (and

the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them) in such policies and will provide primary coverage for all losses and damages caused by the perils or causes of loss covered thereby. All such policies shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of any loss or damage the insurers will have no rights of recovery against any of the insureds or loss payees thereunder. Owner and Contractor waive all rights against each other and their respective officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them for all losses and damages caused by, arising out of or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss covered by such policies and any other property insurance applicable to the Work; and, in addition, waive all such rights against Subcontractors and Engineer, and all other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions as loss payees (and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them) under such policies for losses and damages so caused. None of the above waivers shall extend to the rights that any party making such waiver may have to the proceeds of insurance held by Owner as trustee or otherwise payable under any policy so issued.

- B. Owner waives all rights against Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them for:
 - 1. loss due to business interruption, loss of use, or other consequential loss extending beyond direct physical loss or damage to Owner's property or the Work caused by, arising out of, or resulting from fire or other perils whether or not insured by Owner; and
 - 2. loss or damage to the completed Project or part thereof caused by, arising out of, or resulting from fire or other insured peril or cause of loss covered by any property insurance maintained on the completed Project or part thereof by Owner during partial utilization pursuant to Paragraph 14.05, after Substantial Completion pursuant to Paragraph 14.04, or after final payment pursuant to Paragraph 14.07.
- C. Any insurance policy maintained by Owner covering any loss, damage or consequential loss referred to in Paragraph 5.07.B shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of any such loss, damage, or consequential loss, the insurers will have no rights of recovery against Contractor, Subcontractors, or Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them.

5.08 Receipt and Application of Insurance Proceeds

A. Any insured loss under the policies of insurance required by Paragraph 5.06 will be adjusted with Owner and made payable to Owner as fiduciary for the loss payees, as their interests may appear, subject to the requirements of any applicable mortgage clause and of Paragraph 5.08.B. Owner shall deposit in a separate account any money so received and shall distribute it in accordance with such agreement as the parties in interest may reach. If no other special agreement is reached, the damaged Work shall be repaired or replaced, the moneys so received applied on account thereof, and the

Work and the cost thereof covered by an appropriate Change Order.

B. Owner as fiduciary shall have power to adjust and settle any loss with the insurers unless one of the parties in interest shall object in writing within 15 days after the occurrence of loss to Owner's exercise of this power. If such objection be made, Owner as fiduciary shall make settlement with the insurers in accordance with such agreement as the parties in interest may reach. If no such agreement among the parties in interest is reached, Owner as fiduciary shall adjust and settle the loss with the insurers and, if required in writing by any party in interest, Owner as fiduciary shall give bond for the proper performance of such duties.

5.09 Acceptance of Bonds and Insurance; Option to Replace

A. If either Owner or Contractor has any objection to the coverage afforded by or other provisions of the bonds or insurance required to be purchased and maintained by the other party in accordance with Article 5 on the basis of non-conformance with the Contract Documents, the objecting party shall so notify the other party in writing within 10 days after receipt of the certificates (or other evidence requested) required by Paragraph 2.01.B. Owner and Contractor shall each provide to the other such additional information in respect of insurance provided as the other may reasonably request. If either party does not purchase or maintain all of the bonds and insurance required of such party by the Contract Documents, such party shall notify the other party in writing of such failure to purchase prior to the start of the Work, or of such failure to maintain prior to any change in the required coverage. Without prejudice to any other right or remedy, the other party may elect to obtain equivalent bonds or insurance to protect such other party's interests at the expense of the party who was required to provide such coverage, and a Change Order shall be issued to adjust the Contract Price accordingly.

5.10 Partial Utilization, Acknowledgment of Property Insurer

A. If Owner finds it necessary to occupy or use a portion or portions of the Work prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work as provided in Paragraph 14.05, no such use or occupancy shall commence before the insurers providing the property insurance pursuant to Paragraph 5.06 have acknowledged notice thereof and in writing effected any changes in coverage necessitated thereby. The insurers providing the property insurance shall consent by endorsement on the policy or policies, but the property insurance shall not be canceled or permitted to lapse on account of any such partial use or occupancy.

ARTICLE 6 – CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES

6.01 Supervision and Superintendence

A. Contractor shall supervise, inspect, and direct the Work competently and efficiently, devoting such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction. Contractor shall not be responsible for the negligence of Owner or Engineer in the design or specification of a specific means, method,

- technique, sequence, or procedure of construction which is shown or indicated in and expressly required by the Contract Documents.
- B. At all times during the progress of the Work, Contractor shall assign a competent resident superintendent who shall not be replaced without written notice to Owner and Engineer except under extraordinary circumstances.

6.02 Labor; Working Hours

- A. Contractor shall provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to survey and lay out the Work and perform construction as required by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall at all times maintain good discipline and order at the Site.
- B. Except as otherwise required for the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site or adjacent thereto, and except as otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, all Work at the Site shall be performed during regular working hours. Contractor will not permit the performance of Work on a Saturday, Sunday, or any legal holiday without Owner's written consent (which will not be unreasonably withheld) given after prior written notice to Engineer.

6.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment

- A. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall provide and assume full responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, transportation, construction equipment and machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, telephone, water, sanitary facilities, temporary facilities, and all other facilities and incidentals necessary for the performance, testing, start-up, and completion of the Work.
- B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the Work shall be as specified or, if not specified, shall be of good quality and new, except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents. All special warranties and guarantees required by the Specifications shall expressly run to the benefit of Owner. If required by Engineer, Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence (including reports of required tests) as to the source, kind, and quality of materials and equipment.
- C. All materials and equipment shall be stored, applied, installed, connected, erected, protected, used, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with instructions of the applicable Supplier, except as otherwise may be provided in the Contract Documents.

6.04 Progress Schedule

- A. Contractor shall adhere to the Progress Schedule established in accordance with Paragraph 2.07 as it may be adjusted from time to time as provided below.
 - 1. Contractor shall submit to Engineer for acceptance (to the extent indicated in Paragraph 2.07) proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will not result in changing the Contract Times. Such adjustments will comply with any provisions of the General Requirements applicable thereto.
 - 2. Proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will change the Contract Times shall be submitted in accordance with the requirements of Article 12. Adjustments in Contract Times may only be made by a Change Order.

6.05 Substitutes and "Or-Equals"

- A. Whenever an item of material or equipment is specified or described in the Contract Documents by using the name of a proprietary item or the name of a particular Supplier, the specification or description is intended to establish the type, function, appearance, and quality required. Unless the specification or description contains or is followed by words reading that no like, equivalent, or "or-equal" item or no substitution is permitted, other items of material or equipment or material or equipment of other Suppliers may be submitted to Engineer for review under the circumstances described below.
 - 1. "Or-Equal" Items: If in Engineer's sole discretion an item of material or equipment proposed by Contractor is functionally equal to that named and sufficiently similar so that no change in related Work will be required, it may be considered by Engineer as an "or-equal" item, in which case review and approval of the proposed item may, in Engineer's sole discretion, be accomplished without compliance with some or all of the requirements for approval of proposed substitute items. For the purposes of this Paragraph 6.05.A.1, a proposed item of material or equipment will be considered functionally equal to an item so named if:
 - a. in the exercise of reasonable judgment Engineer determines that:
 - 1) it is at least equal in materials of construction, quality, durability, appearance, strength, and design characteristics;
 - 2) it will reliably perform at least equally well the function and achieve the results imposed by the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole; and
 - 3) it has a proven record of performance and availability of responsive service.
 - b. Contractor certifies that, if approved and incorporated into the Work:
 - 1) there will be no increase in cost to the Owner or increase in Contract Times; and
 - 2) it will conform substantially to the detailed requirements of the item named in the Contract Documents.

2. Substitute Items:

- a. If in Engineer's sole discretion an item of material or equipment proposed by Contractor does not qualify as an "or-equal" item under Paragraph 6.05.A.1, it will be considered a proposed substitute item.
- b. Contractor shall submit sufficient information as provided below to allow Engineer to determine if the item of material or equipment proposed is essentially equivalent to that named and an acceptable substitute therefor. Requests for review of proposed substitute items of material or equipment will not be accepted by Engineer from anyone other than Contractor.
- c. The requirements for review by Engineer will be as set forth in Paragraph

- 6.05.A.2.d, as supplemented by the General Requirements, and as Engineer may decide is appropriate under the circumstances.
- d. Contractor shall make written application to Engineer for review of a proposed substitute item of material or equipment that Contractor seeks to furnish or use. The application:
 - 1) shall certify that the proposed substitute item will:
 - a) perform adequately the functions and achieve the results called for by the general design,
 - b) be similar in substance to that specified, and
 - c) be suited to the same use as that specified;

2) will state:

- a) the extent, if any, to which the use of the proposed substitute item will prejudice Contractor's achievement of Substantial Completion on time.
- b) whether use of the proposed substitute item in the Work will require a change in any of the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract with Owner for other work on the Project) to adapt the design to the proposed substitute item, and
- whether incorporation or use of the proposed substitute item in connection with the Work is subject to payment of any license fee or royalty;
- 3) will identify:
 - a) all variations of the proposed substitute item from that specified, and
 - b) available engineering, sales, maintenance, repair, and replacement services; and
- 4) shall contain an itemized estimate of all costs or credits that will result directly or indirectly from use of such substitute item, including costs of redesign and claims of other contractors affected by any resulting change.
- B. Substitute Construction Methods or Procedures: If a specific means, method, technique, sequence, or procedure of construction is expressly required by the Contract Documents, Contractor may furnish or utilize a substitute means, method, technique, sequence, or procedure of construction approved by Engineer. Contractor shall submit sufficient information to allow Engineer, in Engineer's sole discretion, to determine that the substitute proposed is equivalent to that expressly called for by the Contract Documents. The requirements for review by Engineer will be similar to those provided in Paragraph 6.05.A.2.
- C. *Engineer's Evaluation:* Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time within which to evaluate each proposal or submittal made pursuant to Paragraphs 6.05.A and 6.05.B. Engineer may require Contractor to furnish additional data about the proposed substitute item. Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptability. No "or equal" or

- substitute will be ordered, installed or utilized until Engineer's review is complete, which will be evidenced by a Change Order in the case of a substitute and an approved Shop Drawing for an "or equal." Engineer will advise Contractor in writing of any negative determination.
- D. *Special Guarantee:* Owner may require Contractor to furnish at Contractor's expense a special performance guarantee or other surety with respect to any substitute.
- E. *Engineer's Cost Reimbursement*: Engineer will record Engineer's costs in evaluating a substitute proposed or submitted by Contractor pursuant to Paragraphs 6.05.A.2 and 6.05.B. Whether or not Engineer approves a substitute so proposed or submitted by Contractor, Contractor shall reimburse Owner for the reasonable charges of Engineer for evaluating each such proposed substitute. Contractor shall also reimburse Owner for the reasonable charges of Engineer for making changes in the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract with Owner) resulting from the acceptance of each proposed substitute.
- F. *Contractor's Expense*: Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed substitute or "or-equal" at Contractor's expense.
- 6.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others
 - A. Contractor shall not employ any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity (including those acceptable to Owner as indicated in Paragraph 6.06.B), whether initially or as a replacement, against whom Owner may have reasonable objection. Contractor shall not be required to employ any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity to furnish or perform any of the Work against whom Contractor has reasonable objection.
 - B. If the Supplementary Conditions require the identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities to be submitted to Owner in advance for acceptance by Owner by a specified date prior to the Effective Date of the Agreement, and if Contractor has submitted a list thereof in accordance with the Supplementary Conditions, Owner's acceptance (either in writing or by failing to make written objection thereto by the date indicated for acceptance or objection in the Bidding Documents or the Contract Documents) of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity so identified may be revoked on the basis of reasonable objection after due investigation. Contractor shall submit an acceptable replacement for the rejected Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, and the Contract Price will be adjusted by the difference in the cost occasioned by such replacement, and an appropriate Change Order will be issued. No acceptance by Owner of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, whether initially or as a replacement, shall constitute a waiver of any right of Owner or Engineer to reject defective Work.
 - C. Contractor shall be fully responsible to Owner and Engineer for all acts and omissions of the Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work just as Contractor is responsible for Contractor's own acts and omissions. Nothing in the Contract Documents:
 - 1. shall create for the benefit of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual

- or entity any contractual relationship between Owner or Engineer and any such Subcontractor, Supplier or other individual or entity; nor
- 2. shall create any obligation on the part of Owner or Engineer to pay or to see to the payment of any moneys due any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity except as may otherwise be required by Laws and Regulations.
- D. Contractor shall be solely responsible for scheduling and coordinating the Work of Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work under a direct or indirect contract with Contractor.
- E. Contractor shall require all Subcontractors, Suppliers, and such other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work to communicate with Engineer through Contractor.
- F. The divisions and sections of the Specifications and the identifications of any Drawings shall not control Contractor in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or Suppliers or delineating the Work to be performed by any specific trade.
- G. All Work performed for Contractor by a Subcontractor or Supplier will be pursuant to an appropriate agreement between Contractor and the Subcontractor or Supplier which specifically binds the Subcontractor or Supplier to the applicable terms and conditions of the Contract Documents for the benefit of Owner and Engineer. Whenever any such agreement is with a Subcontractor or Supplier who is listed as a loss payee on the property insurance provided in Paragraph 5.06, the agreement between the Contractor and the Subcontractor or Supplier will contain provisions whereby the Subcontractor or Supplier waives all rights against Owner, Contractor, Engineer, and all other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions to be listed as insureds or loss payees (and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them) for all losses and damages caused by, arising out of, relating to, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss covered by such policies and any other property insurance applicable to the Work. If the insurers on any such policies require separate waiver forms to be signed by any Subcontractor or Supplier, Contractor will obtain the same.

6.07 Patent Fees and Royalties

- A. Contractor shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to the use in the performance of the Work or the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others. If a particular invention, design, process, product, or device is specified in the Contract Documents for use in the performance of the Work and if, to the actual knowledge of Owner or Engineer, its use is subject to patent rights or copyrights calling for the payment of any license fee or royalty to others, the existence of such rights shall be disclosed by Owner in the Contract Documents.
- B. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Contractor, and its officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects,

- attorneys, and other professionals, and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device specified in the Contract Documents, but not identified as being subject to payment of any license fee or royalty to others required by patent rights or copyrights.
- C. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device not specified in the Contract Documents.

6.08 Permits

A. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Contractor shall obtain and pay for all construction permits and licenses. Owner shall assist Contractor, when necessary, in obtaining such permits and licenses. Contractor shall pay all governmental charges and inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the Work which are applicable at the time of opening of Bids, or, if there are no Bids, on the Effective Date of the Agreement. Owner shall pay all charges of utility owners for connections for providing permanent service to the Work.

6.09 Laws and Regulations

- A. Contractor shall give all notices required by and shall comply with all Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Except where otherwise expressly required by applicable Laws and Regulations, neither Owner nor Engineer shall be responsible for monitoring Contractor's compliance with any Laws or Regulations.
- B. If Contractor performs any Work knowing or having reason to know that it is contrary to Laws or Regulations, Contractor shall bear all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such Work. However, it shall not be Contractor's responsibility to make certain that the Specifications and Drawings are in accordance with Laws and Regulations, but this shall not relieve Contractor of Contractor's obligations under Paragraph 3.03.
- C. Changes in Laws or Regulations not known at the time of opening of Bids (or, on the Effective Date of the Agreement if there were no Bids) having an effect on the cost or time of performance of the Work shall be the subject of an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any such adjustment, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05.

6.10 *Taxes*

A. Contractor shall pay all sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes required to be paid by Contractor in accordance with the Laws and Regulations of the place of the Project which are applicable during the performance of the Work.

6.11 *Use of Site and Other Areas*

A. Limitation on Use of Site and Other Areas:

- Contractor shall confine construction equipment, the storage of materials and equipment, and the operations of workers to the Site and other areas permitted by Laws and Regulations, and shall not unreasonably encumber the Site and other areas with construction equipment or other materials or equipment. Contractor shall assume full responsibility for any damage to any such land or area, or to the owner or occupant thereof, or of any adjacent land or areas resulting from the performance of the Work.
- 2. Should any claim be made by any such owner or occupant because of the performance of the Work, Contractor shall promptly settle with such other party by negotiation or otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute resolution proceeding or at law.
- 3. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any claim or action, legal or equitable, brought by any such owner or occupant against Owner, Engineer, or any other party indemnified hereunder to the extent caused by or based upon Contractor's performance of the Work.
- B. Removal of Debris During Performance of the Work: During the progress of the Work Contractor shall keep the Site and other areas free from accumulations of waste materials, rubbish, and other debris. Removal and disposal of such waste materials, rubbish, and other debris shall conform to applicable Laws and Regulations.
- C. Cleaning: Prior to Substantial Completion of the Work Contractor shall clean the Site and the Work and make it ready for utilization by Owner. At the completion of the Work Contractor shall remove from the Site all tools, appliances, construction equipment and machinery, and surplus materials and shall restore to original condition all property not designated for alteration by the Contract Documents.
- D. *Loading Structures:* Contractor shall not load nor permit any part of any structure to be loaded in any manner that will endanger the structure, nor shall Contractor subject any part of the Work or adjacent property to stresses or pressures that will endanger it.

6.12 Record Documents

A. Contractor shall maintain in a safe place at the Site one record copy of all Drawings,

Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, and written interpretations and clarifications in good order and annotated to show changes made during construction. These record documents together with all approved Samples and a counterpart of all approved Shop Drawings will be available to Engineer for reference. Upon completion of the Work, these record documents, Samples, and Shop Drawings will be delivered to Engineer for Owner.

6.13 Safety and Protection

- A. Contractor shall be solely responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all safety precautions and programs in connection with the Work. Such responsibility does not relieve Subcontractors of their responsibility for the safety of persons or property in the performance of their work, nor for compliance with applicable safety Laws and Regulations. Contractor shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the necessary protection to prevent damage, injury or loss to:
 - 1. all persons on the Site or who may be affected by the Work;
 - 2. all the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on or off the Site; and
 - 3. other property at the Site or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures, utilities, and Underground Facilities not designated for removal, relocation, or replacement in the course of construction.
- B. Contractor shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations relating to the safety of persons or property, or to the protection of persons or property from damage, injury, or loss; and shall erect and maintain all necessary safeguards for such safety and protection. Contractor shall notify owners of adjacent property and of Underground Facilities and other utility owners when prosecution of the Work may affect them, and shall cooperate with them in the protection, removal, relocation, and replacement of their property.
- C. Contractor shall comply with the applicable requirements of Owner's safety programs, if any. The Supplementary Conditions identify any Owner's safety programs that are applicable to the Work.
- D. Contractor shall inform Owner and Engineer of the specific requirements of Contractor's safety program with which Owner's and Engineer's employees and representatives must comply while at the Site.
- E. All damage, injury, or loss to any property referred to in Paragraph 6.13.A.2 or 6.13.A.3 caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Contractor, any Subcontractor, Supplier, or any other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, shall be remedied by Contractor (except damage or loss attributable to the fault of Drawings or Specifications or to the acts or omissions of Owner or Engineer or anyone employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, and not attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, to the fault or negligence of Contractor or any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them).

F. Contractor's duties and responsibilities for safety and for protection of the Work shall continue until such time as all the Work is completed and Engineer has issued a notice to Owner and Contractor in accordance with Paragraph 14.07.B that the Work is acceptable (except as otherwise expressly provided in connection with Substantial Completion).

6.14 Safety Representative

A. Contractor shall designate a qualified and experienced safety representative at the Site whose duties and responsibilities shall be the prevention of accidents and the maintaining and supervising of safety precautions and programs.

6.15 Hazard Communication Programs

A. Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating any exchange of material safety data sheets or other hazard communication information required to be made available to or exchanged between or among employers at the Site in accordance with Laws or Regulations.

6.16 Emergencies

A. In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site or adjacent thereto, Contractor is obligated to act to prevent threatened damage, injury, or loss. Contractor shall give Engineer prompt written notice if Contractor believes that any significant changes in the Work or variations from the Contract Documents have been caused thereby or are required as a result thereof. If Engineer determines that a change in the Contract Documents is required because of the action taken by Contractor in response to such an emergency, a Work Change Directive or Change Order will be issued.

6.17 *Shop Drawings and Samples*

A. Contractor shall submit Shop Drawings and Samples to Engineer for review and approval in accordance with the accepted Schedule of Submittals (as required by Paragraph 2.07). Each submittal will be identified as Engineer may require.

1. Shop Drawings:

- a. Submit number of copies specified in the General Requirements.
- b. Data shown on the Shop Drawings will be complete with respect to quantities, dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, materials, and similar data to show Engineer the services, materials, and equipment Contractor proposes to provide and to enable Engineer to review the information for the limited purposes required by Paragraph 6.17.D.

2. Samples:

- a. Submit number of Samples specified in the Specifications.
- b. Clearly identify each Sample as to material, Supplier, pertinent data such as catalog numbers, the use for which intended and other data as Engineer may require to enable Engineer to review the submittal for the limited purposes required by Paragraph 6.17.D.

B. Where a Shop Drawing or Sample is required by the Contract Documents or the Schedule of Submittals, any related Work performed prior to Engineer's review and approval of the pertinent submittal will be at the sole expense and responsibility of Contractor.

C. Submittal Procedures:

- 1. Before submitting each Shop Drawing or Sample, Contractor shall have:
 - a. reviewed and coordinated each Shop Drawing or Sample with other Shop Drawings and Samples and with the requirements of the Work and the Contract Documents;
 - b. determined and verified all field measurements, quantities, dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, installation requirements, materials, catalog numbers, and similar information with respect thereto;
 - c. determined and verified the suitability of all materials offered with respect to the indicated application, fabrication, shipping, handling, storage, assembly, and installation pertaining to the performance of the Work; and
 - d. determined and verified all information relative to Contractor's responsibilities for means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto.
- 2. Each submittal shall bear a stamp or specific written certification that Contractor has satisfied Contractor's obligations under the Contract Documents with respect to Contractor's review and approval of that submittal.
- 3. With each submittal, Contractor shall give Engineer specific written notice of any variations that the Shop Drawing or Sample may have from the requirements of the Contract Documents. This notice shall be both a written communication separate from the Shop Drawings or Sample submittal; and, in addition, by a specific notation made on each Shop Drawing or Sample submitted to Engineer for review and approval of each such variation.

D. Engineer's Review:

- Engineer will provide timely review of Shop Drawings and Samples in accordance with the Schedule of Submittals acceptable to Engineer. Engineer's review and approval will be only to determine if the items covered by the submittals will, after installation or incorporation in the Work, conform to the information given in the Contract Documents and be compatible with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents.
- 2. Engineer's review and approval will not extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction (except where a particular means, method, technique, sequence, or procedure of construction is specifically and expressly called for by the Contract Documents) or to safety precautions or programs incident thereto. The review and approval of a separate item as such will not indicate approval of the assembly in which the item functions.

3. Engineer's review and approval shall not relieve Contractor from responsibility for any variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents unless Contractor has complied with the requirements of Paragraph 6.17.C.3 and Engineer has given written approval of each such variation by specific written notation thereof incorporated in or accompanying the Shop Drawing or Sample. Engineer's review and approval shall not relieve Contractor from responsibility for complying with the requirements of Paragraph 6.17.C.1.

E. Resubmittal Procedures:

Contractor shall make corrections required by Engineer and shall return the
required number of corrected copies of Shop Drawings and submit, as required,
new Samples for review and approval. Contractor shall direct specific attention in
writing to revisions other than the corrections called for by Engineer on previous
submittals.

6.18 Continuing the Work

A. Contractor shall carry on the Work and adhere to the Progress Schedule during all disputes or disagreements with Owner. No Work shall be delayed or postponed pending resolution of any disputes or disagreements, except as permitted by Paragraph 15.04 or as Owner and Contractor may otherwise agree in writing.

6.19 Contractor's General Warranty and Guarantee

- A. Contractor warrants and guarantees to Owner that all Work will be in accordance with the Contract Documents and will not be defective. Engineer and its officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors shall be entitled to rely on representation of Contractor's warranty and guarantee.
- B. Contractor's warranty and guarantee hereunder excludes defects or damage caused by:
 - 1. abuse, modification, or improper maintenance or operation by persons other than Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or any other individual or entity for whom Contractor is responsible; or
 - 2. normal wear and tear under normal usage.
- C. Contractor's obligation to perform and complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents shall be absolute. None of the following will constitute an acceptance of Work that is not in accordance with the Contract Documents or a release of Contractor's obligation to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents:
 - 1. observations by Engineer;
 - 2. recommendation by Engineer or payment by Owner of any progress or final payment;
 - 3. the issuance of a certificate of Substantial Completion by Engineer or any payment related thereto by Owner;
 - 4. use or occupancy of the Work or any part thereof by Owner;

- 5. any review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal or the issuance of a notice of acceptability by Engineer;
- 6. any inspection, test, or approval by others; or
- 7. any correction of defective Work by Owner.

6.20 *Indemnification*

- A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the performance of the Work, provided that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom but only to the extent caused by any negligent act or omission of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable.
- B. In any and all claims against Owner or Engineer or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors by any employee (or the survivor or personal representative of such employee) of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the indemnification obligation under Paragraph 6.20.A shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for Contractor or any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity under workers' compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts.
- C. The indemnification obligations of Contractor under Paragraph 6.20.A shall not extend to the liability of Engineer and Engineer's officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors arising out of:
 - 1. the preparation or approval of, or the failure to prepare or approve maps, Drawings, opinions, reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs, or Specifications; or
 - 2. giving directions or instructions, or failing to give them, if that is the primary cause of the injury or damage.

6.21 Delegation of Professional Design Services

A. Contractor will not be required to provide professional design services unless such services are specifically required by the Contract Documents for a portion of the Work or unless such services are required to carry out Contractor's responsibilities for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures. Contractor shall not be required to provide professional services in violation of applicable law.

- B. If professional design services or certifications by a design professional related to systems, materials or equipment are specifically required of Contractor by the Contract Documents, Owner and Engineer will specify all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy. Contractor shall cause such services or certifications to be provided by a properly licensed professional, whose signature and seal shall appear on all drawings, calculations, specifications, certifications, Shop Drawings and other submittals prepared by such professional. Shop Drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by such professional, if prepared by others, shall bear such professional's written approval when submitted to Engineer.
- C. Owner and Engineer shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy and completeness of the services, certifications or approvals performed by such design professionals, provided Owner and Engineer have specified to Contractor all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy.
- D. Pursuant to this Paragraph 6.21, Engineer's review and approval of design calculations and design drawings will be only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with performance and design criteria given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. Engineer's review and approval of Shop Drawings and other submittals (except design calculations and design drawings) will be only for the purpose stated in Paragraph 6.17.D.1.
- E. Contractor shall not be responsible for the adequacy of the performance or design criteria required by the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 7 – OTHER WORK AT THE SITE

7.01 Related Work at Site

- A. Owner may perform other work related to the Project at the Site with Owner's employees, or through other direct contracts therefor, or have other work performed by utility owners. If such other work is not noted in the Contract Documents, then:
 - 1. written notice thereof will be given to Contractor prior to starting any such other work; and
 - 2. if Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times that should be allowed as a result of such other work, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05.
- B. Contractor shall afford each other contractor who is a party to such a direct contract, each utility owner, and Owner, if Owner is performing other work with Owner's employees, proper and safe access to the Site, provide a reasonable opportunity for the introduction and storage of materials and equipment and the execution of such other work, and properly coordinate the Work with theirs. Contractor shall do all cutting, fitting, and patching of the Work that may be required to properly connect or otherwise make its several parts come together and properly integrate with such other work. Contractor shall not endanger any work of others by cutting, excavating, or otherwise altering such work; provided, however, that Contractor may cut or alter

others' work with the written consent of Engineer and the others whose work will be affected. The duties and responsibilities of Contractor under this Paragraph are for the benefit of such utility owners and other contractors to the extent that there are comparable provisions for the benefit of Contractor in said direct contracts between Owner and such utility owners and other contractors.

C. If the proper execution or results of any part of Contractor's Work depends upon work performed by others under this Article 7, Contractor shall inspect such other work and promptly report to Engineer in writing any delays, defects, or deficiencies in such other work that render it unavailable or unsuitable for the proper execution and results of Contractor's Work. Contractor's failure to so report will constitute an acceptance of such other work as fit and proper for integration with Contractor's Work except for latent defects and deficiencies in such other work.

7.02 Coordination

- A. If Owner intends to contract with others for the performance of other work on the Project at the Site, the following will be set forth in Supplementary Conditions:
 - 1. the individual or entity who will have authority and responsibility for coordination of the activities among the various contractors will be identified;
 - 2. the specific matters to be covered by such authority and responsibility will be itemized; and
 - 3. the extent of such authority and responsibilities will be provided.
- B. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Owner shall have sole authority and responsibility for such coordination.

7.03 Legal Relationships

- A. Paragraphs 7.01.A and 7.02 are not applicable for utilities not under the control of Owner.
- B. Each other direct contract of Owner under Paragraph 7.01.A shall provide that the other contractor is liable to Owner and Contractor for the reasonable direct delay and disruption costs incurred by Contractor as a result of the other contractor's wrongful actions or inactions.
- C. Contractor shall be liable to Owner and any other contractor under direct contract to Owner for the reasonable direct delay and disruption costs incurred by such other contractor as a result of Contractor's wrongful action or inactions.

ARTICLE 8 – OWNER'S RESPONSIBILITIES

8.01 *Communications to Contractor*

A. Except as otherwise provided in these General Conditions, Owner shall issue all communications to Contractor through Engineer.

8.02 Replacement of Engineer

A. In case of termination of the employment of Engineer, Owner shall appoint an engineer to whom Contractor makes no reasonable objection, whose status under the

Contract Documents shall be that of the former Engineer.

8.03 Furnish Data

A. Owner shall promptly furnish the data required of Owner under the Contract Documents.

8.04 Pay When Due

A. Owner shall make payments to Contractor when they are due as provided in Paragraphs 14.02.C and 14.07.C.

8.05 Lands and Easements; Reports and Tests

A. Owner's duties with respect to providing lands and easements and providing engineering surveys to establish reference points are set forth in Paragraphs 4.01 and 4.05. Paragraph 4.02 refers to Owner's identifying and making available to Contractor copies of reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions and drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site.

8.06 Insurance

A. Owner's responsibilities, if any, with respect to purchasing and maintaining liability and property insurance are set forth in Article 5.

8.07 *Change Orders*

A. Owner is obligated to execute Change Orders as indicated in Paragraph 10.03.

8.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals

A. Owner's responsibility with respect to certain inspections, tests, and approvals is set forth in Paragraph 13.03.B.

8.09 Limitations on Owner's Responsibilities

A. The Owner shall not supervise, direct, or have control or authority over, nor be responsible for, Contractor's means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Owner will not be responsible for Contractor's failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

8.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition

A. Owner's responsibility in respect to an undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition is set forth in Paragraph 4.06.

8.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements

A. Upon request of Contractor, Owner shall furnish Contractor reasonable evidence that financial arrangements have been made to satisfy Owner's obligations under the Contract Documents.

8.12 *Compliance with Safety Program*

A. While at the Site, Owner's employees and representatives shall comply with the

specific applicable requirements of Contractor's safety programs of which Owner has been informed pursuant to Paragraph 6.13.D.

ARTICLE 9 – ENGINEER'S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION

9.01 Owner's Representative

A. Engineer will be Owner's representative during the construction period. The duties and responsibilities and the limitations of authority of Engineer as Owner's representative during construction are set forth in the Contract Documents.

9.02 Visits to Site

- A. Engineer will make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of construction as Engineer deems necessary in order to observe as an experienced and qualified design professional the progress that has been made and the quality of the various aspects of Contractor's executed Work. Based on information obtained during such visits and observations, Engineer, for the benefit of Owner, will determine, in general, if the Work is proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents. Engineer will not be required to make exhaustive or continuous inspections on the Site to check the quality or quantity of the Work. Engineer's efforts will be directed toward providing for Owner a greater degree of confidence that the completed Work will conform generally to the Contract Documents. On the basis of such visits and observations, Engineer will keep Owner informed of the progress of the Work and will endeavor to guard Owner against defective Work.
- B. Engineer's visits and observations are subject to all the limitations on Engineer's authority and responsibility set forth in Paragraph 9.09. Particularly, but without limitation, during or as a result of Engineer's visits or observations of Contractor's Work, Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Contractor's means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work.

9.03 Project Representative

A. If Owner and Engineer agree, Engineer will furnish a Resident Project Representative to assist Engineer in providing more extensive observation of the Work. The authority and responsibilities of any such Resident Project Representative and assistants will be as provided in the Supplementary Conditions, and limitations on the responsibilities thereof will be as provided in Paragraph 9.09. If Owner designates another representative or agent to represent Owner at the Site who is not Engineer's consultant, agent or employee, the responsibilities and authority and limitations thereon of such other individual or entity will be as provided in the Supplementary Conditions.

9.04 Authorized Variations in Work

A. Engineer may authorize minor variations in the Work from the requirements of the Contract Documents which do not involve an adjustment in the Contract Price or the

Contract Times and are compatible with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. These may be accomplished by a Field Order and will be binding on Owner and also on Contractor, who shall perform the Work involved promptly. If Owner or Contractor believes that a Field Order justifies an adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, and the parties are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any such adjustment, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05.

9.05 Rejecting Defective Work

A. Engineer will have authority to reject Work which Engineer believes to be defective, or that Engineer believes will not produce a completed Project that conforms to the Contract Documents or that will prejudice the integrity of the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. Engineer will also have authority to require special inspection or testing of the Work as provided in Paragraph 13.04, whether or not the Work is fabricated, installed, or completed.

9.06 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments

- A. In connection with Engineer's authority, and limitations thereof, as to Shop Drawings and Samples, see Paragraph 6.17.
- B. In connection with Engineer's authority, and limitations thereof, as to design calculations and design drawings submitted in response to a delegation of professional design services, if any, see Paragraph 6.21.
- C. In connection with Engineer's authority as to Change Orders, see Articles 10, 11, and 12.
- D. In connection with Engineer's authority as to Applications for Payment, see Article 14.

9.07 Determinations for Unit Price Work

A. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor. Engineer will review with Contractor the Engineer's preliminary determinations on such matters before rendering a written decision thereon (by recommendation of an Application for Payment or otherwise). Engineer's written decision thereon will be final and binding (except as modified by Engineer to reflect changed factual conditions or more accurate data) upon Owner and Contractor, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 10.05.

9.08 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work

A. Engineer will be the initial interpreter of the requirements of the Contract Documents and judge of the acceptability of the Work thereunder. All matters in question and other matters between Owner and Contractor arising prior to the date final payment is due relating to the acceptability of the Work, and the interpretation of the requirements of the Contract Documents pertaining to the performance of the Work, will be referred initially to Engineer in writing within 30 days of the event giving rise to the question.

- B. Engineer will, with reasonable promptness, render a written decision on the issue referred. If Owner or Contractor believes that any such decision entitles them to an adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times or both, a Claim may be made under Paragraph 10.05. The date of Engineer's decision shall be the date of the event giving rise to the issues referenced for the purposes of Paragraph 10.05.B.
- C. Engineer's written decision on the issue referred will be final and binding on Owner and Contractor, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 10.05.
- D. When functioning as interpreter and judge under this Paragraph 9.08, Engineer will not show partiality to Owner or Contractor and will not be liable in connection with any interpretation or decision rendered in good faith in such capacity.

9.09 Limitations on Engineer's Authority and Responsibilities

- A. Neither Engineer's authority or responsibility under this Article 9 or under any other provision of the Contract Documents nor any decision made by Engineer in good faith either to exercise or not exercise such authority or responsibility or the undertaking, exercise, or performance of any authority or responsibility by Engineer shall create, impose, or give rise to any duty in contract, tort, or otherwise owed by Engineer to Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee or agent of any of them.
- B. Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Contractor's means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Engineer will not be responsible for Contractor's failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- C. Engineer will not be responsible for the acts or omissions of Contractor or of any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or of any other individual or entity performing any of the Work.
- D. Engineer's review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation and all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates of inspection, tests and approvals, and other documentation required to be delivered by Paragraph 14.07.A will only be to determine generally that their content complies with the requirements of, and in the case of certificates of inspections, tests, and approvals that the results certified indicate compliance with, the Contract Documents.
- E. The limitations upon authority and responsibility set forth in this Paragraph 9.09 shall also apply to the Resident Project Representative, if any, and assistants, if any.

9.10 Compliance with Safety Program

A. While at the Site, Engineer's employees and representatives shall comply with the specific applicable requirements of Contractor's safety programs of which Engineer has been informed pursuant to Paragraph 6.13.D.

ARTICLE 10 - CHANGES IN THE WORK; CLAIMS

10.01 Authorized Changes in the Work

- A. Without invalidating the Contract and without notice to any surety, Owner may, at any time or from time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work by a Change Order, or a Work Change Directive. Upon receipt of any such document, Contractor shall promptly proceed with the Work involved which will be performed under the applicable conditions of the Contract Documents (except as otherwise specifically provided).
- B. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to, or on the amount or extent, if any, of an adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, that should be allowed as a result of a Work Change Directive, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05.

10.02 Unauthorized Changes in the Work

A. Contractor shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times with respect to any work performed that is not required by the Contract Documents as amended, modified, or supplemented as provided in Paragraph 3.04, except in the case of an emergency as provided in Paragraph 6.16 or in the case of uncovering Work as provided in Paragraph 13.04.D.

10.03 Execution of Change Orders

- A. Owner and Contractor shall execute appropriate Change Orders recommended by Engineer covering:
 - 1. changes in the Work which are: (i) ordered by Owner pursuant to Paragraph 10.01.A, (ii) required because of acceptance of defective Work under Paragraph 13.08.A or Owner's correction of defective Work under Paragraph 13.09, or (iii) agreed to by the parties;
 - 2. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which are agreed to by the parties, including any undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually performed in accordance with a Work Change Directive; and
 - 3. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which embody the substance of any written decision rendered by Engineer pursuant to Paragraph 10.05; provided that, in lieu of executing any such Change Order, an appeal may be taken from any such decision in accordance with the provisions of the Contract Documents and applicable Laws and Regulations, but during any such appeal, Contractor shall carry on the Work and adhere to the Progress Schedule as provided in Paragraph 6.18.A.

10.04 Notification to Surety

A. If the provisions of any bond require notice to be given to a surety of any change affecting the general scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, Contract Price or Contract Times), the giving of any such notice will be Contractor's responsibility. The amount of each applicable bond will be adjusted to reflect the effect of any such change.

- A. Engineer's Decision Required: All Claims, except those waived pursuant to Paragraph 14.09, shall be referred to the Engineer for decision. A decision by Engineer shall be required as a condition precedent to any exercise by Owner or Contractor of any rights or remedies either may otherwise have under the Contract Documents or by Laws and Regulations in respect of such Claims.
- B. *Notice:* Written notice stating the general nature of each Claim shall be delivered by the claimant to Engineer and the other party to the Contract promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving rise thereto. The responsibility to substantiate a Claim shall rest with the party making the Claim. Notice of the amount or extent of the Claim, with supporting data shall be delivered to the Engineer and the other party to the Contract within 60 days after the start of such event (unless Engineer allows additional time for claimant to submit additional or more accurate data in support of such Claim). A Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price shall be prepared in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 12.01.B. A Claim for an adjustment in Contract Times shall be prepared in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 12.02.B. Each Claim shall be accompanied by claimant's written statement that the adjustment claimed is the entire adjustment to which the claimant believes it is entitled as a result of said event. The opposing party shall submit any response to Engineer and the claimant within 30 days after receipt of the claimant's last submittal (unless Engineer allows additional time).
- C. *Engineer's Action*: Engineer will review each Claim and, within 30 days after receipt of the last submittal of the claimant or the last submittal of the opposing party, if any, take one of the following actions in writing:
 - 1. deny the Claim in whole or in part;
 - 2. approve the Claim; or
 - 3. notify the parties that the Engineer is unable to resolve the Claim if, in the Engineer's sole discretion, it would be inappropriate for the Engineer to do so. For purposes of further resolution of the Claim, such notice shall be deemed a denial.
- D. In the event that Engineer does not take action on a Claim within said 30 days, the Claim shall be deemed denied.
- E. Engineer's written action under Paragraph 10.05.C or denial pursuant to Paragraphs 10.05.C.3 or 10.05.D will be final and binding upon Owner and Contractor, unless Owner or Contractor invoke the dispute resolution procedure set forth in Article 16 within 30 days of such action or denial.
- F. No Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times will be valid if not submitted in accordance with this Paragraph 10.05.

ARTICLE 11 – COST OF THE WORK; ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK

11.01 Cost of the Work

- A. Costs Included: The term Cost of the Work means the sum of all costs, except those excluded in Paragraph 11.01.B, necessarily incurred and paid by Contractor in the proper performance of the Work. When the value of any Work covered by a Change Order or when a Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, the costs to be reimbursed to Contractor will be only those additional or incremental costs required because of the change in the Work or because of the event giving rise to the Claim. Except as otherwise may be agreed to in writing by Owner, such costs shall be in amounts no higher than those prevailing in the locality of the Project, shall not include any of the costs itemized in Paragraph 11.01.B, and shall include only the following items:
 - 1. Payroll costs for employees in the direct employ of Contractor in the performance of the Work under schedules of job classifications agreed upon by Owner and Contractor. Such employees shall include, without limitation, superintendents, foremen, and other personnel employed full time on the Work. Payroll costs for employees not employed full time on the Work shall be apportioned on the basis of their time spent on the Work. Payroll costs shall include, but not be limited to, salaries and wages plus the cost of fringe benefits, which shall include social security contributions, unemployment, excise, and payroll taxes, workers' compensation, health and retirement benefits, bonuses, sick leave, vacation and holiday pay applicable thereto. The expenses of performing Work outside of regular working hours, on Saturday, Sunday, or legal holidays, shall be included in the above to the extent authorized by Owner.
 - 2. Cost of all materials and equipment furnished and incorporated in the Work, including costs of transportation and storage thereof, and Suppliers' field services required in connection therewith. All cash discounts shall accrue to Contractor unless Owner deposits funds with Contractor with which to make payments, in which case the cash discounts shall accrue to Owner. All trade discounts, rebates and refunds and returns from sale of surplus materials and equipment shall accrue to Owner, and Contractor shall make provisions so that they may be obtained.
 - 3. Payments made by Contractor to Subcontractors for Work performed by Subcontractors. If required by Owner, Contractor shall obtain competitive bids from subcontractors acceptable to Owner and Contractor and shall deliver such bids to Owner, who will then determine, with the advice of Engineer, which bids, if any, will be acceptable. If any subcontract provides that the Subcontractor is to be paid on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee, the Subcontractor's Cost of the Work and fee shall be determined in the same manner as Contractor's Cost of the Work and fee as provided in this Paragraph 11.01.
 - 4. Costs of special consultants (including but not limited to engineers, architects, testing laboratories, surveyors, attorneys, and accountants) employed for services specifically related to the Work.
 - 5. Supplemental costs including the following:

- a. The proportion of necessary transportation, travel, and subsistence expenses of Contractor's employees incurred in discharge of duties connected with the Work.
- b. Cost, including transportation and maintenance, of all materials, supplies, equipment, machinery, appliances, office, and temporary facilities at the Site, and hand tools not owned by the workers, which are consumed in the performance of the Work, and cost, less market value, of such items used but not consumed which remain the property of Contractor.
- c. Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery, and the parts thereof whether rented from Contractor or others in accordance with rental agreements approved by Owner with the advice of Engineer, and the costs of transportation, loading, unloading, assembly, dismantling, and removal thereof. All such costs shall be in accordance with the terms of said rental agreements. The rental of any such equipment, machinery, or parts shall cease when the use thereof is no longer necessary for the Work.
- d. Sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes related to the Work, and for which Contractor is liable, as imposed by Laws and Regulations.
- e. Deposits lost for causes other than negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, and royalty payments and fees for permits and licenses.
- f. Losses and damages (and related expenses) caused by damage to the Work, not compensated by insurance or otherwise, sustained by Contractor in connection with the performance of the Work (except losses and damages within the deductible amounts of property insurance established in accordance with Paragraph 5.06.D), provided such losses and damages have resulted from causes other than the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable. Such losses shall include settlements made with the written consent and approval of Owner. No such losses, damages, and expenses shall be included in the Cost of the Work for the purpose of determining Contractor's fee.
- g. The cost of utilities, fuel, and sanitary facilities at the Site.
- h. Minor expenses such as telegrams, long distance telephone calls, telephone service at the Site, express and courier services, and similar petty cash items in connection with the Work.
- i. The costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance Contractor is required by the Contract Documents to purchase and maintain.
- B. *Costs Excluded:* The term Cost of the Work shall not include any of the following items:
 - 1. Payroll costs and other compensation of Contractor's officers, executives, principals (of partnerships and sole proprietorships), general managers, safety

managers, engineers, architects, estimators, attorneys, auditors, accountants, purchasing and contracting agents, expediters, timekeepers, clerks, and other personnel employed by Contractor, whether at the Site or in Contractor's principal or branch office for general administration of the Work and not specifically included in the agreed upon schedule of job classifications referred to in Paragraph 11.01.A.1 or specifically covered by Paragraph 11.01.A.4, all of which are to be considered administrative costs covered by the Contractor's fee.

- 2. Expenses of Contractor's principal and branch offices other than Contractor's office at the Site.
- 3. Any part of Contractor's capital expenses, including interest on Contractor's capital employed for the Work and charges against Contractor for delinquent payments.
- 4. Costs due to the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, including but not limited to, the correction of defective Work, disposal of materials or equipment wrongly supplied, and making good any damage to property.
- 5. Other overhead or general expense costs of any kind and the costs of any item not specifically and expressly included in Paragraphs 11.01.A.
- C. Contractor's Fee: When all the Work is performed on the basis of cost-plus, Contractor's fee shall be determined as set forth in the Agreement. When the value of any Work covered by a Change Order or when a Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, Contractor's fee shall be determined as set forth in Paragraph 12.01.C.
- D. *Documentation:* Whenever the Cost of the Work for any purpose is to be determined pursuant to Paragraphs 11.01.A and 11.01.B, Contractor will establish and maintain records thereof in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and submit in a form acceptable to Engineer an itemized cost breakdown together with supporting data.

11.02 Allowances

A. It is understood that Contractor has included in the Contract Price all allowances so named in the Contract Documents and shall cause the Work so covered to be performed for such sums and by such persons or entities as may be acceptable to Owner and Engineer.

B. Cash Allowances:

- 1. Contractor agrees that:
 - a. the cash allowances include the cost to Contractor (less any applicable trade discounts) of materials and equipment required by the allowances to be delivered at the Site, and all applicable taxes; and
 - b. Contractor's costs for unloading and handling on the Site, labor, installation, overhead, profit, and other expenses contemplated for the cash allowances

have been included in the Contract Price and not in the allowances, and no demand for additional payment on account of any of the foregoing will be valid.

C. Contingency Allowance:

- 1. Contractor agrees that a contingency allowance, if any, is for the sole use of Owner to cover unanticipated costs.
- D. Prior to final payment, an appropriate Change Order will be issued as recommended by Engineer to reflect actual amounts due Contractor on account of Work covered by allowances, and the Contract Price shall be correspondingly adjusted.

11.03 Unit Price Work

- A. Where the Contract Documents provide that all or part of the Work is to be Unit Price Work, initially the Contract Price will be deemed to include for all Unit Price Work an amount equal to the sum of the unit price for each separately identified item of Unit Price Work times the estimated quantity of each item as indicated in the Agreement.
- B. The estimated quantities of items of Unit Price Work are not guaranteed and are solely for the purpose of comparison of Bids and determining an initial Contract Price. Determinations of the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor will be made by Engineer subject to the provisions of Paragraph 9.07.
- C. Each unit price will be deemed to include an amount considered by Contractor to be adequate to cover Contractor's overhead and profit for each separately identified item.
- D. Owner or Contractor may make a Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Price in accordance with Paragraph 10.05 if:
 - 1. the quantity of any item of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor differs materially and significantly from the estimated quantity of such item indicated in the Agreement; and
 - 2. there is no corresponding adjustment with respect to any other item of Work; and
 - 3. Contractor believes that Contractor is entitled to an increase in Contract Price as a result of having incurred additional expense or Owner believes that Owner is entitled to a decrease in Contract Price and the parties are unable to agree as to the amount of any such increase or decrease.

ARTICLE 12 – CHANGE OF CONTRACT PRICE; CHANGE OF CONTRACT TIMES

12.01 Change of Contract Price

A. The Contract Price may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Price shall be based on written notice submitted by the party making the Claim to the Engineer and the other party to the Contract in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 10.05.

- B. The value of any Work covered by a Change Order or of any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Price will be determined as follows:
 - 1. where the Work involved is covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, by application of such unit prices to the quantities of the items involved (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 11.03); or
 - 2. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, by a mutually agreed lump sum (which may include an allowance for overhead and profit not necessarily in accordance with Paragraph 12.01.C.2); or
 - 3. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents and agreement to a lump sum is not reached under Paragraph 12.01.B.2, on the basis of the Cost of the Work (determined as provided in Paragraph 11.01) plus a Contractor's fee for overhead and profit (determined as provided in Paragraph 12.01.C).
- C. *Contractor's Fee:* The Contractor's fee for overhead and profit shall be determined as follows:
 - 1. a mutually acceptable fixed fee; or
 - 2. if a fixed fee is not agreed upon, then a fee based on the following percentages of the various portions of the Cost of the Work:
 - a. for costs incurred under Paragraphs 11.01.A.1 and 11.01.A.2, the Contractor's fee shall be 15 percent;
 - b. for costs incurred under Paragraph 11.01.A.3, the Contractor's fee shall be five percent;
 - c. where one or more tiers of subcontracts are on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee and no fixed fee is agreed upon, the intent of Paragraphs 12.01.C.2.a and 12.01.C.2.b is that the Subcontractor who actually performs the Work, at whatever tier, will be paid a fee of 15 percent of the costs incurred by such Subcontractor under Paragraphs 11.01.A.1 and 11.01.A.2 and that any higher tier Subcontractor and Contractor will each be paid a fee of five percent of the amount paid to the next lower tier Subcontractor;
 - d. no fee shall be payable on the basis of costs itemized under Paragraphs 11.01.A.4, 11.01.A.5, and 11.01.B;
 - e. the amount of credit to be allowed by Contractor to Owner for any change which results in a net decrease in cost will be the amount of the actual net decrease in cost plus a deduction in Contractor's fee by an amount equal to five percent of such net decrease; and
 - f. when both additions and credits are involved in any one change, the adjustment in Contractor's fee shall be computed on the basis of the net change in accordance with Paragraphs 12.01.C.2.a through 12.01.C.2.e, inclusive.

12.02 Change of Contract Times

- A. The Contract Times may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times shall be based on written notice submitted by the party making the Claim to the Engineer and the other party to the Contract in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 10.05.
- B. Any adjustment of the Contract Times covered by a Change Order or any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times will be determined in accordance with the provisions of this Article 12.

12.03 *Delays*

- A. Where Contractor is prevented from completing any part of the Work within the Contract Times due to delay beyond the control of Contractor, the Contract Times will be extended in an amount equal to the time lost due to such delay if a Claim is made therefor as provided in Paragraph 12.02.A. Delays beyond the control of Contractor shall include, but not be limited to, acts or neglect by Owner, acts or neglect of utility owners or other contractors performing other work as contemplated by Article 7, fires, floods, epidemics, abnormal weather conditions, or acts of God.
- B. If Owner, Engineer, or other contractors or utility owners performing other work for Owner as contemplated by Article 7, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the performance or progress of the Work, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times.
- C. If Contractor is delayed in the performance or progress of the Work by fire, flood, epidemic, abnormal weather conditions, acts of God, acts or failures to act of utility owners not under the control of Owner, or other causes not the fault of and beyond control of Owner and Contractor, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Times, if such adjustment is essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times. Such an adjustment shall be Contractor's sole and exclusive remedy for the delays described in this Paragraph 12.03.C.
- D. Owner, Engineer, and their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors shall not be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) sustained by Contractor on or in connection with any other project or anticipated project.
- E. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for delays within the control of Contractor. Delays attributable to and within the control of a Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed to be delays within the control of Contractor.

ARTICLE 13 – TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR

ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE WORK

13.01 Notice of Defects

A. Prompt notice of all defective Work of which Owner or Engineer has actual knowledge will be given to Contractor. Defective Work may be rejected, corrected, or accepted as provided in this Article 13.

13.02 Access to Work

A. Owner, Engineer, their consultants and other representatives and personnel of Owner, independent testing laboratories, and governmental agencies with jurisdictional interests will have access to the Site and the Work at reasonable times for their observation, inspection, and testing. Contractor shall provide them proper and safe conditions for such access and advise them of Contractor's safety procedures and programs so that they may comply therewith as applicable.

13.03 Tests and Inspections

- A. Contractor shall give Engineer timely notice of readiness of the Work for all required inspections, tests, or approvals and shall cooperate with inspection and testing personnel to facilitate required inspections or tests.
- B. Owner shall employ and pay for the services of an independent testing laboratory to perform all inspections, tests, or approvals required by the Contract Documents except:
 - 1. for inspections, tests, or approvals covered by Paragraphs 13.03.C and 13.03.D below:
 - 2. that costs incurred in connection with tests or inspections conducted pursuant to Paragraph 13.04.B shall be paid as provided in Paragraph 13.04.C; and
 - 3. as otherwise specifically provided in the Contract Documents.
- C. If Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction require any Work (or part thereof) specifically to be inspected, tested, or approved by an employee or other representative of such public body, Contractor shall assume full responsibility for arranging and obtaining such inspections, tests, or approvals, pay all costs in connection therewith, and furnish Engineer the required certificates of inspection or approval.
- D. Contractor shall be responsible for arranging and obtaining and shall pay all costs in connection with any inspections, tests, or approvals required for Owner's and Engineer's acceptance of materials or equipment to be incorporated in the Work; or acceptance of materials, mix designs, or equipment submitted for approval prior to Contractor's purchase thereof for incorporation in the Work. Such inspections, tests, or approvals shall be performed by organizations acceptable to Owner and Engineer.
- E. If any Work (or the work of others) that is to be inspected, tested, or approved is covered by Contractor without written concurrence of Engineer, Contractor shall, if requested by Engineer, uncover such Work for observation.
- F. Uncovering Work as provided in Paragraph 13.03.E shall be at Contractor's expense

unless Contractor has given Engineer timely notice of Contractor's intention to cover the same and Engineer has not acted with reasonable promptness in response to such notice.

13.04 Uncovering Work

- A. If any Work is covered contrary to the written request of Engineer, it must, if requested by Engineer, be uncovered for Engineer's observation and replaced at Contractor's expense.
- B. If Engineer considers it necessary or advisable that covered Work be observed by Engineer or inspected or tested by others, Contractor, at Engineer's request, shall uncover, expose, or otherwise make available for observation, inspection, or testing as Engineer may require, that portion of the Work in question, furnishing all necessary labor, material, and equipment.
- C. If it is found that the uncovered Work is defective, Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, and testing, and of satisfactory replacement or reconstruction (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others); and Owner shall be entitled to an appropriate decrease in the Contract Price. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount thereof, Owner may make a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05.
- D. If the uncovered Work is not found to be defective, Contractor shall be allowed an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, testing, replacement, and reconstruction. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount or extent thereof, Contractor may make a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05.

13.05 Owner May Stop the Work

A. If the Work is defective, or Contractor fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that the completed Work will conform to the Contract Documents, Owner may order Contractor to stop the Work, or any portion thereof, until the cause for such order has been eliminated; however, this right of Owner to stop the Work shall not give rise to any duty on the part of Owner to exercise this right for the benefit of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or any surety for, or employee or agent of any of them.

13.06 Correction or Removal of Defective Work

A. Promptly after receipt of written notice, Contractor shall correct all defective Work, whether or not fabricated, installed, or completed, or, if the Work has been rejected by Engineer, remove it from the Project and replace it with Work that is not defective. Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such correction or removal (including but not limited to all costs of repair or

- replacement of work of others).
- B. When correcting defective Work under the terms of this Paragraph 13.06 or Paragraph 13.07, Contractor shall take no action that would void or otherwise impair Owner's special warranty and guarantee, if any, on said Work.

13.07 Correction Period

- A. If within one year after the date of Substantial Completion (or such longer period of time as may be prescribed by the terms of any applicable special guarantee required by the Contract Documents) or by any specific provision of the Contract Documents, any Work is found to be defective, or if the repair of any damages to the land or areas made available for Contractor's use by Owner or permitted by Laws and Regulations as contemplated in Paragraph 6.11.A is found to be defective, Contractor shall promptly, without cost to Owner and in accordance with Owner's written instructions:
 - 1. repair such defective land or areas; or
 - 2. correct such defective Work; or
 - 3. if the defective Work has been rejected by Owner, remove it from the Project and replace it with Work that is not defective, and
 - 4. satisfactorily correct or repair or remove and replace any damage to other Work, to the work of others or other land or areas resulting therefrom.
- B. If Contractor does not promptly comply with the terms of Owner's written instructions, or in an emergency where delay would cause serious risk of loss or damage, Owner may have the defective Work corrected or repaired or may have the rejected Work removed and replaced. All claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such correction or repair or such removal and replacement (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others) will be paid by Contractor.
- C. In special circumstances where a particular item of equipment is placed in continuous service before Substantial Completion of all the Work, the correction period for that item may start to run from an earlier date if so provided in the Specifications.
- D. Where defective Work (and damage to other Work resulting therefrom) has been corrected or removed and replaced under this Paragraph 13.07, the correction period hereunder with respect to such Work will be extended for an additional period of one year after such correction or removal and replacement has been satisfactorily completed.
- E. Contractor's obligations under this Paragraph 13.07 are in addition to any other obligation or warranty. The provisions of this Paragraph 13.07 shall not be construed as a substitute for, or a waiver of, the provisions of any applicable statute of limitation or repose.

13.08 Acceptance of Defective Work

A. If, instead of requiring correction or removal and replacement of defective Work, Owner (and, prior to Engineer's recommendation of final payment, Engineer) prefers to accept it, Owner may do so. Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) attributable to Owner's evaluation of and determination to accept such defective Work (such costs to be approved by Engineer as to reasonableness) and for the diminished value of the Work to the extent not otherwise paid by Contractor pursuant to this sentence. If any such acceptance occurs prior to Engineer's recommendation of final payment, a Change Order will be issued incorporating the necessary revisions in the Contract Documents with respect to the Work, and Owner shall be entitled to an appropriate decrease in the Contract Price, reflecting the diminished value of Work so accepted. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount thereof, Owner may make a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. If the acceptance occurs after such recommendation, an appropriate amount will be paid by Contractor to Owner.

13.09 Owner May Correct Defective Work

- A. If Contractor fails within a reasonable time after written notice from Engineer to correct defective Work, or to remove and replace rejected Work as required by Engineer in accordance with Paragraph 13.06.A, or if Contractor fails to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, or if Contractor fails to comply with any other provision of the Contract Documents, Owner may, after seven days written notice to Contractor, correct, or remedy any such deficiency.
- B. In exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 13.09, Owner shall proceed expeditiously. In connection with such corrective or remedial action, Owner may exclude Contractor from all or part of the Site, take possession of all or part of the Work and suspend Contractor's services related thereto, take possession of Contractor's tools, appliances, construction equipment and machinery at the Site, and incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored elsewhere. Contractor shall allow Owner, Owner's representatives, agents and employees, Owner's other contractors, and Engineer and Engineer's consultants access to the Site to enable Owner to exercise the rights and remedies under this Paragraph.
- C. All claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) incurred or sustained by Owner in exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 13.09 will be charged against Contractor, and a Change Order will be issued incorporating the necessary revisions in the Contract Documents with respect to the Work; and Owner shall be entitled to an appropriate decrease in the Contract Price. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount of the adjustment, Owner may make a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. Such claims, costs, losses and damages will include but not be limited to all costs of repair, or replacement of work of others destroyed or damaged

- by correction, removal, or replacement of Contractor's defective Work.
- D. Contractor shall not be allowed an extension of the Contract Times because of any delay in the performance of the Work attributable to the exercise by Owner of Owner's rights and remedies under this Paragraph 13.09.

ARTICLE 14 – PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR AND COMPLETION

14.01 Schedule of Values

A. The Schedule of Values established as provided in Paragraph 2.07.A will serve as the basis for progress payments and will be incorporated into a form of Application for Payment acceptable to Engineer. Progress payments on account of Unit Price Work will be based on the number of units completed.

14.02 Progress Payments

A. Applications for Payments:

- 1. At least 20 days before the date established in the Agreement for each progress payment (but not more often than once a month), Contractor shall submit to Engineer for review an Application for Payment filled out and signed by Contractor covering the Work completed as of the date of the Application and accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents. If payment is requested on the basis of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work but delivered and suitably stored at the Site or at another location agreed to in writing, the Application for Payment shall also be accompanied by a bill of sale, invoice, or other documentation warranting that Owner has received the materials and equipment free and clear of all Liens and evidence that the materials and equipment are covered by appropriate property insurance or other arrangements to protect Owner's interest therein, all of which must be satisfactory to Owner.
- Beginning with the second Application for Payment, each Application shall include an affidavit of Contractor stating that all previous progress payments received on account of the Work have been applied on account to discharge Contractor's legitimate obligations associated with prior Applications for Payment.
- 3. The amount of retainage with respect to progress payments will be as stipulated in the Agreement.

B. Review of Applications:

- 1. Engineer will, within 10 days after receipt of each Application for Payment, either indicate in writing a recommendation of payment and present the Application to Owner or return the Application to Contractor indicating in writing Engineer's reasons for refusing to recommend payment. In the latter case, Contractor may make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application.
- 2. Engineer's recommendation of any payment requested in an Application for Payment will constitute a representation by Engineer to Owner, based on

Engineer's observations of the executed Work as an experienced and qualified design professional, and on Engineer's review of the Application for Payment and the accompanying data and schedules, that to the best of Engineer's knowledge, information and belief:

- a. the Work has progressed to the point indicated;
- b. the quality of the Work is generally in accordance with the Contract Documents (subject to an evaluation of the Work as a functioning whole prior to or upon Substantial Completion, the results of any subsequent tests called for in the Contract Documents, a final determination of quantities and classifications for Unit Price Work under Paragraph 9.07, and any other qualifications stated in the recommendation); and
- c. the conditions precedent to Contractor's being entitled to such payment appear to have been fulfilled in so far as it is Engineer's responsibility to observe the Work.
- 3. By recommending any such payment Engineer will not thereby be deemed to have represented that:
 - a. inspections made to check the quality or the quantity of the Work as it has been performed have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of the Work in progress, or involved detailed inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to Engineer in the Contract Documents; or
 - b. there may not be other matters or issues between the parties that might entitle Contractor to be paid additionally by Owner or entitle Owner to withhold payment to Contractor.
- 4. Neither Engineer's review of Contractor's Work for the purposes of recommending payments nor Engineer's recommendation of any payment, including final payment, will impose responsibility on Engineer:
 - a. to supervise, direct, or control the Work, or
 - b. for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or
 - c. for Contractor's failure to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to Contractor's performance of the Work, or
 - d. to make any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes Contractor has used the moneys paid on account of the Contract Price, or
 - e. to determine that title to any of the Work, materials, or equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any Liens.
- 5. Engineer may refuse to recommend the whole or any part of any payment if, in Engineer's opinion, it would be incorrect to make the representations to Owner stated in Paragraph 14.02.B.2. Engineer may also refuse to recommend any such payment or, because of subsequently discovered evidence or the results of subsequent inspections or tests, revise or revoke any such payment

recommendation previously made, to such extent as may be necessary in Engineer's opinion to protect Owner from loss because:

- a. the Work is defective, or completed Work has been damaged, requiring correction or replacement;
- b. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders;
- c. Owner has been required to correct defective Work or complete Work in accordance with Paragraph 13.09; or
- d. Engineer has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events enumerated in Paragraph 15.02.A.

C. Payment Becomes Due:

1. Ten days after presentation of the Application for Payment to Owner with Engineer's recommendation, the amount recommended will (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 14.02.D) become due, and when due will be paid by Owner to Contractor.

D. Reduction in Payment:

- 1. Owner may refuse to make payment of the full amount recommended by Engineer because:
 - a. claims have been made against Owner on account of Contractor's performance or furnishing of the Work;
 - b. Liens have been filed in connection with the Work, except where Contractor has delivered a specific bond satisfactory to Owner to secure the satisfaction and discharge of such Liens;
 - c. there are other items entitling Owner to a set-off against the amount recommended; or
 - d. Owner has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events enumerated in Paragraphs 14.02.B.5.a through 14.02.B.5.c or Paragraph 15.02.A.
- 2. If Owner refuses to make payment of the full amount recommended by Engineer, Owner will give Contractor immediate written notice (with a copy to Engineer) stating the reasons for such action and promptly pay Contractor any amount remaining after deduction of the amount so withheld. Owner shall promptly pay Contractor the amount so withheld, or any adjustment thereto agreed to by Owner and Contractor, when Contractor remedies the reasons for such action.
- 3. Upon a subsequent determination that Owner's refusal of payment was not justified, the amount wrongfully withheld shall be treated as an amount due as determined by Paragraph 14.02.C.1 and subject to interest as provided in the Agreement.

14.03 Contractor's Warranty of Title

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials, and equipment covered by any Application for Payment, whether incorporated in the Project or not,

will pass to Owner no later than the time of payment free and clear of all Liens.

14.04 Substantial Completion

- A. When Contractor considers the entire Work ready for its intended use Contractor shall notify Owner and Engineer in writing that the entire Work is substantially complete (except for items specifically listed by Contractor as incomplete) and request that Engineer issue a certificate of Substantial Completion.
- B. Promptly after Contractor's notification, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall make an inspection of the Work to determine the status of completion. If Engineer does not consider the Work substantially complete, Engineer will notify Contractor in writing giving the reasons therefor.
- C. If Engineer considers the Work substantially complete, Engineer will deliver to Owner a tentative certificate of Substantial Completion which shall fix the date of Substantial Completion. There shall be attached to the certificate a tentative list of items to be completed or corrected before final payment. Owner shall have seven days after receipt of the tentative certificate during which to make written objection to Engineer as to any provisions of the certificate or attached list. If, after considering such objections, Engineer concludes that the Work is not substantially complete, Engineer will, within 14 days after submission of the tentative certificate to Owner, notify Contractor in writing, stating the reasons therefor. If, after consideration of Owner's objections, Engineer considers the Work substantially complete, Engineer will, within said 14 days, execute and deliver to Owner and Contractor a definitive certificate of Substantial Completion (with a revised tentative list of items to be completed or corrected) reflecting such changes from the tentative certificate as Engineer believes justified after consideration of any objections from Owner.
- D. At the time of delivery of the tentative certificate of Substantial Completion, Engineer will deliver to Owner and Contractor a written recommendation as to division of responsibilities pending final payment between Owner and Contractor with respect to security, operation, safety, and protection of the Work, maintenance, heat, utilities, insurance, and warranties and guarantees. Unless Owner and Contractor agree otherwise in writing and so inform Engineer in writing prior to Engineer's issuing the definitive certificate of Substantial Completion, Engineer's aforesaid recommendation will be binding on Owner and Contractor until final payment.
- E. Owner shall have the right to exclude Contractor from the Site after the date of Substantial Completion subject to allowing Contractor reasonable access to remove its property and complete or correct items on the tentative list.

14.05 Partial Utilization

- A. Prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work, Owner may use or occupy any substantially completed part of the Work which has specifically been identified in the Contract Documents, or which Owner, Engineer, and Contractor agree constitutes a separately functioning and usable part of the Work that can be used by Owner for its intended purpose without significant interference with Contractor's performance of the remainder of the Work, subject to the following conditions:
 - 1. Owner at any time may request Contractor in writing to permit Owner to use or

- occupy any such part of the Work which Owner believes to be ready for its intended use and substantially complete. If and when Contractor agrees that such part of the Work is substantially complete, Contractor, Owner, and Engineer will follow the procedures of Paragraph 14.04.A through D for that part of the Work.
- 2. Contractor at any time may notify Owner and Engineer in writing that Contractor considers any such part of the Work ready for its intended use and substantially complete and request Engineer to issue a certificate of Substantial Completion for that part of the Work.
- 3. Within a reasonable time after either such request, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall make an inspection of that part of the Work to determine its status of completion. If Engineer does not consider that part of the Work to be substantially complete, Engineer will notify Owner and Contractor in writing giving the reasons therefor. If Engineer considers that part of the Work to be substantially complete, the provisions of Paragraph 14.04 will apply with respect to certification of Substantial Completion of that part of the Work and the division of responsibility in respect thereof and access thereto.
- 4. No use or occupancy or separate operation of part of the Work may occur prior to compliance with the requirements of Paragraph 5.10 regarding property insurance.

14.06 Final Inspection

A. Upon written notice from Contractor that the entire Work or an agreed portion thereof is complete, Engineer will promptly make a final inspection with Owner and Contractor and will notify Contractor in writing of all particulars in which this inspection reveals that the Work is incomplete or defective. Contractor shall immediately take such measures as are necessary to complete such Work or remedy such deficiencies.

14.07 Final Payment

A. *Application for Payment:*

- 1. After Contractor has, in the opinion of Engineer, satisfactorily completed all corrections identified during the final inspection and has delivered, in accordance with the Contract Documents, all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates or other evidence of insurance, certificates of inspection, marked-up record documents (as provided in Paragraph 6.12), and other documents, Contractor may make application for final payment following the procedure for progress payments.
- 2. The final Application for Payment shall be accompanied (except as previously delivered) by:
 - a. all documentation called for in the Contract Documents, including but not limited to the evidence of insurance required by Paragraph 5.04.B.6;
 - b. consent of the surety, if any, to final payment;
 - c. a list of all Claims against Owner that Contractor believes are unsettled; and

- d. complete and legally effective releases or waivers (satisfactory to Owner) of all Lien rights arising out of or Liens filed in connection with the Work.
- 3. In lieu of the releases or waivers of Liens specified in Paragraph 14.07.A.2 and as approved by Owner, Contractor may furnish receipts or releases in full and an affidavit of Contractor that: (i) the releases and receipts include all labor, services, material, and equipment for which a Lien could be filed; and (ii) all payrolls, material and equipment bills, and other indebtedness connected with the Work for which Owner might in any way be responsible, or which might in any way result in liens or other burdens on Owner's property, have been paid or otherwise satisfied. If any Subcontractor or Supplier fails to furnish such a release or receipt in full, Contractor may furnish a bond or other collateral satisfactory to Owner to indemnify Owner against any Lien.

B. Engineer's Review of Application and Acceptance:

1. If, on the basis of Engineer's observation of the Work during construction and final inspection, and Engineer's review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation as required by the Contract Documents, Engineer is satisfied that the Work has been completed and Contractor's other obligations under the Contract Documents have been fulfilled, Engineer will, within ten days after receipt of the final Application for Payment, indicate in writing Engineer's recommendation of payment and present the Application for Payment to Owner for payment. At the same time Engineer will also give written notice to Owner and Contractor that the Work is acceptable subject to the provisions of Paragraph 14.09. Otherwise, Engineer will return the Application for Payment to Contractor, indicating in writing the reasons for refusing to recommend final payment, in which case Contractor shall make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application for Payment.

C. Payment Becomes Due:

 Thirty days after the presentation to Owner of the Application for Payment and accompanying documentation, the amount recommended by Engineer, less any sum Owner is entitled to set off against Engineer's recommendation, including but not limited to liquidated damages, will become due and will be paid by Owner to Contractor.

14.08 Final Completion Delayed

A. If, through no fault of Contractor, final completion of the Work is significantly delayed, and if Engineer so confirms, Owner shall, upon receipt of Contractor's final Application for Payment (for Work fully completed and accepted) and recommendation of Engineer, and without terminating the Contract, make payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work fully completed and accepted. If the remaining balance to be held by Owner for Work not fully completed or corrected is less than the retainage stipulated in the Agreement, and if bonds have been furnished as required in Paragraph 5.01, the written consent of the surety to the payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work fully completed and accepted shall be submitted by Contractor to Engineer with the Application for such payment. Such

payment shall be made under the terms and conditions governing final payment, except that it shall not constitute a waiver of Claims.

14.09 Waiver of Claims

- A. The making and acceptance of final payment will constitute:
 - 1. a waiver of all Claims by Owner against Contractor, except Claims arising from unsettled Liens, from defective Work appearing after final inspection pursuant to Paragraph 14.06, from failure to comply with the Contract Documents or the terms of any special guarantees specified therein, or from Contractor's continuing obligations under the Contract Documents; and
 - 2. a waiver of all Claims by Contractor against Owner other than those previously made in accordance with the requirements herein and expressly acknowledged by Owner in writing as still unsettled.

ARTICLE 15 – SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION

15.01 Owner May Suspend Work

A. At any time and without cause, Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a period of not more than 90 consecutive days by notice in writing to Contractor and Engineer which will fix the date on which Work will be resumed. Contractor shall resume the Work on the date so fixed. Contractor shall be granted an adjustment in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to any such suspension if Contractor makes a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05.

15.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause

- A. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events will justify termination for cause:
 - 1. Contractor's persistent failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, failure to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or equipment or failure to adhere to the Progress Schedule established under Paragraph 2.07 as adjusted from time to time pursuant to Paragraph 6.04);
 - 2. Contractor's disregard of Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction;
 - 3. Contractor's repeated disregard of the authority of Engineer; or
 - 4. Contractor's violation in any substantial way of any provisions of the Contract Documents.
- B. If one or more of the events identified in Paragraph 15.02.A occur, Owner may, after giving Contractor (and surety) seven days written notice of its intent to terminate the services of Contractor:
 - 1. exclude Contractor from the Site, and take possession of the Work and of all Contractor's tools, appliances, construction equipment, and machinery at the Site,

- and use the same to the full extent they could be used by Contractor (without liability to Contractor for trespass or conversion);
- 2. incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored elsewhere; and
- 3. complete the Work as Owner may deem expedient.
- C. If Owner proceeds as provided in Paragraph 15.02.B, Contractor shall not be entitled to receive any further payment until the Work is completed. If the unpaid balance of the Contract Price exceeds all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) sustained by Owner arising out of or relating to completing the Work, such excess will be paid to Contractor. If such claims, costs, losses, and damages exceed such unpaid balance, Contractor shall pay the difference to Owner. Such claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred by Owner will be reviewed by Engineer as to their reasonableness and, when so approved by Engineer, incorporated in a Change Order. When exercising any rights or remedies under this Paragraph, Owner shall not be required to obtain the lowest price for the Work performed.
- D. Notwithstanding Paragraphs 15.02.B and 15.02.C, Contractor's services will not be terminated if Contractor begins within seven days of receipt of notice of intent to terminate to correct its failure to perform and proceeds diligently to cure such failure within no more than 30 days of receipt of said notice.
- E. Where Contractor's services have been so terminated by Owner, the termination will not affect any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor then existing or which may thereafter accrue. Any retention or payment of moneys due Contractor by Owner will not release Contractor from liability.
- F. If and to the extent that Contractor has provided a performance bond under the provisions of Paragraph 5.01.A, the termination procedures of that bond shall supersede the provisions of Paragraphs 15.02.B and 15.02.C.

15.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience

- A. Upon seven days written notice to Contractor and Engineer, Owner may, without cause and without prejudice to any other right or remedy of Owner, terminate the Contract. In such case, Contractor shall be paid for (without duplication of any items):
 - 1. completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents prior to the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on such Work;
 - 2. expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services and furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents in connection with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on such expenses;
 - 3. all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or

- arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) incurred in settlement of terminated contracts with Subcontractors, Suppliers, and others; and
- 4. reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination.
- B. Contractor shall not be paid on account of loss of anticipated profits or revenue or other economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination.

15.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate

- A. If, through no act or fault of Contractor, (i) the Work is suspended for more than 90 consecutive days by Owner or under an order of court or other public authority, or (ii) Engineer fails to act on any Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or (iii) Owner fails for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, then Contractor may, upon seven days written notice to Owner and Engineer, and provided Owner or Engineer do not remedy such suspension or failure within that time, terminate the Contract and recover from Owner payment on the same terms as provided in Paragraph 15.03.
- B. In lieu of terminating the Contract and without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if Engineer has failed to act on an Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or Owner has failed for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, Contractor may, seven days after written notice to Owner and Engineer, stop the Work until payment is made of all such amounts due Contractor, including interest thereon. The provisions of this Paragraph 15.04 are not intended to preclude Contractor from making a Claim under Paragraph 10.05 for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times or otherwise for expenses or damage directly attributable to Contractor's stopping the Work as permitted by this Paragraph.

ARTICLE 16 – DISPUTE RESOLUTION

16.01 *Methods and Procedures*

- A. Either Owner or Contractor may request mediation of any Claim submitted to Engineer for a decision under Paragraph 10.05 before such decision becomes final and binding. The mediation will be governed by the Construction Industry Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association in effect as of the Effective Date of the Agreement. The request for mediation shall be submitted in writing to the American Arbitration Association and the other party to the Contract. Timely submission of the request shall stay the effect of Paragraph 10.05.E.
- B. Owner and Contractor shall participate in the mediation process in good faith. The process shall be concluded within 60 days of filing of the request. The date of termination of the mediation shall be determined by application of the mediation rules referenced above.
- C. If the Claim is not resolved by mediation, Engineer's action under Paragraph 10.05.C or a denial pursuant to Paragraphs 10.05.C.3 or 10.05.D shall become final and binding 30 days after termination of the mediation unless, within that time period, Owner or Contractor:
 - 1. elects in writing to invoke any dispute resolution process provided for in the

- Supplementary Conditions; or
- 2. agrees with the other party to submit the Claim to another dispute resolution process; or
- 3. gives written notice to the other party of the intent to submit the Claim to a court of competent jurisdiction.

ARTICLE 17 – MISCELLANEOUS

17.01 Giving Notice

- A. Whenever any provision of the Contract Documents requires the giving of written notice, it will be deemed to have been validly given if:
 - 1. delivered in person to the individual or to a member of the firm or to an officer of the corporation for whom it is intended; or
 - 2. delivered at or sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the last business address known to the giver of the notice.

17.02 Computation of Times

A. When any period of time is referred to in the Contract Documents by days, it will be computed to exclude the first and include the last day of such period. If the last day of any such period falls on a Saturday or Sunday or on a day made a legal holiday by the law of the applicable jurisdiction, such day will be omitted from the computation.

17.03 Cumulative Remedies

A. The duties and obligations imposed by these General Conditions and the rights and remedies available hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are not to be construed in any way as a limitation of, any rights and remedies available to any or all of them which are otherwise imposed or available by Laws or Regulations, by special warranty or guarantee, or by other provisions of the Contract Documents. The provisions of this Paragraph will be as effective as if repeated specifically in the Contract Documents in connection with each particular duty, obligation, right, and remedy to which they apply.

17.04 Survival of Obligations

A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, and guarantees made in, required by, or given in accordance with the Contract Documents, as well as all continuing obligations indicated in the Contract Documents, will survive final payment, completion, and acceptance of the Work or termination or completion of the Contract or termination of the services of Contractor.

17.05 Controlling Law

A. This Contract is to be governed by the law of the state in which the Project is located.

17.06 Headings

A. Article and paragraph headings are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute parts of these General Conditions.

SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS

These Supplementary Conditions amend or supplement the Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract (EJCDC No. C-700, 2007 Edition) and other provisions of the Contract Documents as indicated below. All provisions, which are not so amended or supplemented, remain in full force and effect.

The terms used in these Supplementary Conditions will have the meanings indicated in the General Conditions. Additional terms used in these Supplementary Conditions have the meanings indicated below, which are applicable to both the singular and plural thereof.

SC-1.01 Defined Terms

- SC-1.01.A.52 Add the following paragraphs immediate after Paragraph 1.01.A.52:
 - 53. Engineer's Consultant An individual or entity having a contract with Engineer to furnish services as Engineer's independent professional associate or consultant with respect to the Project. Engineer's Consultants are identified as follows:

SC-5.04.B.1, 5.06.A.1, AND 5.06.B,

- a) Engineer used no consultants in the preparation of this Project.
- SC-1.01.A.9 Amend paragraph 1.01.A.9 of the General conditions to read as follows:

Change Order: A document which is signed by Contractor, Owner, and by Engineer, and authorizes an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, issued on or after Effective Date of the Agreement.

SC1.01.A.14 Amend paragraph 1.01.A.14 of the General Conditions by the addition of the following provision:

Execution for this Agreement by Contractor constitutes an acknowledgement and agreement by Contractor that all Contract Times stated in the Contract Documents are reasonable and are of sufficient duration for the Work required to be performed within such times. Contractor acknowledges that Work on Saturdays, Sundays, or legal holidays requires the prior written consent of Owner and further requires that Contractor shall be responsible for, and shall pay, any and all overtime or extra cost incurred by Owner or Engineer resulting from such Work on Saturdays, Sundays, or legal holidays. Contractor further acknowledges that unless expressly stated otherwise, all days and times set forth in the Contract Documents shall be measured by calendar days.

SC-2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance

- SC-2.01.B Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 2.01.B:
 - 1. Provide Owner, at the time Contracts are returned by Owner for execution, three (3) copies of all insurance certificates. In addition, all coverages held

jointly in names of Owner and/or Engineer, three (3) additional copies of policies shall be furnished. Each additional insured identified in the Supplementary Conditions shall be provided one copy of all insurance certificates. Owner reserves the right to request complete copies of policies if deemed necessary to ascertain details of coverage not provided by the certificates. Such policy copies shall be "originally signed copies" and so designated.

SC-2.02 Copies of Documents

- SC-2.02 Delete Paragraph 2.02.A in its entirety and insert the following in its place:
 - A. Owner shall furnish to Contractor up to three (3) printed or hard copies of the Drawings and Project Manual and one (1) set in electronic format. Additional copies will be furnished upon request at the cost of reproduction.

SC-2.03 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed

- SC-2.03.A Add the following paragraph immediately after Paragraph 2.03.A:
 - B. Should the Owner require additional time to award a Contract, the time may be extended by the mutual agreement between the Owner and the successful Bidder. If an award of Contract has not been made within 60 days from the Bid date or within the extension mutually agreed upon, the Bidder may withdraw the Bid without further liability on the part of the either party.

SC-2.07 Initial Acceptance of Schedules

- SC-2.07.A.3 Add the following language at the end of Paragraph 2.07.A.3:
 - 4. Contractor shall not imbalance their Schedule of Values nor artificially inflates any element thereof. If required by Owner or Engineer, Contractor shall furnish any required documentation to substantiate that the Schedule of Values is balanced and not artificially inflated. Violation of this provision by Contractor may constitute a material breach of this Agreement.

SC-3.01 Intent

SC-3.01.C Add the following language at the end of Paragraph 3.01.C:

In the event of a conflict, discrepancy, contradiction, or inconsistency within the Contract Documents and for the resolution of same, the following order of hierarchy and control shall apply and prevail:

1) Contract; 2) Addenda; 3) Supplementary General Conditions; 4) General Conditions; 5) Specifications; 6) Drawings; 7) Instruction to Bidders; 8) Invitation to Bid; 9) Sample Forms.

If a conflict, discrepancy, contradiction, or inconsistency occurs within or between the Specifications and the Drawings, resolution shall be controlled by the following:

1. As between figures, dimensions, or numbers given on Drawings and any scaled measurements, the figures, dimensions, or numbers shall govern;

- 2. As between large scale drawings and small-scale drawings, the larger scale drawings shall govern;
- 3. As between technical specifications and drawings, the technical specifications shall govern;
- 4. Shop Drawings and Submittals: Shop drawings and other submittals from the Contractor, subcontractors, or suppliers do not constitute a part of the Contract Documents;
- 5. In the case of an inconsistency between Drawings and Specifications or within either Document not clarified by addendum, the better quality or greater quantity of Work shall be provided in accordance with the Engineer's interpretation.

SC-4.01 Availability of Lands

SC-4.01.C Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 4.01.C:

- D. Contractor has received a list of Work areas from Owner where some easements necessary to complete this Project may not have been obtained by Owner at Bid time, and may not be available until an undetermined time during the construction period. Owner will notify Contractor when such easements have been secured and when Contractor may proceed with Work in those areas.
 - 1. Contractor may request an extension of Contract Times in accordance with Article 10 of the General Conditions if Owner is unable to secure easements within 30 days after the effective date of the Agreement.
 - 2. Requests for a change in Contract Price for areas that have been identified as unavailable at time of Bid and may impact Contractor's work production will not be considered.

SC-4.02 Subsurface and Physical Conditions,

SC-4.02.A Delete Paragraph 4.02.A and replace it in its entirety with:

A. In the preparation of Drawings and Specifications, Engineer or Engineer's Consultants did not rely upon reports of explorations or tests of subsurface conditions at the Site, except as noted on Drawings.

SC-4.06 Hazardous Environmental Condition at Site

SC-4.06.A Delete Paragraph 4.06.A and replace it in its entirety with:

A. In the preparation of Drawings and Specifications, Engineer or Engineer's Consultants did not rely upon reports of Hazardous Environmental Conditions at the Site, except as noted on Drawings.

SC-5.02 Licensed Sureties and Insurers

SC-5.02.A Add the following language at the end of Paragraph 5.02.A:

In order to determine financial strength and reputation of insurance carriers, all companies providing the coverages required shall be licensed or approved by the

Insurance Bureau of the State in which the Work is performed and shall have a financial rating not lower than VI and a policyholder's service rating no lower than A- as listed in A.M. Best's Key Rating Guide, current edition. Certificates of insurance shall note A.M. Best's Rating. All bonds and insurance coverages shall be with sureties or insurance companies that are acceptable to OWNER.

SC-5.03 Certificates of Insurance

SC-5.03.E Add the following new paragraphs at the end of Paragraph 5.03.E:

- F. The identity of the additional insureds that are to be included on Contractor's insurance policies are:
 - 1. City of Perry and including all elected and appointed officials, all employees and volunteers, all boards, commissions, and/or authorities and their board members, employees, and volunteers.
 - 2. Integrated Science & Engineering

SC-5.04 Contractor's Liability Insurance

SC-5.04 Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 5.04.B:

- C. The limits of liability for the insurance required by Paragraph 5.04 of the General Conditions shall provide coverage for not less than the following amounts or greater where required by Laws and Regulations:
 - 1. Workers' Compensation, and related coverages under Paragraphs 5.04.A.1 and A.2 of the General Conditions:
 - a. State: Statutory
 - b. Applicable Federal (i.e., Longshoreman's): Statutory
 - c. Employer's Liability:
 - 1) Each Accident: \$500,000
 - 2) Disease Employee Limit: \$500,000
 - 3) Each Employee: \$500,000
 - 2. Contractor's General Liability under Paragraphs 5.04.A.3 through A.5 of the General Conditions which shall include Commercial General Liability, Contractual Liability, and Products/Complete Operations Liability, Owners and Contractors Protective Liability, and Personal Injury Liability Insurance covering all operations required to complete the work, including coverage for damage caused by explosion, collapse or structural injury, and damage to underground utilities with the following minimum limits of liability:

Contract Amount
\$1,000,000.00 or less

Insurance Liability
\$1,000,000.00 Combined Single Limit
Bodily Injury and Property Damage
Liability- each occurrence.

Over \$1,000,000.00 \$5,000,000.00 Combined Single Limit

Bodily Injury and Property Damage

Liability – each occurrence.

The Products/Completed Operations Liability Insurance shall be provided for a period of at least one year after completion of the work.

The Contractual Liability Insurance Coverage insuring the performance of the contractual obligations assumed by the Contractor by acceptance of this Contract, including specifically, but without limitation thereto, the above-mentioned agreement, included herein.

3. Automobile Liability under Paragraph 5.04.A.6 of the General Conditions: Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance with the following minimum limits of liability:

Contract Amount	Insurance Liability
\$5,000,000.00 or less	\$1,000,000.00 Combined Single
	Limit Bodily Injury and Property
	Damage Liability- each occurrence.
Over \$5,000,000.00	\$3,000,000.00 Combined Single
	Limit Bodily Injury and Property
	Damage Liability- each occurrence.

This insurance is to apply to all owned, non-owned, and hired automobiles and other vehicles used by the Contractor in the performance of the work.

4. Contractor's General Liability under Paragraphs 5.04.A.3 through A.5 of the General Conditions which shall include Excess or Umbrella Liability (Occurrence Form):

General per contract:

1. Aggregate: \$3,000,000.00

2. Each Occurrence: \$3,000,000.00

SC-5.06 Property Insurance

SC-5.06.A Delete Paragraph 5.06.A in its entirety and insert the following in its place:

- A. Contractor shall purchase and maintain property insurance upon the Work at the Site in the amount of the full replacement cost thereof. This insurance shall:
 - 1. Include the interests of Owner, Contractor, Subcontractors, Engineer, Engineer's Consultants and any other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, and the officers, directors, partners,

- employees, agents and other consultants and subcontractors of any of them each of whom is deemed to have an insurable interest and shall be listed as an insured or additional insured listed in Paragraph SC-5.03.E;
- 2. Be written on a Builder's Risk "all-risk" or open peril or special causes of loss policy form that shall at least include insurance for physical loss and damage to the Work, temporary buildings, falsework, and materials and equipment in transit and shall insure against at least the following perils or causes of loss: fire, lightning, extended coverage, theft, vandalism and malicious mischief, earthquake, collapse, debris removal, demolition occasioned by enforcement of Laws and Regulations, water damage, and such other perils or causes of loss as may be specifically required by the Supplementary Conditions;
- 3. Include expenses incurred in the repair or replacement of any insured property (including but not limited to fees and charges of engineers and architects);
- 4. Cover materials and equipment stored at the Site or at another location that was agreed to in writing by Owner prior to being incorporated in the Work, provided that such materials and equipment have been included in an Application for Payment recommended by Engineer;
- 5. Allow for partial utilization of the Work by Owner;
- 6. Include testing and startup; and
- 7. Be maintained in effect until final payment is made unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Owner, Contractor and Engineer with 30 days written notice to each other additional insured to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued.
- 8. Contractor shall be responsible for any deductible or self-insured retention.
- 9. The policy will not cover Contractor's or its subcontractor's or supplier's equipment, tools or other property that is not consumed during construction or does not become a part of the Project. Contractor shall bear the expense of any additional policy to cover these items.
- 10. The policies of insurance required to be purchased and maintained by Contractor in accordance with this Paragraph SC-5.06 shall comply with the requirements of Paragraph 5.06.C of the General Conditions.
- SC-5.06.B Delete Paragraph 5.06.B of the General Conditions in its entirety and insert the following in its place:
 - B. Contractor shall purchase and maintain such boiler and machinery insurance or additional property insurance as may be required by the Supplementary Conditions or Laws and Regulations which will include the interests of Owner, Contractor, Engineer, Subcontractors and any other individuals or entities identified in the Specific Project Conditions and/or Supplementary Conditions.

SC-5.06.D Supplement Paragraph 5.06.D of the General Conditions as follows:

If deductibles are included in any of the insurance policies described above, Contractor will be responsible for costs not paid because of these deductibles.

- SC-5.06.E Delete Paragraph 5.06.E of the General Conditions in its entirety and insert the following in its place:
 - E. If Owner requests in writing that other special insurance such as "soft cost" for the protection of the Owner, it will be included in the property insurance policies provided under Paragraph 5.06. Contractor shall, if possible, include such insurance, and the cost thereof will be charged to Owner by appropriate Change Order or Written Amendment. Prior to commencement of the Work at the Site, Contractor shall in writing advise Owner whether or not such other insurance has been procured by Contractor. The Contractor may add "soft cost" coverage for the benefit of the Contractor at the Contractor's expense. If the contractor adds such coverage, the Contractor shall advise the Owner.

SC-5.07 Waiver of Rights

SC-5.07.A Delete the last sentence of Paragraph 5.07.A of the General Conditions in its entirety and insert the following in its place:

None of the above waivers shall extend to the rights that any party making such waiver may have to the proceeds of insurance held by Contractor as trustee or otherwise payable under any policy so issued.

- SC-5.07.B Delete Paragraph 5.07.B of the General Conditions in its entirety.
- SC-5.07.C Amend Paragraph 5.07.C of the General Conditions to read as follows:

With respect to all insurance required from Contractor by the Contract Documents, Contractor waives any and all rights of subrogation against Owner, Engineer and each additional named insured. Furthermore, all such insurance, and any insurance required by law, shall be maintained in full force and effect by Contractor until full and final completion of the Work and until payment therefore by Owner. Nothing contained in the within and foregoing insurance provisions shall in any way limit or release Contractor from any of its duties, obligations or liabilities arising under or relating to the Contract Documents.

- SC-5.07 Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 5.07.C:
 - D. Any insurance policy maintained by Contractor covering any loss, damage or consequential loss referred to in Paragraph 5.07.B shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of any such loss, damage, or consequential loss, the insurers will have no rights of recovery against Owner, Subcontractors, or Engineer, and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them.

SC-5.08 Receipt and Application of Proceeds

SC-5.08.A In the first sentence of Paragraph 5.08.A amend "... Paragraph 5.06 will be adjusted with Owner and ..." to read "... Paragraph 5.06 will be

adjusted with Contractor and ...". The remaining language in Paragraph 5.08.A shall not be altered and remain in effect.

SC-5.08.B Delete Paragraph 5.08.B in its entirety and replace with:

B. Contractor as fiduciary shall have power to adjust and settle any loss with the insurers unless one of the parties in interest shall object in writing within 15 days after the occurrence of loss to Contractor's exercise of this power. If such objection be made, Contractor as fiduciary shall make settlement with the insurers in accordance with such agreement as the parties in interest may reach. If no such agreement among the parties in interest is reached, Contractor as fiduciary shall adjust and settle the loss with the insurers and, if required in writing by any party in interest, Contractor as fiduciary shall give bond for the proper performance of such duties.

SC-6.01 Supervision and Superintendence

SC-6.01.A Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 6.01.A:

1. Contractor's resident superintendent shall be dedicated full-time to the project. The superintendent shall have no less than three (3) years experience as a superintendent on one or more projects similar in nature, size and scope of the Project. Contractor shall furnish to Engineer a detailed resume setting forth the qualifications of the superintendent prior to their assignment to the Project. The qualifications of the superintendent must be acceptable to Owner.

SC-6.08 Permits

SC-6.08 Add the following new paragraphs immediately after Paragraph 6.08.A:

- B. Contractor shall secure the following permits, approvals and licenses and will pay any associated charges and fees. Contractor shall pay all inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the Work which are applicable at the time of opening of Bids, or, if there are no Bids, on the Effective Date of the Agreement.
 - 1. Land Disturbance Permit.

SC-6.09 Laws and Regulations

SC-6.09.C Add the following new paragraphs immediately after Paragraph 6.09.C:

- D. While not intended to be inclusive of all Laws or Regulations for which Contractor may be responsible for under Paragraph 6.09, the following Laws or Regulations are included as mandated by statue or for the convenience of Contractor:
 - 1. In accordance with Section 209 of the Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act, a Contract to which the State, a political subdivision, or an agency thereof is a party shall contain a covenant by Contractor and his subcontractors not to discriminate against an Employee or Applicant for employment with respect to hire, tenure, conditions, or privileges of employment, or a matter directly or indirectly related to employment because of race, color, religion, national origin or ancestry, age, sex, height, weight, or marital

- status. Breach of this covenant may be regarded as a material breach of the Contract.
- 2. Prevailing Wages: Contractor shall pay not less than the prevailing rate of wages in accordance with Code of Georgia 34-4-3.
- 3. Hours of Labor: Employees that qualify, per code of Georgia 21-2-404, may take two hours off from work to vote in an election.
- 4. Discrimination: Per Georgia Code 34-1-2, Contractor, Subcontractor, nor any person on its behalf, shall refuse to hire, employ, or license, nor bar or discharge from employment, any individual between the ages of 40 and 70 years, solely upon the grounds of age, when the reasonable demands of the position do not require such an age distinction, provided that individual is qualified physically, mentally, and by training and experience to perform satisfactorily the labor assigned to them or for which they apply.
- 5. Notification Requirements for Excavations: Prior to blasting or excavating with mechanized excavating equipment, Contractor shall notify, within 72 hours, the Utilities Protection Center per Code of Georgia 25-9-6.
- 6. "Georgia Security and Immigration Compliance Act" of 2006: Senate Bill 529 (The Ga Security and Immigration and Compliance Act) requires contractors to file an affidavit that the contractor and its subcontractors have registered and participate in a federal work authorization program intended to insure that only lawful citizens or lawful immigrants are employed by the contractor or subcontractor. This requirement of SB529 is a phased-in affidavit filing requirement based on the size of the contractor. Contractors with 500 or more employees are required to file an affidavit of compliance beginning 7/1/07. However, because the requirement is set forth in OCGA 13-10-91 which is a part of Chapter 10 of Title 13 governing public works contracts, the affidavit filing requirements of SB529 therefore only apply to public works contracts.

SC-6.11 Use of Site and Other Areas

- SC-6.11.A.3 Add a new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 6.11.A.3:
 - 4. Contractor is responsible to ensure that all activities required to perform the Work are confined to the limits of Owner's property and easements established for the Work. Permanent structures placed outside the limits of Owner's property or defined permanent easements shall be relocated as necessary at no additional change in Contract Price.
- SC-6.11.E Add a new paragraph 6.11.E immediately following Paragraph 6.11.D of the General Conditions:

Barricades and Warning Signs: Contractor shall provide, erect, maintain and finally remove all barricades and detour signs necessary to properly protect and divert traffic. Such barricades and signs shall be illuminated at night. Contractor will be held responsible for all damage to the Work due to failure of the signs and barricades to properly protect the Work from traffic, pedestrians, animals and

from all other sources. Construction of all barricades shall be such as acceptable to Owner and any and all governmental agencies and departments having jurisdiction and control over traffic.

SC-6.17 Shop Drawings and Samples

SC-6.17.E Add the following new paragraphs immediately after Paragraph 6.17.E:

- F. Contractor shall furnish required submittals with sufficient information and accuracy in order to obtain required review of an item with no more than three submittals. Engineer will record Engineer's time for reviewing subsequent submittals of Shop Drawings, samples or other items requiring review and Contractor shall reimburse Owner for Engineer's charges for such time.
 - 1. In the event that Contractor requests a substitution for a previously reviewed item, Contractor shall reimburse Owner for Engineer's charges for such time unless the need for such substitution is beyond the control of Contractor.

SC-6.21 Delegation of Professional Design Services

SC-6.21.B Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 6.21.B:

1. Where Performance Specifications are used, required systems, equipment, and/or materials to be incorporated in the Project are specified in terms of required results, without mandating specific means for achieving the required results. The functional requirements for the systems, equipment, and/or materials are defined together with the operating conditions and/or environment in which they must operate and general standards which must be satisfied. Performance Specifications establish minimum standards that must be met.

SC-6.21.D Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 6.21.D:

1. Observations or requirements that Engineer may communicate to Contractor or others are for clarification only and shall not alter the responsibility of any party nor be interpreted to impose on Owner or Engineer any liability to Contractor, subcontractors, suppliers, or manufacturers related to systems, equipment, or materials supplied pursuant to a Performance Specification. Neither Contractor nor anyone claiming rights by virtue of this Contract or any subcontract or order placed hereunder shall seek to recover from Owner or Engineer any losses or damages suffered as a result of any deficiency, defect, or performance problem in any systems, equipment, or materials supplied pursuant to a Performance Specification.

SC-9.03 Project Representative

SC-9.03 Add the following new paragraphs immediately after Paragraph 9.03.A:

B. The Resident Project Representative (RPR) will be a member of the Engineer's firm. The responsibilities, authority and limitations of the RPR shall be in accordance with Article 9 of the General Conditions. Additional

responsibilities, authority and limitations of the RPR shall be:

- 1. Review the Work at the Site during the periods as stipulated in the Owner-Engineer Agreement, and in accordance with Paragraph 9.02.
- 2. Communicate between the Owner, Contractor and Engineer.
- 3. Retain a copy of shop drawing submittals, testing results, Applications for Payment, Change Orders, Claims, and other correspondence at the Site.
- 4. Review Contractor's Application for Payment and Change Orders prior to submission to Engineer in accordance with Paragraph 9.06.
- 5. Perform the preliminary determination of the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor for the Engineer in accordance with Paragraph 9.07.
- 6. RPR will not participate in specialized field or laboratory tests or inspections conducted by others, except as specifically authorized by Engineer.

SC-11.01 Cost of the Work

- SC-11.01.A.5.c Delete Paragraph 11.01.A.5.c in its entirety and insert the following in its place:
 - c. Construction Equipment and Machinery:
 - 1) Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery, and the parts thereof in accordance with rental agreements approved by Owner with the advice of Engineer, and the costs of transportation, loading, unloading, assembly, dismantling, and removal thereof. All such costs shall be in accordance with the terms of said rental agreements. The rental of any such equipment, machinery, or parts shall cease when the use thereof is no longer necessary for the Work.
 - 2) Costs for equipment and machinery owned by Contractor will be paid at a rate shown for such equipment in the Blue Book, Building and Construction (Georgia). An hourly rate will be computed by dividing the monthly rates by 176. These computed rates will include all operating costs. Costs will include the time the equipment or machinery is in use on the changed Work and the costs of transportation, loading, unloading, assembly, dismantling, and removal when directly attributable to the changed Work. The cost of any such equipment or machinery, or parts thereof, shall cease to accrue when the use thereof is no longer necessary for the changed Work. Equipment or machinery with a value of less than \$1,000 will be considered small tools.

SC-11.03 Unit Price Work

- SC-11.03.D Delete Paragraph 11.03.D in its entirety and insert the following in its place:
 - D. The unit price of an item of Unit Price Work shall be subject to reevaluation

and adjustment in the Contract Price under the following conditions:

- 1. if the Bid price of a particular item of Unit Price Work amounts to five percent or more of the Contract Price and the variation in the quantity of that particular item of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor differs by more than twenty five percent from the estimated quantity of such item indicated in the Agreement; and
- 2. if there is no corresponding adjustment with respect to any other item of Work; and
- 3. if Contractor believes that Contractor has incurred additional expense as a result thereof or if Owner believes that the quantity variation entitles Owner to an adjustment in the unit price, either Owner or Contractor may make a Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Price in accordance with Paragraph 10.05 if the parties are unable to agree as to the effect of any such variations in the quantity of Unit Price Work performed.

SC-12.01 Change of Contract Price

SC-12.01.C.2.f Add the following new paragraphs immediately after Paragraph 12.01.C.2.f:

g. An example of how the procedure works is:

Cost of Work Performed or Furnished by Sub-Subcontractor	\$10,000.00
Sub-Subcontractor's Fee (15%)	\$1,500.00
Total Cost Paid by Subcontractor to Sub-Subcontractor	\$11,500.00
Subcontractor's Fee (5%)	575.00
Total Cost Paid by Contractor to Subcontractor	\$12,075.00
Contractor's Fee (5%)	603.75
Total Cost of Work Plus Fee	\$12,678.75

SC-12.03 Delays

SC-12.03.F Add the following immediately after Paragraph 12.03.E:

Average Number of Days in which precipitation is in excess of 0.10 inches per day is tabulated below for the region in which the project is located. Completion time will not be extended for normal weather conditions. The time for completion as stated in the Contract Documents includes due allowance for calendar days on which work cannot be performed. For the purpose of this Contract, the Contractor agrees that he may expect to lose calendar days due to weather in accordance with the following table:

Jan.	10 days	May	8 days	Sep.	7 days
Feb.	9 days	June	8 days	Oct.	6 days
Mar.	9 days	July	11 days	Nov.	7 days
Apr.	8 days	Aug.	9 days	Dec.	8 days

Also, the Contractor agrees that the measure of extreme weather during the period covered by this Contract shall be the number of days in excess of those shown for each month in the table above, in which precipitation exceeded 0.10 inch and the

average temperature failed to exceed 40 degrees F., averaged from the Peachtree City Airport, Georgia. This is the same source of data used to determine normal weather losses. If the total accumulated number of calendar days lost to weather, from the start of work until the completion of project exceeds that total accumulated number to be expected for the same period from the table above, time for completion will be extended by the number of calendar days needed to include the excess number of calendar days lost. Request for extension in contract time shall be done in accordance with the General Conditions.

No change in Contract Sum will be authorized because of adjustments of Contract Time due to Owner's acceptance of Contract Claims for adjustments to Time due to abnormal weather conditions.

SC-14.02 Progress Payments

- SC-14.02.A.3 Delete Paragraph 14.02.A.3 in its entirety and insert the following in its place:
 - 3. Owner shall retain ten percent (10%) of the amount of total payment due the Contractor until the Project is at least 50% satisfactorily complete. At the 50% Project completion point, the Owner, with the recommendation of the Engineer, finds the work to be satisfactory and if construction is on schedule, maintain the retainage at the previous amount will not retain additional amounts on subsequent payment estimates beyond the 10% on the first 50% of the Project payments. If after discontinuing the additional retainage, the Owner or Engineer determines that the work is unsatisfactory or has fallen behind schedule, retainage may be resumed at the previous level. When the Work is Substantially Complete, and upon written notice from Contractor, the retained amount may be further reduced to an amount of 200% of the value of the work remaining for Final Completion as determined by the Engineer.
- SC-14.02.C.1 Delete Paragraph 14.02.C.1 in its entirety and insert the following in its place:
 - 1. Thirty (30) days after presentation of the Application for Payment to Owner with Engineer's recommendation, the amount recommended will (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 14.02.D) become due, and when due will be paid by Owner to Contractor; except when funds with which payments are made are provided by a department or agency of the State or Federal government, in which case payment to Contractor shall be made within fifteen (15) days after Owner receives said funds.
 - 2. If Owner fails to make payment as herein provided, interest will accrue to each such payment that is past due in the amount as allowed per Code of Georgia 13-11-17.

SC-16.01 Methods and Procedure

As an alternative to the dispute resolution process set forth in the General Conditions (mediation followed by litigation), the contract could pair final and binding arbitration with mediation. A discussion of the pros and cons of the arbitration process (and there are many advocates on either side) is beyond the scope of this Guide. Consultation with the

Owner's legal counsel is highly recommended. Users should also note that they will need to insert the name of an arbitration agency, such as the American Arbitration Association or the CPR Institute for Dispute Resolution, in SC 16.02.A. The mediation/arbitration option requires the following:

- SC-16.01 Delete Paragraph 16.01.C in its entirety and insert the following in its place:
 - C. If the Claim is not resolved by mediation, Engineer's action under Paragraph 10.05.C or a denial pursuant to Paragraphs 10.05.C.3 or 10.05.D shall become final and binding 30 days after termination of the mediation unless, within that time period, Owner or Contractor:
 - 1. elects in writing to demand arbitration of the Claim, pursuant to Paragraph SC 16.02; or
 - 2. agrees with the other party to submit the Claim to another dispute resolution process.

SC-16.02 Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 16.01:

SC-16.02 Arbitration

- A. All Claims or counterclaims, disputes, or other matters in question between Owner and Contractor arising out of or relating to the Contract Documents or the breach thereof (except for Claims which have been waived by the making or acceptance of final payment as provided by Paragraph 14.09) including but not limited to those not resolved under the provisions of Paragraphs SC 16.01A and 16.01.B will be decided by arbitration in accordance with the rules of [insert name of selected arbitration agency], subject to the conditions and limitations of this Paragraph SC 16.02. This agreement to arbitrate and any other agreement or consent to arbitrate entered into will be specifically enforceable under the prevailing law of any court having jurisdiction.
- B. The demand for arbitration will be filed in writing with the other party to the Contract and with the selected arbitrator or arbitration provider, and a copy will be sent to Engineer for information. The demand for arbitration will be made within the 30 day period specified in Paragraph SC 16.01.C, and in all other cases within a reasonable time after the Claim or counterclaim, dispute, or other matter in question has arisen, and in no event shall any such demand be made after the date when institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on such Claim or other dispute or matter in question would be barred by the applicable statue of limitations.
- C. No arbitration arising out of or relating to the Contract Documents shall include by consolidation, joinder, or in any other manner any other individual or entity (including Engineer, and Engineer's consultants and the officers, directors, partners, agents, employees or consultants of any of them) who is not a party to this Contract unless:

- 1. the inclusion of such other individual or entity is necessary if complete relief is to be afforded among those who are already parties to the arbitration; and
- 2. such other individual or entity is substantially involved in a question of law or fact which is common to those who are already parties to the arbitration and which will arise in such proceedings.
- D. The award rendered by the arbitrator(s) shall be consistent with the agreement of the parties, in writing, and include: (i) a concise breakdown of the award; (ii) a written explanation of the award specifically citing the Contract Document provisions deemed applicable and relied on in making the award.
- E. The award will be final. Judgment may be entered upon it in any court having jurisdiction thereof, and it will not be subject to modification or appeal, subject to provisions of the Controlling Law relating to vacating or modifying an arbitral award.
- F. The fees and expenses of the arbitrators and any arbitration service shall be shared equally by Owner and Contractor.

DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE CERTIFICATION

The undersigned vendor hereby certifies that it will provide a drug-free workplace program by:

- 1. Publishing a statement notifying its employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the vendor's workplace, and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violations of such prohibition;
- 2. Establishing a continuing drug-free awareness program to inform its employees about:
 - A. The dangers of drug abuse in the work place;
 - B. The vendor's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;
 - C. Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and
 - D. The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations occurring in the workplace;
- 3. Giving all employees engaged in performance of the contract a copy of the statement required by subparagraph (1):
- 4. Notifying all employees, in writing, of the statement required by subparagraph (1), that as a condition of employment on a covered contract, the employee shall:
 - A. Abide by the terms of the statement; and
 - B. Notify the employer in writing of the employee's conviction under a criminal drug statute for a violation occurring in the workplace no later than five (5) calendar days after such conviction;
- 5. Notifying Owner in writing within ten (10) calendar days after receiving notice under subdivision (4)(A) above, from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction. The notice shall include name and the position title of the employee;
- 6. Within thirty (30) calendar days after receiving notice under subparagraph (4) of a conviction, taking one or more of the following actions with respect to an employee who is convicted of a drug abuse violation occurring in the workplace:
 - A. Taking appropriate personnel action against such employee, up to and including termination; and/or
 - B. Requiring such employee to satisfactorily participate in and complete a drug abuse assistance or rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a federal, state, or local health, law enforcement, or other appropriate agency; and
- 7. Making a good faith effort to maintain a drug-free workplace program through implementation of subparagraphs (1) through (6)

As the person authorized to sign this statement, I certify that this firm fully complies with the above requirements.

Signature:	Date:
Print Name:	
Company:	

FIELD ORDER

		No
Date of Issuance:	Effective Da	te:
Project:		Owner's Contract No.:
Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitati	ion	2025-01
Owner:		Date of Contract:
City of Perry		
Contractor:		Engineer's Project No.: 1013.2304
Attention: You are hereby directed to promptly execute Conditions Paragraph 9.04.A, for minor char or Contract Times. If you consider that required, please notify the Engineer immediate Reference:	nges in the Wo	ork without changes in Contract Price Contract Price or Contract Times is
(Specification Section(s)	<u> </u>	(Drawing(s) / Detail(s))
Description:		
Attachments:		
	Engineer:	
Receipt Acknowledged by Contractor:		Date:

Copy to Owner

WORK CHANGE DIRECTIVE

			No.	
Date of Issuance:		Effective Date:		
Project:			Owner's Contract No.:	
Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation			2025-01	
Owner:		I	Date of Contract:	
City of Perry				
Contractor:		I	Engineer's Project No.:	
		1	013.2304	
Contractor is dir	ected to proceed promptly wi	th the following c	hange(s):	
Item No.	Description			
Attachments (list	documents supporting chang	ge):		
Purpose for Wor	k Change Directive:			
Authorization for	Work described herein to proce	eed on the basis of	Cost of the Work due to:	
	ment on pricing of proposed ch			
=	to expedite Work described had contract Time.	nerein prior to agre	eeing to changes on Contract	
		east Times:		
	e in Contract Price and Conti		(' /1)	
Contract Price \$ (increase/decrease) Contract Tir		Contract Time	ne (increase/decrease) days	
Pagammandad for	Approval by Engineer:		Date	
Authorized for Ov			Date	
Received for Cont	•		Date	
Received by Fund	ing Agency (if applicable):		Date:	

CHANGE ORDER

		No	
Date of Issuance:	Effective Date		
Project:		Owner's Contract No.:	
Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabil	itation	2025-01	
Owner:		Date of Contract:	
City of Perry			
Contractor:		Engineer's Project No.:	
		1013.2304	
The Contract Documents are modified	l as follows upon executi	on of this Change Order:	
Description:	•	<u> </u>	
Attachments (list documents supporting	ng change):		
CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE:	CHANCEIN	ALCONTO A CT TIMES.	
Original Contract Price:		N CONTRACT TIMES:	
Original Contract Frice.	Original Contract Times: ☐ Working days ☐ Calendar days Substantial completion (days or date):		
\$	Ready for final payment (days or date):		
[Increase] [Decrease] from previously approved Change Orders No to No:	[Increase] [Decrease] from previously approved Change Orders No to No: Substantial completion (days): Ready for final payment (days):		
Contract Price prior to this Change Order:	Contract Times prior to this Change Order: Substantial completion (days or date):		
\$	Ready for final payment	t (days or date):	
_		(days or date):	
\$		t (days or date):	
Contract Price incorporating this Change Order:	Substantial completion	oproved Change Orders: (days or date): t (days or date):	
		· •	
	CEPTED:	ACCEPTED:	
By: By: By:	Owner (Authorized Signature)	By: Contractor (Authorized Signature)	
Date: Date Approved by Funding Agency (if applica	ble):	Date:	
Tippio tod of Landing Figure (ii applica	o,.	Date:	

SUMMARY OF WORK

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Location of Work
- B. Scope of Work
- C. Substantial Completion requirements
- D. Final Completion requirements
- G. Contractor use of premises
- H. Owner Occupancy
- I. Protection of Owner, agents of the Owner, workmen, and the public
- I. Project Utility Sources

1.02 PROJECT LOCATION

Project is located along the City of Perry property behind the Avington Chase homes. There will be a temporary construction easement that will allow access along a gravel drive.

1.03 SCOPE OF WORK

A. Demolition

There will be demolition of some existing trees.

B. Major Components New Construction includes: This project includes the rehabilitation of a drainage swale with the use of stone filled gabion baskets. The purpose of this project is to redirect storm water to prevent flooding in the Avington Glenn neighborhood.

1.04 SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION REQUIREMENTS

Project to be substantially complete within 90 days of the "Notice to Proceed"

1.05 FINAL COMPLETION REQUIREMENTS

Project to be final complete within 30 days beyond Substantial Completion.

Complete with all "punch list" items identified with the establishment of substantial completion, sodding to have been planted, be final complete in all respects, and comply with additional final completion requirements as specified in the General and Supplementary Conditions.

1.06 CONTRACTOR'S USE OF PREMISES

- A. Limit the use of the OWNER's property to the areas indicated on the Drawings. Do not disturb the OWNER's or adjacent properties beyond the areas indicated on the Drawings. The CONTRACTOR shall:
 - 1. Allow for OWNER and ENGINEER occupancy.
 - 2. Keep driveways and entrances clear and clean. Do not use these areas for parking and/or material storage. Schedule deliveries to minimize on-site storage of materials and equipment. On-site storage of materials and equipment shall be limited to areas allowed by the City of Perry.
- B. Coordinate the use of the premises with the ENGINEER.
- C. CONTRACTOR shall assume full responsibility for security of all its and all of its subcontractors stored materials and equipment either on or off-site.
- D. Immediately move any stored items, which interfere with the operations of the OWNER and other contractors as directed by the OWNER.
- E. Obtain and pay for additional storage and/or work areas as needed to complete the Work required by this Contract.

1.07 OWNER OCCUPANCY

- A. The Owner will occupy the site during the entire period of construction.
- B. Cooperate with Owner to minimize conflict, and to facilitate Owner's operations.
- C. Schedule the Work to accommodate this requirement.

1.08 PROTECTION OF THE OWNER, AGENTS OF THE OWNER, WORKMEN AND THE PUBLIC

The Contractor and the Superintendent are requested to carefully read the Articles of the General Conditions relating to protection of the Owner, agents of the Owner, workmen, and the public, such as Insurance, Indemnity, Licenses, Permits, Compliance with Laws, Ordinances and Regulations, Safety Warning Signs and Barricades, Public Conveniences, Sanitary Provisions, etc. This request is made to stress the importance of safe prosecution of the work, and does not imply that the Contractor and his Superintendent should not be completely familiar with all Articles of the General Conditions and all other provisions of the Contract Documents. Under the terms and Conditions of the Contract, the Engineer shall not be required to act as Safety Engineer or Safety Supervisor since such responsibility remains solely with the Contractor, who, in the prosecution of his work, is bound by the requirements of "Safety and Health Regulations for Construction Occupational Safety and Health Administration, U.S. Government Department of Labor" and other authorities having jurisdiction. It is recommended the Contractor seek the advice of the Safety Inspector for his Insurance Carrier in regard to job safety, and that he observe all precautions and safety provisions as outlined in the "Manual of Accident Prevention in Construction" as published by the Associated General Contractors of America, to the extent that such provisions are not inconsistent with applicable laws or regulations.

PART 2 EQUIPMENT - (NOT USED)

PART 3 EXECUTION - (NOT USED)

PRICE AND PAYMENT PROCEDURES

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SUMMARY

This section contains procedures for measuring work performed by the contractor and subsequent payment of that work. It also contains descriptions related to measurement and payment.

1.02 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Descriptions
- B. Unit Price Payment Items
- C. Testing and Inspection Allowances
- D. Schedule of Values
- E. Application for Payment
- F. Change Procedures
- G. Defect Assessment

1.03 DESCRIPTIONS

- A. The Bid lists each item of the Project for which payment will be made. No payment will be made for any items other than those listed in the Bid.
- B. Required items of work and incidentals necessary for the satisfactory completion of the work which are not specifically listed in the Bid, and which are not specified in this Section to be measured or to be included in one of the items listed in the Bid, shall be considered as incidental to the work. All costs thereof, including Contractor's overhead costs and profit, shall be considered as included in the lump sum or unit prices bid for the various Bid items. The Contractor shall prepare the Bid accordingly.
- C. Work includes furnishing all plant, labor, equipment, tools and materials, which are not furnished by the Owner and performing all operations required to complete the work satisfactorily, in place, as specified and as indicated on the Drawings.
- D. Measurement of an item of work will be by the unit indicated in the Bid.

- E. Final payment quantities shall be determined from in-place quantities. The precision of final payment quantities shall match the precision shown for that item in the Bid.
- F. Payment will include all necessary and incidental related work not specified to be included in any other item of work listed in the Bid.
- G. Unless otherwise stated in individual sections of the Specifications or in the Bid, no separate payment will be made for any item of work, materials, parts, equipment, supplies or related items required to perform and complete the work. The costs for all such items required shall be included in the price bid for item of which it is a part.
- H. Payment of lump sum items shall be based upon progress of the Work as developed through proper updating of the construction Schedule. Estimates of percent complete established by the Engineer and Contractor shall be the basis by which earned value will be calculated and payments will be authorized.
- Payment of unit price items will be made by extending unit prices multiplied by quantities provided and then summing the extended prices to reflect actual work. Such price and payment shall constitute full compensation to the Contractor for furnishing all plant, labor, equipment, tools and materials not furnished by the Owner and for performing all operations required to provide to the Owner the entire Project, complete in place, as specified and as indicated on the Drawings.

1.04 UNIT PRICE ITEMS

Construction Items:

- General Conditions. General Conditions shall include but is not limited to; Payment &
 Performance Bonds, Builders Risk Insurance, Owners/Contractors Protective Insurance, Workers
 Comprehensive Insurance, Pre-Construction Photographs & Video, Project Mobilization, Permit
 Fees, Stake Out Surveying, Schedule of Values, Project Schedule, and Initiation of Shop
 Drawings.
 - A. Measurement: Measurement shall be by demonstration to Owner and Engineer that above items have been accomplished.
 - B. Payment: Payment shall be in full when measurement has been demonstrated less retainage as required by the contract documents. Amount may not exceed 6% of the total contract amount.
- 2. Clearing and Grubbing. Work performed under specification section 31 10 00, Site Clearing. This item will include all required tree removal within the limits of disturbance necessary to complete the proposed work in Bid Form.
 - A. Measurement: Shall be in accordance with the accepted Schedule of Values.
 - B. Payment shall be in full when clearing and grubbing has been completed.

- 3. 24-Inch Concrete Headwall, Precast or Cast-in-place (12-feet long, 4-feet tall). Shall include, but not limited to, all equipment, materials, and labor required to install headwall as shown in the plans.
 - A. Measurement: The actual number of 24-Inch Concrete Headwalls installed as directed by the Engineer.
 - B. Payment will be made based on multiplying the actual number of 24-Inch Concrete Headwalls installed times the unit price identified in the Bid Schedule.
- 4. Galvanized Coated 3' X 3' Gabion Baskets, w/ 4-Inch Bedding, and Non-woven Geotextile. 3' long cells are required within each basket. Shall include, but not limited to, all equipment, materials, and labor required to install Gabion baskets with a 4-inch GAB bedding and non-woven geotextile fabric. Material shall include, but not limited to, all wire, wire mesh (minimum size wire for mesh 0.12"), fasteners, stone, GAB, non-woven geotextile fabric, etc.
 - A. Measurement: The actual number of linear feet of gabion basket installation per Plans as quantified via load tickets and as directed by the Engineer as required for the construction as shown on the Contract Documents.
 - B. Payment will be made based on multiplying the actual number of linear feet of gabion baskets installed times the unit price identified in the Bid Schedule.
- 5. 4-Inch to 8-Inch Stone Fill for Gabion Baskets. (6-Inch surge from Vulcan Quarry is acceptable) Shall include, but not limited to, all equipment, materials, and labor required to install stone into the gabion baskets. The baskets shall be hand-packed in order to completely fill.
 - A. Measurement: The actual number of cubic yards of stone installed per Plans as quantified via load tickets and as directed by the Engineer as required for the construction as shown on the Plans.
 - B. Payment will be made based on multiplying the actual number of cubic yards of stone installed times the unit price identified in the Bid Schedule.
- 6. Grading Complete per the Contract Documents. Shall include, but not be limited to, excavating of all materials, including ditches, undesirable material (including removal and replacement), borrow (if required), hauling, forming embankments, constructing shoulders and subgrades, finishing, dressing, and disposing of undesirable or surplus material, including finished grading of the course disturbed area associated proposed culverts as outlined in the Plans. This shall also include minor relocations and adjustments to grade of utility services. In addition, all items shown on the design drawings not itemized within the Bid Form Schedule of Values shall also be considered part of this Grading Complete line item.
 - A. Measurement: Shall be in accordance with the accepted Schedule of Values.
 - B. Payment shall be in full when grading complete has been completed.

Water:

- 7. 8-Inch PVC Water Line Relocation/Adjustment (Assumed size and material, needs to be field verified by contractor). To include, but not limited to, two inserta valves, four 45° bends, all pipe, thrust blocks, and additional fittings needed to relocate/adjust approximately 30 LF of water line as show in the plans.
 - A. Measurement: Shall be in accordance with the accepted Schedule of Values.
 - B. Payment shall be in full when grading complete has been completed.

Erosion Control:

- 8. Construction Exit. Shall Include cleaning street of dust and mud as required by inspectors during construction process.
 - A. Measurement: The actual number of Construction Exits installed as directed by the Engineer.
 - B. Payment will be made based on multiplying the actual number of Construction Exits times the unit price identified in the Bid Schedule. Payment will include proper disposal of the Construction Exits by the Contractor at job completion.
- 9. Sediment Control Gate (Rt-Sg)
 - A. Measurement: The actual number of sediment control gates installed as directed by the engineer as required for the construction as shown on the plans.
 - B. Payment will be made based on multiplying the actual sediment control gates installed times the unit price identified in the Bid Schedule. Payment will include proper disposal of the sediment control gate by the Contractor at Job completion.
- 10. Stone Check Dam (Cd-S)
 - A. Measurement: The actual number of stone check dams installed as directed by the engineer as required for the construction as shown on the plans.
 - B. Payment will be made based on multiplying the actual number of stone check dams installed times the unit price identified in the Bid Schedule.
- 11. RECP-C Long Term Rolled Erosion Control Blanket w/ HECP Hydroseed (Ss)
 - A. Measurement: The actual number of square yards of erosion control blanket w/ hydroseed installed as directed by the Engineer as required for the construction as shown on the plans.
 - B. Payment will be made based on multiplying the actual number of square yards of erosion control blanket w/ hydroseed installed times the unit price identified in the Bid Schedule.

- 12. Long Term Rolled Erosion Control Blanket w/ HECP Hydroseed (CH-1)
 - A. Measurement: The actual number of square yards of erosion control blanket w/ hydroseed installed as directed by the Engineer as required for the construction as shown on the plans.
 - B. Payment will be made based on multiplying the actual number of square yards of erosion control blanket w/ hydroseed installed times the unit price identified in the Bid Schedule.
- 13. Disturbed Area Stabilization with (Ds1, Ds2, Ds3)
 - A. Measurement: The actual number of acres installed as directed by the Engineer as required for construction as show on the plans.
 - B. Payment will be made based on multiplying the actual number of acres installed times the unit price identified in the Bid Schedule.

Miscellaneous:

- 14. Utility Relocation Allowance will be an allowance used to pay for utility relocations necessary for completion of the proposed, not a part of an existing City Franchise Agreement, such as water, as directed by the Engineer during the project. This allowance shall <u>not</u> include minor relocations and adjustments to grade of utility services nor shall it include line item No. 7.
 - A. Measurement: Mutually agreed upon price via itemized summary used to pay for necessary utility relocations as directed by the Engineer.
 - B. Payment will be made at conclusion of work for proposed changes.
- 15. Engineer Directed Changes will be an allowance used to pay for changes made by the Engineer during the project.
 - A. Measurement: Mutually agreed upon price via itemized summary used to pay for changes made by the Owner/Engineer during the project.
 - B. Payment will be made at conclusion of work for proposed changes.

1.05 SCHEDULE OF VALUES

- A. Submit printed schedule on EJCDC C-620 or Contractor's standard form or electronic media printout will be considered for this use.
- B. Submit Schedule of Values within 20 days after date established in Notice to Proceed.

- C. Format: Use Table of Contents of this Project Manual. Identify each line item with number and title of major Specification Section. Also identify site mobilization, and bonds and insurance.
- D. Include in each line-item amount of allowances as specified in this Section. For unit cost allowances, identify quantities taken from Contract Documents multiplied by unit cost to achieve total for each item.
- E. Include within each line item, direct proportional amount of Contractor's overhead and profit.
- F. Revise schedule to list approved Change Orders with each Application for Payment.

1.06 EXISTING CONDITIONS PHOTOGRAPHS AND VIDEO

A. Contractor shall provide to Owner complete and detailed photographs and video of entire project site, indicating existing site conditions. Contractor to submit with Schedule of Values.

1.07 APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT

- A. For each item, provide a column for listing each of the following:
 - 1. Item Number.
 - 2. Description of work
 - 3. Scheduled Values.
 - 4. Previous Applications.
 - 5. Work in Place and Stored Material under this Application.
 - 6. Authorized Change Orders.
 - 7. Total Completed and Stored to Date of Application.
 - 8. Percentage of Completion.
 - 9. Balance to Finish.
 - 10. Retainage.
 - 11. Construction Photographs.

B. Submittal Procedures

1. Submit six (6) copies of each Application for Payment.

- 2. Submit and updated construction schedule with each application for Payment.
- 3. Payment Period: Submit on the 25th of each month.
- 4. Submit with transmittal letter as specified for Submittals in Section 01 33 00.
- 5. Submit waivers showing that suppliers and sub-contractors have been paid the amount due from the previous invoice.
- 6. The first application will be processed after owner agreement with the construction schedule.

C. Substantiating Data for Progress Payments

- 1. When the Engineer requires substantiating data, submit suitable information with a cover letter identifying:
 - a. Project.
 - b. Application for Payment number and date.
 - c. Detailed list of enclosures.
 - d. For stored products:
 - 1) Item number and identification as shown on the Application for Payment.
 - 2) Description of specific material
 - 3) Invoices for stored products
- 2. Submit one copy of data and cover letter for each copy of the Application for Payment.
- 3. Maintain an updated set of drawings to be used as record drawings in accordance with Section 01 70 00. Exhibit the updated record drawings for review by the Engineer.

1.08 CHANGE PROCEDURES

- A. Submittals: Submit name of individual who is authorized to receive change documents and is responsible for informing others in Contractor's employ or Subcontractors of changes to the Work.
- B. Carefully study and compare Contract Documents before proceeding with fabrication and installation of Work. Promptly advise Engineer of any error, inconsistency, omission, or apparent discrepancy.

- C. Requests for Interpretation (RFI) and Clarifications: Allot time in construction scheduling for liaison with Engineer; establish procedures for handling queries and clarifications.
 - 1. Use CSI Form 13.2A Request for Interpretation or Contractor's standard for requesting interpretations.
 - 2. Engineer may respond with a direct answer on the Request for Interpretation form.
- D. Engineer will advise of minor changes in the Work not involving adjustment to Contract Sum/Price or Contract Time by issuing supplemental instructions in Section 00 94 39 Field Order.
- Engineer may issue Notice of Change in Section 00 94 49 Work Change Directive including a detailed description of proposed change with supplementary or revised Drawings and Specifications, a change in Contract Time for executing the change.
 Contractor will prepare and submit estimate within < 7 > days.
- F. Contractor may propose changes by submitting a request for change to Engineer, describing proposed change and its full effect on the Work. Include a statement describing reason for the change and the effect on Contract Sum/Price and Contract Time with full documentation.
- G. Execution of Change Orders: Engineer will issue Change Orders for signatures of parties as provided in Conditions of the Contract in Section 00 94 63 Change Order.
- H. Correlation of Contractor Submittals:
 - Promptly revise Schedule of Values and Application for Payment forms to record each authorized Change Order as separate line item and adjust Contract Sum/Price.
 - 2. Promptly revise Progress Schedules to reflect change in Contract Time, revise sub schedules to adjust times for other items of Work affected by the change, and resubmit.
 - 3. Promptly enter changes in Record Documents.

1.09 DEFECT ASSESSMENT

- A. Replace the Work, or portions of the Work, not conforming to specified requirements.
- B. If, in the opinion of Engineer, it is not practical to remove and replace the Work, Engineer will direct appropriate remedy or adjust payment.
- C. The defective Work may remain, but unit sum/price will be adjusted to new sum/price at discretion of Engineer and Owner.

- D. Defective Work will be partially repaired according to instructions of Engineer and Owner, and unit sum/price will be adjusted to new sum/price at discretion of Engineer and Owner.
- E. Individual Specification Sections may modify these options or may identify specific formula or percentage sum/price reduction.
- F. Authority of Engineer and Owner to assess defects and identify payment adjustments is final
- G. Nonpayment for Rejected Products: Payment will not be made for rejected products for any of the following reasons:
 - 1. Products wasted or disposed of in a manner that is not acceptable.
 - 2. Products determined as unacceptable before or after placement.
 - 3. Products not completely unloaded from transporting vehicle.
 - 4. Products placed beyond lines and levels of the required Work.
 - 5. Products remaining on hand after completion of the Work.
 - 6. Loading, hauling, and disposing of rejected products.

PART 2 PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 EXECUTION (NOT USED)

END OF SECTION

ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.1 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Contractor coordination requirements.
- B. Preconstruction meeting.
- C. Progress meetings.
- D. Preinstallation meetings.
- E. Closeout meeting.
- F. Alteration procedures.

1.2 CONTRACTOR COORDINATION REQUIREMENTS

- A. Coordinate scheduling, submittals, and Work of various Sections of Project Manual to ensure efficient and orderly sequence of installation of interdependent construction elements.
- B. Verify that utility requirements and characteristics of operating equipment are compatible with building utilities. Coordinate Work of various Sections having interdependent responsibilities for installing, connecting to, and placing operating equipment in service.
- C. Coordinate space requirements, supports, and installation of mechanical and electrical Work indicated diagrammatically on Drawings. Follow routing shown for pipes, ducts, and conduit as closely as practical; place runs parallel with lines of building. Use spaces efficiently to maximize accessibility for other installations, for maintenance, and for repairs.
 - 1. Coordination Drawings: Prepare as required to coordinate all portions of Work. Show relationship and integration of different construction elements that require coordination during fabrication or installation to fit in space provided or to function as intended. Indicate locations where space is limited for installation and access and where sequencing and coordination of installations are important.
- D. Coordination Meetings: In addition to other meetings specified in this Section, hold coordination meetings with personnel and Subcontractors to ensure coordination of Work.
- E. Coordinate completion and clean-up of Work of separate Sections in preparation for Substantial Completion.

F. After Owner's occupancy of premises, coordinate access to Site for correction of defective Work and Work not complying with Contract Documents, to minimize disruption of Owner's activities.

1.3 PRECONSTRUCTION MEETING

- A. **Owner/Engineer** will schedule and preside over meeting after [**Notice of Award**].
- B. Attendance Required: Engineer, Owner, and Contractor.
- C. Minimum Agenda:
 - 1. [Execution of Owner-Contractor Agreement.]
 - 2. Submission of executed bonds and insurance certificates.
 - 3. Distribution of Contract Documents.
 - 4. Submission of [**list of Subcontractors,**] list of products, schedule of values, and Progress Schedule.
 - 5. Designation of personnel representing parties in Contract.
 - 6. Communication procedures.
 - 7. Procedures and processing of requests for interpretations, field decisions, submittals, substitutions, Applications for Payments, proposal request, Change Orders, and Contract closeout procedures.
 - 8. Scheduling.
 - 9. Critical Work sequencing.
 - 10. Scheduling activities of [Geotechnical Engineer, testing agencies, utilities verification, etc.].
- D. Owner will: Record minutes and email to participants within [ten] days after meeting.

1.4 PROGRESS MEETINGS

- A. Contractor to schedule and administer meetings throughout progress of the Work at [monthly] intervals.
- B. Attendance Required: Job superintendent, major [**Subcontractors**], suppliers, and [**Engineer**,] and [**Owner**,] as appropriate to agenda topics for each meeting.
- C. Minimum Agenda:
 - 1. Review minutes of previous meetings.
 - 2. Review of Work progress.
 - 3. Field observations, problems, and decisions.
 - 4. Identification of problems impeding planned progress.

- 5. Review of submittal schedule and status of submittals.
- 6. Review of off-Site fabrication and delivery schedules.
- 7. Maintenance of Progress Schedule.
- 8. Corrective measures to regain projected schedules.
- 9. Planned progress during succeeding work period.
- 10. Coordination of projected progress.
- 11. Maintenance of quality and work standards.
- 12. Effect of proposed changes on Progress Schedule and coordination.
- 13. Other business relating to Work.
- D. [Contractor:] Will record minutes and email to participants within [five] days after meeting.

1.5 PREINSTALLATION MEETINGS

- A. When required in individual Specification Sections, convene preinstallation meetings at [**Project Site**] before starting Work of specific Section.
- B. Require attendance of parties directly affecting, or affected by, Work of specific Section.
- C. Notify Engineer [four] days in advance of meeting date.
- D. Prepare agenda and preside over meeting:
 - 1. Review conditions of installation, preparation, and installation procedures.
 - 2. Review coordination with related Work.

1.6 CLOSEOUT MEETING

- A. Contractor will schedule Project closeout meeting with sufficient time to prepare for requesting Substantial Completion. Preside over meeting and be responsible for minutes.
- B. Attendance Required: [Contractor], [Subcontractors], [Engineer], [Owner], and others appropriate to agenda.
- C. Notify Engineer [five] days in advance of meeting date.
- D. Minimum Agenda:
 - 1. Start-up of facilities and systems.
 - 2. Operations and maintenance manuals.
 - 3. Testing, adjusting, and balancing.
 - 4. System demonstration and observation.

- 5. Operation and maintenance instructions for Owner's personnel.
- 6. Contractor's inspection of Work.
- 7. Contractor's preparation of an initial "punch list."
- 8. Procedure to request Engineer inspection to determine date of Substantial Completion.
- 9. Completion time for correcting deficiencies.
- 10. Inspections by authorities having jurisdiction.
- 11. Certificate of Occupancy and transfer of insurance responsibilities.
- 12. Partial release of retainage.
- 13. Final cleaning.
- 14. Preparation for final inspection.
- 15. Closeout Submittals:
 - a. Project record documents.
 - b. Operating and maintenance documents.
 - c. Operating and maintenance materials.
 - d. Affidavits.
- 16. Final Application for Payment.
- 17. Contractor's demobilization of Site.
- 18. Maintenance.
- E. Engineer to record minutes and email to participants within [five] days after meeting.

PART 2 PRODUCTS (Not Used)

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.1 ALTERATION PROCEDURES

- A. [**Designated areas of existing facilities**] will be occupied for normal operations during progress of construction. Cooperate with Owner in scheduling operations to minimize conflict and to permit continuous usage.
 - 1. Perform Work not to interfere with operations of occupied areas.
 - 2. Keep utility and service outages to a minimum and perform only after written approval of Owner.

- 3. Clean Owner-occupied areas daily. Clean spillage, mud, and heavy collection of dust in Owner-occupied areas immediately.
- B. Materials: As specified in product Sections; match existing products with new [and salvaged] products for patching and extending Work.
- C. Employ [**skilled and experienced**] installer to perform alteration and renovation Work.
- D. Cut, move, or remove items as necessary for access to alterations and renovation Work. Replace and restore at completion. Comply with Section 01 70 00 Execution and Closeout Requirements.
- E. Remove unsuitable material not marked for salvage, including rotted wood, corroded metals, and deteriorated masonry and concrete. Replace materials as specified for finished Work.
- F. Remove debris and abandoned items from area and from concealed spaces.
- G. Prepare surface and remove surface finishes to permit installation of new Work and finishes.
- H. Remove, cut, and patch Work to minimize damage and to permit restoring products and finishes to [original] [or] [specified] condition.
- I. Where new Work abuts or aligns with existing Work, provide smooth and even transition. Patch Work to match existing adjacent Work in texture and appearance.
- J. When finished surfaces are cut so that smooth transition with new Work is not possible, terminate existing surface along straight line at natural line of division and submit recommendation to Engineer for review.
- K. Finish surfaces as specified in individual product Sections.

END OF SECTION

SUBMITTAL PROCEDURES

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SCOPE

General procedures and requirements for submittals during the course of construction.

1.02 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Submittal Procedures.
- B. Construction progress schedules.
- C. Shop drawings.
- D. Product data.
- E. Samples
- F. Miscellaneous Submittals.
- G. Construction photographs / videos.
- H. Resubmission requirements.

1.03 SUBMITTAL PROCEDURES

- A. Sequentially number the transmittal forms. Resubmittals to have original number with an alphabetic suffix. (Example 1-A, 1-B, etc.)
- B. Identify Project, Contractor, Subcontractor or supplier, pertinent Drawing sheet and detail number, and specification Section number, as appropriate.
- C. Apply Contractor's stamp, signed or initialed certifying that review, verification of products required, field dimensions, adjacent construction work, and coordination of information, is in accordance with the requirements of the work and Contract Documents.
- D. Submit submittal to Engineer.
- E. Identify variations from Contract Documents and Product or system limitations which may be detrimental to successful performance of the completed work.
- F. Make all submittals far enough in advance of scheduled dates for installation to provide all required time for reviews, for securing necessary approvals, for possible revision and resubmittal, and for placing orders and securing delivery.
- G. In scheduling, allow sufficient time for the Engineer's review following the receipt of the submittal.

1.04 CONSTRUCTION PROGRESS SCHEDULES

- A. Submit 3 copies of initial progress schedule within 20 days after date of Owner-Contractor Agreement established in Notice to Proceed for Engineer review.
- B. Revise and resubmit as required.
- C. Submit revised schedules with each Application for Payment, identifying changes since previous version.
- D. Show complete sequence of construction by activity, identifying work of separate stages and other logically grouped activities. Indicate the early and late start, early and late finish, float dates, and duration.
- E. Indicate estimated percentage of completion for each item of work at each submission.
- F. Indicate submittal dates required for shop drawings, product data, samples, and product delivery including those furnished by Owner and under Allowances.

1.05 SHOP DRAWINGS

- A. Shop drawings shall include technical data, drawings, diagrams, procedure and methodology, performance curves, schedules, templates, patterns, test reports, calculations, instructions, measurements and similar information as applicable to the specific item for which the shop drawing is prepared. In addition to the number of copies required for return by the contractor submit 5 additional copies for Engineer.
- B Drawings shall be presented in a clear and thorough manner. Details shall be identified by reference to sheet and detail, specification section, schedule or room numbers shown on the Contract Drawings.

C. Engineer Review

- 1. Allow a minimum of 30 days for the Engineer's initial processing of each submittal requiring review and response, except allow longer periods where Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples processing must be delayed for coordination with subsequent submittals. The Engineer will advise the Contractor promptly when it is determined that a submittal being processed must be delayed for coordination. Allow a minimum of two weeks for reprocessing each submittal. Advise the Engineer on each submittal as to whether processing time is critical to progress of the Work, and therefore the Work would be expedited if processing time could be foreshortened.
- 2. Acceptable submittals will be marked "**No Exceptions Taken**". A minimum of five copies will be retained by the Engineer for Engineer's and the Owner's use and the remaining copies will be returned to the Contractor.
- 3. Submittals requiring minor corrections before the product is acceptable will be marked "Make Corrections Noted", The Contractor may order, fabricate and ship the items included in the submittals, provided the indicated

- corrections are made. Drawings must be resubmitted for review and marked "No Exceptions Taken" prior to installation or use of products,
- 4. Submittals marked "**Revise and Resubmit**" must be revised to reflect required changes and the initial review procedure repeated.
- 5. The "**Rejected**" notation is used to indicate products which are not Acceptable. Upon return of a submittal so marked, the Contractor shall repeat the initial review procedure utilizing acceptable products.
- 6. Only two copies of items marked "Revise and Resubmit" and "Rejected" will be reviewed and marked. One copy will be retained by the Engineer and the other copy with all remaining unmarked copies will be returned to the Contractor for resubmittal.
- D. No work or products shall be installed without a drawing or submittal bearing the "No Exceptions Taken" notation. The Contractor shall maintain at the job site a complete set of shop drawings bearing the Engineer's stamp.
- E Substitutions: In the event the Contractor obtains the Engineer's approval for the use of products other than those which are listed first in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall, at the Contractor's own expense and using methods approved by the Engineer, make any changes to structures, piping and electrical work that may be necessary to accommodate these products.
- Use of the "No Exceptions Taken" notation on shop drawings or other submittals is general and shall not relieve the Contractor of the responsibility of furnishing products of the proper dimension, size, quality, quantity, materials and all performance characteristics, to efficiently perform the requirements and intent of the Contract Documents. The Engineer's review shall not relieve the Contractor of responsibility for errors of any kind on the shop drawings. Review is intended only to assure conformance with the design concept of the Project and compliance with the information given in the Contract Documents. The Contractor is responsible for dimensions to be confirmed and correlated at the job site. The Contractor is also responsible for information that pertains solely to the fabrication processes or to the technique of construction and for the coordination of the work of all trades.

1.06 PRODUCT DATA

- A. Product data includes standard printed information on materials, products and systems, not specially prepared for this Project, other than the designation of selections from among available choices printed therein.
- B. Collect required data into one submittal for each unit of work or system, and mark each copy to show which choices and options are applicable to the Project. Include manufacturer's standard printed recommendations for application and use, compliance with standards, application of labels and seals, notation of field measurements which have been checked and special coordination requirements.

1.07 SAMPLES

- A. Samples include both fabricated and un-fabricated physical examples of materials, products and units of work, both as complete units and as smaller portions of units of work, either for limited visual inspection or, where indicated, for more detailed testing and analysis.
- B. Provide units identical with final condition of proposed materials or products for the work. Include "range" samples, not less than three units, where unavoidable variations must be expected, and describe or identify variations between units of each set. Provide full set of optional samples where the Engineer's selection is required. Prepare samples to match the Engineer's sample where indicated. Include information with each sample to show generic description, source or product name and manufacturer, limitations and compliance with standards. Samples are submitted for review and confirmation of color, pattern, texture and "kind" by the Engineer. Engineer will note "test" samples, except as otherwise indicated, for other requirements, which are the exclusive responsibility of the Contractor.

1.08 MISCELLANEOUS SUBMITTALS

Miscellaneous submittals related directly to the Work (non-administrative) include warranties, maintenance agreements, workmanship bonds, project photographs, survey data and reports, physical work records, statements of applicability, quality testing and certifying reports, copies of industry standards, record drawings, field measurement data, operating and maintenance materials, overrun stock, security/protection/safety keys and similar information, devices and materials applicable to the Work but not processed as shop drawings, product data or samples.

1.09 PROGRESS PHOTOGRAPHS / VIDEOS

- A. Provide photographs and video of entire site depicting existing conditions as indicated in 01 20 00 Price and Payment Procedures.
- B. Provide photographs of site and construction throughout progress of Work produced by an experienced photographer, acceptable to the Engineer and Owner.
- C. Construction Photographs: Take construction photographs prior to each application for payment of the work accomplished for that payment period and as follows:
 - 1. Site clearing.
 - 2. Excavations and installed underground utilities.
 - 3. Foundations/subgrade.
 - 4. Infrastructure installations.
 - 5. Paving
 - 6. Erosion control measures.
 - 7. Equipment installations.

- 8. Final completion.
- D. Aerial Photographs [Not Required]
 - 1. Provide aerial photographs from four cardinal views at project completion.
 - 2. Provide correct exposure and focus, high resolution and sharpness, maximum depth of field, and minimum distortion.
- E. Deliver photographs with each Application for Payment with transmittal letter specified in this Section. Final completion photographs are to be delivered with request for final payment. Delivery of photographs may be in printed or digital format. If printed, each photograph shall be a minimum of 4-inches by 6-inches in dimension and shall be labeled to describe the photograph subject, location and date. If provided digitally, the photographs shall be provided in JPEG format and accompanied with a PDF format document describing each photograph with subject, location and date.
- F. Deliver prints with each Application for Payment with transmittal letter specified in this Section. Final prints are to be delivered with request for final payment.

1.10 RESUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS

- A. Shop Drawings
 - 1. Revise initial drawings as required and resubmit as specified for initial submittal, with the resubmittal number shown.
 - 2. Indicate on drawings all changes which have been made other than those requested by the Engineer.
- B. Project Data and Samples: Resubmit new data and samples as specified for initial submittal with the resubmittal number shown.

PART 2 PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 EXECUTION (NOT USED)

END OF SECTION

QUALITY REQUIREMENTS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Regulatory requirements.
- B. Quality control.
- C. Tolerances.
- D. References standards.
- E. Labeling.
- F. Mock-up requirements.
- G. Manufacturer's field services.

1.02 REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

- A. Permits: Unless otherwise noted in the bidding documents or specification section 01 10 00 Summary, the Contractor shall, without additional expense to the Owner, be responsible for obtaining all necessary licenses and permits, including building permits, etc.
- B. The contractor shall take proper safety and health precautions to protect the Work, the workers, the public and the property of others.
- C. The Contractor shall also be responsible for all materials delivered and work performed until completion and acceptance of the Work.

1.03 QUALITY CONTROL

- A. Monitor quality control over suppliers, manufacturers, products, services, Site conditions, and workmanship, to produce Work of specified quality.
- B. Comply with specified standards as the minimum quality for the Work except where more stringent tolerances, codes, or specified requirements indicate higher standards or more precise workmanship.
- C. Perform Work using persons qualified to produce required and specified quality.
- D. Products, materials, and equipment may be subject to inspection by Engineer [and Owner] at place of manufacture or fabrication. Such inspections shall not relieve Contractor of complying with requirements of Contract Documents.
- E. Supervise performance of Work in such manner and by such means to ensure that

Work, whether completed or in progress, will not be subjected to harmful, dangerous, damaging, or otherwise deleterious exposure during construction period.

1.04 TOLERANCES

- A. Monitor fabrication and installation tolerance control of products to produce acceptable Work. Do not permit tolerances to accumulate.
- B. Comply with manufacturers' recommended tolerances and tolerance requirements in reference standards. When such tolerances conflict with Contract Documents, request clarification from Engineer before proceeding.
- C. Adjust products to appropriate dimensions; position before securing products in place.

1.05 REFERENCE STANDARDS

- A. Whenever reference is made to conforming to the standards of any technical society, organization, body, code or standard, it shall be construed to mean the latest standard, code, specification or tentative specification adopted and published at the time of advertisement for Bids. This shall include the furnishing of materials, testing of materials, fabrication and installation practices. In those cases where the Contractor's quality standards establish more stringent quality requirements, the more stringent requirement shall prevail. Such standards are made a part hereof to the extent which is indicated or intended.
- B. The inclusion of an organization under one category does not preclude that organizations' standards from applying to another category
- C. In addition, all work shall comply with the applicable requirements of local codes, utilities and other authorities having jurisdiction.
- D. All material and equipment, for which a UL standard, and AGA or NSF approval or and ASME requirements is established, shall be so approved and labeled or stamped. The label or stamp shall be conspicuous and not covered, painted, or otherwise obscured from visual inspection.
- E. The standards which apply to this Project are not necessarily restricted to those organizations which are listed below.

F. STANDARD ORGANIZATIONS

1. Piping and Valves

ACPA	American Concrete Pipe Association
ANSI	American National Standards Institute
API	American Petroleum Institute
ASME	American Society of Mechanical Engineers
AWWA	American Water Works Association
CISPI	Cast Iron Soil Pipe Institute

DIPRA Ductile Iron Pipe Research Association

FCI Fluid Controls Institute

MSS Manufacturers Standardization Society NCWPB National Certified Pipe Welding Bureau

NCPI National Clay Pipe Institute NSF National Sanitation Foundation

PPI Plastic Pipe Institute Uni-Bell PVC Pipe Association

2. Materials

AASHTO American Association of State Highway and Transportation

Officials

ANSI American National Standards Institute
ASTM American Society for Testing and Materials

3. Painting and Surface Preparation

NACE National Association of Corrosion Engineers

SSPC Steel Structures Painting Council

4. Electrical and Instrumentation

AEIC Association of Edison Illuminating Companies

AIEE American Institute of Electrical Engineers

EIA Electronic Industries Association ICEA Insulated Cable Engineers Association

IEEE Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineers

IES Illuminating Engineering Society
IPC Institute of Printed Circuits

IPCEA Insulated Power Cable Engineers Association

ISA Instrument Society of America

NEC National Electric Code

NEMA National Electrical Manufacturers Association

NFPA National Fire Protection Association

TIA Telecommunications Industries Association

UL Underwriter's Laboratories

VRCI Variable Resistive Components Institute IEC International Electrotechnical Commission

IESNA Illuminating Engineering Society of North America

LPI Lighting Protection Institute

NECA National Electrical Contractors Association NETA International Electrical Testing Association

5. Aluminum

AA Aluminum Association

AAMA American Architectural Manufacturers Association

6. Steel and Concrete

ACI American Concrete Institute

AISC American Institute of Steel Construction, Inc.

AISI American Iron and Steel Institute
CRSI Concrete Reinforcing Steel Institute
NRMA National Ready-Mix Association
PCA Portland Cement Association
PCI Prestressed Concrete Institute

7. Welding

ASME American Society of Mechanical Engineers

AWS American Welding Society

8. Government and Technical Organizations

AIA American Institute of Architects
APHA American Public Health Association
APWA American Public Works Association
ASA American Standards Association

ASAE American Society of Agricultural Engineers

ASCE American Society of Civil Engineers
ASQC American Society of Quality Control
ASSE American Society of Sanitary Engineers

CFR Code of Federal Regulations

CSI Construction Specifications Institute
EDA Economic Development Administration
EPA Environmental Protection Agency
FCC Federal Communications Commission

FmHA Farmers Home Administration

FS Federal Specifications

IAI International Association of Identification
 ISEA Industrial Safety Equipment Association
 ISO International Organization for Standardization

ITE Institute of Traffic Engineers

NBFU National Board of Fire Underwriters NFPA National Fluid Power Association NBS National Bureau of Standards

NISO National Information Standards Organization
OSHA Occupational Safety and Health Administration

SI Salt Institute

SPI The Society of the Plastics Industry, Inc.
USDC United States Department of Commerce

WEF Water Environment Federation

9. General Building Construction

AHA American Hardboard Association

AHAM Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers
AITC American Institute of Timber Construction

APA American Parquet Association, Inc. APA American Plywood Association BHMA Builders Hardware Manufacturers Association

BIFMA Business and Institutional Furniture Manufacturers

Association

DHI Door and Hardware Institute

FM Factory Mutual Fire Insurance Company

HPMA Hardwood Plywood Manufacturers Association

HTI Hand Tools Institute

IME Institute of Makers of Explosives

ISNATA International Staple, Nail and Tool Association

ISDSI Insulated Steel Door Systems Institute
IWS Insect Screening Weavers Association
MBMA Metal Building Manufacturers Association

NAAMM National Association of Architectural Metal Manufacturers

NAGDM National Association of Garage Door Manufacturers NCCLS National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards

NFPA National Fire Protection Association NFSA National Fertilizer Solutions Association NKCA National Kitchen Cabinet Association

NWMA National Woodwork Manufacturers Association NWWDA National Wood Window and Door Association

RMA Rubber Manufacturers Association SBC SBCCI Standard Building Code

SDI Steel Door Institute

SIA Scaffold Industry Association
SMA Screen Manufacturers Association
SPRI Single-Ply Roofing Institute
TCA Tile Council of America
UBC Uniform Building Code

10. Roadways

AREA American Railway Engineering Association

DOT Department of Transportation

SSRBC Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction,

Georgia Department of Transportation

11. Plumbing

AGA American Gas Association
NSF National Sanitation Foundation
PDI Plumbing Drainage Institute
SPC SBCCI Standard Plumbing Code

12. Refrigeration, Heating, and Air Conditioning

AMCA Air Movement and Control Association

ARI American Refrigeration Institute

ASHRAE American Society of Heating, Refrigeration, and Air

Conditioning Engineers

ASME American Society of Mechanical Engineers

CGA Compressed Gas Association
CTI Cooling Tower Institute
HEI Heat Exchange Institute

IIAR International Institute of Ammonia Refrigeration

NB National Board of Boilers and Pressure Vessel Inspectors

PFMA Power Fan Manufacturers Association SAE Society of Automotive Engineers

SMACNA Sheet Metal and Air Conditioning Contractors National

Association

SMC SBCCI Standard Mechanical Code

TEMA Tubular Exchangers Manufacturers Association

13. Equipment

AFBMA Anti-Friction Bearing Manufacturers Association, Inc.

AGMA American Gear Manufacturers Association

ALI Automotive Lift Institute

CEMA Conveyor Equipment Manufacturers Association
CMAA Crane Manufacturers Association of America
DEMA Diesel Engine Manufacturers Association
MMA Monorail Manufacturers Association
OPEI Outdoor Power Equipment Institute, Inc.

PTI Power Tool Institute, Inc.
RIA Robotic Industries Association

SAMA Scientific Apparatus Makers Association

1.06 LABELING

- A. Attach label from agency approved by authorities having jurisdiction for products, assemblies, and systems required to be labeled by [applicable code].
- B. Label Information: Include manufacturer's or fabricator's identification, approved agency identification, and the following information, as applicable, on each label:
 - 1. Model number.
 - 2. Serial number.
 - 3. Performance characteristics.
- C. Manufacturer's Nameplates, Trademarks, Logos, and Other Identifying Marks on Products: Not allowed on surfaces exposed to view in public areas, interior or exterior.

1.07 MOCK-UP REQUIREMENTS

- A. Tests will be performed under provisions identified in this Section and identified in individual product Specification Sections.
- B. Assemble and erect specified or indicated items with specified or indicated

- attachment and anchorage devices, flashings, seals, and finishes.
- C. Accepted mockups shall be comparison standard for remaining Work.
- D. Where mockup has been accepted by Engineer and is specified in product Specification Sections to be removed, remove mockup and clear area when directed to do so by Architect/Engineer.

1.08 MANUFACTURER'S FIELD SERVICES

- A. When specified in individual Specification Sections, require material or product suppliers or manufacturers to provide qualified staff personnel to observe Site conditions, conditions of surfaces and installation, quality of workmanship, startup of equipment, testing, adjusting, and balancing of equipment, commissioning, etc. as applicable, and to initiate instructions when necessary.
- B. Report observations and Site decisions or instructions given to applicators or installers that are supplemental or contrary to manufacturer's written instructions.

PART 2 PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 EXECUTION (NOT USED)

END OF SECTION

PRODUCT REQUIREMENTS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

These general equipment stipulations apply, in general, to all equipment and piping. They supplement the detailed equipment Specifications, but in case of conflict, the detailed equipment Specifications shall govern.

1.02 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Basic Product Requirements
- B. Product Delivery Requirements
- C. Product Storage and Handling Requirements
- D. Adaptation and Location of Equipment.
- E. Patent Royalties.
- F. Workmanship and Materials
- G. Lubrication and Lubrication Fittings.
- H. Safety Guards.
- I. Equipment Bases.
- J. Seal Water Requirements.
- K. Grouting Equipment Bases.
- L. Control and Instrumentation Components.
- M. Alignment of Motors and Equipment.
- N. Welding and Brazing.
- O. Special Tools and Accessories.
- P. Spare Parts.
- Q. Shop Priming.
- R. Galvanizing.
- S. Installation Check.

1.03 BASIC PRODUCT REQUIREMENTS

A. Provided Products

- 1. Provide products that comply with the Contract Documents which are undamaged and, unless otherwise indicated, new at the time of installation complete with accessories, trim, finish, safety guards and other devices and details needed for a complete installation and the intended use and effect.
- B. Identification of Piping and Equipment
 - 1. General: All equipment and piping specified to be painted shall be color coded as specified in Section 09 90 00 of these Specifications.
 - 2. Equipment: All major items of equipment shall have an identification nameplate and dataplate.
 - a. Nameplates: The Contractor shall submit a suitable list of all items of major equipment to the Engineer, who will furnish the Contractor with an identification numbering system. The nameplates shall be of Type 304 stainless steel, No.6 finish, and not less than No. 16 gauge with indented stamped lettering. Nameplates shall be attached to equipment bases in easily visible and accessible locations. Nameplates shall be fastened in a permanent manner, arranged not to damage the equipment, with not less than four stainless steel fasteners.
 - b. Dataplates: Each item of mechanical equipment shall be provided with a stainless steel dataplate. Separate dataplates shall be provided for motors, engines and driven equipment. Dataplates shall include the following minimum information:
 - 1. Name of equipment (from equipment specifications)
 - 2 Manufacturer
 - 3. Model designation
 - 4. Serial number
 - 5. Rated horsepower
 - 6. Service factor
 - 7. Electrical and insulation data
 - 8 Speed (rpm)
 - 9. Capacity and head (discharge pressure)
 - 10 Net weight
 - 11. Lettering shall be upper case, block style in size and spacing to suit the nameplate. The identification nameplates shall not be painted.
 - 3. Valves: All valves shall be identified with a round brass disc, approximately 1-1/2-inches in diameter and not less than No. 14 gauge, coated with a clear lacquer. Discs shall be fastened to valves in a

permanent manner; attachment by chain to handwheels or other operators shall not be acceptable. Discs shall be stamped using indented numerals and/or letters with a valve number corresponding to its identification number in the valve schedule to be included in the operation and maintenance manual.

- 4. All pushbutton stations, switches, motor controllers, transmitters and other control equipment shall have identification nameplates of the engraved, laminated plastic type affixed to or adjacent to the switch, pushbutton station, etc.
- 5. All manufacturer's nameplates, identification nameplates and ASME code plates located on areas of equipment to be insulated shall be removed and reattached on uninsulated areas in a manner acceptable to the Engineer.

C. SAFETY SIGNS

- 1. Permanent safety signs shall be furnished and installed on all mechanical and electrical equipment where a hazard may exist. Signs shall be made in accordance with current OSHA requirements and shall be suitable for exterior use. Mounting details shall be in accordance with manufacturer's recommendations; location in accordance with governing agency regulations. Fasteners shall be stainless steel.
- 2. Safety signs shall be Safety signs shall be approximately 7-inches high by 10-inches wide, colored yellow 2 and black on minimum 0.080-inch aluminum stock.
- 3. Safety signs shall be furnished and will include, but not be limited to, the following:
 - a. The following sign shall be affixed to all equipment which may be started ~ automatically from a remote location:

CAUTION

THIS EQUIPMENT MAY START AUTOMATICALLY BY REMOTE CONTROL

b. The following sign shall be affixed to all electrical equipment or instrument panels, as applicable:

CAUTION - SHOCK HAZARD

THIS EQUIPMENT IS POWERED BY MULTIPLE SOURCES

CONTACTS MAY BE ENERGIZED AFTER LOCAL POWER IS DISCONNECTED

c. The following sign shall- be provided at all areas where oxygen or flammable materials are stored or used (colored red, white and black):

DANGER

NO SMOKING, MATCHES, OR OPEN FLAMES

d. The following sign shall be affixed to all entrance hatches or access manways on covered tanks and vessels:

CAUTION

OXYGEN DEFICIENT OR TOXIC CONDITIONS MAY EXIST FOLLOW PRESCRIBED PROCEDURES BEFORE ENTRY

e. The following sign shall be provided at all compressor, vent, equipment blowoffs, blower room, etc.

CAUTION

NOISE AREA MAY CAUSE HEARING LOSS USE PROPER EAR PROTECTION

f. The following sign shall be provided in chemical feed rooms or storage areas.

CAUTION

CHEMICAL STORAGE AREA

1.04 PRODUCT DELIVERY REQUIRMENTS

- A. Arrange deliveries of Products in accordance with construction schedules, coordinate to avoid conflict with work and conditions at the site.
 - 1. Deliver products to the site in undamaged condition, in manufacturer's original sealed containers or packaging, with identifying labels intact and legible, complete with instructions for handling, storing, unpacking, protecting, and installing.
 - 2. Schedule delivery to reduce long term on-site storage prior to installation and/or operation. Under no circumstances shall equipment be delivered to the site more than one month prior to installation without written authorization from the Engineer.
 - 3. Coordinate delivery with installation to ensure minimum holding time for items that are hazardous, flammable, easily damaged, or sensitive to deterioration.
 - 4. Products delivered to the site shall be unloaded and placed in a manner that will not hamper the Contractor's normal construction operations, nor those of other contractors and subcontractors. Unloading shall not interfere with normal traffic flow.
 - 5. Immediately on delivery, inspect shipments to assure compliance with requirements of Contract Documents and approved submittals, and that products are properly protected and undamaged.
- B. Provide equipment and personnel to handle products by methods to prevent

soiling or damage to products or packaging.

1.05 PRODUCT STORAGE AND HANDLING REQUIREMENTS

- A. Store and protect products in accordance with manufacturers' Instructions.
- B. Store with seals and labels intact and legible.
- C. Store sensitive products in weather tight, climate controlled, enclosures in an environment favorable to product.
- D. For exterior storage of fabricated products, place on sloped supports above ground.
- E. Cover products subject to deterioration with impervious sheet covering. Provide ventilation to prevent condensation and degradation of products.
- F. Provide equipment and personnel to store products by methods to prevent soiling, disfigurement, or damage.
- G. Arrange storage of products to permit access for inspection. Periodically inspect to verify products are undamaged and are maintained in acceptable condition.

1.06 ADAPTATION AND LOCATION OF EQUIPMENT

No responsibility for alteration of a planned structure to accommodate other types of equipment will be assumed by the Owner. Equipment, which requires alteration of a structure or structures, will be considered only if the Contractor assumes all responsibility for making and coordinating all necessary alterations. Any and all such alterations, and associated engineering, drafting, detailing, and/or coordinating, shall be done at no additional cost to the Owner.

1.07 PATENT ROYALTIES

All royalties and fees for patents covering processes, materials, articles, apparatus, devices, or equipment shall be included in the Contract Prices Bid by the Contractor.

1.08 WORKMANSHIP AND MATERIALS

- A. All equipment shall be designed, fabricated and assembled in accordance with the most modern engineering and shop practice. Individual parts shall be manufactured to standard sizes and gauges so that repair parts, furnished at any time, can be installed in the field. Like parts of duplicate units shall be interchangeable. Equipment shall be new and shall not have been in service at any time prior to delivery, except as required by tests.
- B. Materials shall be suitable for service conditions. Iron castings shall be tough, close grained, gray iron free from blowholes, flaws or excessive shrinkage and shall conform to ASTM A 48, Class 30 minimum. Plugging of defective castings

- shall not be permitted. Castings shall be annealed to remove internal stresses prior to machining and shall have the mark number and heat number cast on them.
- C. Except where otherwise specified, structural and miscellaneous fabricated steel used in items of equipment shall conform to the Standards of the American Institute of Steel Construction. All structural members shall be considered as subject to shock or vibratory loads.
- D. All replaceable or expendable elements such as filters, screens, drive belts, fuses, lamps, etc., shall be easily accessible and replaceable without need of dismantling equipment or piping. All such items shall be of a standard type that is readily available from multiple suppliers.
- E. Threaded openings for drains or vents in pump volutes, compressor or fan scrolls, air receivers, and heat exchangers which are plugged during normal operation shall be provided with stainless steel plugs.

1.09 LUBRICATION AND LUBRICATION FITTINGS

- A. Equipment shall be adequately lubricated by systems which require attention no more frequently than weekly during continuous operation. Lubrication systems shall not require attention during start-up or shutdown and shall not waste lubricants.
- B. Lubricants of the type recommended by the equipment manufacturer shall be provided in sufficient quantity by the Contractor to fill all lubricant reservoirs and to replace all lubricants consumed during testing, start-up and initial operation. The Contractor shall provide to the Owner prior to Substantial Completion sufficient quantities of lubricants to lubricate all equipment for one year of normal service.
- C. Where special run-in oil or storage lubricants are used, they shall be flushed out and replaced with the required service lubricant by the Manufacturer's Technical Representative.
- D. Tag each piece of equipment with a cloth tag showing proper type lubricant, period between lubrications, date of lubrication and worker's initials. Have space for 10 lubrication notations.
- E. Except for rotating shaft couplings, all lubrication fittings shall be brought to the outside of all equipment so that they are readily accessible from the outside without the necessity of removing covers, plates, housings or guards. Fittings shall be accessible from safe, permanent platforms or walk areas. Fittings shall be of the bull-neck, check type for use with a portable high pressure grease gun. Connection from a remote fitting to the point of use shall be with minimum 3/16-inch Type 316 stainless steel tubing, securely mounted parallel to equipment lines and protected where exposed to damage.

1.10 SAFETY GUARDS

All belt or chain drives, fan blades, couplings and other moving or rotating parts shall be covered on all sides by a safety guard. Safety guards shall be fabricated from 16 USS gauge or heavier galvanized or aluminum-clad sheet steel or 1/2-inch mesh galvanized expanded metal. Each guard shall be designed for easy installation and removal. All supports and accessories shall be provided for each guard. Supports and accessories, including bolts, shall be galvanized. All safety guards in outdoor locations shall be designed to prevent the entrance of rain and dripping water. All safety guards shall comply with OSHA General Industry Standards, Part 1910, Subpart O, Machinery and Machine Guarding. Provide tachometer access on shaft ends.

1.11 EQUIPMENT BASES

- A. Where shown on the Drawings, equipment shall be installed on a raised, reinforced concrete base. The base shall be a minimum of 4-inches in height and shall extend beyond the equipment baseplate a minimum of 2-inches on all sides.
- B. Unless otherwise specified, a cast iron or welded steel baseplate shall be provided for each pump, fan and any other item of equipment which is to be installed on a concrete base. Each unit and drive assembly shall be supported on a single baseplate of neat design. Baseplates shall have pads for anchoring all components and adequate grout holes. Baseplates for pumps shall have a raised lip all around and a threaded drain connection. Baseplates shall be anchored to the concrete base with suitable anchor bolts and the space beneath filled with grout as specified in the grouting section.
- C. On direct coupled equipment, motor and driven equipment shall be doweled to a common base with a minimum of two dowels each.

1.12 SEAL WATER REQUIREMENTS

Where seal water is provided for flushing of mechanical shaft sleeves or sealing of shaft seal packing, provide equipment with drip pans fitted with drains to contain the leakage and convey it to the nearest suitable floor drain. Route drain piping to minimize obstructions to the movement of personnel.

1.13 GROUTING EQUIPMENT BASES

After equipment installation and alignment is complete, grout all baseplates and pads full with non-shrink grout as specified in these Specifications.

1.14 CONTROL AND INSTRUMENTATION COMPONENTS

Control and instrumentation equipment furnished by the mechanical equipment manufacturer shall conform to the applicable requirements of Division 26.

1.15 ALIGNMENT OF MOTORS AND EQUIPMENT

- A. In every case where a drive motor is connected to a driven piece of equipment by a flexible coupling, the coupling halves shall be disconnected and the alignment between the motor and the equipment checked and corrected. Machinery shall first be properly aligned and leveled by means of steel wedges and shims or jacking screws near anchor bolts. Anchor bolts shall be tightened against the shims on wedges or jacking screws and the equipment shall again be checked for level and alignment before placing grout. Wedges shall not be placed between machined surfaces.
- B. In general, checking and correcting the alignment shall follow the procedures set up in the Standards of the Hydraulic Institute, Instructions for Installation, Operation, and Maintenance of Centrifugal Pumps. Equipment shall be properly leveled and brought into angular and parallel alignment.
- C. Equipment and piping shall be installed in such a way that no strain is transmitted to the equipment by piping systems or adjacent equipment.

1.16 WELDING AND BRAZING

- A. All welds shall be sound and free from embedded scale and slag. All butt welds shall be continuous, and where exposed to view, shall be ground smooth. All continuous welds shall be gas and liquid-tight. Welds in piping shall have full penetration and shall be smooth on the inside of the pipe. Intermittent welds shall have an effective length of at least 2-inches and shall be spaced not more than 6-inches apart.
- B. All welding of steel and aluminum, including materials, welding techniques, general safety practices, appearance and quality of welds, and methods of correcting defective work, shall conform to the latest requirements of AWS Specifications. Structural steel welding shall conform to the requirements of the AWS Structural Welding Code. The general recommendations and requirements of the AWS Structural Welding Code shall also apply to welded aluminum structures. The welding process and welding operators shall meet qualification tests and welding performance tests in accordance with the latest provisions of ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel Code, Section IX, Welding and Brazing Qualifications. Welding process and qualification procedures for welding of pipe shall conform to the latest requirements of ANSI B31.1, Section 327, Welding, and Section 328, Brazing and Soldering. The Contractor shall provide a Certified Welding Inspector (CWI), on-site, whenever welding operations are taking place.
- C. Field welding practices shall conform to OSHA construction standards, Part 1926, Subpart J, Welding and Cutting. Shop welding practices shall conform to OSHA General Industry Standards, Part 1910, Subpart Q, Welding, Cutting, and Brazing.
- D. Welding electrodes for structural steel shall conform to the standard recommendations of the AISC. Welding electrodes for stainless steel shall conform to applicable AWS Specifications and shall be as recommended by "Welded Austenitic Chromium-Nickel Stainless Steels, Techniques and

Properties", published by the International Nickel Company, New York, New York. Welding electrodes for aluminum shall conform to applicable AWS Specifications.

- E. Each welder and welding operator must identify all welds with welder's assigned symbol.
- F. Welders performing unsatisfactory work shall be removed from the welding process.
- G. The Owner may inspect any weld by radiographic or other means. Welds not in accordance with the requirements specified herein shall be repaired or replaced at the Contractor's expense. Excessive porosity, nonmetallic inclusions, lack of fusion, incomplete penetration and cracking shall constitute grounds for rejection of welds.

1.17 SPECIAL TOOLS AND ACCESSORIES

Equipment requiring periodic repair and adjustment shall be furnished complete with all special tools, instruments and accessories required for proper maintenance. Special tools and accessories shall include those tools and accessories not normally available in an industrial hardware or mill supply house. Equipment requiring special devices for lifting or handling shall be furnished complete with those devices.

1.18 SPARE PARTS

- A. Provide all spare parts as specified in the technical specifications and as recommended by the manufacturer.
- B. Provide transportation, handling, storage, and protection of spare parts as required.
- C. Tag spare parts and their containers to clearly identify them. Cross-reference all spare parts with their applicable specification section under which they are being provided.
- D. All spare parts are to be interchangeable with and identical to the original parts incorporated into the Work.
- E. Spare parts shall be identified and scheduled in Operation and Maintenance data.
- F. An itemized and complete list of spare parts provided pursuant to the Contract Documents shall be prepared and submitted to the Engineer for review. The list shall be indexed sequentially by specification section.
- G. Spare parts shall not be used or incorporated into the Work, and shall be provided to the Owner prior to substantial completion, when directed by the Engineer.
- H. Contractor shall submit copies of the completed and signed Spare Parts Transfer Forms to the Engineer.

1.19 SHOP PRIMING

All equipment shall receive shop painting as specified in the technical specifications.

1.20 GALVANIZING

- A. All galvanizing shall be done by the hot-dip process after fabrication in conformity with requirements of ASTM A 123, A 153, A 384 and A 385. Articles to be galvanized shall be pickled before galvanizing.
- B. Where galvanized bolts are specified or required by the Drawings, cadmium or zinc plated bolts will be acceptable provided cadmium plating conforms to ASTM A 165, Type NS and zinc plating conforms to ASTM A 164, Type GS.
- C. Areas of galvanizing damaged by welding or burning or otherwise damaged shall be thoroughly stripped and cleaned and recoated with zinc to the required thickness by the hot dip process.
- D. Galvanized articles shall be free from uncoated spots, blisters, flux, black spots, dross, projections and other defects not consistent with acceptable galvanizing practice.
- E. Zinc and cadmium plating shall be subject to visual examination to determine uniformity of coating. The Engineer may require that the coating uniformity be tested in accordance with ASTM A 239.

1.21 INSTALLATION CHECK

- A. An experienced, competent and authorized manufacturer's technical representative shall visit the site of the Work and inspect, check and adjust, if necessary, and approve the equipment installation. In each case, the manufacturer's technical representative shall be present when the equipment is placed in operation and shall revisit the jobsite as often as necessary until all operations troubleshooting is complete and the equipment installation and operation are satisfactory in the opinion of the Engineer.
- B. During this initial inspection, each piece of equipment is to be evaluated for non-dynamic, non-operational concerns. The focus shall be to confirm the readiness of a unit or system for initial operation of the equipment in a normal duty cycle for a period of 24 hours. To the maximum extent practical, the full capabilities of each piece of equipment, including remote operation, instrumented control schemes, alternate modes of operation, and emergency operation, should be available prior to physical checkout in order to facilitate and expedite the transition from physical checkout to functional testing.
 - C. Each manufacturer's technical representative shall perform the installation check and furnish to the Owner, through the Engineer, a Certificate of Proper Installation (CPI). The CPI is to be submitted in writing, on either the form

provided by the Engineer or on the Manufacturer's letterhead, certifying the following:

- 1. The equipment has been properly installed and lubricated.
- 2. The equipment is in accurate alignment.
- 3. The equipment is free from any undue stress imposed by connecting piping or anchor bolts.
- 4. External wire terminations have been made correctly.
- 5. All safety devices to protect workers are properly installed.
- 6. All devices designed and intended to protect the equipment from damage due to system or component failure or problem (e.g., overload sensors, overcurrent sensors, vibration sensors) are properly installed, connected, and functioning.
- 7. The equipment is ready to be operated under full load conditions without violation of or voiding any aspect or detail of the manufacturer's warranty.

The Work described under these Specifications will not be accepted as complete until satisfactory installation certifications have been submitted in accordance with the requirements of this Section.

- C. The Contractor shall properly coordinate the visits by the various manufacturer's technical representatives, particularly when a specific equipment item's operation is dependent upon the operation of other equipment.
- D. All costs for this work shall be included in the Contractor's bid price, and no separate payment will be made.

PART 2 PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 EXECUTION (NOT USED)

END OF SECTION

EXECUTION AND CLOSEOUT REQUIREMENTS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.1 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Field engineering.
- B. Closeout procedures.
- C. Starting of systems.
- D. Project record documents.
- E. Operation and maintenance data.
- F. Spare parts and maintenance products.
- G. Product warranties and product bonds.
- H. Examination.
- I. Execution.
- J. Cutting and patching.
- K. Protecting installed construction.
- L. Final cleaning.

1.2 FIELD ENGINEERING

- A. Construction staking shall include all of the surveying work required to layout the work and control the location of the finished Project. The Contractor shall have the full responsibility for constructing the Project to the correct horizontal and vertical alignment, as shown on the Drawings, as specified, or as ordered by the Owner. The Contractor shall assume all costs associated with rectifying work constructed in the wrong location.
- B. Owner will locate and Contractor shall protect survey control and reference points. Promptly notify Engineer of discrepancies discovered.
- C. Control datum for survey is established by Owner-provided survey indicated on Drawings.
- D. Prior to beginning Work, verify and establish elevations of existing facilities to ensure that new Work will meet existing elevations in smooth and level alignment except where specifically detailed or indicated otherwise.
- E. Verify setbacks and easements; confirm Drawing dimensions and elevations.

- F. Provide field engineering services. Establish elevations, lines, and levels using recognized engineering survey practices.
- G. Maintain complete and accurate log of control and survey Work as Work progresses.
- H. Protect survey control points prior to starting Site Work; preserve permanent reference points during construction.
- I. Promptly report to Engineer loss or destruction of reference point or relocation required because of changes in grades or other reasons.
- J. Replace dislocated survey control points based on original survey control. Make no changes without prior written notice to Engineer.

1.3 CLOSEOUT PROCEDURES

- A. Prerequisites to Substantial Completion: Complete following items before requesting Certification of Substantial Completion, either for entire Work or for portions of Work:
 - 1. Submit maintenance manuals, Project record documents, digital images of construction photographs, videos made during construction, and other similar final record data in compliance with this Section.
 - 2. Complete facility startup, testing, adjusting, balancing of systems and equipment, demonstrations, and instructions to Owner's operating and maintenance personnel as specified in compliance with this Section.
 - 3. Conduct inspection to establish basis for request that Work is substantially complete. Create comprehensive list (initial punch list) indicating items to be completed or corrected, value of incomplete or nonconforming Work, reason for being incomplete, and date of anticipated completion for each item. Include copy of list with request for Certificate of Substantial Completion.
 - 4. Obtain and submit releases enabling Owner's full, unrestricted use of Project and access to services and utilities. Include certificate of occupancy, operating certificates, and similar releases from authorities having jurisdiction and utility companies.
 - 5. Deliver tools, spare parts, extra stocks of material, and similar physical items to Owner.
 - 6. Discontinue or change over and remove temporary facilities and services from Project Site, along with construction tools, mockups, and similar elements.
 - 7. Perform final cleaning according to this Section.
- B. Substantial Completion Inspection:
 - 1. When Contractor considers Work to be substantially complete, submit to Engineer and/or Owner:

- a. Written certificate that Work, or designated portion, is substantially complete.
- b. List of items to be completed or corrected (initial punch list).
- 2. Within [seven] days after receipt of request for Substantial Completion, Engineer and/or Owner will make inspection to determine whether Work or designated portion is substantially complete.
- 3. Should Engineer and/or Owner determine that Work is not substantially complete:
 - a. Engineer and/or Owner will promptly notify Contractor in writing, stating reasons for its opinion.
 - b. Contractor shall remedy deficiencies in Work and send second written request for Substantial Completion to Engineer and/or Owner.
 - c. Engineer and/or Owner will reinspect Work.
 - d. Redo and Inspection of Deficient Work: Repeated until Work passes Engineer's and/or Owner's inspection.
- 4. When Engineer and/or Owner finds that Work is substantially complete, Engineer and/or Owner will:
 - a. Prepare Certificate of Substantial Completion on specification section 00 65 16, accompanied by Contractor's list of items to be completed or corrected as verified and amended by Engineer and Owner (final punch list).
 - b. Submit Certificate to Owner and Contractor for their written acceptance of responsibilities assigned to them in Certificate.
- 5. After Work is substantially complete, Contractor shall:
 - a. Allow Owner occupancy of Project under provisions stated in Certificate of Substantial Completion.
 - b. Complete Work listed for completion or correction within time period stipulated.
- 6. Owner will occupy all of the Work as specified in Section 01 10 00 Summary.
- C. Prerequisites for Final Completion: Complete following items before requesting final acceptance and final payment.
 - 1. When Contractor considers Work to be complete, submit written certification that:
 - a. Contract Documents have been reviewed.
 - b. Work has been examined for compliance with Contract Documents.

- c. Work has been completed according to Contract Documents.
- d. Work is completed and ready for final inspection.

2. Submittals: Submit following:

- a. Final punch list indicating all items have been completed or corrected.
- b. Final payment request with final releases and supporting documentation not previously submitted and accepted. Include certificates of insurance for products and completed operations where required.
- c. Specified warranties, workmanship/maintenance bonds, maintenance agreements, and other similar documents.
- d. Accounting statement for final changes to Contract Sum.
- e. Operating and maintenance data, instructions to Owner's personnel: according to this Section.
- f. Spare Parts and Maintenance Materials: according to this Section.
- g. Record Drawings with annotations made by the contractor during construction of the work, and including As-Built coordinates and elevations on all structures, pipe inverts and key locations as required by Engineer.
- h. The Contractor shall furnish the Owner with certified copies of paid invoices (or other proof) indicating Georgia Sales Tax paid on items for which the Owner is eligible for tax refunds. Tax refunded will be to the Owner, with none credited to the Contractor.
- i. Retainage will not be paid until the above documents have been submitted and are satisfactory and acceptable to the Owner.
- j. Contractor's affidavit of payment of debts and claims per Section 00 65 19.
- k. Contractor affidavit of release of liens per Section 00 65 20.
- 1. Consent of surety to final payment per Section 00 65 21.
- 3. Perform final cleaning for Contractor-soiled areas according to this Section.

D. Final Completion Inspection:

- 1. Within [seven] days after receipt of request for final inspection, Engineer and/or Owner will make inspection to determine whether Work or designated portion is complete.
- 2. Should Engineer and/or Owner consider Work to be incomplete or defective:

- a. Engineer and/or Owner will promptly notify Contractor in writing, listing incomplete or defective Work.
- b. Contractor shall remedy stated deficiencies and send second written request to Engineer and/or Owner that Work is complete.
- c. Engineer and/or Owner will reinspect Work.
- d. Redo and Inspection of Deficient Work: Repeated until Work passes [Engineer's]/[Owner's] inspection.
- 3. Final Payment: Upon Final Completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, the Contractor will be authorized to prepare a final estimate of the work and a Final Payment request. The Engineer will review the final payment request and will, if all items are satisfactory, recommend approval to the Owner. The Engineer will submit to the Owner the final estimate and the final payment request, together with a certification stating that the work is complete and in substantial conformance with these Contract Documents. The entire balance found to be due the Contractor including any retainages, except such sums as may be lawfully retained by the Owner, will be paid to the Contractor.

1.4 STARTING OF SYSTEMS

- A. Coordinate schedule for startup of various equipment and systems.
- B. Notify Engineer and/or Owner [seven] days prior to startup of each item.
- C. Verify that each piece of equipment or system has been checked for proper lubrication, drive rotation, belt tension, control sequence, and for conditions which may cause damage.
- D. Verify that tests, meter readings, and electrical characteristics agree with those required by equipment or system manufacturer.
- E. Verify that wiring and support components for equipment are complete and tested.
- F. Execute startup under supervision of manufacturer's representative or Contractors' personnel according to manufacturer's instructions.
- G. When specified in individual Specification Sections, require manufacturer to provide authorized representative who will be present at Site to inspect, check, and approve equipment or system installation prior to startup and will supervise placing equipment or system in operation.
- H. Submit a written report according to Section 01 33 00 Submittal Procedures that equipment or system has been properly installed and is functioning correctly.

1.5 PROJECT RECORD DOCUMENTS

- A. Maintain on Site one set of the following record documents; record actual revisions to the Work:
 - 1. Drawings.
 - 2. Specifications.
 - 3. Addenda.
 - 4. Change Orders and other modifications to the Contract.
 - 5. Reviewed Shop Drawings, product data, and Samples.
 - 6. Manufacturer's instruction for assembly, installation, and adjusting.
- B. Ensure entries are complete and accurate, enabling future reference by Owner.
- C. Store record documents separate from documents used for construction.
- D. Record information concurrent with construction progress, not less than weekly.
- E. Specifications: Legibly mark and record, at each product Section, description of actual products installed, including the following:
 - 1. Manufacturer's name and product model and number.
 - 2. Product substitutions or alternates used.
 - 3. Changes made by Addenda and modifications.
- F. Record Drawings: Legibly mark each item to record actual construction as follows:
 - 1. Include Contract modifications such as Addenda, supplementary instructions, change directives, field orders, minor changes in the Work, and change orders.
 - 2. Include locations of concealed elements of the Work.
 - 3. Identify depth of buried utility lines and provide dimensions showing distances from permanent facility components that are parallel to utilities.
 - 4. Identify and locate existing buried or concealed items encountered during Project.
 - 5. Field changes of dimension and detail.
 - 6. Details not on original Drawings.
- G. Submit marked-up paper copy documents to Engineer with claim for final Application for Payment.
- H. Submit PDF electronic files of marked-up documents to Engineer with claim for final Application for Payment.

1.6 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE DATA

A. Submit in PDF composite electronic indexed file.

- B. Submit data bound in 8-1/2 x 11-inch text pages, three D side ring binders with durable covers.
- C. Prepare binder cover with printed title "OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE INSTRUCTIONS," title of Project, and subject matter of binder when multiple binders are required.
- D. Internally subdivide binder contents with permanent page dividers, logically organized as described below; with tab titling clearly printed under reinforced laminated plastic tabs.
- E. Drawings: Provide with reinforced punched binder tab. Bind in with text; fold larger drawings to size of text pages.
- F. Contents: Prepare table of contents for each volume, with each product or system description identified, typed on white paper, in three parts as follows:
 - 1. Part 1: Directory, listing names, addresses, and telephone numbers of Engineer, Contractor, Subcontractors, and major equipment suppliers.
 - 2. Part 2: Operation and maintenance instructions, arranged by Specification Section. For each category, identify names, addresses, and telephone numbers of Subcontractors and suppliers. Include the following:
 - a. Significant design criteria.
 - b. List of equipment.
 - c. Parts list for each component.
 - d. Operating instructions.
 - e. Maintenance instructions for equipment and systems.
 - f. Maintenance instructions for finishes, including recommended cleaning methods and materials, and special precautions identifying detrimental agents.
 - g. Safety precautions to be taken when operating and maintaining or working near equipment.
 - 3. Part 3: Project documents and certificates, including the following:
 - a. Shop Drawings and product data.
 - b. Air and water balance reports.
 - c. Certificates.
 - d. Copies of warranties and bonds.

1.7 SPARE PARTS AND MAINTENANCE PRODUCTS

A. Furnish spare parts, maintenance, and extra products in quantities specified in individual Specification Sections.

1.8 PRODUCT WARRANTIES AND PRODUCT BONDS

- A. Obtain warranties and bonds executed by responsible Subcontractors, suppliers, and manufacturers within ten days after completion of applicable item of Work.
- B. Execute and assemble transferable warranty documents and bonds from Subcontractors, suppliers, and manufacturers.
- C. Verify documents are in proper form, contain full information, and are notarized.
- D. Co-execute submittals when required.
- E. Include table of contents and assemble in three D side ring binder with durable cover.
- F. Submit prior to final Application for Payment.
- G. Time of Submittals:
 - 1. For equipment or component parts of equipment put into service during construction with Owner's permission, submit documents within [ten] days after acceptance.
 - 2. Make other submittals within [ten] days after date of Substantial Completion, prior to final Application for Payment.
 - 3. For items of Work for which acceptance is delayed beyond Substantial Completion, submit within [ten] days after acceptance, listing date of acceptance as beginning of warranty or bond period.
- H. The Contractor shall warrant and guarantee for a period of one year from the date of Substantial Completion of the Work, that the completed Work is free from all defects due to faulty products or workmanship. The Contractor shall promptly make such corrections as may be necessary by reason of such defects. The Owner will give notice of observed defects with reasonable promptness. In the event that the Contractor should fail to make such repairs, adjustments or other work that may be made necessary by such defects, the Owner may do so and charge the Contractor the cost thereby incurred. The Performance Bond shall remain in full force and effect throughout the warranty period.
- I. The Contractor shall not be obligated to make replacements which become necessary because of ordinary wear and tear, or as a result of gross negligence operation or maintenance, or as a result of improper work or damage by another Contractor or the Owner, or to perform any work which is normally performed by a maintenance crew during operation.
- J. The Contractor shall, at Contractor's own expense, furnish all labor, materials, tools and equipment required and shall make such repairs and removals and shall perform such work or reconstruction as may be made necessary by any structural or functional defect or failure resulting from neglect, faulty workmanship or faulty materials, in any part of the Work performed by the Contractor. Such repair shall also include refilling of trenches, excavations or embankments which show settlement or erosion after backfilling or placement.

- K. Except as noted on the Drawings or as specified, all structures such as embankments and fences shall be returned to their original condition prior to the completion of the Contract. Any and all damage to any facility not designated for removal, resulting from the Contractor's operations, shall be promptly repaired by the Contractor at no cost to the Owner.
- L. The Contractor shall be responsible for all road and entrance reconstruction and repairs and maintenance of same for a period of one year from the date of Substantial Completion. In the event the repairs and maintenance are not made immediately and it becomes necessary for the owner of the road to make such repairs, the Contractor shall reimburse the owner of the road for the cost of such repairs.
- M. In the event the Contractor fails to proceed to remedy the defects upon notification within 15 days of the date of such notice, the Owner reserves the right to cause the required materials to be procured and the work to be done, and to hold the Contractor and the sureties on Contractor's bond liable for the cost and expense thereof.
- N. Notice to Contractor for repairs and reconstruction will be made in the form of a registered letter addressed to the Contractor at Contractor's home office.
- O. Neither the foregoing paragraphs nor any provision in the Contract Documents, nor any special guarantee time limit implies any limitation of the Contractor's liability within the law of the place of construction.

PART 2 PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.1 EXAMINATION

- A. Verify that existing Site conditions and substrate surfaces are acceptable for subsequent Work. Beginning new Work means acceptance of existing conditions.
- B. Verify that existing substrate is capable of structural support or attachment of new Work being applied or attached.
- C. Examine and verify specific conditions described in individual Specification Sections.
- D. Verify that utility services are available with correct characteristics and in correct locations.

3.2 EXECUTION

- A. Comply with manufacturer's installation instructions, performing each step in sequence. Maintain one set of manufacturer's installation instructions at Project Site during installation and until completion of construction.
- B. When manufacturer's installation instructions conflict with Contract Documents, request clarification from Engineer before proceeding.
- C. Verify that field measurements are as indicated on approved Shop Drawings or as instructed by manufacturer.
- D. Secure Work true to line and level and within specified tolerances, or if not specified, industry-recognized tolerances.
- E. Climatic Conditions and Project Status: Install each unit of Work under conditions to ensure best possible results in coordination with entire Project.
 - 1. Isolate each unit of Work from incompatible Work as necessary to prevent deterioration.
 - 2. Coordinate enclosure of Work with required inspections and tests to minimize necessity of uncovering Work for those purposes.
- F. Adjust operating products and equipment to ensure smooth and unhindered operation.
- G. Clean and perform maintenance on installed Work as frequently as necessary through remainder of construction period. Lubricate operable components as recommended by manufacturer.

3.4 CUTTING AND PATCHING

- A. Employ skilled installers to perform cutting and patching.
- B. Execute cutting, fitting, and patching including excavation and fill to complete Work and to:
 - 1. Fit the several parts together, to integrate with other Work.
 - 2. Uncover Work to install or correct ill-timed Work.
 - 3. Remove and replace defective and nonconforming Work.
 - 4. Remove samples of installed Work for testing.
 - 5. Provide openings in elements of Work for penetrations of mechanical and electrical Work.
- C. Execute Work by methods to avoid damage to other Work and to provide proper surfaces to receive patching and finishing.
- D. Cut masonry and concrete materials using masonry saw or core drill.
- E. Restore Work with new products according to requirements of Contract Documents.

- F. Fit Work tight to pipes, sleeves, ducts, conduits, and other penetrations through surfaces.
- G. Refinish surfaces to match adjacent finishes. For continuous surfaces, refinish to nearest intersection; for assembly, refinish entire unit.
- H. Identify hazardous substances or conditions exposed during the Work to Engineer for decision or remedy.

3.5 PROTECTING INSTALLED CONSTRUCTION

- A. Protect installed Work and provide special protection where specified in individual Specification Sections.
- B. Provide temporary and removable protection for installed products. Control activity in immediate Work area to prevent damage.
- C. Prohibit traffic or storage upon waterproofed or roofed surfaces. When traffic or activity is necessary, obtain recommendations for protection from waterproofing or roofing material manufacturer.
- D. Prohibit traffic from landscaped areas.

3.6 FINAL CLEANING

- A. In addition to the standards described in this Section, comply with all pertinent requirements of governmental agencies having Jurisdiction.
- B. The Contractor shall handle hazardous waste and materials in accordance with applicable local, state, and federal regulations. Waste shall also be disposed of in approved landfills as applicable.
- C. Burning or burying rubbish and waste materials on the site shall not be allowed,
- D. Disposal of hazardous wastes or materials into sanitary or storm sewers shall not be allowed.
- E. Unless otherwise shown on the Drawings, specified or directed, the Contractor shall legally dispose off the site all surplus materials and equipment from demolition and shall provide suitable off-site disposal site, or utilize a site designated by the Owner.
- F. At least each week, and more often if necessary, completely remove all scrap, debris and waste material from the job site.
- G. Hose down all paved areas on the site and all public sidewalks directly adjacent to the site; rake clean other surfaces of the grounds. Completely remove all resultant debris.
- H. Cleanup all evidence of temporary construction facilities, haul roads, work areas, structures, foundations of temporary structures, stockpiles of excess or waste materials, or any other evidence of construction, as directed by the Engineer.

- E. Any landscape feature damaged by the Contractor shall be restored as nearly as possible to its original condition at the Contractor's expense. The Engineer will decide what method of restoration shall be used.
- J. Should the Owner occupy the Work or any portion thereof prior to its completion by the Contractor and acceptance by the Owner, responsibilities for interim and final cleaning of the occupied spaces shall remain with the Contractor.

END OF SECTION

DEMOLITION

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 RELATED DOCUMENTS

Construction Plans and general provisions of Contract, including General and Supplementary Conditions and Division 1 Specification sections, apply to work of this section.

1.02 DESCRIPTION OF WORK

- A. Extent of demolition work is indicated on the Construction Plans.
- B. Demolition includes all operations necessary for demolition of the existing structures, foundations and utilities as shown.
- C. Remove debris, rubbish and other materials resulting from demolition operations from the site. Transport and legally dispose of materials off site.

1.03 SUBMITTALS

- A. Schedule: Submit schedule indicating proposed methods and sequence of operations for demolition work to Owner's Representative for review prior to commencement of work. Include coordination for shut-off, capping, and continuation of utility services as required, together with details for dust and noise control protection. The procedures shall provide for safe conduct of the work, careful removal and disposition of materials specified to be salvaged, protection of property which is to remain undisturbed, coordination with other work in progress, and timely disconnection of utility services. The submittal shall include a detailed description of the methods and equipment to be used for each operation, and the sequence of operation.
- B. Provide detailed sequence of demolition and removal work to ensure uninterrupted progress of Owner's on-site operations.
- C. Coordinate with Owner's continuing occupation of portions of existing building/site, with Owner's partial occupancy of completed new addition/site.

1.04 JOB CONDITIONS

A. Occupancy: Owner will be continuously occupying areas of the building/site immediately adjacent to areas of selective demolition. Conduct selective demolition

- work in manner that will minimize need for disruption of Owner's normal operations. Provide minimum of 72 hours advance notice to Owner of demolition activities which will severely impact Owner's normal operations.
- B. Condition of Structures: Owner assumes no responsibility for actual condition of items or structures to be demolished.
- C. Conditions existing at time of commencement of contract will be maintained by Owner insofar as practicable. However, variations within structure may occur by Owner's removal and salvage operations prior to start of selective demolition work.
- D. Partial Demolition and Removal: Items indicated to be removed but of salvable value to Contractor may be removed from structure as work progresses. Transport salvaged items from site as they are removed.
- E. Storage or sale of removed items on site will not be permitted.
- F. Protection: Provide temporary barricades and other forms of protection as required to protect Owner's personnel and general public from injury due to selective demolition work.
- G. Provide protective measures as required to provide free and safe passage of Owner's personnel and general public to and from occupied portions of building/site.
- H. Erect temporary covered passageways as required by authorities having jurisdiction.
- Provide interior and exterior shoring, bracing, or support to prevent movement, settlement, or collapse of structure or element to be demolished, and adjacent facilities or work to remain.
- J. Protect from damage existing finish work that is to remain in place and becomes exposed during demolition operations.
- K. Protect floors with suitable coverings when necessary.
- Construct temporary insulated solid dustproof partitions where required to separate areas where noisy or extensive dirt or dust operations are performed. Equip partitions with dustproof doors and security locks if required.
- M. Provide temporary weather protection during interval between demolition and removal of existing construction on exterior surfaces, and installation of new construction to insure that no water leakage or damage occurs to structure or interior areas of existing building.
- N. Remove protections at completion of work.
- O. Damages: Promptly repair damages caused to adjacent facilities by demolition work at no cost to Owner.

1013.2304 DEMOLITION

- P. Traffic: Conduct selective demolition operations and debris removal in a manner to ensure minimum interference with roads, streets, walks, and other adjacent occupied or used facilities.
- Q. Do not close, block or otherwise obstruct streets, walks or other occupied or used facilities without written permission from authorities having jurisdiction. Provide alternate routes around closed or obstructed traffic ways if required by governing regulations.
- R. Explosives: Use of explosives will not be permitted unless otherwise noted.
- S. Utility Services: Maintain existing utilities indicated to remain, keep in service, and protect against damage during demolition operations.
- T. Do not interrupt existing utilities serving occupied or used facilities, except when authorized in writing by authorities having jurisdiction. Provide temporary services during interruptions to existing utilities, as acceptable to governing authorities.
- U. Environmental Controls: Use water sprinkling, temporary enclosures, and other suitable methods to limit dust and dirt rising and scattering in air to lowest practical level.
 Comply with governing regulations pertaining to environmental protection.
- V. Do not use water when it may create hazardous or objectionable conditions such as ice, flooding, and pollution.
- W. NESHAP Compliance: The Contractor is responsible for being aware of and complying with the National Emission Standard for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP) Section 112 of the Federal Clean Air Act regarding asbestos.

PART 2 PRODUCTS (NOT APPLICABLE)

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 INSPECTION

Prior to commencement of demolition work, inspect areas in which work will be performed. Photograph existing conditions to structure surfaces, equipment or to surrounding properties which could be misconstrued as damage resulting from selective demolition work; file with Owner's Representative prior to starting work.

3.02 PREPARATION

A. Provide interior and exterior shoring, bracing, or support to prevent movement, settlement or collapse of structures to be demolished and adjacent facilities to remain.

Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation

02 41 00-3

1013.2304 DEMOLITION

- B. Cease operations and notify the Owner's Representative immediately if safety of structure appears to be endangered. Take precautions to support structure until determination is made for continuing operations.
- Cover and protect furniture, equipment and fixtures to remain from soiling or damage when demolition work is performed in rooms or areas from which such item have not been removed.
- D. Erect and maintain dust-proof partitions and closures as required to prevent spread of dust or fumes to occupied portions of the building.
- E. Where selective demolition occurs immediately adjacent to occupied portions of the building, construct dust-proof partitions of minimum 4" studs, 5/8" drywall (joints taped) on occupied side 1/2" fire-retardant plywood on demolition side, and fill partition cavity with sound-deadening insulation.
- F. Provide weatherproof closures for exterior openings resulting from demolition work.
- G. Locate, identify, stub off and disconnect utility services that are not indicated to remain.
- H. Provide by-pass connections as necessary to maintain continuity of service to occupied areas of building. Provide minimum of 72 hours advance notice to Owner if shut-down of service is necessary during change-over.

3.03 DEMOLITION

- A. Perform selective demolition work in a systematic manner. Use such methods as required to complete work indicated on the Plans in accordance with demolition schedule and governing regulations.
- B. Demolish concrete and masonry in small sections. Cut concrete and masonry at junctures with construction to remain using power-driven masonry saw or hand tools; do not use power-driven impact tools.
- C. Locate demolition equipment throughout structure and promptly remove debris to avoid imposing excessive loads on supporting walls, floors or framing.
- D. All existing structures shall be completely removed where denoted on the Plans. All foundations and slabs shall be broken up and removed from the site. Sidewalks, curbs, gutters, streets and street light bases shall be completely removed. It is not anticipated that piling will be encountered under any of the structures to be removed; however, where piling are encountered they shall be removed to a point three feet below existing ground.
- E. When approved in writing by the Engineer and when authorized by the proper authorities, the Contractor may dispose of such debris by burning on the Project site provided all requirements set forth by the governing authorities are met. The authorization to burn shall not relieve the Contractor in any way from damages which

1013.2304 DEMOLITION

- result from the Contractor's operations. On easements through private property, the Contractor shall not burn on the site unless written consent is also secured from the property owner, in addition to authorization from the proper authorities.
- F. Demolish foundation walls to a depth of not less than 12" below existing ground surface. Demolish and remove below-grade wood or metal construction. Break up below-grade concrete slabs.
- G. For interior slabs on grade, use removal methods that will not crack or structurally disturb adjacent slabs or partitions. Use power saw where possible.
- H. Completely fill below-grade areas and voids resulting from demolition work. Provide fill consisting of approved earth, gravel or sand, free of trash and debris, stones over 6" diameter, roots or other organic matter.
- If anticipated mechanical, electrical or structural elements which conflict with intended function or design are encountered, investigate and measure both nature and extent of the conflict. Submit report to Owner's Representative in written, accurate detail. Pending receipt of directive form Owner's Representative rearrange selective demolition schedule as necessary to continue overall job progress without delay.

3.04 SALVAGE MATERIALS

- A. Salvage Items: Where indicated on the Plans as "Salvage-Deliver to Owner", carefully remove indicated items, clean, store and turn over to Owner and obtain receipt.
- B. Historic artifacts, including cornerstones and their contents, commemorative plaques and tables, antiques, and other articles of historic significance remain the property of the Owner. Notify Owner's Representative if such items are encountered and obtain acceptance regarding method of removal and salvage for Owner.

3.05 DISPOSAL OF DEMOLISHED MATERIALS

- A. Remove debris, rubbish and other materials resulting from demolition operations from the site. Transport and legally dispose of materials off site.
- B. If hazardous materials are encountered during demolition operations, comply with applicable regulations, laws, and ordinances concerning removal, handling and protection against exposure or environmental pollution.
 - 1. Burning of removed materials is not permitted on project site.

3.06 DEMOLITION AND REPAIR

Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation

A. Upon completion of demolition work, remove tools, equipment and demolished materials from site. Remove protections and leave interior areas broom clean.

....

B. Repair demolition performed in excess of that required. Return structures and surfaces to remain to condition existing prior to commencement of selective demolition work.

Repair adjacent construction or surfaces soiled or damaged by selective demolition work.

END OF SECTION

SITE CLEARING

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SCOPE

This Section describes materials and equipment to be utilized and requirements for their use in preparing the work site for construction. The Contractor shall furnish all materials, equipment and labor necessary to complete the work. The contractor is required to contact the **Utilities Protection Center, Inc.** in the **State of Georgia call 811** prior to any excavation or construction.

1.02 REFERENCES

Georgia Manual for Erosion and Sedimentation Control, current edition. .

1.03 QUALITY ASSURANCE

- A. Comply with applicable codes, ordinances, rules, regulations and laws of local, municipal, state or federal authorities having jurisdiction.
- B. Layout work shall be done under supervision of a Civil Engineer or Registered Land Surveyor, registered in Georgia.
- C. Transit and measuring devices shall be calibrated to layout site and construction work.

1.04 SITE CONDITIONS

The area to be cleared and grubbed is shown schematically on the Drawings or specified below.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 EQUIPMENT

The Contractor shall furnish equipment of the type normally used in clearing and grubbing operations including, but not limited to, tractors, dozers, chippers, trucks, loaders, and root rakes.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 PREPARATION

- A. Protect and maintain all benchmarks, monuments and reference points. Replace if disturbed or destroyed. If found at variance with the Drawings, notify the Engineer before proceeding with layout work.
- B. Install erosion and sedimentation control structures as shown on the Drawings.
- C. Protect all trees, vegetation, structures, utilities, and buildings not designated for removal for demolition.

3.02 TOPSOIL STRIPPING AND STOCKPILING

- A. Topsoil (top 6"-8" of material) is to be removed from all cleared and grubbed areas and placed in designated stockpile areas as shown on the plans. The Contractor shall then grade the entire work site to conform, in general, to the finish elevations shown on the Plans.
- B. Shape topsoil stockpiles to drain without ponding water.
- C. Where trees are indicated to remain, stop topsoil stripping at drip line.

3.03 TREE PROTECTION

- A. Construct tree protection barricades, minimum 3'-0" high around individual trees and groups of trees designated to remain. Construct barricades at drip line.
- B. Protect tree root systems from damage due to deleterious materials caused by run-off or spillage during mixing, use or discarding of construction materials or drainage from stored materials. Protect root systems form compaction, flooding, erosion or excessive wetting.

3.04 EXCAVATION AROUND TREES TO REMAIN

- A. Where trenching for utilities is required within drip line, hand dig under or around roots. Cut no lateral roots or tap roots; cut smaller roots which interfere with new construction.
- B. Where excavation for new construction is required within drip line of trees, hand excavate to minimize damage to root systems. Use narrow tine spading forks and comb soil to expose roots. Relocate roots in backfill areas. If large, main lateral roots are encountered, expose beyond excavation limits, bend and relocate without breaking. If encountered immediately adjacent to location of new construction and relocation is not practical, cut roots approximately 3" back from new construction.

Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation

31 10 00-2

- C. Allow no exposed roots to dry out before permanent backfill is places; provide temporary earth cover, or pack with peat moss and wrap with burlap. Water and maintain in moist condition and temporarily support and protect from damage until permanently relocated and covered with backfill.
- D. Prune braches in accord with standard horticultural practice to balance loss to root system caused by damage or cutting of root system. Engage qualified arborist approved by the Engineer to prune branches.

3.05 REPAIR FOR DAMAGED TREES

- A. Engage a qualified arborist approved by the Engineer to perform tree repair work.
- B. Make repairs promptly after damage occurs to prevent progressive deterioration of damaged trees.
- C. Remove dead trees and damaged trees in construction area which are determined by the tree arborist to be incapable of restoration to normal growth pattern.

3.06 CLEARING AND GRUBBING

- A. Clear and grub each area before excavating. All trees, herbaceous growth and stumps are to be chipped for mulch. Mulch will be stockpiled in the areas designated on the Plans or used for erosion control as required. All other debris is to be removed to an approved landfill.
- B. Materials to be removed from the project site include, but are not limited to trash, organic matter, construction waste materials (i.e. paving, concrete miscellaneous structures, houses), debris and abandoned utilities.
- C. Grubbing shall consist of completely removing roots, stumps, trash and other debris from all graded areas so that topsoil is free of roots and debris. Topsoil is to be left sufficiently clean so that further picking and raking will not be required.
- D. All foundations and planking embedded in the ground shall be removed and disposed. Butts of utility poles shall be removed.
- E. Landscaping features shall include, but not limited to, fences, cultivated trees and shrubbery, property corners, man made improvements and signs. The Contractor shall take extreme care in moving landscape features and promptly re-establishing these features.
- F. Surface rocks and boulders shall be grubbed from the soil and removed from the site if not suitable as rip rap.
- G. The entire construction area shall be grubbed by heavy tractors with root rakes. Raking shall generally proceed along the contour rather than up and down slopes so as to inhibit soil erosion.

1013.2304 SITE CLEARING

- H. Where the tree limbs interfere with utility wires, or where the trees to be felled are in close proximity to utility wires, the tree shall be taken down in sections to eliminate the possibility of damage to the utility.
- I. Any work pertaining to utility poles shall comply with the requirements of the appropriate utility.
- J. All fences adjoining any excavation or embankment that, in the Contractor's opinion, may be damaged or buried, shall be carefully removed, stored and replaced. Any fencing that, in the Engineer's opinion, is significantly damaged shall be replaced with new fence material.
- K. Stumps and roots shall be grubbed and removed to a depth not less than two feet below grade. All holes or cavities which extend below the subgrade elevation of the proposed work shall be filled with crushed rock or other suitable material, compacted to the same density as the surrounding material.
- L. The Contractor shall exercise special precautions for the protection and preservation of trees, cultivated shrubs, sod, fences, etc. situated within the limits of the construction area but not directly within excavation and/or fill limits. The Contractor shall be held liable for any damage the Contractor's operations have inflicted on such property.
- M. The Contractor shall be responsible for all damages to existing improvements resulting from Contractor's operations.

3.07 DISPOSAL OF DEBRIS

- A. The debris resulting from the clearing and grubbing operation shall be removed from the site and disposed of in accordance with all requirements of federal, state, county and municipal regulations. No debris of any kind shall be deposited in any stream or body of water, or in any street or alley. No debris shall be deposited upon any private property. In no case shall any material or debris be left on the Project, shoved onto abutting private properties or buried on the Project.
- B. When approved in writing by the Engineer and when authorized by the proper authorities, the Contractor may dispose of such debris by burning on the Project site provided all requirements set forth by the governing authorities are met. The authorization to burn shall not relieve the Contractor in any way from damages which result from the Contractor's operations. On easements through private property, the Contractor shall not burn on the site unless written consent is also secured from the property owner, in addition to authorization from the proper authorities.

END OF SECTION

1013.2304 SITE CLEARING

EARTH MOVING

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SCOPE

- A. This Section includes earthwork and related operations, including, but not limited to dewatering, excavating all classes of material encountered, pumping, draining and handling of water encountered in the excavations, handling, storage, transportation and disposal of all excavated and unsuitable material, construction of fills and embankments, backfilling around structures, compacting, all sheeting, shoring and bracing, preparation of subgrades, surfacing and grading, and any other similar, incidental, or appurtenant earthwork operations which may be necessary to properly complete the work.
- B. The Contractor shall provide all services, labor, materials, and equipment required for all earthwork and related operations, necessary or convenient to the Contractor, for furnishing complete work as shown on the Drawings or specified in these Contract Documents.

1.02 RELATED SECTIONS

- A. Geotechnical Report Section 00 31 32 (If provided in bidding documents)
- B. Site Preparation Section 31 10 00
- C. Trench Excavation and Backfill Section 31 23 16

1.03 GENERAL

- A. The elevations shown on the Drawings as existing are taken from the best existing data and are intended to give reasonably accurate information about the existing elevations. They are not precise and the Contractor shall become satisfied as to the exact quantities of excavation and fill required.
- B. Earthwork operations shall be performed in a safe and proper manner with appropriate precautions being taken against all hazards.
- C. All excavated and filled areas for structures, trenches, fills, topsoil areas, embankments, and channels shall be maintained by the Contractor in good condition at all times until final acceptance by the Owner. All damage caused by erosion or other construction operations shall be repaired by the Contractor using material of the same type as the damaged material.

Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation

- D. The Contractor shall control grading in a manner to prevent surface water from running into excavations. Obstruction of surface drainage shall be avoided and means shall be provided whereby storm water can be uninterrupted in existing gutters, other surface drains, or temporary drains. Free access must be provided to all fire hydrants and meters.
- E. Tests for compaction and density shall be conducted by the Engineer or by an independent testing laboratory selected in accordance with Section 01450 of these Specifications.
 - 1. The soils testing laboratory is responsible for the following:
 - Field compaction testing shall be based on using the maximum dry density determined by the Standard Proctor Compaction Test in accordance with ASTM D 698.
 - b. Determination of in-place backfill density shall be done in accordance with ASTM D 1556, "Density and unit weight of Soil In Place by the Sand-Cone Method", ASTM D 2937, "Density of Soil In Place by the Drive-Cylinder Method" or ASTM D 2922, "Density of Soil and Soil-Aggregate In Place by Nuclear Methods (Shallow Depth)".
 - c. Field density tests for each lift; one test for each 5,000 square feet of fill or minimum one test per lift.
 - d. Inspecting and testing stripped site, subgrades and proposed fill materials.
 - 2. Contractor's duties relative to testing include:
 - a. Notifying laboratory of conditions requiring testing.
 - b. Coordinating with laboratory for field testing.
 - c. Providing representative fill soil samples to the laboratory for test purposes. Provide 50 pound samples of each fill soil.

3. Inspection

- Earthwork operations, suitability of excavated materials for fill and backfill, and placing and compaction of fill and backfill is subject to inspection.
 Engineer will observe earthwork operations.
- b. Foundations and shallow spread footing foundations are required to be inspected by an engineer to verify suitable bearing and construction.
- F. All earthwork operations shall comply with the requirements of OSHA Construction Standards, Part 1926, Subpart P, Excavations, Trenching, and Shoring, and Subpart O, Motor Vehicles, Mechanized Equipment, and Marine Operations, and shall be conducted in a manner acceptable to the Engineer.
- G. It is understood and agreed that the Contractor has made a thorough investigation of the surface and subsurface conditions of the site and any special construction problems which might arise as a result of nearby watercourses and floodplains. The Contractor shall be responsible for providing all services, labor, equipment, and materials necessary or convenient to the Contractor for completing the work within the time specified in these Contract Documents.

H. Safety

Perform all trench excavation and backfilling activities in accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (PL 91-596), as amended. The Contractor shall pay particular attention to the Safety and Health Regulations Part 1926, Subpart P "Excavation, Trenching & Shoring" as described in OSHA publication 2226.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 SOILS CLASSIFICATIONS

Bedding materials listed here include a number of processed materials plus the soil types defined according to the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS) in ASTM D 2487, Standard Method for Classification of Soils for Engineering Purposes. (See below for description of soil classification). These materials are grouped into five broad categories according to their suitability for this application:

- A. Class I Angular, 1/4 to 1 1/2 inches (6 to 40 mm) graded stone, including such as coral, slag, cinders, crushed shells and crushed stone. Note The size range and resulting high voids ratio of Class I material make it suitable for use to dewater trenches during pipe installation. This permeable characteristic dictates that its use be limited to locations where pipe support will not be lost by migration of other embedment materials into the Class I material. When such migration is possible, the material's minimum size range should be reduced to finer than 1/4 inch (6 mm) and the gradation properly designed to limit the size of the voids.
- B. Class II Coarse sands and gravels with maximum particle size of 1 1/2 inch (40 mm), including variously graded sands and gravels containing small percentages of fines, generally granular and non-cohesive, either wet or dry. Soil Types GW, GP, SW and SP are included in this class. Note Sands and gravels which are clean or borderline between clean and with fines should be included. Coarse-grained soils with less than 12% but more than 5% fines are neglected in ASTM D2487 and the USCS and should be included. The gradation of Class II material influences its density and pipe support strength when loosely placed. The gradation of Class II material influences its density and pipe support strength when loosely placed. The gradation of Class II material may be critical to the pipe support and stability of the foundation and embedment if the material is imported and is not native to the trench excavation. A gradation other than well graded, such as uniformly graded or gap graded, may permit loss of support by migration into void spaces of a finer grained natural material from the trench wall and foundation.
- C. Class III Fine sand and clayey (clay filled) gravels, including fine sands, sand-clay mixtures and gravel-clay mixtures. Soil Types SM, GC, SM, and SC are included in this class.

- D. Class IV Silt, silty clays and clays, including inorganic clays and silts of not to high plasticity and liquid limits. Soil Types MH, ML, CH, and CL are included in this class. Note-Caution should be used in the design and selection of the degree and method of compaction for Class IV soils because of the difficulty in properly controlling the moisture content under field conditions. Some Class IV soils with medium to high plasticity and with liquid limits greater than 50% (CH, MH, CH-MH) exhibit reduced strength when wet and should only be used for bedding, haunching and initial backfill in arid locations where the pipe embedment will not be saturated by ground water, rainfall and/or exfiltration from the pipeline system. Class IV soils with low to medium plasticity and with liquid limits lower than 50% (CL, ML, CL-ML) also require careful consideration in design and installation to control moisture content but need not be restricted in use to arid locations.
- E. Class V This class includes the organic soils OL, OH, and PT as well as soils containing frozen earth, debris, rocks larger than 1 1/2 inch (40 mm) in diameter, and other foreign materials. These materials are not recommended for bedding, haunching or initial backfill.

DESCRIPTION OF EMBEDMENT MATERIAL CLASSIFICATIONS

SOIL CLASS	SOIL TYPE	DESCRIPTION MATERIAL CLASSIFICATION				
Class I Soils *		Manufactured angular, granular material, 3/4 to 1 1/2 inches (6 to 40 mm) size, including materials having regional significance such as crushed stone, or rock, broken coral, crushed slag, cinders, or crushed shells.				
Class II Soil **	GW	Well-graded gravels and gravel-sand mixtures, little or no fines. 50% or more retained on No. 4 sieve. More than 95% retained on No. 200 sieve. Clean				
	GP	Poorly graded gravels and gravel-sand mixtures, little or no fines. 50% or more retained on No. 4 sieve. More than 95% retained on No. 200 sieve. Clean				
	SW	Well-graded sands and gravely sands, little or no fines. More than 50% passes No. 4 sieve. More than 95% retained on No. 200 sieve. Clean.				
	SP	Poorly graded sands and gravelly sand, little or no fines. More than 50% passes No. 4 sieve. More than 95% retained on No. 200 sieve. Clean.				

Class III Soil ***	GM	Silty gravels, gravel-sand-silt mixtures. 50% or more retained on No. 200 sieve.
	GC	Clayey gravels, gravel-sand-clay mixtures. 50% or more retained on No. 4 sieve. More than 50% retained on No. 200 sieve.
	SM	Silty sands, sand-silt mixtures. More than 50% passes No. 4 sieve. More than 50% retained on No. 200 sieve.
	SC	Clayey sands, sand-clay mixtures. More than 50% passes No. 4 sieve. More than 50% retained on No. 200 sieve.
Class IV Soils	ML	Inorganic silts, very fine sands, rock flour, silty or clayey fine sands. Liquid limit 50% or less. 50% or more passes No. 200 sieve.
	CL	Inorganic clays of low to medium plasticity, gravelly clays, sandy clays, silty clays, lean clays. Liquid limit 50% or less. 50% or more passes No. 200 sieve.
	МН	Inorganic silts, micaceous or diatomaceous fine sands or silts, elastic silts. Liquid limit greater than 50%. 50% or more passes No. 200 sieve.
	СН	Inorganic clays of high plasticity, fat clays. Liquid limit greater than 50%. 50% or more passes No. 200 sieve.
Class V Soils	OL	Organic silts and organic silty clays of low plasticity. Liquid limit 50% or less. 50% or less. 50% or more passes No. 200 sieve.
	ОН	Organic clays of medium to high plasticity. Liquid limit 50% or less. 50% or more passes No. 200 sieve.
	PT	Peat, muck and other highly organic soils.

* Soils defined as Class I materials are not defined in ASTM D2487.

- ** In accordance with ASTM D2487, less than 5% pass No. 200 sieve.
- *** In accordance with ASTM D2487, more than 12% pass No. 200 sieve. Soils with 5% to 12% pass No. 200 sieve fall in borderline classification, e.g. GP-GC.

2.02 FILL MATERIAL

- A. Sand Fill: Material shall consist of a clean sand with a fineness modulus of 1.6 to 3.1 and containing not more than 10 percent by weight finer than No. 200 U.S. Standard Sieve.
- B. Earth Fill: Material shall consist of inorganic material free of roots, cobbles and boulders and classified as SM, ML, SC, or CL by ASTM D2487-85 "Standard Methods for Classification of Soils for Engineering Purposes". Earth Fill shall also conform to the following:
 - 1. Liquid Limit = 50 maximum
 - 2. Plasticity Index = 20 maximum
 - 3. Dry Unit Weight = 90 pcf minimum maximum density
- Coarse Aggregate (Crushed Stone): Coarse aggregate shall conform to the Georgia Department of Transportation Standard Specifications for Construction of Road and Bridges, Table 800.01 H, Size No. 57.

2.03 UNSUITABLE SITE FILL MATERIAL

Material which does not conform to the above classifications (soil classification SP, SW.GM, CH, MH, OH, OL, and PT) may be used as Site Fill material in areas identified on the drawings as "spoil areas", in areas with no structures and or roads and other non-critical areas.

2.04 SHEETING, BRACING AND TIMBERING

- A. Sheeting, Bracing and Timbering: The Contractor shall furnish, place and maintain all sheeting, bracing and timbering required to properly support trenches and other excavations in open cut and to prevent all movement of the soil, pavement, structures, or utilities outside of the trench or pit.
 - 1. General
 - a. Cofferdams and bracing design, including computations, shall be prepared before commencing construction operations. Drawings and design computations shall be signed and sealed by a professional engineer registered in the State of Georgia. The drawings and design computations shall be submitted to the Engineer for informational purposes only.
 - b. Sheeting, bracing and timbering shall be so placed as to allow the work to be constructed to the lines and grades shown on the Drawings and as ordered by the Engineer.

Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation

- c. If at any time the method being used by the Contractor for supporting any material or structure in or adjacent to any excavation is not reasonably safe, the Contractor shall provide additional bracing and support necessary to furnish the added degree of safety.
- d. All sheeting in contact with the concrete or masonry shall be cut off as directed by the Engineer and left in place.
- Timber: Timber may be substituted for steel sheet piling when approved by the Engineer. Timber for shoring, sheeting or bracing shall be sound and free of large or loose knots, and in good condition. Size and spacing shall be in accordance with OSHA regulations.
- 3. Steel Sheet Piling: Steel sheet piling shall be the continuous interlock type. The weight, depth, and section modulus of the sheet piling shall be sufficient to restrain the loads of earth pressure and surcharge from existing foundations and/or live loads. Procedure for installation and bracing shall be so scheduled and coordinated with the removal of the earth that the ground under existing structures shall be protected against lateral movement at all times. The Contractor shall provide closure and sealing between sheet piling and existing facilities. Steel piling shall be removed, unless otherwise directed by the Engineer.
- 4. Remove bracing and sheeting in units when backfill reaches the point necessary to protect the structures and adjacent property. Leave sheeting in place when, in the opinion of the Engineer, it cannot be safely removed. Cut off sheeting left in place at least two feet below the surface.

2.05 FILTER FABRIC

- A. Filter fabric associated with bedding shall be a UV stabilized, spunbonded, continuous filament, needle punched, polypropylene, nonwoven geotextile.
- B. The fabric shall have an equivalent open size (EOS or AOS) of 120 70. The fabric shall also conform to the minimum property values listed in the following table:

			Average Value	
Fabric Property	Unit	Test Procedure	Typical	Minimum
Weight	oz/yd²	ASTM D 3776	8.3	
Thickness	mils	ASTM D 1777	105	
Grab Strength	lbs.	ASTM D 4632	240	210
Grab Elongation	%	ASTM D 4632	>50	50
Tear Strength	lbs.	ASTM D 4533	100	85

Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation

31 20 00-7

Mullen Burst	psi	ASTM D 3786	350	320
Puncture Resistance	lbs.	ASTM D 4833	115	100
Permittivity	sec ⁻¹	ASTM D 4491	1.7	
Water Permeability	cm/sec	ASTM D 4491	0.4	
Water Flow Rate	gpm/ft ²	ASTM D 4491	120	
UV Resistance (500 hrs)	%	ASTM D 4355	>85	
PH			2 – 13	

C. Filter fabric shall be Polyfelt TS 700, Trevira 1125 or SuPac 7-MP.

2.06 CONCRETE

Concrete for initial backfill or encasement shall have a compressive strength of not less than 3,000 psi, with not less than 5.5 bags of cement per cubic yard and a slump between 3 and 5-inches. Ready-mixed concrete shall be mixed and transported in accordance with ASTM C 94. Reinforcing steel shall conform to the requirements of ASTM A 615, Grade 60.

2.07 FLOWABLE FILL

Flowable fill, where required for backfill, shall meet the requirements of Georgia Department of Transportation Standard Specifications, Section 600 for Excavatable or Non-Excavatable type.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 GENERAL

A. Safety: Comply with local regulations and with the provisions of the "Manual of Accident Prevention in Construction" of the Associated General Contractors of America, Inc., Occupational Safety and Health Act and all other applicable safety regulations.

B. Topsoil

- Remove all topsoil to a depth at which subsoil is encountered, from all areas under buildings, pavements, and from all areas which are to be cut to lower grades or filled.
- 2. With the Engineer's approval, topsoil to be used for finish grading may be stored on the site.

31 20 00-8

- 3. Other topsoil may be used for fill in non-critical areas with approval of the Engineer.
- 4. Properly dispose of all excess topsoil in the designated area.

C. Bracing and Sheeting

- Furnish, put in place, and maintain all sheeting, bracing, and shoring as may be required to properly support the sides of all excavations and to prevent all movement of earth which could in any way injure the work, adjacent property or workers.
- 2. Properly support all excavations where necessary to conform to all pertinent rules and regulations and these Specifications, even though, such locations are not indicated on the Drawings.
- 3. Exercise care in the removal of sheeting, shoring, bracing and timbering to prevent collapse or caving of the excavation faces being supported and damage to the work and adjacent property.
- 4. Do not leave any sheeting or bracing in the trench or excavation after completion of the work, unless approved by the Engineer.

D. Obstructions

- 1. Remove and dispose of all boulders, sidewalks, driveways, pavement, pipes, and the like, as required for the performance of the work.
- 2. Exercise care in excavating around catch basins, inlets and manholes so as to not disturb or damage these structures.
- 3. Avoid removing or loosening castings or pushing dirt into catch basins, inlets and manholes.
- 4. Damaged or displaced structures or casting shall be repaired, replaced and dirt entering the structures during the performance of the work shall be removed at no additional cost to the Owner.

E. Utilities to be Abandoned

- When pipes, conduits, sewers, or other structures are removed from the trench, leaving dead ends in the ground, such ends shall be fully plugged or sealed with brick and non-shrink grout.
- 2. Abandoned structures such as manholes or chambers shall be entirely removed.
- 3. All materials from abandoned utilities shall be removed from the site.
- 4. All salvageable materials shall become the property of the Owner.
- 5. All equipment to be salvaged is noted in the Specifications and shall be turned over to the Owner at a designated location.

F. Extra Earth Excavation

- 1. In case soft or excessively wet material which, in the opinion of the Engineer, is not suitable, is encountered below the final subgrade elevation of an excavation or underneath a structure, the Engineer may order the removal of this material and its replacement with crushed stone, filter fabric, or other suitable material in order to make a suitable foundation for the construction of the structure.
- G. Cutting Paved Surfaces and Similar Improvements
 - 1. Remove existing pavement as necessary for installing pipe utilities and appurtenances or as otherwise shown on the Drawings.
 - 2. Before removing any pavement, mark the pavement neatly, paralleling pipe lines and existing street lines. Space the marks the width of the trench.
 - 3. Break asphalt pavement along the marks using rotary saws or other suitable tools. Break concrete pavement along the marks by use of scoring with a rotary saw and breaking below the score by the use of jackhammers or other suitable tools.
 - 4. Do not pull pavement with machines until completely broken and separated from pavement to remain.
 - 5. Do not disturb or damage the adjacent pavement. If the adjacent pavement is disturbed or damaged, remove and replace the damaged pavement. No additional payment will be made for removing and replacing damaged adjacent pavement.
 - 6. Remove and replace sidewalks disturbed by construction for their full width and to the nearest undisturbed joint.
 - 7. The Contractor may tunnel under curbs that are encountered. Remove and replace any curb disturbed by construction to the nearest undisturbed joint.

3.02 EXCAVATION

A. Method

- 1. All excavation shall be by open cut from the surface except as indicated on the Drawings.
- 2. All excavations for pipe appurtenances and structures shall be made in such a manner, and to such depth and width, as will give ample room for building the structures, and for bracing, sheeting, and supporting the sides of the excavation, for pumping and draining groundwater which may be encountered, and for the removal from the excavation of all materials excavated.
- 3. Take special care so that the soil below the bottom of the structure to be built is left undisturbed.
- B. Grades: Excavate to grades indicated on the Drawings. Where excavation grades are not indicated on the Drawings, excavate as required to accommodate installation.

- C. Disposal of Excavated Material
 - 1. Remove and properly dispose of all excavated material not needed to complete filling, backfilling and grading.
 - Dispose of excess earth and rock excavated materials at locations on-site designated by the Engineer. Off-site disposal of all other material shall be and in accordance with all requirements of federal, state, county, and municipal regulations. No debris of any kind shall be deposited in any stream or body of water, or on any street. No debris shall be deposited on any private property, except by written consent of the property owner. In no case shall any material be shoved onto abutting private properties, or be buried in embankments or trenches on the Project.

3.03 EXCAVATING FOR STRUCTURES

- A. Earth Excavation: Earth excavation shall include all substances to be excavated other than rock. Earth excavation for structures shall be to limits not less than two feet outside wall lines, to allow for formwork and inspection, and further as necessary to permit the trades to install their work. All materials loosened or disturbed by excavation shall be removed from surfaces to receive concrete or crushed stone.
- B. Excavation for Foundations: Footings and slabs on grades shall rest on undisturbed earth, rock or compacted materials to insure proper bearing.
 - Unsuitable Foundation Material: Any material, in the opinion of the Engineer, which is unsuitable for foundation shall be removed and replaced with compacted crushed stone, or with compacted fill material as directed by the Engineer. No determination of unsuitability will be made until all requirements for dewatering are satisfactorily met.
 - 2. Foundation in Rock: Foundations for a structure shall be on similar materials. Should excavation for a foundation be partially in rock, the Contractor shall undercut that portion of the rock 12-inches and bring the excavation to grade with compacted crushed stone.
 - 3. Pipe Trenches Beneath Structures: Where piping or conduit passes beneath footings or slabs resting on grade, trenches shall be excavated to provide a minimum 6-inch clearance from all surfaces of the pipe or conduit. The trench shall be backfilled to the base of the structure with concrete.
 - 4. Unauthorized Excavation: Care shall be taken that excavation does not extend below bottom levels of footings or slabs on earth or rock. Should the excavation, through carelessness or neglect, be carried below such levels, the Contractor shall fill in the resulting excess excavation with concrete under footings and compacted crushed stone or other approved material under slabs. Should excavation be carried beyond outside lines of footings such excess excavation shall be filled with concrete, or formwork shall be provided, as directed by the Engineer.
- C. Unsuitable Bearing

Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation

- 1. If suitable bearings for foundations are not encountered at the elevations indicated on the Drawings, immediately notify the Engineer.
- 2. Do not proceed further until instructions are received.

3.04 DEWATERING REQUIREMENT

- A. The Contractor may use any dewatering method he deems feasible so long as it results in working in the dry and stable soil conditions.
- B. The Contractor shall conform and meet all conditions, obtain necessary permits and requirements of the regulatory agencies that have jurisdiction.
- C. It is the intent of these specifications that an adequate dewatering system be installed to lower and control the groundwater in order to permit excavation, construction, grading and the placement of fill materials, all to be performed under dry conditions. The dewatering system shall be adequate to pre-drain the water-bearing strata above and below the bottom of the excavation.
- D. The Contractor shall be solely responsible for the arrangement, location and depths of dewatering system necessary to accomplish the work described under this section of the specifications. The dewatering shall be accomplished in a manner that will reduce the hydrostatic head below any excavation to the extent that the water level in the construction area are a minimum of three (3) feet below the prevailing excavation surface and any surface to be compacted; will prevent the loss of fines, seepage, boils, quick conditions, or softening of the foundation strata; will maintain stability of the sides and bottom of the excavation; and will result in all construction operations being performed in the dry.
- E. The Contractor shall promptly dispose of all water removed from the excavations in such a manner as will not endanger public health, damage public or private property, or affect adversely any portion of the work under construction or completed by him or any other Contractor. Contractor shall obtain written permission from the Owner for any property involved before digging ditches or constructing water courses for the removal of water.
- F. The disposal of water from the dewatering system shall meet the requirements of all regulatory agencies having jurisdiction.
- G. If the dewatering requirements are not satisfied due to inadequacy or failure of the dewatering system, then loosening of the foundation strata, or instability of the slopes, or damage to the foundations or structures may occur. The supply of all labor and materials, and the performance of all work necessary to carry out additional work for reinstatement of the structures of foundation soil resulting from such inadequacy or failure shall be undertaken by the Contractor subject to the approval of the Engineer, and at no additional expense to the Owner.

3.05 ROCK EXCAVATION

- A. Definition of Mass Rock (only for payment purposes where payment is on a unit quantity basis): Any material which cannot be excavated with a single-tooth ripper drawn by a crawler tractor having a minimum draw bar pull rated at not less than 56,000 pounds (comparable to Caterpillar D 8K or comparable to Caterpillar 973 frontend loader, and occupying an original volume of at least one cubic yard). The Engineer shall be the sole determinate as to the limits to which the material is classified as rock.
- B. Definition of Trench Rock (only for payment purposes where payment is on a unit quantity basis): Any material which cannot be excavated with a backhoe having a bucket curling force rated at not less than 25,700 pounds (Caterpillar Model 225 or equivalent), and occupying an original volume of at least one-half (1/2) cubic yards.
- C. Excavation: Where rock is encountered within excavation for structures, it shall be excavated to the lines and grades indicated on the Drawings or as otherwise directed by the Engineer. The Contractor shall be responsible for obtaining any blasting permits required.
- D. Blasting: Blasting operations shall be conducted in accordance with all existing ordinances and regulations. All structures shall be protected from the effects of the blast. Blasting shall be performed and supervised by qualified and licensed workers. Dispose of excavated rock in accordance with applicable federal, state, county and local regulations. All blasting within 750 ft of an inhabited structure and or roadway must be siesmic monitored for ground and air vibrations. Peak Particle Velocity shall be measured at nearest structure and shall be 0.5 inch per second or less during blasts. Shots must be covered with at least 6 feet of earthen and synthetic cover (blasting mats). Bore hole diameter must not exceed 4" in diameter. Blast hole cannot exceed 20 feet of solid rock with single delay detonator (in terms, if drill depth exceeds more than 20 feet in depth, decking must be done, accomplish by using multiple detonators in the blast hole. The blast holes must be stemmed with gravel, 89/57 stone. Pre-blast inspections are required. Inspections shall be via an engineer that includes inspection of structure, and pictures of any existing damage or cracks that structure may have prior to blasting.
- E. If excess excavation is made or the material becomes disturbed so as to require removal below final subgrade elevations or beyond the prescribed limits, the resulting space shall be refilled with concrete in accordance with Section 2.07 of this Specification
- F. Measurement for Payment

All rock excavation shall be paid for as an incidental part of the item on which the work is done except where a separate, unqualified item for rock excavation is indicated in the BID FORM or where rock excavation is ORDERED as an EXTRA by the OWNER, by WRITTEN ORDER. Where payment for rock excavation is established by the BID FORM or ORDERED as an EXTRA by the OWNER, CONTRACTOR shall be paid only for the quantity of rock removed, measured as follows:

- A. For all masonry structures such as buildings, tanks, vaults, catch basins, manholes and the like, the horizontal rock measurement shall be made to include 2-1/2 feet from the outside face of finished vertical sidewall of such structure and the vertical rock measurement shall be made from the top elevation of the rock, before disturbed or removed, to the elevation of the under or lower side of the bottom concrete slab of the structure. Any projection below the bottom slab of any structure required for sump, well, or other pertinent construction shall be measured separately.
- B. For installation of pipe lines and fittings the horizontal rock measurement shall be the nominal outside diameter of the pertinent pipe plus 16-inches, except, however, that no horizontal measurement shall be considered to be less than 27-inches; the vertical rock measurement shall be made from the top elevation of the rock, before disturbance or removal, to an elevation of 9-inches below the bottom outside surface of the pipe for pipe having a diameter of 8-inches through 24-inches, and to an elevation of 12-inches below the bottom outside surface of the pipe for all pipe having a diameter greater than 24-inches.

G. Excess Rock Excavation

If rock excavated beyond the limits of payment indicated on the Drawings, specified, or authorized in writing by the OWNER, the excess excavation whether resulting from overbreakage or other causes, shall be backfilled, by and at the expense of the CONTRACTOR.

H. Shattered Rock

If rock below normal depth is shattered due to drilling or blasting operations and such shattered rock is unfit for foundations, the shattered rock shall be removed and the excavation shall be backfilled as described above in EXCESS ROCK EXCAVATION. All such removal and backfilling shall be done at the expense of the CONTRACTOR.

3.06 COMPACTION

- A. Fill materials supporting roadways, parking areas, sidewalks, structures, and buildings and backfill around structures shall be compacted to 95 percent of the standard proctor density. The top 12-inches of fill materials supporting structures, concrete pads, pavement, curb and gutter shall be compacted to 98 percent of the standard proctor density. Fill placed for general site grading shall be compacted to 90 percent of the standard proctor density.
- B. Compaction of embankments shall be by vibratory sheepsfoot or pad-foot rollers with staggered, uniformly spaced knobs and suitable cleaning devices. The projected area of each knob and the number and spacing of the knobs shall be such that the total weight of the roller and ballast when distributed over the area of one row of knobs shall be 250 psi. Placement and compaction of materials shall extend at least 5 feet beyond the final contours sufficiently to insure compaction of the material at the resulting final surface. Final contours shall then be achieved by a tracked bulldozer shaping the face of the embankment.

- C. Compaction of backfill next to walls shall be accomplished with hand-powered tamping equipment. The backfill shall be placed in 8-inch maximum lifts, with each lift compacted to 95 percent of standard proctor density.
- D. If tests indicate that density of fill is less than that specified, the area shall be, as directed by the Engineer, either recompacted or undercut, filled, and compacted until specified density is achieved.

3.07 FILL

A. Controlled Fill

- 1. The fill for roadways, parking areas, walks, structures, and building slabs on grade shall be controlled fill.
- 2. After the existing ground or excavated area has been proofrolled and examined by the Engineer, all holes and other irregularities shall be filled and compacted before the main fill is placed.
- 3. The fill shall be placed in even layers not exceeding 8-inches in depth and shall be thoroughly compacted as herein specified.
- 4. If an analysis of the soil being placed shows a marked difference from one location to another, the fill being placed shall not be made up of a mixture of these materials.
- 5. Each different type of material shall be handled continuously so that field control of moisture and density may be based upon a known type of material.
- No fill shall be placed following a heavy rain without first making certain on isolated test areas that compaction can be obtained without damage to the already compacted fill.

B. Proofrolling

- All areas where roadways, parking areas, sidewalks, structures, and buildings are to be constructed on cut areas, compacted fill, and other areas where indicated on the Drawings, shall be proofrolled to detect soft spots prior to the placement of fill material or building foundations.
- 2. Proofrolling shall be performed using a fully loaded tandem-axle dump truck 20 tons or other suitable pneumatic tired equipment over the subgrade before the subgrade is shaped.
- 3. Proofrolling shall be witnessed by the Engineer.
- 4. Subgrade shall be proofrolled with 10 overlapping passes of the roller. Depressions that develop during the proofrolling operation shall be filled with suitable material and those filled areas shall be proofrolled with six passes of the roller. If, after having been filled and proofrolled, the subgrade areas that still "pump" or "rut", shall be further evaluated by a geotechnical engineer, and remedial work be determined based on the conditions found at locations under structures or

1013.2304 EARTH MOVING

- pavement. The contractor shall execute remedial work determined by the geotechnical engineer to achieve a subgrade acceptable to the Engineer.
- 5. After the proofrolled subgrade has been accepted by the Engineer, the surface of the subgrade shall be finish rolled with a smooth steel wheel roller weighing not less than 10 tons. Finished surface of the subgrade shall be within a tolerance of 1/4-inch at every point.
- 6. Conduits, pipes, culverts, and underdrains shall be neither disturbed nor damaged by proofrolling operations. Rollers shall neither pass over, nor approach closer than five feet to, conduits, pipes, culverts, and underdrains unless the tops of those products are deeper than three feet.

C. Placement

- 1. Prior to placement of any material in embankments, the area within embankment limits shall be stripped of topsoil and all unsuitable materials removed in accordance with this Section. The area shall then be scarified to a depth of at least 6-inches.
- 2. Fill materials shall be placed in continuous, approximately horizontal layers extending the full width of the embankment cross-section and the full dimension of the excavation where practical and having an uncompacted thickness of not over 8-inches.
- D. Final Grading: Upon completion of construction operations, the area shall be graded to finish contour elevations and grades shown on the Drawings. Graded areas shall be made to blend into conformation with remaining ground surfaces. All surfaces shall be left smooth and free to drain.
- E. Excess Material: Surfaces and slopes of waste fills shall be left smooth and free to drain.

F. Moisture

- Fill materials shall be placed at optimum moisture content within practicable limits, but not less or more than two percent of optimum. Optimum moisture shall be maintained by sprinkling the layers as placed or by allowing materials to dry before placement.
- 2. If fill material is too wet, provide and operate approved means to assist the drying of the fill until suitable for compaction.
- 3. If fill material is too dry, provide and operate approved means to add moisture to the fill layers.

3.08 BACKFILLING

- A. Backfill carefully to restore the ground surface to its original condition. Dispose of excess material in accordance with this Section.
- B. Compact backfill underlying roadways, parking areas, sidewalks, structures and buildings in accordance with the requirements of Article 3.06 of this Section.

1013.2304 EARTH MOVING

C. Backfilling Around Structures

1. General

- a. Remove debris from excavations before backfilling.
- Do not backfill against foundation walls until so directed by the Engineer nor until all indicated perimeter insulation and/or waterproofing is in place.
- c. Protect such insulation and/or waterproofing during filling operations.
- d. Do not backfill against water retaining structures until successful leakage tests have been completed.
- e. Wherever possible, backfilling shall be simultaneous on both sides of walls to equalize lateral pressures.
- f. Do not backfill against walls until all permanent construction is in place to furnish lateral support on both top and bottom of wall.
- g. Backfilling against walls shall take place after all the concrete in the affected members has attained the specified strengths.
- h. To prevent excessive lateral pressure on external walls, large compaction equipment shall not be allowed within a zone wall footing.
- 2. Materials: Backfill material placed against structures built or encountered during the work of this Section shall be suitable fill material. No broken concrete, bricks or similar materials will be permitted as backfill.

3.09 GRADING

- A. General: Perform all rough and finish grading required to attain the elevations indicated on the Drawings. Perform finish grading to an accuracy of ±0.10 foot.
- B. Treatment After Completion of Grading
 - 1. After grading is completed, permit no further excavation, filling or grading, except with the approval of the Engineer.
 - Use all means necessary to prevent the erosion of freshly graded areas during construction and until such time as permanent drainage and erosion control measures have been installed.

3.10 SETTLEMENT

A. The Contractor shall be responsible for all settlement of backfill, fills and embankments which may occur within one year after final acceptance of the Work by the Owner.

1013.2304 EARTH MOVING

B. The Contractor shall make, or cause to be made, all repairs or replacements made necessary by settlement within 30 days after receipt of written notice from the Engineer or Owner.

3.11 CLEAN-UP

- A. Leave unused materials in a neat, compact stockpile.
- B. Remove unused stockpiled materials, leave area in a clean and neat condition. Grade stockpile area to prevent standing surface water.
- C. Leave borrow areas in a clean and neat condition. Grade to prevent standing surface water.

END OF SECTION

1013.2304

EARTH MOVING

TRENCH EXCAVATION AND BACKFILL

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SCOPE

- A. The work under this Section consists of furnishing all labor, equipment and materials and performing all operations in connection with the trench excavation and backfill required to install the site utilities, including all pipelines, electrical conduits, and duct banks as shown on the plans and as specified.
- B. Excavation shall include the removal of any tree stumps, brush, debris or other obstacles which remain after the clearing and grubbing operations, which may obstruct the work, and the excavation and removal of all earth, rock or other materials to the extent necessary to install the pipe and appurtenances in conformance with the lines and grades shown on the plans and as specified.
- C. Backfill shall include the filling and compaction of the trenches and excavations up to the surrounding ground surface or road grade at crossing.
- D. The trench is divided into five specific areas:
 - 1. Foundation: The area beneath the bedding, sometimes also referenced to as trench stabilization.
 - 2. Bedding: The area above the trench bottom (or foundation) and below the bottom of the barrel of the pipe.
 - 3. Haunching: The area above the bottom of the barrel of the pipe up to a specified height above the bottom of the barrel of the pipe.
 - 4. Initial Backfill: The area above the haunching material and below a plane 12-inches above the top of the barrel of the pipe.
 - 5. Final Backfill: The area above a plane 12-inches above the top of the barrel of the pipe.
- E. The choice of method, means, techniques and equipment rests with the Contractor. The Contractor shall select the method and equipment for trench excavation and backfill depending upon the type of material to be excavated and backfilled, the depth of excavation, the amount of space available for operation of equipment, storage of excavated material, proximity of man-made improvements to be protected, available easement or right-of-way and prevailing practice in the area.

1.02 RELATED SECTIONS

- A. Geotechnical report: Section 00 31 32 (If Provided in bidding documents)
- B. Site Clearing: Section 31 10 00.
- C. Earth Moving 30 20 00.

1.03 GENERAL

- A. The elevations shown on the Drawings as existing are taken from the best existing data and are intended to give reasonably accurate information about the existing elevations. They are not precise and the Contractor shall become satisfied as to the exact quantities of excavation and fill required.
- B. Earthwork operations shall be performed in a safe and proper manner with appropriate precautions being taken against all hazards.
- C. All excavated and filled areas for structures, trenches, fills, topsoil areas, embankments, and channels shall be maintained by the Contractor in good condition at all times until final acceptance by the Owner. All damage caused by erosion or other construction operations shall be repaired by the Contractor using material of the same type as the damaged material.
- D. The Contractor shall control grading in a manner to prevent surface water from running into excavations. Obstruction of surface drainage shall be avoided and means shall be provided whereby storm water can be uninterrupted in existing gutters, other surface drains, or temporary drains. Free access must be provided to all fire hydrants and meters.
- E. Tests for compaction and density shall be conducted by the Engineer or by an independent testing laboratory selected in accordance with Section 01 45 29 of these Specifications.
 - 1. The soils testing laboratory is responsible for the following:
 - Field compaction testing shall be based on using the maximum dry density determined by the Standard Proctor Compaction Test in accordance with ASTM D 698.
 - b. Determination of in-place backfill density shall be done in accordance with ASTM D 1556, "Density and unit weight of Soil In Place by the Sand-Cone Method", ASTM D 2937, "Density of Soil In Place by the Drive-Cylinder Method" or ASTM D 2922, "Density of Soil and Soil-Aggregate In Place by Nuclear Methods (Shallow Depth)".
 - c. Test frequency for trenches and confined areas of 1 test per two foot vertical lift for every 100 linear feet.
 - d. Inspecting and testing stripped site, subgrades and proposed fill materials.
 - 2. Contractor's duties relative to testing include:
 - a. Notifying laboratory of conditions requiring testing.
 - b. Coordinating with laboratory for field testing.

c. Providing representative fill soil samples to the laboratory for test purposes. Provide 50 pound samples of each fill soil.

3. Inspection

- Earthwork operations, suitability of excavated materials for fill and backfill, and placing and compaction of fill and backfill is subject to inspection.
 Engineer will observe earthwork operations.
- b. Foundations and shallow spread footing foundations are required to be inspected by an engineer to verify suitable bearing and construction.
- F. All earthwork operations shall comply with the requirements of OSHA Construction Standards, Part 1926, Subpart P, Excavations, Trenching, and Shoring, and Subpart O, Motor Vehicles, Mechanized Equipment, and Marine Operations, and shall be conducted in a manner acceptable to the Engineer.
- G. It is understood and agreed that the Contractor has made a thorough investigation of the surface and subsurface conditions of the site and any special construction problems which might arise as a result of nearby watercourses and floodplains. The Contractor shall be responsible for providing all services, labor, equipment, and materials necessary or convenient to the Contractor for completing the work within the time specified in these Contract Documents.

H. Safety

Perform all trench excavation and backfilling activities in accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (PL 91-596), as amended. The Contractor shall pay particular attention to the Safety and Health Regulations Part 1926, Subpart P "Excavation, Trenching & Shoring" as described in OSHA publication 2226.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 SOILS CLASSIFICATIONS

Bedding materials listed here include a number of processed materials plus the soil types defined according to the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS) in ASTM D 2487, Standard Method for Classification of Soils for Engineering Purposes. (See below for description of soil classification). These materials are grouped into five broad categories according to their suitability for this application:

A. Class I - Angular, 1/4 to 1 1/2 inches (6 to 40 mm) graded stone, including such as coral, slag, cinders, crushed shells and crushed stone. Note - The size range and resulting high voids ratio of Class I material make it suitable for use to dewater trenches during pipe installation. This permeable characteristic dictates that its use be limited to locations where pipe support will not be lost by migration of other embedment materials into the Class I material. When such migration is possible, the material's minimum size range

- should be reduced to finer than 1/4 inch (6 mm) and the gradation properly designed to limit the size of the voids.
- B. Class II Coarse sands and gravels with maximum particle size of 1 1/2 inch (40 mm), including variously graded sands and gravels containing small percentages of fines, generally granular and non-cohesive, either wet or dry. Soil Types GW, GP, SW and SP are included in this class. Note Sands and gravels which are clean or borderline between clean and with fines should be included. Coarse-grained soils with less than 12% but more than 5% fines are neglected in ASTM D2487 and the USCS and should be included. The gradation of Class II material influences its density and pipe support strength when loosely placed. The gradation of Class II material influences its density and pipe support strength when loosely placed. The gradation of Class II material may be critical to the pipe support and stability of the foundation and embedment if the material is imported and is not native to the trench excavation. A gradation other than well graded, such as uniformly graded or gap graded, may permit loss of support by migration into void spaces of a finer grained natural material from the trench wall and foundation.
- C. Class III Fine sand and clayey (clay filled) gravels, including fine sands, sand-clay mixtures and gravel-clay mixtures. Soil Types SM, GC, SM, and SC are included in this class.
- D. Class IV Silt, silty clays and clays, including inorganic clays and silts of not to high plasticity and liquid limits. Soil Types MH, ML, CH, and CL are included in this class. Note-Caution should be used in the design and selection of the degree and method of compaction for Class IV soils because of the difficulty in properly controlling the moisture content under field conditions. Some Class IV soils with medium to high plasticity and with liquid limits greater than 50% (CH, MH, CH-MH) exhibit reduced strength when wet and should only be used for bedding, haunching and initial backfill in arid locations where the pipe embedment will not be saturated by ground water, rainfall and/or exfiltration from the pipeline system. Class IV soils with low to medium plasticity and with liquid limits lower than 50% (CL, ML, CL-ML) also require careful consideration in design and installation to control moisture content but need not be restricted in use to arid locations.
- E. Class V This class includes the organic soils OL, OH, and PT as well as soils containing frozen earth, debris, rocks larger than 1 1/2 inch (40 mm) in diameter, and other foreign materials. These materials are not recommended for bedding, haunching or initial backfill.

DESCRIPTION OF EMBEDMENT MATERIAL CLASSIFICATIONS

SOIL CLASS	SOIL TYPE	DESCRIPTION MATERIAL CLASSIFICATION
Class I Soils *		Manufactured angular, granular material, 3/4 to 1 1/2 inches (6 to 40 mm) size, including materials having regional significance such as crushed stone, or rock, broken coral, crushed slag, cinders, or

SOIL CLASS	SOIL TYPE	DESCRIPTION MATERIAL CLASSIFICATION		
		crushed shells.		
Class II Soil **	GW	Well-graded gravels and gravel-sand mixtures, little or no fines. 50% or more retained on No. 4 sieve. More than 95% retained on No. 200 sieve. Clean.		
	GP	Poorly graded gravels and gravel-sand mixtures, little or no fines. 50% or more retained on No. 4 sieve. More than 95% retained on No. 200 sieve. Clean.		
	SW	Well-graded sands and gravely sands, little or no fines. More than 50% passes No. 4 sieve. More than 95% retained on No. 200 sieve. Clean.		
	SP	Poorly graded sands and gravelly sand, little or no fines. More than 50% passes No. 4 sieve. More than 95% retained on No. 200 sieve. Clean.		
Class III Soil ***	GM	Silty gravels, gravel-sand-silt mixtures. 50% or more retained on No. 200 sieve.		
	GC	Clayey gravels, gravel-sand-clay mixtures. 50% or more retained on No. 4 sieve. More than 50% retained on No. 200 sieve.		
	SM	Silty sands, sand-silt mixtures. More than 50% passes No. 4 sieve. More than 50% retained on No. 200 sieve.		
	SC	Clayey sands, sand-clay mixtures. More than 50% passes No. 4 sieve. More than 50% retained on No. 200 sieve.		
Class IV Soils	ML	Inorganic silts, very fine sands, rock flour, silty or clayey fine sands. Liquid limit 50% or less. 50% or more passes No. 200 sieve.		

SOIL CLASS	SOIL TYPE	DESCRIPTION MATERIAL CLASSIFICATION		
	CL	Inorganic clays of low to medium plasticity, gravelly clays, sandy clays, silty clays, lean clays. Liquid limit 50% or less. 50% or more passes No. 200 sieve.		
	МН	Inorganic silts, micaceous or diatomaceous fine sands or silts, elastic silts. Liquid limit greater than 50%. 50% or more passes No. 200 sieve.		
	СН	Inorganic clays of high plasticity, fat clays. Liquid limit greater than 50%. 50% or more passes No. 200 sieve.		
Class V Soils OI	OL	Organic silts and organic silty clays of low plasticity. Liquid limit 50% or less. 50% or less. 50% or more passes No. 200 sieve.		
	ОН	Organic clays of medium to high plasticity. Liquid limit 50% or less. 50% or more passes No. 200 sieve.		
	PT	Peat, muck and other highly organic soils.		

- * Soils defined as Class I materials are not defined in ASTM D2487.
- ** In accordance with ASTM D2487, less than 5% pass No. 200 sieve.
- In accordance with ASTM D2487, more than 12% pass No. 200 sieve. Soils with 5% to 12% pass No. 200 sieve fall in borderline classification, e.g. GP-GC.

2.02 PIPE BEDDING CLASSES

- A. Class A Bedding shall consist of a continuous concrete cradle as determined by the Engineer.
- B. Class B Bedding: The pipe shall be bedded with No. 57 stone bedding material placed on the trench foundation. The bedding shall have a minimum thickness beneath the pipe of 4 inches or one-eighth of the outside diameter of the pipe, whichever is greater, and shall extend up the side to the springline. Initial backfill from the pipe horizontal centerline to a level not less than 12 inches above the top of the pipe and shall be bedding material or carefully placed native soil, compacted to 90% of Standard Proctor Density. The final backfill of the soil to ground surface shall be compacted to the specified density.

- C. Class C Bedding: The pipe shall be bedded in No. 57 stone bedding material placed on the trench foundation. The bedding shall have a minimum thickness beneath the pipe of 4 inches or one-eighth of the outside diameter of the pipe, whichever is greater, and shall extend up the sides of the pipe one-sixth the outside diameter of the pipe. Initial backfill between the top of haunching and a point 12 inches above the top of pipe shall be compacted to 90% of Standard Proctor Density. The final backfill of the soil to ground surface shall be compacted to the specified density.
- D. Crushed stone utilized for bedding and haunching shall meet the requirements of the Georgia Department of Transportation Specification 800.01, Group I (limestone, marble or dolomite) or Group II (quartzite, granite or gneiss). Stone size shall be between No. 57 and No. 4, inclusive.

2.03 TRENCH FOUNDATION MATERIALS

When unsuitable material is encountered and extends more than 6 inches below the pipe. Crushed stone shall be utilized for trench foundation (trench stabilization) and shall meet the requirements of the Georgia Department of Transportation Specification 800.01, Group I (limestone, marble or dolomite) or Group II (quartzite, granite or gneiss). Stone size shall be between No. 57 and No. 4, inclusive or Class I material.

2.04 FILTER FABRIC

- A. Filter fabric associated with bedding shall be a UV stabilized, spunbonded, continuous filament, needle punched, polypropylene, nonwoven geotextile.
- B. The fabric shall have an equivalent open size (EOS or AOS) of 120 70. The fabric shall also conform to the minimum property values listed in the following table:

			Average Value	
Fabric Property	Unit	Test Procedure	Typical	Minimum
Weight	oz/yd²	ASTM D 3776	8.3	
Thickness	mils	ASTM D 1777	105	
Grab Strength	lbs.	ASTM D 4632	240	210
Grab Elongation	%	ASTM D 4632	>50	50
Tear Strength	lbs.	ASTM D 4533	100	85
Mullen Burst	psi	ASTM D 3786	350	320
Puncture Resistance	lbs.	ASTM D 4833	115	100

Permittivity	sec ⁻¹	ASTM D 4491	1.7	
Water Permeability	cm/sec	ASTM D 4491	0.4	
Water Flow Rate	gpm/ft ²	ASTM D 4491	120	
UV Resistance (500 hrs)	%	ASTM D 4355	>85	
PH			2 – 13	

- C. If ordered by the Engineer, the filter fabric manufacturer shall furnish the services of a competent factory representative to supervise and/or inspect the installation of pipe. This service will be furnished for a minimum of 10 days during initial pipe installation.
- D. Filter fabric shall be Polyfelt TS 700, Trevira 1125 or SuPac 7-MP.

2.05 BEDDING AND HAUNCHING MATERIALS

- A. Crushed stone utilized for bedding and hunching shall meet the requirements of the Georgia Department of Transportation Specification 800.01, Group I (limestone, marble or dolomite) or Group II (quartzite, granite or gneiss). Stone size shall be between No. 57 and No. 4, inclusive.
- B. Earth materials shall be suitable materials selected from the trench excavation. Suitable materials shall be clean and free of rock larger than 2-inches at its largest dimension, organics, cinders, stumps, limbs, frozen earth or mud, man-made wastes and other unsuitable materials. Should the material excavated from the trench be saturated, the saturated material may be used as earth material, provided it is allowed to dry properly and it is capable of meeting the specified compaction requirements. When necessary, earth bedding and haunching materials shall be moistened to facilitate compaction by tamping.

2.06 INITIAL BACKFILL

- Initial backfill material shall be earth materials or crushed stone as specified for bedding and haunching materials. Soil shall be tamped to 90% of Standard Proctor Density (ASTM D698).
- B. Earth materials utilized for initial backfill shall be suitable materials selected from materials excavated from the trench. Suitable materials shall be clean and free of rock larger than 2-inches at its largest dimension, organics, cinders, stumps, limbs, frozen earth or mud, man-made wastes and other unsuitable materials. Should the material excavated from the trench be saturated, the saturated material may be used as earth material, provided it is allowed to dry properly and it is capable of meeting the specified compaction requirements. When necessary, initial backfill materials shall be moistened to facilitate compaction by tamping. If materials excavated from the trench are not suitable for use as initial backfill material, provide select material conforming to the requirements of this Section.

2.07 FINAL BACKFILL

- A. Final backfill material shall be general excavated earth materials, shall not contain rock larger than 2-inches at its greatest diameter, cinders, stumps, limbs, man-made wastes and other unsuitable materials. If materials excavated from the trench are not suitable for use as final backfill material, provide select material conforming to the requirements of this Section.
- B. In areas not used for streets or driveways, carefully refill in layers not exceeding 8 inches in thickness and thoroughly tamp with hand tamps to one foot above the top of the pipe. Finish filling by machine without tamping. As trench settles, bring back to grade by adding more material. Maintain trenches in safe condition at all times. Restore all special grassing and shrubbery, fences, etc., to original condition. The remaining backfill shall be thoroughly compacted in 8 inch layers to at least 95% (percent) of the Standard Proctor Density (ASTM D698).
- C. In streets, roadways and driveways, carefully refill in layers not exceeding 8 inches in thickness and thoroughly tamp with hand tamps to one foot above the top of the pipe. The remaining backfill shall be thoroughly compacted in 8 inch layers to at least 98% (percent) of the Standard Proctor Density (ASTM D698).
- D. Backfilling and tamping work in state highway right-of-ways and streets under jurisdiction of the State Highway Department will be in accordance with the State of Georgia Department of Transportation "Policy and Procedure for Accommodation of Utilities".

2.08 CONCRETE

Concrete for bedding, haunching, initial backfill or encasement shall have a compressive strength of not less than 3,000 psi, with not less than 5.5 bags of cement per cubic yard and a slump between 3 and 5-inches. Ready-mixed concrete shall be mixed and transported in accordance with ASTM C 94. Reinforcing steel shall conform to the requirements of ASTM A 615, Grade 60.

2.09 FLOWABLE FILL

Flowable fill, where required for trench backfill, shall meet the requirements of Georgia Department of Transportation Standard Specifications, Section 600 for Excavatable or Non-Excavatable type.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Identify required lines, levels, contours, and datum locations.

- B. Locate, identify, and protect utilities that remain and protect from damage. The contractor is required to contact the Utilities Protection Center, Inc. in the State of Georgia call 811 prior to any excavation or construction. Additional information is available at www.gaupc.com. The contractor shall first, Call Before You Dig. Second, Wait the Required Amount of Time. Third, Respect the Marks and Lastly, Dig With Care.
- C. Notify utility company to remove and relocate utilities.

3.02 TRENCH EXCAVATION

- A. Notify of unexpected subsurface conditions and discontinue affected Work in area until notified to resume work.
- B. Slope banks of excavations deeper than 4 feet to angle of repose or less until shored.
- C. Do not interfere with 45 degree bearing splay of foundations.
- D. Cut trenches O.D of pipe plus two feet minimum or O.D. of pipe plus four feet maximum wide enough to allow installation and inspection of utilities.
- E. Hand trim excavations. Remove loose matter.
- F. Remove large stones and other hard matter which could damage piping or impede consistent backfilling or compaction.
- G. Remove lumped subsoil, boulders, and rock up to 1/3 cu yd (0.25 cu m) measured by volume.
- H. Remove excavated material that is unsuitable for re-use from site.
- I. Stockpile excavated material to be re-used in areas designated on site.
- J. Remove excess excavated material from site.
- K. In areas not used for streets and in unpaved streets, maximum trench width shall be the pipe diameter plus 24 inches. Protect all trees, shrubs and structures. Protect all fences and replace those damaged/removed with like kind. Keep work and equipment within easement limits. Repair and replace any damage.
- L. Paved streets shall have a maximum trench width of pipe diameter plus 24 inches. Shore and brace trench walls as necessary to prevent damage to existing paving. Do not cut existing sidewalk, or curb and gutter without approval by the Engineer. Use rubber tired equipment only on streets. Repair and replace all damage. Saw cut all pavements for smooth edge on replacement.

3.03 DEWATERING REQUIREMENT

- A. The Contractor may use any dewatering method he deems feasible so long as it results in working in the dry and stable soil conditions.
- B. The Contractor shall conform and meet all conditions, obtain necessary permits and requirements of the regulatory agencies that have jurisdiction.
- C. It is the intent of these specifications that an adequate dewatering system be installed to lower and control the groundwater in order to permit excavation, construction, grading and the placement of fill materials, all to be performed under dry conditions. The dewatering system shall be adequate to pre-drain the water-bearing strata above and below the bottom of the excavation.
- D. The Contractor shall be solely responsible for the arrangement, location and depths of dewatering system necessary to accomplish the work described under this section of the specifications. The dewatering shall be accomplished in a manner that will reduce the hydrostatic head below any excavation to the extent that the water level in the construction area are a minimum of two (2) feet below the prevailing excavation surface and any surface to be compacted; will prevent the loss of fines, seepage, boils, quick conditions, or softening of the foundation strata; will maintain stability of the sides and bottom of the excavation; and will result in all construction operations being performed in the dry.
- E. The Contractor shall promptly dispose of all water removed from the excavations in such a manner as will not endanger public health, damage public or private property, or affect adversely any portion of the work under construction or completed by him or any other Contractor. Contractor shall obtain written permission from the Owner for any property involved before digging ditches or constructing water courses for the removal of water.
- F. The disposal of water from the dewatering system shall meet the requirements of all regulatory agencies having jurisdiction.
- G. If the dewatering requirements are not satisfied due to inadequacy or failure of the dewatering system, then loosening of the foundation strata, or instability of the slopes, or damage to the foundations or structures may occur. The supply of all labor and materials, and the performance of all work necessary to carry out additional work for reinstatement of the structures of foundation soil resulting from such inadequacy or failure shall be undertaken by the Contractor subject to the approval of the Engineer, and at no additional expense to the Owner.

3.04 ROCK EXCAVATION

A. Definition of Mass Rock (only for payment purposes where payment is on a unit quantity basis): Any material which cannot be excavated with a single-tooth ripper drawn by a crawler tractor having a minimum draw bar pull rated at not less than 56,000 pounds (comparable to Caterpillar D 8K or comparable to Caterpillar 973 front-

- end loader, and occupying an original volume of at least one cubic yard). The Engineer shall be the sole determinate as to the limits to which the material is classified as rock.
- B. Definition of Trench Rock (only for payment purposes where payment is on a unit quantity basis): Any material which cannot be excavated with a backhoe having a bucket curling force rated at not less than 25,700 pounds (Caterpillar Model 225 or equivalent), and occupying an original volume of at least one-half (1/2) cubic yards.
- C. Excavation: Where rock is encountered within excavation for structures, it shall be excavated to the lines and grades indicated on the Drawings or as otherwise directed by the Engineer. The Contractor shall be responsible for obtaining any blasting permits required.
- D. Blasting: Blasting operations shall be conducted in accordance with all existing ordinances and regulations. All structures shall be protected from the effects of the blast. Blasting shall be performed and supervised by qualified and licensed workers. Dispose of excavated rock in accordance with applicable federal, state, county and local regulations. All blasting within 750 ft of an inhabited structure and or roadway must be siesmic monitored for ground and air vibrations. Peak Particle Velocity shall be measured at nearest structure and shall be 0.5 inch per second or less during blasts. Shots must be covered with at least 6 feet of earthen and synthetic cover (blasting mats). Bore hole diameter must not exceed 4" in diameter. Blast hole cannot exceed 20 feet of solid rock with single delay detonator (in terms, if drill depth exceeds more than 20 feet in depth, decking must be done, accomplish by using multiple detonators in the blast hole. The blast holes must be stemmed with gravel, 89/57 stone. Pre-blast inspections are required. Inspections shall be via an engineer that includes inspection of structure, and pictures of any existing damage or cracks that structure may have prior to blasting.
- E. If excess excavation is made or the material becomes disturbed so as to require removal below final subgrade elevations or beyond the prescribed limits, the resulting space shall be refilled with concrete in accordance with Section 2.08 of this Specification
- F. Measurement for Payment

All rock excavation shall be paid for as an incidental part of the item on which the work is done except where a separate, unqualified item for rock excavation is indicated in the BID FORMI or where rock excavation is ORDERED as an EXTRA by the OWNER, by WRITTEN ORDER. Where payment for rock excavation is established by the BID FORM or ORDERED as an EXTRA by the OWNER, CONTRACTOR shall be paid only for the quantity of rock removed, measured as follows:

A. For all masonry structures such as buildings, tanks, vaults, catch basins, manholes and the like, the horizontal rock measurement shall be made to include 2-1/2 feet from the outside face of finished vertical sidewall of such structure and the vertical rock measurement shall be made from the top elevation of the rock, before disturbed or removed, to the elevation of the under or lower side of the bottom concrete slab of the structure. Any projection below the bottom slab of any

structure required for sump, well, or other pertinent construction shall be measured separately.

B. For installation of pipe lines and fittings the horizontal rock measurement shall be the nominal outside diameter of the pertinent pipe plus 16-inches, except, however, that no horizontal measurement shall be considered to be less than 27-inches; the vertical rock measurement shall be made from the top elevation of the rock, before disturbance or removal, to an elevation of 9-inches below the bottom outside surface of the pipe for pipe having a diameter of 8-inches through 24-inches, and to an elevation of 12-inches below the bottom outside surface of the pipe for all pipe having a diameter greater than 24-inches.

G. Excess Rock Excavation

If rock excavated beyond the limits of payment indicated on the Drawings, specified, or authorized in writing by the OWNER, the excess excavation whether resulting from overbreakage or other causes, shall be backfilled, by and at the expense of the CONTRACTOR.

H. Shattered Rock

If rock below normal depth is shattered due to drilling or blasting operations and such shattered rock is unfit for foundations, the shattered rock shall be removed and the excavation shall be backfilled as described above in EXCESS ROCK EXCAVATION. All such removal and backfilling shall be done at the expense of the CONTRACTOR.

3.05 SHEETING, BRACING AND SHORING

- A. Trench Shield: A trench shield or box may be used to support the trench walls. The use of a trench shield does not necessarily preclude the additional use of bracing and sheeting. When trench shields are used, care must be taken to avoid disturbing the alignment and grade of the pipe or disrupting the haunching of the pipe as the shield is moved. When the bottom of the trench shield extends below the top of the pipe, the trench shield will be raised in 6-inch increments with specified backfilling occurring simultaneously. At no time shall the trench shield be "dragged" with the bottom of the shield extending below the top of the pipe or utility.
- B. Remove bracing and sheeting in units when backfill reaches the point necessary to protect the utility and adjacent property. Leave sheeting in place when in the opinion of the Engineer it cannot be safely removed or is within three feet of an existing structure, utility, or pipeline. Cut off any sheeting left in place at least two feet below the surface.
- C. Sheet piling within three feet of an existing structure or utility shall remain in place, unless otherwise directed by the Engineer.

3.06 TRENCH FOUNDATION AND STABILIZATION

- A. The bottom of the trench shall provide a foundation to support the utility and its specified bedding. The trench bottom shall be graded to support the utility and bedding uniformly throughout its length and width.
- B. If, after dewatering as specified above, the trench bottom is spongy, or if the trench bottom does not provide firm, stable footing and the material at the bottom of the trench will still not adequately support the utility, the trench will be determined to be unsuitable.
- C. If in the opinion of the Engineer the undisturbed material at the trench bottom constitutes an unstable pipe foundation, then the Contractor shall replace such unstable materials with crushed stone.
- D. If the crushed stone does not provide adequate foundation, then the trench shall be excavated to a depth of at least two feet below the specified trench bottom. The over excavation shall be filled with No. 4 foundation stone to the bottom of the bedding stone or the over excavation shall be lined with filter fabric, with the fabric being supported along the sides of the trench to a point above the top of the utility. The trench shall then be filled with No. 57 foundation stone to the top of the pipe and the filter fabric shall be overlapped above the pipe and stone.

3.07 BEDDING AND HAUNCHING

- A. Prior to placement of bedding material, the trench bottom shall be free of any water, loose rocks, boulders or large dirt clods.
- B. Bedding material shall be placed to provide uniform support along the bottom of the pipe and to maintain the pipe at the proper elevation. The initial layer of bedding placed to receive the pipe shall be brought to the grade and dimensions indicated on the Drawings. All bedding shall extend the full width of the trench bottom. The pipe shall be placed and brought to grade by tamping the bedding material or by removal of the excess amount of the bedding material under the pipe. Adjustment to grade line shall be made by scraping away or filling with bedding material. Wedging or blocking up of pipe shall not be permitted. Applying pressure to the top of the pipe, such as with a backhoe bucket, to lower the pipe to the proper elevation or grade shall not be permitted. Each pipe section shall have a uniform bearing on the bedding for the length of the pipe, except at joints.
- C. At each joint, excavate bell holes of ample depth and width to permit the joint to be assembled properly and to relieve the pipe bell of any load.
- D. After the pipe section is properly placed, add the haunching material to the specified depth. The haunching material shall be shovel sliced, tamped, vigorously chinked or otherwise consolidated to provide uniform support for the pipe barrel and to fill completely the voids under the pipe, including the bell hole. Prior to placement of the haunching material, the bedding shall be clean and free of any water, loose rocks, boulders or dirt clods.
- E. Gravity Pipelines and Accessories: Lay PVC (plastic pipe) gravity sewer pipe with minimum Class B bedding. Lay all other gravity sewer pipelines with Class C bedding, unless shown or

- specified otherwise. All trenches under paving, concrete, etc. shall be placed in Class B bedding only.
- F. Bedding for storm drain piping shall be as specified in Section 33 40 00 Storm Drainage Piping.
- G. Manholes: Excavate to a minimum of 12-inches below the planned elevation of the base of the manhole. Place and compact crushed stone bedding material to the required grade before constructing the manhole.
- H. Pressure Mains

Bedding and haunching for pressure pipe shall be with Class II or III soils compacted to 90% of standard proctor density. All trenches under paving, concrete, etc. shall be placed in Class B bedding only.

- I. Excessive Width and Depth
 - 1. If the trench is excavated in excess of the pipe diameter plus two feet, provide the next higher bedding type.
 - 2. If the trench is excavated to excessive depth, provide foundation stone to the bottom of the bedding material.
- J. Compaction: Bedding and haunching materials under pipe, manholes and accessories shall be compacted to a minimum of 95 percent of the maximum dry density, unless shown or specified otherwise.

3.08 CONCRETE ENCASEMENT FOR PIPELINES

Where concrete encasement is shown on the Drawings for pipelines not under structures, excavate the trench to provide a minimum of 6-inches clearance from the bell of the pipe. Lay the pipe to line and grade on concrete blocks. In lieu of bedding, haunching and initial backfill, place concrete to the full width of the trench and to a height of not less than 6-inches above the pipe bell. Do not backfill the trench for a period of at least 24 hours after concrete is placed.

3.09 CONCRETE ENCASEMENT FOR ELECTRICAL DUCT BANKS

- A. Install top of duct bank minimum 18-inches below finished grade with plastic warning tape 12-inches below finished grade.
- B. Terminate conduit in end bell at manhole entries.
- C. Stagger conduit joints in concrete encasement 6-inches minimum.
- D. Provide minimum 3-inch concrete cover at bottom, top, and sides of duct bank. Use suitable separators and chairs installed not greater than four feet on center to provide conduit spacing as indicated. Securely anchor conduit to prevent movement during concrete placement.

E. Where duct bank passes beneath footings or slabs, excavate to provide a minimum of 6-inches clearance between the conduits and the structure. Backfill to the base of the structure with concrete.

3.10 INITIAL BACKFILL

- A. Fill up to subgrade elevations unless otherwise indicated.
- B. Employ a placement method that does not disturb or damage other work.
- C. Systematically fill to allow maximum time for natural settlement. Do not fill over porous, wet, frozen or spongy subgrade surfaces.
- D. Maintain optimum moisture content of fill materials to attain required compaction density.
- E. Granular Fill: Place and compact materials in equal continuous layers not exceeding 6 inches compacted depth.
- F. Soil Fill: Place and compact material in equal continuous layers not exceeding 8 inches compacted depth.
- G. Correct areas that are over-excavated.
 - 1. Thrust bearing surfaces: Fill with concrete.
 - 2. Other areas: Use general fill, flush to required elevation, compacted to minimum 98 percent of standard proctor dry density.
- H. Compaction Density Unless Otherwise Specified or Indicated:
 - 1. Under paving, slabs-on-grade, and similar construction: 98 percent of standard proctor density.
 - 2. At other locations: 95 percent of standard proctor density.

3.11 FINAL BACKFILL

- A. Backfill to contours and elevations indicated using suitable materials.
- B. Employ a placement method that does not disturb or damage other work.
- C. Systematically fill to allow maximum time for natural settlement. Do not fill over porous, wet, frozen or spongy subgrade surfaces.
- D. Maintain optimum moisture content of fill materials to attain required compaction density.
- E. Granular Fill: Place and compact materials in equal continuous layers not exceeding 6 inches compacted depth.

- F. Soil Fill: Place and compact material in equal continuous layers not exceeding 8 inches compacted depth.
- G. Slope grade away from building minimum 2 inches in 10 ft, unless noted otherwise. Make gradual grade changes. Blend slope into level areas.
- H. Compaction Density Unless Otherwise Specified or Indicated:
 - 1. Under paving, slabs-on-grade, and similar construction: 98 percent of standard proctor density.
 - 2. At other locations: 95 percent of standard proctor density.
- I. Reshape and re-compact fills subjected to vehicular traffic.

3.12 TOLERANCES

- A. Top Surface of General Backfilling: Plus or minus 1 inch from required elevations.
- B. Top Surface of Backfilling Under Paved Areas: Plus or minus 1 inch from required elevations.

3.13 CLEAN-UP

- A. Leave unused materials in a neat, compact stockpile.
- B. Remove unused stockpiled materials, leave area in a clean and neat condition. Grade stockpile area to prevent standing surface water.
- C. Leave borrow areas in a clean and neat condition. Grade to prevent standing surface water.

END OF SECTION

BASE COURSES

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SCOPE

Work covered by this section consists of furnishing all plant, labor, equipment and materials, and performing all operations in connection with the construction of graded aggregated base and binder course as shown on the plans or as required for paved areas. Material and construction shall be in conformance with requirements of the Georgia Department of Transportation, Standard Specifications, Construction of Roads and Bridges, latest edition. (D.O.T.S.S.)

1.02 RELATED SECTIONS

- A. Section 31 20 00 Earth Moving.
- B. Section 32 12 00 Flexible Paving.

PART 2 MATERIALS

2.01 GRADED AGGREGATE:

Shall meet the requirements of Article 815 of D.O.T.S.S.

2.02 BITUMINOUS PRIME

- A. D.O.T.S.S., Section 412.
- B. Bituminous Prime shall be included in the unit price bid for Graded Aggregate Base Course.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 PREPARATION

The area to be paved shall be graded and shaped, as required to construct the base in conformance with the grades, lines, thicknesses, and typical cross-section shown within the limits of construction. Prior to installing graded aggregate base, the subgrade shall be test rolled in accordance with D.O.T.S.S., Section 221. An Engineer shall be present to inspect during the test rolling. Any subgrade displacing over 1/4" shall be corrected and made stable before construction proceeds. Construction of base will not begin until all subsurface utilities have been installed.

3.02 INSTALLATION

Graded aggregate shall be installed in accordance with Section 310, D.O.T.S.S.

3.03 COMPACTION

After shaping the spread material to line, grade, and cross-section, roll to uniformly compact the course. Use Group 2 aggregate and roll to at least 100 percent of the maximum dry density. Regardless of compaction, ensure that the compacted base is sufficiently stable to support construction equipment without pumping. If the base material is unstable from too much moisture, dry and rework the base material.

3.04 FINISHING

After compaction, the surface of the base shall be shaped to the required lines, grades, and cross-section as shown on plans or as directed by the Engineer.

3.05 MAINTENANCE

The Contractor shall be required, within the limits of his contract, to maintain the base course in good condition until all work has been completed and accepted. Maintenance shall include immediate repairs of any defects that may occur. This work shall be done by the Contractor at his own expense and repeated as often as may be necessary to keep the area continuously intact. Faulty work shall be replaced for the full depth of treatment. Any low areas shall be remedied by replacing the material for the full depth of treatment rather than by adding a thin layer to the completed work.

3.06 TOLERANCES

The surface of the completed base shall not show any deviation in excess of 1/4" when tested with a 10' string line. The completed thickness of the base shall be within 1/2" of the thickness indicated.

1013.2304 BASE COURSES

3.07 WARRANTY

The Contractor shall warrant the base to be serviceable for a minimum period of one year after the date of acceptance of the job.

END OF SECTION

Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation

32 11 00-3

1013.2304 BASE COURSES

WATER DISTRIBUTION PIPING

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SCOPE

- A. Provide all labor, materials, equipment and incidentals necessary to construct, pressure test and disinfect all potable water piping, fittings and appurtenances as shown on the Construction Drawings and as specified herein.
- B. Site piping covered under this Section shall begin at the outside face of structures and buildings, except where there is no joint at the outside face, then site piping shall begin not more than two feet beyond the face of the structure or building. Piping covered under this section shall also include piping within miscellaneous vaults such as meter and backflow prevention vaults.

1.02 RELATED WORK SPECIFIED ELSEWHERE

- A. Section 31 23 16 Trench Excavation and Backfill.
- B. Section 33 05 23 Pipe Jacking.
- C. Section 33 11 13 Ductile Iron Pipe and Fittings.
- D. Section 33 12 00 Water Distribution Equipment.
- E. Section 33 05 13 Manholes and Structures.

1.03. SUBMITTALS

Complete product data and engineering data, including shop drawings, shall be submitted to the Engineer in accordance with the requirements of Section 01 33 00 of the Contract Documents.

1.04 TRANSPORTATION AND HANDLING

A. Unloading: Furnish equipment and facilities for unloading, handling, distributing and storing pipe, fittings and accessories. Make equipment available at all times for use in unloading. Do not drop or dump materials. Any materials dropped or dumped will be subject to rejection without additional justification. Pipe handled on skids shall not be rolled or skidded against the pipe on the ground.

B. Handling: Handle pipe, fittings, valves and accessories carefully to prevent shock or damage. Handle pipe by rolling on skids, forklift, or front end loader. Do not use material damaged in handling. Slings, hooks or pipe tongs shall be padded and used in such a manner as to prevent damage to the exterior coatings or internal lining of the pipe. Do not use chains in handling pipe, fittings and appurtenances.

1.05 STORAGE AND PROTECTION

- A. Store all pipe which cannot be distributed along the route. Make arrangements for the use of suitable storage areas.
- B. Stored materials shall be kept safe from damage. The interior of all pipe, fittings and other appurtenances shall be kept free from dirt or foreign matter at all times. Valves and hydrants shall be drained and stored in a manner that will protect them from damage by freezing.
- C. Pipe shall not be stacked higher than the limits recommended by the manufacturer. The bottom tier shall be kept off the ground on timbers, rails or concrete. Pipe in tiers shall be alternated: bell, plain end; bell, plain end. At least two rows of timbers shall be placed between tiers and chocks, affixed to each other in order to prevent movement. The timbers shall be large enough to prevent contact between the pipe in adjacent tiers.
- D. Stored mechanical and push-on joint gaskets shall be placed in a cool location out of direct sunlight. Gaskets shall not come in contact with petroleum products. Gaskets shall be used on a first-in, first-out basis.
- E. Mechanical-joint bolts shall be handled and stored in such a manner that will ensure proper use with respect to types and sizes.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 PIPE

A. Ductile Iron Pipe

Shall be Pressure Class 350 from 4" to 24" diameter unless otherwise shown on the plans and shall conform to AWWA C151/ANSI A21.51, latest revision.

Ductile iron pipe, specials, and fittings shall have an approved exterior asphaltic coating ANSI/AWWA C151/A21.51 and an approved interior coating of standard cement lining with an asphaltic seal coating, 1 mil in accordance with AWWA C104/ANSI A21.4.

The seal coat shall not impair the potability or impart color, taste, odor, phenols, toxicity, caustic alkalinity, or have deleterious effect to the water shall be certified to

meet the requirements of ANSI/NSF Standard 61. Each pipe shall bear a mark denoting its class.

B. Polyvinyl Chloride Pipe (C900)

PVC pressure pipe 4" to 10" shall be DR 18, PR 150 unless otherwise shown on the plans and shall conform to AWWA C900, latest designation, made from compounds meeting standard code designation PVC 1120 and shall meet or exceed all requirements of ASTM D2241. Couplings, bells, gaskets and lubricants to be used with PVC pipe shall also conform to AWWA C900 requirements. Pipe shall have ductile iron pipe equivalent outside diameters. Each joint of pipe shall be marked with the nominal size and OD Base, material code designation, dimension ratio number, AWWA pressure class, AWWA designation number, manufacturer's name or trademark and production record code, and seal of the National Sanitation Foundation verifying the suitability of the pipe material for potable water service. Gaskets and lubricants shall be of proper size and shape and suitable for potable water and shall be furnished as required by the pipe manufacturer.

The contractor shall furnish manufacturer's affidavit certifying that the pipe meets AWWA C900 latest designation standards. Size and class shall be as called for in the Bid Form or plans.

C. Molecular Oriented Polyvinyl Chloride, (C909 PVCO), (Pressure Pipe)

Oriented Poly (Vinyl Chloride), PVCO pressure pipe 6", 8" and 10" shall meet or exceed all requirements of ASTM D2241. Pipe shall have a minimum Hydrostatic Design Basis (HDB) of 7100 psi. The PVCO pipe shall be joined using elastomeric seals (gaskets). The joint shall meet the requirements of Specification D3139 and the elastomeric seal shall meet the requirements of Specification F477. PVCO pipe shall not be joined by solvent cementing. Pipe shall have a ductile iron outside diameter and have a pressure rating of 150 psi. PVCO pipe shall have a safety factor of 2.5 to 1 along with a surge allowance. It shall carry FM Class #1612 approval and be listed by U.L.

Pipe shall be blue in color and shall be Ultra-Blue (PVCO) Class 150 psi (unless otherwise shown on the plans) CI O.D., by JM Eagle. JM Eagle shall provide the standard one year warranty from the date of completion and approval by the Owner. This warranty includes the cost of repair or replacement from problems resulting from pipe failure due to defect in materials or manufacture. Size and class shall be as called for in the Bid Form or plans.

D. High Density Polyethylene Pipe (C906)

This specification covers the requirements of high density polyethylene water transmission and distribution pipe in sizes 4" to 36" joined by means of zero leak-rate heat-fusion, and approved mechanical joints, meeting the specifications and requirements of American Water Works Association Standard C906.

The polyethylene pipe and fittings shall be made from virgin resins exhibiting a cell classification of PE 345464C as defined in ASTM D3350-Type III, Grade PE34 with an established hydrostatic-design-basis of 1600 psi for water at 73 Degrees F. The resin shall be listed by the PPI (Plastic Pipe Institute) in its pipe-grade registry Technical Report (TR) 4, "Listing of Plastic Pipe Compounds".

Pipe and fittings must be marked as prescribed by AWWA C906 and NSF 14 & 16. Pipe markings will include nominal size, OD base (i.e. 12" ductile iron pipe sizing, DIPS), dimension ration, pressure class, WPR, AWWA C906, manufacturers name, manufacturer's production code including day, month, year extruded, and manufacturer's plant and extrusion line; and NSF logo.

The wall thickness shall follow the Dimension Ration (DR) system prescribed in AWWA C906. Laying lengths are 40 ft standard. The pipe is to be joined by heat fusion, flanges or other mechanical joint systems proven for HDPE pipes. Both pipe and fittings must be NSF listed by the manufacturer with the pipe bearing the "NSF" logo or mark. HDPE shall be the DR as shown on plans and/or in the bid form. The DIPS longitudinal color stripe pattern shall have three equally spaced pairs of **BLUE** color stripes extruded in to the pipe OD. The pipe shall be Driscoplex 4000 or approved equal. Size and class shall be as called for in the Bid Form or plans.

E. Copper Tubing

Type K copper 3 inches and smaller shall conform to AWWA Specification 7S-CR, ASTM Specifications B-88, and Federal Specification WW-T-799. All service lines from the main to the meter up to 1" shall be copper tubing. Service lines from 1-1/4" up to 3" can be copper tubing or HDPE water service tubing as defined below.

F. Plastic SDR 9 HDPE Water Service Tubing (C901)

Polyethylene Copper Tube Size Water Service Tubing - 3 inches and Smaller may be used in lieu of copper tubing except as defined above. Pipe shall be manufactured from a PE 3408 resin listed with the Plastic Pipe Institute (PPI) as TR-4. The resin material will meet the specifications of ASTM D3350-02 with a cell classification of PE:345464C. Pipe shall have a manufacturing standard of ASTM D2737 (CTS). Pipe shall be DR 9 (200psi WPR) @ 73.4 degrees F unless otherwise specified on the plans. The pipe shall contain no recycled compounds except that generated in the manufacturer's own plant from resin of the same specification from the same raw material. All pipes shall be suitable for use as pressure conduits, and per AWWA C901, have nominal burst values of three times the Working Pressure Rating (WPR) of the pipe. Pipe shall also have the following agency listing of NSF 61. The pipe shall be Driscoplex 5100 Ultra-Line or approved equal.

G. Water System Materials

All materials utilized in the construction of the water system shall be new. Used water mains that meet these standards may be used again after the pipe has been thoroughly cleaned and restored practically to its original condition.

2.02 JOINTS AND GASKETS

A. Push-On Joints

1. DIP Push-on joints shall conform to AWWA C111/ANSI A21.11 (latest revision) - Rubber Gasket Joints for Cast Iron Pressure Pipe and Fittings. Details of the joint design shall be in accordance with the manufacturer's standard practice such as "Fastite", "Bell-Tite," "Tyton," or equal joints. Gasket material shall be standard styrene butadiene copolymer (SBR).

Whenever the pipe is cut in the field, the cut end shall be conditioned so it can be used in making up a joint by filing or grinding the cut end to remove burrs or sharp edges that might damage the gasket.

2. PVC Push-on joints shall be an elastomeric gasketed joint. Insertion and lubrication of the elastomeric gasket in the annular groove must be as recommended by the manufacturer.

B. Restrained Joints

Restrained joints for DIP shall be obtained by the installation of "Field Lok", "TR Flex", "Fast-Grip", "Flex-Ring", MEGALUG by EBAA Iron, Inc. or approved equal. These restraint glands shall have a working pressure of at least 250 psi with a minimum safety factor of 2:1.

Tyton Joint Pipe with "Field Lok Gaskets", Fastite Pipe with "Fast-Grip Gaskets" or DIP or PVC Pipe with EBAA Iron, Inc. pipe restraints or approved equal.

All underground creek crossings and jack and bores with steel casing shall use "Field Lok" or "Fast-Grip" restrained joints.

C. Flexible Joints

Flexible joints shall be American Pipe "Flex-Lok", Clow "Ball and Socket", U.S. Pipe "Usiflex", EBAA Iron Inc. FLEX-900 or approved equal. Piping shall have a minimum working pressure rating of 250 PSI and a minimum allowable joint deflection of 15°.

D. Mechanical Joints

Mechanical joints for DIP and PVC shall consist of a bolt joint of the stuffing box type as detailed in AWWA C110/ANSI A21.10 (latest revision) and described in AWWA C111/ANSI A21.11 (latest revision) - Rubber Gasket Joints shall be SBR rubber and conform to AWWA C111/ANSI A21.11 (latest revision).

E. Flanged Joints

Flanged joints shall conform to AWWA C110/ANSI A21.10 (latest revision). Gaskets shall be SBR rubber per ANSI/AWWA C111/A21.11. This rubber compound is NSF 61 certified for contact with potable water or other approved quality shall be used in all flanged joints. The bolts and nuts shall conform in dimensions to the American Standard heavy series.

"KWIK" or Uni-Flange adaptors for plain and pipe shall be used only when authorized by the Engineer. Set screws shall be self-torquing or be properly torqued during installation with a torque wrench.

F. Fusion Joints

- 1. Sections of polyethylene pipe should be joined into continuous lengths on the jobsite above ground. The joining method shall be the butt fusion method and shall be performed in strict accordance with the pipe manufacturer's recommendations. The butt fusion equipment used in the joining procedures should be capable of meeting all conditions recommended by the pipe manufacturer, including, but not limited to, temperature requirements of 400 degrees Fahrenheit, alignment, and an interfacial fusion pressure of 75 PSI. The butt fusion joining will produce a joint weld strength equal to or greater than the tensile strength of the pipe itself. All welds will be made using a Data Logger to record temperature, fusion pressure, with a graphic representation of the fusion cycle shall be part of the Quality Control records.
- 2. Sidewall fusions for connections to outlet piping shall be performed in accordance with HDPE pipe and fitting manufacturer's specifications. The heating irons used for sidewall fusion shall have an inside diameter equal to the outside diameter of the HDPE pipe being fused. The size of the heating iron shall be ¼ inch larger than the size of the outlet branch being fused.
- 3. Mechanical joining will be used where the butt fusion method can not be used. Mechanical joining will be accomplished by either using a HDPE flange adapter with a Ductile Iron back-up ring or HDPE Mechanical Joint adapter with a Ductile Iron back-up ring.
- 4. Socket fusion, hot gas fusion, threading, solvents, and epoxies will not be used to join HDPE pipe.

G. Threaded Flange Joints

These joints shall be in accordance with AWWA C115/ANSI A21.15. All flanges shall have a taper pipe thread (NPT) in accordance with ANSI B2.1, Pipe Threads (except dryseal), adapted to DIP and CIP outside diameters.

H. Copper And HDPE Service Pipe

Use brass flare fittings or compression joints for copper and "Double 'O' Seal" Central Plastics Co. transition fittings for HDPE.

2.03 PIPE FITTINGS AND SPECIALS

A. Dip Fittings And Specials

Mechanical joint fittings 4 inches through 24 inches shall conform to either AWWA C110 or AWWA C153 (Compact Fittings). Minimum pressure rating for fittings shall be 350 psi. All other fittings shall conform to AWWA C110. Unless otherwise noted on the plans, fittings for underground installation shall be mechanical joint conforming to AWWA C111, and fittings for above ground installation shall be flanged conforming to ANSI B16.1 Class 125. Minimum pressure rating for fittings shall be 250 psi. Fittings and specials shall be completed with rings, bolts, gaskets, etc., for joints.

B. Polyvinyl Chloride Pipe

Fittings used on 4" thru 10" PVC Pipe transitions shall be mechanical or restrained joints as manufactured by American Pipe, U.S. Pipe, Clow or EBAA Iron Inc.

- C. Polyethylene Pipe (HDPE)
 - Butt Fusion Fittings Fittings shall be PE3408 HDPE, Cell Classification of 345464C as determined by ASTM D3350-02, and approved for AWWA use. Butt Fusion Fittings shall have a manufacturing standard of ASTM D3261. Molded & fabricated fittings shall have a pressure rating equal to the pipe unless otherwise specified in the plans. Fabricated fittings are to be manufactured using Data Loggers. Temperature, fusion pressure and a graphic representation of the fusion cycle shall be part of the quality control records. All fittings shall be suitable for use as pressure conduits, and per AWWA C906, have nominal burst values of three and one-half times the Working Pressure Rating (WPR) of the fitting.
 - Electrofusion Fittings Fittings shall be PE3408 HDPE, Cell Classification of 345464C as determined by ASTM D3350-02. Electrofusion Fittings shall have a manufacturing standard of ASTM F1055. Fittings shall have a pressure rating equal to the pipe unless otherwise specified on the plans. All electrofusion fittings shall be suitable for use as pressure conduits, and per AWWA C906, have nominal burst values of three and one-half times the Working Pressure Rating (WPR) of the fitting.
 - 3. Flanged and Mechanical Joint Adapters Flanged and Mechanical Joint Adapters shall be PE 3408 HDPE, Cell Classification of 345464C as determined by ASTM D3350-02. Flanged and Mechanical Joint Adapters shall have a manufacturing standard of ASTM D3261. Fittings shall have a pressure rating equal to the pipe unless otherwise specified on the plans.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AND OBSTRUCTIONS

- A. The plans indicate utilities and obstructions that are known to exist according to the best information available to the Owner.
- B. Existing Utility Location: The following steps shall be exercised to avoid interruption of existing utility service.
 - 1. Expose the facility, for a distance of at least 100 feet in advance of pipeline construction, to verify its true location and grade. Repair, or have repaired, any damage to utilities resulting from locating or exposing their true location.
 - 2. Avoid utility damage and interruption by protection with means or methods recommended by the utility owner.

C. Conflict with Existing Utilities:

- 1. Horizontal Conflict: Horizontal conflict shall be defined as when the actual horizontal separation between a utility, main, or service and the proposed piping does not permit safe installation of the piping by the use of sheeting, shoring, tying-back, supporting, or temporarily suspending service of the parallel or crossing facility. The Contractor may change the proposed alignment of the piping to avoid horizontal conflicts if the new alignment complies with regulatory agency requirements and after a written request to and subsequent approval by the Engineer. Where such relocation of the piping is denied by the Engineer, the Contractor shall arrange to have the utility, main, or service relocated.
- Vertical Conflict: Vertical conflict shall be defined as when the actual vertical separation between a utility, main, or service and the proposed piping does not permit the crossing without immediate or potential future damage to the utility, main, service, or the piping. The Contractor may change the proposed grade of the piping to avoid vertical conflicts if the changed grade maintains adequate cover and complies with regulatory agencies requirements after written request to and subsequent approval by the Engineer.
- D. Electronic Locator: Have available at all times an electronic pipe locator and a magnetic locator, in good working order, to aid in locating existing pipe lines or other obstructions.
- E. Water and Sewer Separation:
 - Water mains shall be laid at least ten (10) feet horizontally from any existing or proposed sanitary sewer, storm sewer or sewer manhole. The distance shall be measured edge-to-edge. When local conditions prevent a horizontal separation of 10 feet, the water main may be laid closer to a sewer (on a case-by-case basis)

provided the water main is laid in a separate trench or on an undisturbed earth shelf located on one side of the sewer at such an elevation that the bottom of the water main is at least 18 inches above the top of the sewer. It is advised that the sewer be constructed of materials and with joints that are equivalent to water main standards of construction and be pressure tested to assure water-tightness prior to backfilling.

- Water mains crossing house sewers, storm sewers or sanitary sewers shall be laid to provide a separation of at least 18 inches between the bottom of the water main and the top of the sewer. At the crossings, one full length of water pipe shall be located so that both joints will be as far from the sewer as possible (bisected at the point of crossing). Special structural support for the water and sewer pipes may be required.
- 3. When local conditions prevent a vertical separation of 18 inches and/or less than 10 feet of horizontal separation, the sewer passing over or under water mains shall be constructed of materials and with joints that are equivalent to water main standards of construction and shall be pressure tested to assure water-tightness prior to backfilling. At the crossings, one full length of water pipe shall be located so that both joints will be as far from the sewer as possible (bisected at the point of crossing).
- 4. When water mains cross under sewers, additional measures shall be taken by providing:
 - a. a vertical separation of at least 18 inches between the bottom of the sewer and the top of the water main;
 - b. adequate structural support for the sewers to prevent excessive deflection of joints and settling on and breaking the water mains;
 - c. that the length of water pipe be centered at the point of crossing so that the joints will be equidistant and as far as possible from the sewer; and,
 - d. both the sewer and the water main shall be constructed of water pipe materials and subjected to hydrostatic tests, as prescribed in this document. Encasement of the water pipe in concrete shall also be considered.
- 5. No water main shall pass through, or come in contact with, any part of a sanitary sewer manhole.

F. Surface Water Crossings:

Surface water crossings, both over and under water, may present special concerns and should be discussed with the Division before the final plans are prepared.

1. At above water crossings, the pipe shall be adequately supported and anchored, protected from damage and freezing, and accessible for repairs or replacement.

- 2. At underwater crossings, a minimum of two (2) feet of cover shall be provided over the pipe.
- 3. The installation of ductile iron pipe with restrained push-on joints and encased in concrete, may be considered with the prior approval of the Engineer. Otherwise, when crossing water courses which are greater than 15 feet in width, only pipes of special construction, having flexible, watertight joints shall be installed.
- 4. Valves shall be provided at both ends of water crossings so that the section can be isolated for testing or repair (valves shall be easily accessible and not subject to flooding); the valve closest to the supply source shall be in a manhole.
- 5. Sampling taps shall be installed at each end of the crossing, and permanent taps shall be made for testing and determining leaks.

3.02 INSTALLATION IN TRENCH

- A. Proper and suitable tools and appliances for safe and convenient handling and installing of pipe and fittings shall be used. Great care shall be taken to prevent pipe coatings from being damaged, particularly cement linings on the inside of D.I.P. pipes and fittings. Any damage shall be remedied as directed. All pipe and fittings shall be carefully examined by the Contractor for defects just before installing and no pipe or fitting shall be installed which is defective.
- B. If any defective pipe or fitting is discovered after having been installed, it shall be removed and replaced in a satisfactory manner with a sound pipe or fitting by the Contractor at his own expense. All pipes and fittings shall be thoroughly cleaned before they are installed and shall be kept clean until they are used in the completed work. Open ends of pipe shall be kept plugged with a bulkhead during construction.
- C. Water mains shall be installed on a 4" Class II or III select natural material bedding as specified in Section 31 23 16 Trench Excavation and Backfill with O.D./2 haunching. The compaction for bedding and haunching shall be 90% of Standard Proctor Density as determined by (ASTM D698). Pipe shall not be installed within 6 inches of rock. In trench rock conditions, a minimum of 6 inches of sand or approved suitable soil shall be placed on rock prior to pipe installation. Trenches shall be kept free of water.
- D. Where bends and tees occur in pressure mains, the Contractor will pour a block of concrete at the bend or tee as detailed on the Plans. The block shall consist of 3000 psi concrete, and shall be of size and shape as shown on the plans or as directed by the Engineer. The Contractor may use forms or either walls to mold the "thrust block;" however, if earth walls are used they shall be cut true to shape with all excess earth removed and the work shall be done in such a manner that no loose earth will become mixed with the fresh concrete. Thrust restraint shall be provided at all points where hydraulic thrust may develop. This will include providing reaction blocking, tie rods or joints designed to prevent movement to all bends, tees, valves, plugs, hydrants and

other points where thrust may develop. The Engineer shall inspect all thrust blocks prior to them being covered.

- E. All ductile iron pipe laid underground shall be mechanical joint pipe and fittings or "push-on" type joint unless otherwise shown on the plans or directed by the Engineer.
- F. All water mains laid underground shall have a minimum of 42 inches of cover above the top of the pipe unless otherwise shown on the plans, or unless otherwise directed by the Engineer.
- G. All water mains laid under existing sewers, storm drains, culverts, structures, etc., shall have a minimum clearance of 18 inches between the outside wall of the water pipe and the outside surface of the existing pipe or structure.

3.03 PIPE JOINTING

A. Mechanical and Restrained Joints

Clean spigot and bell of foreign material and apply soapy water containing chlorine solution before slipping gasket and gland over spigot end of pipe. Small side of gasket and lip of gland must face the socket. Paint gasket with soapy solution and place spigot end of pipe securely home in socket. Push gasket evenly into position in socket, slide gland into position and tighten bolts with fingers.

Tighten bolts to uniform tightness with ratchet wrench by tightening bottom bolt and then top bolt. Thereafter, all bolts shall be tightened in sequence of 180 degrees apart until all bolts are within the range of torque recommended by the manufacturer.

B. Push-On Joints

Jointing shall be made with rubber gaskets and lubricant furnished by the manufacturer in strict accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations. Prepare field cut pipe by filing 1/8 inch 30 degree bevel on pipe end to avoid injuring gasket.

C. Threaded Flange Joints

Insert recommended manufacturer's gasket and tighten bolts to uniform tightness with ratchet wrench by tightening bottom bolt and then top bolt. Thereafter, all bolts shall be tightened in sequence of 180 degrees apart until all bolts are within the range of torque recommended by the manufacturer.

D. Polyvinyl Chloride Pipe

Do not thread PVC pipe. When threads are necessary, adaptors will be used. Use strap wrenches to couple threaded PVC pipe fittings and use lubricant recommended by pipe manufacturer.

Avoid excessive torque and do not score pipe. Use couplings furnished with pipe for fittings and install in strict accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

E. Polyethylene Pipe (HDPE)

Sections of polyethylene pipe should be joined into continuous lengths on the jobsite above ground. The joining method shall be the butt fusion method and shall be performed in strict accordance with the pipe manufacturer's recommendations. The butt fusion equipment used in the joining procedures should be capable of meeting all conditions recommended by the pipe manufacturer, including, but not limited to, temperature requirements of 400 degrees Fahrenheit, alignment, and an interfacial fusion pressure of 75 PSI. The butt fusion joining will produce a joint weld strength equal to or greater than the tensile strength of the pipe itself. All welds will be made using a Data Logger to record temperature, fusion pressure, with a graphic representation of the fusion cycle shall be part of the Quality Control records.

3.04 MISCELLANEOUS CONSTRUCTION

A. Connections To Existing Mains

These shall be made at the locations shown on the plans or as directed by the Engineer.

When existing gate valves on the distribution system must be shut off in order to make connections, this work will be done by the Contractor with approval of the Owner. Whenever the Contractor elects to proceed with a connection without a complete shut-off, this work will be done without additional cost to the Owner.

When an existing main has been cut or a plug removed for a connection, the work of making a connection shall proceed without interruption until complete at no increase in contract price.

Connections to existing mains shall be governed by all applicable provisions of these specifications. The contractor shall locate, excavate and cut the existing main, remove the section of old pipe, rework the trench, connect the new pipe with the old and set necessary specials and valves as shown on the plans or as directed by the Engineer. Tapping sleeves, crosses and valves may be used at the option of the Contractor at no addition to the contract price. All necessary precautions shall be taken to brace valves and mains under pressure to prevent blowouts.

B. Concrete Valve Marker Posts

A concrete valve marker post shall be furnished and installed as directed, with each gate valve (excluding fire hydrant valves). The concrete marker post shall have a four inch minimum square section and a minimum length of 42 inches with beveled edges and containing at least one three-eighths inch diameter bar of reinforcing steel. Markers shall be placed as directed by the Engineer and set so as to leave 18 inches exposed above grade. The exposed portion of the valve markers shall be engraved with the word "WATER".

C. Service Connections

Corporation stops and service saddles shall be used for all service connections. They shall have tapered threads for iron or steel pipe and pipe threads for plastic pipe saddles. Use approved tapping machine to make all ductile or cast iron taps.

D. Expansion Couplings

Expansion couplings shall be installed where shown on the plans, required or directed. Unless otherwise shown or specified, the pipe couplings shall be of a gasketed short sleeve type, with a diameter to fit the pipe properly.

E. Pipe Sleeves

Contractor shall furnish and install cast iron wall sleeves or wall pipe as indicated on the plans where cast iron and ductile iron piping connects with or passes through concrete walls or floors and in locations where small piping and electric wiring and conduits connect with or pass through concrete walls or floors. Wall pipe or sleeves shall be accurately located and securely fastened in place before concrete is poured. All wall sleeves and wall pipes shall have wall collars properly located to be in the center of the wall where the respective pipes are to be installed.

F. Built-In Pipe And Fittings

Where shown on the plans or where directed, pipe and fittings shall be carefully built into or supported on concrete or brick masonry. Where pipe or fittings are shown through concrete or brick walls, the pipe or fittings shall be carefully supported and the masonry work poured or built against them. Under no circumstances will blocking out of walls be permitted for pipe insertion later.

G. Installation Or Repair

Any pipe, solder or flux which is used in the installation or repair of the public water distribution system shall be lead free with not more than 8.0% lead in pipes and fittings and not more than 0.2% lead in solders and flux.

3.05 DRILLING AND TAPPING

- A. Wherever required, cast iron and ductile iron pipes and fittings shall be drilled and tapped to other piping. All holes shall be drilled accurately at right angles to the axis of any pipe or fitting. Where plugs are drilled, holes shall be at right angles to the face of the plug.
- B. All tapping shall be carefully and neatly done by skilled workmen with suitable tools.
- C. Where connections are made between new and old water piping the connections shall be made in a thorough and workmanlike manner using proper fittings and specials to suit actual conditions.

3.06 PIPELINE DETECTION MARKING

- A. All water mains shall be protected by a plastic marking tape placed a minimum of 12 inches above the top of pipe for its full length. The tape shall be similar to Reef Industries Terra Tape Standard. It will have sufficient thickness; tensile strength; elongation and resistance to alkalis, acids and other destructive agents to remain a permanent marker of the line buried below. A message shall be printed on the tape at least every 30 inches "CAUTION WATER LINE BURIED BELOW".
- B. All non-metallic water mains shall be protected by a metalized foil tape buried a minimum of 12 inches above the top of the pipe for its full length. The foil shall be protected by plastic film laminated on each side. The lamination shall be strong enough to prevent the separation of foil and plastic film. The tape should be similar to Reef Industries' Terra Type Detectable. It shall be inductively locatable and conductively traceable using a standard pipe and cable-locating device. A message shall be printed on the tape every 30 inches "CAUTION WATER LINE BURIED BELOW".

3.07 PRESSURE TESTING

After the pipe has been laid and backfilled, all new pressure pipe, or any valved section thereof, shall be subjected to a hydrostatic pressure test at the rated pressure of the pipe and joints. The duration of each pressure test shall be at least two consecutive hours.

Pressure and leakage tests shall be performed in accordance with the latest edition of AWWA Standard C600. The test pressure of the installed pipe shall be a minimum 1.5 times the working pressure, but not less than 150 psi, whichever is greater. Allowable leakage shall be no greater than as calculated in L=SD(P)^{1/2}/133,200 where L is allowable leakage in gallons/hour, S is the length of pipe tested in feet, D is pipe diameter in inches and P is test pressure during the leakage test in pounds per square inch (psi).

Each valved section of pipe shall be slowly filled with water to the specified test pressure, based on the elevation of the lowest point of the line or lowest point of the section under test, and corrected to the elevation of the test gauge. The pressure shall be applied by means of a gasoline driven test pump connected to the pipe in a manner satisfactory to the Engineer. The Contractor shall make arrangements for metering the amount of water used during the test. The test pressure shall be maintained by pumping during the test period.

The Contractor shall backfill all pipe and provide all reaction blocking before hydrostatic testing. It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to locate and repair any and all leaks that may develop. The Engineer may direct the contractor to leave certain joints and connections uncovered until testing has been completed.

Before applying the specified test pressure, all air shall be expelled from the pipe. If hydrants or blowoffs are not available at high places, taps at points of highest elevation shall be made before the test is made and plugs inserted after the test has been completed.

All exposed pipe, fittings, valves, hydrants, and joints will be carefully examined during the test. Any cracked or defective pipe, fittings, valves, or hydrants discovered in consequence of this pressure test shall be removed and replaced with sound material and the test shall be repeated until satisfactory to the Engineer.

The amount of leakage allowed during the pressure test shall be 10 gallons per inch diameter per mile per day. No section of pipe will be acceptable until the leakage is less than this amount.

3.08 STERILIZATION OF POTABLE WATER MAINS

Precaution should be taken when installing pipes, valves, and hydrants to keep them as clean as possible to minimize contamination. After each line between valves has been tested and all necessary repairs made, and the lines flushed clean, water containing not less than 25 parts per million of chlorine shall be fed in the line and allowed to stand 24 hours, after which the lines shall be flushed and samples taken at various points. Water mains shall be disinfected by the continuous feet method. The chlorine solution shall be slowly fed through a suitable device within 10 feet of the point of filling the new main. Care should be taken in filling the mains so that all air pockets are eliminated so as to permit intimate contact of the disinfection agent with the entire inside diameter of the pipe. The water and chlorine solution should be slowly fed until 25 mg/l free chlorine is throughout the main. An acceptable method is by preparing a 1% chlorine solution using sodium hypochlorite or calcium hypochlorite. For example, one pound of calcium hypochlorite to 8 gallons of water will produce a 1% solution. The required amount of chlorine to produce a 25 mg/l concentration per 100 feet of pipe is as follows:

Pipe	1% Chlorine		
Diameter	Solution (gal.)		
4"	0.16		
6"	0.36		
8"	0.65		
10"	1.02		
12"	1.44		
16"	2.60		

The disinfection solution shall be allowed to remain in the lines for not less than 24 hours. At the end of the 24-hour period, all portions of the main shall show a chlorine residual of not less than 10 mg/l. The highly chlorinated water shall be drained to a

sanitary sewer or neutralized with an approved chemical prior to draining to other than a sanitary sewer.

Disinfection of the new mains and the disposal of the heavily chlorinated water, following the disinfection, shall be accomplished in accordance with the latest edition of AWWA Standard C651. There shall be no physical connection between the distribution system and any pipes, pumps, hydrants, or tanks whereby unsafe water and other contaminating materials may be discharged or drawn into the system.

Following chlorination all water shall be flushed from the lines until the replacement water has a chlorine content not more than 0.1 p.p.m. in excess of the residual in the water from the supplying main. Water samples shall be taken by the Contractor and sent to an approved laboratory for bacteriological examination. The lines shall not be placed into service until a satisfactory bacteriological report is received.

The "tablet method" of disinfection which consists of placing calcium hypochlorite granules or tablets in the water main as it is being installed and then filling the main with potable water when installation is complete is not allowed.

3.09 CLEANUP

Remove all surplus materials, tools, excess dirt, rubbish, and debris from the site as installation progresses. Clean as directed by the Engineer. Obtain letter of approval from the State Highway Department covering work installed in areas of State Highway jurisdiction. Contractor to maintain surface of ditches, unpaved streets, road shoulders, sod, grass, and other disturbed surfaces for a period of thirty (30) days thereafter.

END OF SECTION

WATER DISTRIBUTION EQUIPMENT

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SCOPE

Furnish all materials, labor, and equipment to properly install all valves, valve boxes, hydrants, service saddles, couplings, backflow preventers, pressure gauges, meters, and related accessories at the locations shown on the plans or as directed by the Engineer for the proper completion of the work included under this contract whether shown expressly on the plans or implied by other requirements.

1.02 RELATED WORK SPECIFIED ELSEWHERE

- A. Section 33 11 00 Water Distribution Piping.
- B. Section 33 05 13 Manholes and Structures

1.03 SUBMITTALS

Complete product data and engineering data, including shop drawings, shall be submitted to the Engineer in accordance with the requirements of Section 01 33 00 of the Contract Documents.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 GENERAL

- A. All valves shall have the name of the manufacturer, pressure, and size of the valve cast upon the body or bonnet in raised letters.
- B. Valves and operating mechanisms shall be of the proper size and dimensions to fit the pipe connections thereto and shall be installed in the position and within the space shown on the plans.
- C. All castings, whether bronze, iron or steel, shall be sound and smooth, without swells, lumps, blisters, sand holes or other imperfections and shall be made in accordance with best foundry practice. All materials, unless specifically noted otherwise, shall be of the grade and qualities as established by the specifications of the ASTM listed as follows:

Iron Castings A126, Grade B

Steel Castings A216

Stem, Bolts, & Nuts B21, Grade A, Half Hard

Stem Nut & Yoke Nut B132, Grade B

Stuffing Box Gland B62, with some modifications
Bushings B62, Permissible as approved

2.02 GATE VALVES

- A. 1-1/2 inch or smaller: Shall be of the best quality bronze body, bronze mounted, solid wedge type, non-rising stem, and shall be rated for 200 psi water working pressure.
 - B. 2 inch through 3 inch valves: Shall be resilient wedge type rated for 250 psig cold water working pressure. All ferrous components shall be ductile iron or cast iron.
 - C. Valves 4"-16" shall be in full compliance with AWWA C509 and be UL listed, FM approved. The words "Ductile Iron" or "Cast Iron" shall be cast on the valve or stamped on a permanently attached corrosion resistant metal tag. The wedge shall be ductile iron encapsulated with nitrile rubber or SBR rubber and be symmetrical and seal equally well with flow in either direction. There shall be no exposed metal seams, edges or screws within the waterway.
 - 1. The stem shall be bronze in full compliance with section 4.7 of AWWA C509.
 - 2. Valves shall be NSF Standard 61 certified.
 - 3. Bolting materials shall develop the physical strength requirements of ASTM A307 and may have either regular square or hexagonal heads with dimensions conforming to ANSI B18.2.1. Metric size socket head cap screws therefore are not allowed.
 - 4. Operating nut shall be constructed of ductile iron and shall have four flats at stem connection to assure even input torque to the stem.
 - 5. All gaskets shall be pressure energized O-rings.
 - 6. Stem shall be sealed by three O-rings. The top two O-rings shall be replaceable with valve fully open and while subject to full rated working pressure. O-rings set in a cartridge shall not be allowed.
 - 7. Valve shall have thrust washers located with (1) above and (1) below the thrust collar to assure trouble-free operation of the valve.
 - 8. All internal and external surfaces of the valve body and bonnet shall have a fusion bonded epoxy coating, complying with ANSI/AWWA C550, applied electrostatically prior to assembly, 250# raised face flanges shall be provided when required.
 - 9. Valves shall be American Flow Control, Mueller, Clow, M&H, or approved equal.
- D. Joints: Below ground valves shall be mechanical joint, above ground valves shall be

- flanged, unless otherwise shown on the plans. Flanged joints shall meet the requirements of ANSI B16.1, Class 125.
- E. Opening: The direction of opening in all cases shall be counterclockwise, or to the left. The direction of opening shall be clearly marked with the word "OPEN" and an arrow at least two inches long pointing in the direction of "OPEN". The markings shall appear on the wrench nut base for valves installed below ground and on the handwheel of all valves having handwheels.
- F. Position Indicators: All gate valves for above ground service shall be equipped with needle and slot type position indicators with a bronze pointer mounted on a threaded collar moving through the valve range and indicating on a marked plate attached to the valve.
 - G. Handwheels: Handwheels shall be furnished for all gate valves installed above ground or in valve pits below ground where access to handwheels is provided.

2.03 CHECK VALVES

- A. Air cushioned check valves shall prevent backflow and be watertight. Valves shall be designed for the operating head indicated and shall not slam shut on pump shutdown. Valves shall be hinged disc type with cast iron body and cover conforming to ASTM A126, Class B and cast or ductile iron disc. The valve shall have a resilient Buna-N rubber disc seat held in place by a stainless steel follower ring and screws. The body seat shall be stainless steel and replaceable. The flow area shall be greater than or equal to the nominal inlet size. The shaft shall be continuous and stainless steel, extending both sides of the body and be sealed where it passes through the body to prevent leakage. A lever and an easily moved counterweight shall initiate closure and shall be steel or ductile iron. The external, side mounted, adjustable, air cushion cylinder shall cushion closure of the valve and be corrosion resistant. Valves shall be equipped with a 1/2-inch tap at the high point of the valve for bleeding air from the line.
- B. Oil cushioned check valves shall prevent backflow and be watertight. Valves shall be designed for the operating head indicated and shall not slam shut on pump shutdown. Valves shall be hinged disc type with cast iron body and cover conforming to ASTM A126, Class B and cast or ductile iron disc. The valve shall have a resilient Buna-N rubber disc seat held in place by a stainless steel follower ring and screws. The body seat shall be stainless steel and replaceable. The flow area shall be greater than or equal to the nominal inlet size. The shaft shall be continuous and stainless steel, extending both sides of the body and be sealed where it passes through the body to prevent leakage. A lever and an easily moved counterweight shall initiate closure and shall be steel or ductile iron. An oil controlled, side mounted cylinder shall provide two speed control closing for the prevention of surge control and water hammer. Each stage shall be independently adjustable and the oil system will be self-contained and separate from the main line media. Valves shall be equipped with a 1/2-inch tap at the high point of the valve for bleeding air from the line.
- C. Valve ends shall be flanged, meeting the requirements of ANSI B16.1, Class 125.

D. Valves shall be manufactured by APCO, GA Industries, Crispin or approved equal.

2.04 BUTTERFLY VALVES

- A. Butterfly Valves for Liquid Service
 - 1. Butterfly valves shall be resilient seated, short body design, and shall be designed, manufactured, and tested in accordance with all requirements of AWWA C504 for Class 150B. Valves shall be rated for 150 psi working pressure unless otherwise specified or shown.
 - 2. Valve bodies shall be ductile iron conforming to ASTM A 536, Grade 65-45-12 or ASTM A 126, Grade B cast iron. Shafts shall be ASTM A 276, Type 304 stainless steel, machined and polished. Valve discs shall be ductile iron, ASTM A 536, Grade 65-45-12, ASTM A48 cast iron or ASTM A 126, Grade B cast iron. The resilient valve seat shall be located in the valve body and for valves 30-inch and greater, shall be fully field adjustable and field replaceable.

3. Actuators

- a. Valves for non-buried service, 3 through 8-inches in diameter, shall be lever operated. The lever shall be capable of being locked in 10 positions. Valves for non-buried service, 10-inches in diameter and larger, shall be handwheel operated.
- b. Valves for buried service or non-buried service, 10-inches or greater in diameter shall be equipped with traveling nut or worm gear type, self-locking type manual actuators designed, manufactured and tested in accordance with AWWA C504. Actuators shall be capable of holding the disc in any position between full open and full closed without any movement or fluttering of the disc. Actuators shall be furnished with fully adjustable mechanical stop-limiting devices. Actuators that utilize the sides of the actuator housing to limit disc travel are unacceptable.
- c. Valves shall be equipped with motorized actuators where shown on the Drawings.

4. Operators

- a. Valves for non-buried service, six feet or more above the operating floor shall be furnished with a chainwheel operator and chain for operation from floor level.
- b. Valves for buried service shall be equipped with a valve box and stem extension required to bring the operation nut within 6-inches of finished grade. Valve boxes and extension stems shall be as specified in this Section. Three inch and larger valves shall have two-inch square operating nuts.
- c. Valves shall be equipped with pedestal type operators where shown

on the Drawings and as specified in this Section.

- 5. Valves shall be installed with disc shaft horizontal, except where extended bonnets or levers are used. Valves and actuators shall have seals on all shafts and gaskets on valve actuator covers to prevent the entry of water.
- 6. Valve ends shall be mechanical joint type and meet the requirements of AWWA C111/ANSI 21.11, except where flanged or restrained joint ends are shown. Flange joints shall meet the requirements of ANSI B16.1, Class 125. At the contractor's option, grooved mechanical fittings meeting the requirements of AWWA C606 may be used in lieu of flanged connections in all interior ductile iron piping.
- 7. Butterfly valves shall be manufactured by Mueller, SPX/DeZurik, Pratt or approved equal.

2.05 PRESSURE GAUGES

- A. For installation on pump discharge as shown on the plans shall be of Bourdon tube design with brass tube and polished steel case, equal to Ashcroft general service gauge, Type 1009. The size shall be 3-1/2 inches with a range of 0 160 psi.
- B. For installation on the base of elevated water tank riser use Ashcroft: Model No. 35-1032S-20L. The size shall be 3-1/2 inches with a range of 0 100 psi.

2.06 AIR RELEASE VALVES (WATER)

- A. Air Release Valves: The air release valve shall automatically release air accumulations from the pipeline due to the action of the float. When the air valve body fills with air, the float falls freely from the orifice to allow the air to escape to the atmosphere. When all the air has been exhausted from the valve body, the float will be buoyed up to seat against the orifice and prevent water from being exhausted from the valve. The valve body and cover shall be constructed of cast iron conforming to ASTM A 126, Class B. A synthetic orifice button shall be affixed to the valve cover to provide a non-corrosive seat for the float. The float shall be constructed of stainless steel. A resilient, Buna-N seat shall be attached to the float for drop-tight closure. The float shall be free floating within the valve body.
- B. Air/Vacuum Valve: The air/vacuum valve shall discharge large amounts of air as the pipeline fills and allow air to enter the pipeline as it drains or in the event of vacuum conditions. The valve body and cover shall be constructed of cast iron conforming to ASTM A 126, Class B. The valve shall operate by means of a non-collapsible stainless steel float and Buna-N seat, which seals an orifice. As air enters the valve the float shall drop from the orifice and allow the air to escape. As water rises in the valve, the float will again seal the orifice. The valve will be of such design that the float cannot blow shut at any air velocity including sonic velocity. All working parts shall be of stainless steel. A surge check shall be installed on the inlet to reduce the flow of extremely high velocity water during closing to minimize slam and shock. The rate of closure shall be adjustable. The surge check shall have an ASTM A126,

Class B cast iron body and bronze internals.

- C. Combination Air Valves: Combination air valves shall combine the features of an air release valve and an air/vacuum valve and shall be of one of the following types:
 - 1. Combination air valves 3 inches and larger shall consist of an air/vacuum valve described in paragraph B. above, with an air release valve described in A. above tapped into its body. The valve shall be of two-piece body design with an isolation gate valve separating the two valves.
 - 2. Combination air valves smaller than 3 inches shall be single body, double orifice, allowing large volumes of air to escape out the larger diameter air and vacuum orifice when filling a pipeline and closes watertight when the liquid enters the valve. During large orifice closure, the smaller diameter air release orifice will open to allow small pockets of air to escape automatically and independently of the large orifice. The large air/vacuum orifice shall also allow large volumes of air to enter through the orifice during pipeline drainage to break the vacuum. The valve body and cover shall be constructed of cast iron conforming to ASTM A 126, Class B. The Buna-N seats must be fastened to the valve, without distortion, for drop-tight shut-off. The float shall be stainless steel. The valve will be of such design that the float cannot blow shut at any air velocity including sonic velocity. A surge check shall be installed on the inlet to reduce the flow of extremely high velocity water during closing to minimize slam and shock.
- D. Potable Water Systems: All air valves and accessories shall be supplied by a single manufacturer and shall be GA Industries, APCO Valve Corporation, Crispin, Val-Matic or approved equal.

2.07 REDUCED PRESSURE ZONE, DOUBLE CHECK & DOUBLE CHECK DETECTOR VALVE TYPE, BACKFLOW PREVENTER

- A. The device shall consist of a pressure differential relief valve located in a zone between two positive seating check valves. The relief valve shall contain a separate means whereby free air will enter the zone, and contained water will be discharged to the atmosphere when the valve is fully open. The assembly shall include two tightly closing shut-off valves before and after the device, test cocks, and a strainer. The device shall meet the requirements of AWWA C511, latest revision, UL EX3185, and the SBCCI Plumbing Code. The device shall be Watts Regulator Co. Series 909 or approved equal.
- B. The size shall be as shown on the plans. Size 3 inch and smaller shall have ball valves for shut-off. Size 4 inch and larger shall have OS & Y4 gate valves for shut-off. A 2-inch diameter bypass line with shut off valve shall be provided for size 4 inches and larger.
- C. If intended for below grade service, the backflow preventer shall be installed in a precast or cast-in-place concrete enclosure. The bottom shall have a minimum of 4-three inch diameter weep holes. The enclosure shall be installed on a minimum of 6 inches of No. 57 stone. An aluminum watertight lid of non-traffic design and a clear

opening exceeding the length of the backflow preventer shall be provided.

2.08 WATER PRESSURE REGULATOR/REDUCING VALVES

- A. The reducing valve shall maintain a uniform downstream pressure as preadjusted on the control pilot handwheel or adjusting screw. The control pilot shall be capable of field adjustments from near 25 psi to 10 percent above the factory-preset pressure. The valve shall be completely piped and ready for installation.
- B. The main valve shall operate on the differential piston principle, such that the area on the underside of the piston is no less than the pipe area, and the area on the upper surface of the piston is of a greater area than the underside of the piston. The valve piston shall be guided on its outside diameter by ports that minimize the effects of throttling. Throttling shall be done by the ports and not by the valve seating surfaces.
- C. Valves shall be of a cast iron body per the requirements of ATSM A126 with ANSI flanges. The valve interior shall be bronze.
- D. The valve shall be capable of operating in any position and shall incorporate only one flanged cover at the valve top from which all internal valve parts shall be accessible. There shall be no stems, stem guides or spokes within the waterway, or springs to assist in valve operation.
- E. Valve seals shall be easily renewable. All controls and piping shall be of non-corrosive construction.
- F. Valve and control system shall lower line pressure to a predetermined set point and shall maintain that set point, regardless of variations in flow or inlet pressure. Valve shall be capable of operating with inlet pressure up to 300 psi and an adjustable outlet pressure of 25 to 75 psi. Valve shall be as manufactured by Watts Regulator, Series 25AUBZ3 (1/2" to 2") for standard capacity water or approved equal.

2.09 DUAL CHECK BACKFLOW PREVENTER

The dual check backflow preventer shall meet the domestic requirements of ANSI/ASSE Standard 1024, and bear the seal of approval. It shall be bronzed bodied and include not less than one union, with the union nut drilled to accept a tamper-proofing lock wire. A brass identification tag shall be securely attached to the valve body by corrosion-resistant mechanical fasteners. The dual check valve shall be as manufactured by Watts Regulator Co., Series 7, or approved equal.

2.10 VALVE BOXES AND COVERS

All valves below ground level shall be furnished with a valve box and cover. Each shall be of the roadway extension type, or proper length and base size with suitable detachable cover, bituminous coated inside and out. Boxes shall be 5 1/4 inch inside diameter, "Standard Telescopic Valve Box" as manufactured by American Cast Iron Pipe Co. or approved equal.

2.11 FIRE HYDRANTS

- A. All fire hydrants shall conform to the requirements of AWWA C502, latest revision for 250 psi working pressure. Hydrants shall be the compression type, closing with line pressure. The valve opening shall not be less than 5-1/4 -inches. Hydrants shall meet Georgia Fire Insurance Commission Standards, and Local Fire Department requirements and be furnished in accordance with owner's standards.
- B. In the event of a traffic accident, the hydrant barrel shall break away from the standpipe at a point above grade and in a manner which will prevent damage to the barrel and stem, preclude opening of the valve, and permit rapid and inexpensive restoration without digging or cutting off the water.
- C. The means for attaching the barrel to the standpipe shall permit facing the hydrant a minimum of eight different directions.
- D. Hydrants shall be fully bronze mounted with all working parts of bronze. Valve seat ring shall be bronze and shall screw into a bronze retainer.
- E. All working parts, including the seat ring shall be removable through the top without disturbing the barrel of the hydrant.
- F. The operating nut and direction of operation shall match the current Owner standard. The operating threads shall be totally enclosed in an operating chamber, separated from the hydrant barrel by a rubber O-ring stem seal and lubricated by a grease or an oil reservoir.
- G. Hydrant shall be a non-freezing design and be provided with a simple, positive, and automatic drain which shall be fully closed whenever the main valve is opened.
- H. Hose and pumper connections shall be breech-locked, pinned, or threaded and pinned to seal them into the hydrant barrel. Each hydrant shall have two 2-1/2-inch hose connections and one 4-1/2-inch pumper connection, all with National Standard threads and each equipped with cap and non-kinking chain.
- I. Hydrants shall be furnished with a mechanical joint connection to the spigot of the 6-inch hydrant lead.
- J. The minimum bury depth shall be 42 inches (48 inches in State Highway right-of-way) with 30 to 36 inches above grade. Provide extension section where necessary for proper vertical installation and in accordance with manufacturer's recommendations.
- K. All outside surfaces of the barrel above grade shall be painted with enamel equal to Koppers Glamortex 501 in a color to be selected by the Owner.
- L. Hydrants shall be traffic model and shall be American-Darling B-84-B, Mueller Super Centurion, M & H Valve 129.

2.12 WATER METERS

A. 2 inch and Smaller Water Meters: Shall conform to AWWA C700, latest revision. The water meter shall be the nutating-disc type with frost-protection bottom covers that are enamel coated. The meter shall also be tamper resistant. Residential size

shall be Neptune T-10 Full 3/4" and 1" meters with ProRead AutoDetect Register, magnetic drive reading U.S. gallons. Two-inch meters shall be Neptune Tru/Flo compound meter and shall conform to AWWA C702, latest revision with encoder registers and R900 RF Pit MIUs. All meters shall be approved by the OWNER prior to ordering.

- B. 12 inch to 3 inch Water Meters: Shall conform to AWWA C701, latest revision, Class II. All meters shall be approved by the OWNER prior to ordering.
- C. 14 inch and Larger Water Meters: Shall conform to AWWA C704, latest revision. All meters shall be approved by the OWNER prior to ordering.

2.13 METER BOXES

- A. 1 inch and Smaller: Shall be a Ford Meter Long Yokebox and approved equal by the OWNER.
- B. 1-1/2 & 2 inch: Shall be as manufactured by Brooks Products and approved equal by the OWNER.
- C. 3 inch and Larger: Shall be as shown on the plans and approved by the OWNER.

2.14 SERVICE PIPE COUPLINGS

Dresser Style 65, Ford or approved equal.

2.15 SERVICE SADDLES

Service Saddles shall have a Brass Body with 304 Stainless Steel Double Straps, 304 Stainless Steel Teflon coated Hex Nuts & 304 SS Washers as manufactured by A.Y. McDonald Mfr. Co., Smith-Blair, Rockwell, Ford, Dresser or Mueller for each specific piping material.

2.16 CORPORATION STOPS

Corporation Stops shall be of bronze alloy, size 3/4 inches or as shown on the plans, with compression joint for copper or polyethylene pipe, and with ground key. Shall be Mueller H-15008, Ford F1000 or approved equal.

2.17 CURB STOPS

Curb Stops shall have a body of heavy cast bronze construction, bronze tie head and stem, spherical brass ball valve seated in molded Buna N rubber. The meter valve shall be provided with a female meter connection and a compression joint for connection to both 3/4" plastic or copper tube. Shall be Mueller H-14350, Ford B43-232W or approved equal.

2.18 VALVE MARKERS

A concrete valve marker post shall be furnished and installed as directed, with each gate valve (excluding fire hydrant valves). The concrete marker post shall have a four-inch minimum square section and a minimum length of 42 inches with beveled edges and containing at least one three-eighths inch diameter bar of reinforcing steel. Markers shall be placed as directed by the Engineer and set so as to leave 18 inches exposed above grade. The exposed portion of the valve markers shall be stamped "WATER".

2.19 ELECTRONICALLY DETECTABLE LINE MARKING TAPE

Reef Industries Terra Tape Standard or approved equal.

2.20 VALVE VAULTS

Precast Manufacturing shall be in conformance with ASTM C913.

Furnish and install for each valve vault an aluminum access assembly as shown on plans, complete with hinged and hasp-equipped cover. Frame shall be securely mounted. The door shall have a safety locking handle in the open position. Designed to withstand vehicular traffic in off-street locations. Single or Double leaf covers are constructed of ¹/₄" diamond pattern plate and reinforced for AASHTO H-20 wheel loading.

2.21 YARD HYDRANTS/HOSE BIBBS

Shall be the non-freezing, compression type with 1 inch threaded inlet and 1 inch hose thread on the nozzle discharge. It shall be a high capacity 1-inch "Any Flow" frost proof yard hydrant made by Merrill Manufacturing Co. or approved equal. Vacuum breakers shall be provided with each one.

2.22 T-HANDLE OPERATING WRENCH

The contractor shall furnish two wrenches, 30 inches long, standard waterworks type with socket for square operating nuts of gates or other valves. All below grade valves shall be adapted with an extension stem and fittings so that they can be operated with a 30-inch long wrench.

2.23 CUTTING IN SLEEVES AND VALVES

Shall be Clow Class 150 meeting latest AWWA Specifications.

2.24 TAPPING SLEEVES

Shall be all stainless steel with a 10-year warranty, Cascade Waterworks Manufacturing Company, Model CST-SL or approved equal.

PART 3 EXECUTION

- **3.01** All items specified under this section shall be installed in conjunction with piping that is specified under the appropriate section. Locations are to be as shown on the plans or as otherwise specified.
- 3.02 Valves, brackets, and fittings where not constructed of brass, aluminum, bronze, or finished steel, shall be factory finished in accordance with approved manufacturer's standards. Machined surfaces shall be given a suitable coating of grease or other protective material. After installation, exposed items shall be field painted as specified elsewhere.
- **3.03** All valves shall be tested at point of manufacture. After the valves are installed, the contractor shall test them under the working pressure, and any valves found to leak shall be satisfactorily repaired or replaced.

END OF SECTION

STORM DRAINAGE PIPING

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SCOPE

Furnish all labor, equipment, supplies, and materials and perform all operations in connection with construction of storm sewers as shown on the plans or specified. Construction shall be in accordance with the Georgia Department of Transportation Standard Specifications, Construction of Roads and Bridges, Latest Edition.

1.02 RELATED SECTIONS

- A. Section 31 23 16 Trench Excavation, and Backfill.
- B. Section 33 05 13 Manholes and Structures.
- C. Section 03 31 00 Cast-In-Place Concrete.
- D. Section 03 41 00 Precast Concrete Structures.

1.03 REFERENCES

- A. AASHTO M 36/ASTM A 760 Standard Specification for Corrugated Steel Pipe, Metallic-Coated, for Sewers and Drains; American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials and Georgia Department of Transportation Standard Specifications, Section 844 latest Edition.
- B. AASHTO M 170 Standard Specification for Reinforced Concrete Pipe and Georgia Department of Transportation Standard Specifications, Section 843 latest Edition.
- C. AASHTO M 190/ASTM A 849 Standard Specification for Bituminous Coated Corrugated Steel Culvert Pipe and Georgia Department of Transportation Standard Specifications, Section 844 latest Edition.
- D. AASHTO M 294 Corrugated Polyethylene Pipe (12" through 48") and Georgia Department of Transportation Standard Specifications, Section 845 latest Edition.
- E. ASTM C 14 Standard Specification for Concrete Sewer, Storm Drain, and Culvert Pipe.
- F. ASTM C 76 Standard Specification for Reinforced Concrete Culvert, Storm Drain, and Sewer Pipe.

- G. ASTM C 443 Standard Specification for Joints for Circular Concrete Sewer and Culvert Pipe, Using Rubber Gasket.
- H. ASTM F405 Standard Specification for Corrugated Polyethylene Pipe and Fittings.
- I. ASTM F667 Standard Specification for large diameter Corrugated Polyethylene Pipe and Fittings.
- J. ASTM 949 Standard Specification for Poly(Vinyl Chloride) (PVC) Corrugated Sewer Pipe With a Smooth Interior and Fittings.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

Complete product data and engineering data, including shop drawings, shall be submitted to the Engineer in accordance with the requirements of Section 01 33 00 of the Contract Documents.

1.05 TRANSPORTATION AND HANDLING

- A. Unloading: Furnish equipment and facilities for unloading, handling, distributing and storing pipe, fittings and accessories. Make equipment available at all times for use in unloading. Do not drop or dump materials. Any materials dropped or dumped will be subject to rejection without additional justification. Pipe handled on skids shall not be rolled or skidded against the pipe on the ground.
- B. Handling: Handle pipe, fittings and accessories carefully to prevent shock or damage. Handle pipe by rolling on skids, forklift, or front end loader. Do not use material damaged in handling. Slings, hooks or pipe tongs shall be padded and used in such a manner as to prevent damage to the exterior coatings or internal lining of the pipe. Do not use chains in handling pipe, fittings and appurtenances.

1.06 STORAGE AND PROTECTION

- A. Store all pipe which cannot be distributed along the route. Make arrangements for the use of suitable storage areas.
- B. Stored materials shall be kept safe from damage.
- C. Pipe shall not be stacked higher than the limits recommended by the manufacturer. The bottom tier shall be kept off the ground on timbers, rails or concrete. Pipe in tiers shall be alternated: bell, plain end; bell, plain end. At least two rows of timbers shall be placed between tiers and chocks, affixed to each other in order to prevent movement. The timbers shall be large enough to prevent contact between the pipe in adjacent tiers.

Avington Chase Drainage Swale Rehabilitation

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 PIPE MATERIALS

- A. Reinforced Concrete Pipe (RCP): Shall conform to the requirements of AASHTO M 170, ASTM C 76, ASTM C 361; mesh reinforcement; bell and spigot end joints.
- B. Corrugated Zinc Coated (Galvanized) Steel Pipe (CMP): Steel shall conform to the requirements of AASHTO M 36 and M 218 / ASTM A 760 and A 929. All pipe shall be 14 gauge unless otherwise noted on the plans.
- C. Bituminous Coated Corrugated Metal Pipe (BCCMP): Galvanized corrugated, Federal Spec. QQ-C-806, fully bituminous coated .05" shall conform to the requirements of AASHTO M 190 / ASTM A 849 with paved inverts. All pipe shall be 14 gauge unless otherwise noted on the plans.
- D. Aluminized Type 2 Corrugated Steel Pipe (ACSP): Type 2 Aluminized Steel shall conform to the requirements of AASHTO M 36 and M 274 / ASTM A 760 and ASTM A 929. All pipe shall be 14 gauge unless otherwise noted on the plans.
- E. Corrugated Aluminum Alloy Pipe (CAAP): Aluminum Alloy Pipe shall conform to the requirements of AASHTO M 196 / ASTM B 745. All pipe shall be 14 gauge unless otherwise noted on the plans.
- F. High Density Polyethylene Pipe (HDPE): Smooth interior, corrugated exterior HDPE storm sewer pipe meeting the requirements of AASHTO M 252, M 294 and MP7. The pipe shall be AASHTO Type 'S' (N-12) WT as manufactured by Advanced Drainage Systems, Inc. (ADS) for sizes 4" through 60" or approved equal.
- G. Poly(Vinyl Chloride) (PVC): Smooth interior, corrugated exterior PVC storm sewer pipe shall conform to the requirements of ASTM F949, F794 and AASHTO M304. The pipe shall be A-2000 PVC belled as manufactured by CONTECH Construction Products Inc. for sizes 4" through 36" or approved equal.
- H. All storm drainage pipe shall meet or exceed the Georgia Department of Transportation Standard Specification, Section 550 unless otherwise noted on the plans or within this specification.

2.02 PIPE ACCESSORIES

A. Pipe Joints: Mechanical clamp ring type, stainless steel expanding and contracting sleeve, neoprene ribbed gasket for positive seal and Reinforced Concrete Pipe Joint Device: Shall conform to the requirements of AASHTO M 198 / ASTM C 361, ASTM C 443. "O"-ring type rubber gasketed concrete joints.

B. Fittings: Same material as pipe molded or formed to suit pipe size and end design, in required tee, bends, elbows, cleanouts, reducers, traps and other configurations required.

All fittings shall conform to manufacturers specifications.

- C. Filter Fabric: Non-biodegradable, woven.
- D. Coupling Bands: Aluminized steel, 0.052 inches thick x 10 inches wide; connected with two neoprene "O" ring gaskets and two galvanized steel bolts and shall conform to the requirements of AASHTO M 36.

2.03 CATCH BASIN

- A. Construction shall be in accordance with the Georgia Department of Transportation Standard Specifications, Section 668 latest Edition.
- B. Lids and Drain Covers: Shall be cast iron.
- C. Catch Basin: as shown on drawings, per Georgia Department of Transportation Standards and Details.
- D. Shaft Construction and Concentric Cone Top Section: Reinforced precast concrete pipe sections ASTM C478, lipped male/female dry joints, nominal diameter of <u>48</u> inches.
- E. Base Pad: Cast-in-place concrete of type specified in Section 03300 or 03305, leveled top surface to receive concrete shaft sections, sleeved to receive sewer pipe sections.
- F. See Section 02532 Manholes and Covers for additional information on manhole steps, brick, mortar etc.

2.04 HEADWALLS AND END SECTIONS

Construction shall be in accordance with the Georgia Department of Transportation Standards and Details.

2.05 BEDDING AND COVER MATERIALS

Bedding and Cover: As specified in Section 31 23 16 - Trench Excavation and Backfill.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AND OBSTRUCTIONS

- A. The plans indicate utilities and obstructions that are known to exist according to the best information available to the Owner.
- B. Existing Utility Location: The following steps shall be exercised to avoid interruption of existing utility service.
 - 1. Expose the facility, for a distance of at least 100 feet in advance of pipeline construction, to verify its true location and grade. Repair, or have repaired, any damage to utilities resulting from locating or exposing their true location.
 - 2. Avoid utility damage and interruption by protection with means or methods recommended by the utility owner.

C. Conflict with Existing Utilities

- 1. Horizontal Conflict: Horizontal conflict shall be defined as when the actual horizontal separation between a utility, main, or service and the proposed piping does not permit safe installation of the piping by the use of sheeting, shoring, tying-back, supporting, or temporarily suspending service of the parallel or crossing facility. The Contractor may change the proposed alignment of the piping to avoid horizontal conflicts if the new alignment complies with regulatory agency requirements and after a written request to and subsequent approval by the Engineer. Where such relocation of the piping is denied by the Engineer, the Contractor shall arrange to have the utility, main, or service relocated.
- Vertical Conflict: Vertical conflict shall be defined as when the actual vertical separation between a utility, main, or service and the proposed piping does not permit the crossing without immediate or potential future damage to the utility, main, service, or the piping. The Contractor may change the proposed grade of the piping to avoid vertical conflicts if the changed grade maintains adequate cover and complies with regulatory agencies requirements after written request to and subsequent approval by the Engineer.
- D. Electronic Locator: Have available at all times an electronic pipe locator and a magnetic locator, in good working order, to aid in locating existing pipe lines or other obstructions.
- E. Water and Storm Sewer Separation
 - 1. Potable water mains should maintain a minimum 10 foot edge-to-edge separation from storm sewer lines.
 - 2. Where storm sewers cross the water main, the pipe joint adjacent to the pipe crossing the water main shall be cut to provide maximum separation of the pipe joints from the storm sewer.
 - 3. No water main shall pass through, or come in contact with, any part of a storm sewer manhole.

3.02 TRENCHING

See Section 31 23 16 - Trench Excavation and Backfill for minimum requirements.

3.03 INSTALLATION - PIPE

- A. Verify that trench cut is ready to receive work and excavations, dimensions, and elevations are as indicated on construction plans.
- B. Install pipe, fittings, and accessories in accordance with manufacturer's instructions. Seal watertight.
- C. Lay pipe to slope gradients noted on construction plans; with maximum variation from true slope of 1/8 inch in 10 feet.
- D. Reinforced Concrete Pipe shall be installed in accordance with applicable provisions of the American Concrete Pipe Association (ACPA). RCP shall be installed on a Class C bedding as specified in Section 31 23 16.
- E. Bituminous Coated Corrugated Metal Pipe (BCCMP), Aluminized Type 2 Corrugated Steel Pipe (ACSP) and Corrugated Aluminum Alloy Pipe (CAAP) shall be installed on a Class B bedding as specified in Section 31 23 16.
- F. High Density Polyethylene Pipe (HDPE) shall be installed on a Class B bedding as specified in Section 31 23 16.
- G. Poly(Vinyl Chloride) (PVC) PIPE shall be installed on a Class B bedding as specified in Section 31 23 16.

3.04 INSTALLATION - CATCH BASINS AND MANHOLES

- A. Form bottom of excavation clean and smooth to correct elevation.
- B. Form and place cast-in-place concrete base pad, with provision for storm sewer pipe end sections.
- C. All structures shall be placed on an 8-inch subbase of No. 57 stone.
- D. Level top surface of base pad; sleeve concrete shaft sections to receive storm sewer pipe sections.
- E. Establish elevations and pipe inverts for inlets and outlets as indicated.
- F. Mount lid and frame level in grout, secured to top cone section to elevation indicated.

3.05 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL

- A. Perform field inspection and testing as directed by the engineer.
- B. If tests indicate Work does not meet specified requirements, remove Work, replace and retest at no cost to owner.

3.06 PROTECTION

Protect pipe and bedding cover from damage or displacement until backfilling operation is in progress.

END OF SECTION